Rental

K ) @ g
P Trade Centres
| [EEREE Ll
Logistics & VVarehouse

China South City ® yirmes
China South City Holdings Limited @ Regidentiol Pojects

ﬁ ﬁ iﬁﬁ E ﬂﬁ ﬁ BE ll} ﬁ Multi-Purpose Properties

(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability) ® =oieni
(R FE 7 19 B R4\ 7 ) ® Property Management
Stock code A& X3k : 1668 RER
Outlet
® meer

® Urban Renewal
W E T

® Conventions & Exhibitions
gHkEES

® Financial Services
SR

E-Commerce
® =i

AL

aaaa

2023 %

A R



CONTENTS
B &

2

22

24

26

30

Corporate Information

NEER

Project Overview
BB

FY2023 Major Events
202381 F RE4

Financial Highlights
s E

Chairmen’s Statement

ESLE

Management Discussion and Analysis
ERE N RO

Nrrry

=~
)
()
)
=




48

54

56

69

97

112

Project Portfolio
HEAS

Five Years' Financial Summary

T FHBHE

Biographical Details of Directors and Key
Management
EERTEEERERE

Report of the Directors
ExeRE

Corporate Governance Report
REER®RE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R e EERmE

A

- L.d'a

161

165

166

167

169

172

175

Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBE/R

Independent Auditor’s Report
BYZERN RS

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
FEBEK

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
FeETERER

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REMBIRREK

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FEEREER

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
RAERESRER

Notes to Financial Statements

BTSRRI




2

CORPORATE INFORMATION
ANCE=E

Board of Directors

Co-Chairmen

Mr. Li Wenxiong (Non-Executive Director)?®
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Executive Director)?®

Executive Directors*

Ms. Geng Mei (Chief Operating Officer)
Mr. Wan Hongtao (Group’s Vice President)
Ms. Fang Ling (Group’s Financial Controller)
Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman

Non-Executive Directors**
Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen

Ms. Shen Lifeng™

Ms. Li Aihua

Ms. Deng Jin

Independent Non-Executive Directors***
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew GBM, GBS, JFVG)

Mr. Li Wai Keung"@®)

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung /A"

Ms. Zee Helen®®

Dr. Li Xu®@®

Chief Financial Officer
Mr. Chan Mau Cheong Bryan (CPA, CFA)

Company Secretary
Mr. Chan Hing Chau (CPA)

Auditor
Ernst & Young

Legal Advisors

As to Hong Kong law
Linklaters

Reed Smith Richards Butler

As to China law
Commerce & Finance Law Offices

m Member of Audit Committee

@ Member of Remuneration Committee
@ Member of Nomination Committee
* Mr. Qin Wenzhong resigned as Executive Director and Group’s Financial

Controller with effect from 3 April 2024.

* Ms. Fang Ling has been appointed as Executive Director and Group’s

Financial Controller with effect from 3 April 2024.

*x Mr. Cheng Tai Po resigned as Non-Executive Director with effect from 25

August 2023.

*x Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen has been appointed as Non-Executive Director
and resigned as Senior Adviser of the Group with effect from 25 August

2023.

** Ms. Li Aihua has been appointed as Non-Executive Director from 16 May

2023.

*x Ms. Deng Jin has been appointed as Non-Executive Director from 16 May

2023.

***  Dr. Li Xu has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director and
a member of each of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration

Committee with effect from 16 May 2023.
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Principal Bankers

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
PingAn Bank Co., Ltd.

Bank of China Limited

Bank of Dongguan Co., Ltd.

Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
China Construction Bank Corporation

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

Bank of Jiangsu Co., Ltd.

China Citic Bank Corporation Limited

Bank of Hangzhou Co., Ltd.

China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd.

China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd.

Agricultural Development Bank of China
Industrial Bank Co., Ltd.

China Zheshang Bank Co., Ltd.

China Guangfa Bank Co., Ltd.

Bank of Shanghai Co., Ltd.

Zhongyuan Bank Co., Ltd.

Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited

Registered Office
Suites 330608, 33/F., Tower 5, The Gateway,
15 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Share Registrar

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Listing Information

Share Listing

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock code: 1668

Senior Notes Listing

The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited

The Company’s 9% senior notes due April 2024
(ISIN: XS2085883119)

The Company’s 9% senior notes due June 2024
(ISIN: X5$2120092882)

The Company’s 9% senior notes due October 2024
(ISIN: XS2238030162)

The Company’s 9% senior notes due December 2024
(ISIN: XS2227909640)

The Company'’s 4.5% senior notes due August 2027
(ISIN: X$1720216388)

Website

www.chinasouthcity.com

Investor Relations
Telephone: (852) 3188-3111

Fax: (852) 3188-1323
Email: ir@chinasouthcity.com
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China South City has its eight projects
layout highly adhered to important national
strategies such as “Greater Bay Area”, the
“Belt and Road” initiative and “Yangtze
River Economic Belt”.
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China South City Shenzhen

China South City Shenzhen (“CSC Shenzhen”), situated at the Pinghu
Logistics Base in Longgang District, Shenzhen, is the Group's first project.
Shenzhen City, one of the four first-tier cities in China, is located at
the heart of the Greater Bay Area amid an extensive transportation
network with about 17.66 million permanent resident population that
was announced in May 2022. The total Gross Domestic Product (“GDP")
in 2023 increased by about 5.2% compared with 2022, achieving high
growth. The growth rate is the fastest among the four major first-tier
cities in China with economic volume ranking the fifth among Asian cities.

Located in the northeast of Shenzhen, Longgang District recorded a
regional GDP year-on-year growth of 6.3% to RMB503.4 billion in
2023, ranking the second in the city. With the local government further
developing Longgang District as an innovation centre in the east of
Shenzhen, its ancillary infrastructure such as logistics, healthcare and
education will continue to advance, bringing more convenience to
merchants of CSC Shenzhen.

The new shopping experience at Wanda Plaza featuring tourism, culture,
social interaction and lifestyle created synergies with CSC Shenzhen'’s
original market and customer base, as well as its well-established offerings
for industries wholesale, warehousing and logistics, e-commerce, and
living facilities. As a result, this further stimulated the vitality of the project
site and drove passenger flow. Transportation around the project has also
been improving. CSC Shenzhen is only 2.6 km away from the Pinghu
Railway Station. The Metro Line 10 passing through CSC Shenzhen
has also been opened to traffic, together with a dedicated station of
“Huanancheng Station”, which will generate more business opportunities
and uplift visitor flow for CSC Shenzhen.

The project is located at the Pinghu Logistics Park in Longgang District

of Shenzhen, covering a site area of approximately 1.02 million square
metres (“sgq.m.”). As at 31 December 2023, CSC Shenzhen had acquired

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 3

2 FRI
KIEHK=A
BH 2R

R E R

FRYIFRBARY T EEEFRYRER - REAE
@fi’ﬁi"l‘%fllﬁﬁ o RIITT R EE— AR T —

UEESRAERNZOILE  BETENIBRE
o 2022¢5ﬂm§ NEEEAOE,7668 ° 2023
¢GDP imttzozzii*ﬁi@s 2% @ BREMIG

i'a‘ﬁ%lmmk B HRR  EEBEEFETN
J‘JﬁZF‘ﬁﬁTJEE°

BEE @A ARIITIRICED - 2023 F bl A ERER L
#R6.3%  MARKS,034EIL BEME - lBE
”“fmﬂzﬁjﬁ_ */F%’EEJJ%EHD’E?% ﬂ\lEﬁ*BEIJ%ﬁEP/DE@
TE RBA ﬂl\%@mﬁﬁ%m,ﬁ&%ﬁ%%%@ﬂo

ERRIEBHESELE - RN - ¢
Eﬁﬂﬁ—rﬁkﬂ@ﬂﬁ&ﬁﬁéiﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁE’J%W
EEBERS TR - b - CEEER M
B EHEREKEREH - i& R EEE
=z ,

EFE% -

N m%ﬂ%mu o FINIEE AENRBIEENTHE—F
= o AYIFEREIMIER TR N EI(E26 A8 R
ﬂ\lﬂ;ﬁﬁﬂ@mm%ﬁ&?ﬁaﬁﬁ R EE R AL
7% RYIZERR A E S TR E LR R B o

%JH &?E‘EE”H?

HEMRRIEEE A RER - (hhmEmiEL102
BYHK - #iE2023F12 8310 - RYIEFEREE
BREEEMBELR7BF KL - B 5T EI239



Project Overview (Continued)
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Qianlong Logistics

of gross floor area (“GFA") of land approximately 2.71 million sq.m.,
of which construction of approximately 2.39 million sq.m. completed,
including trade centres, residential ancillary, multi-purpose commercial
properties, logistics park, hotels, etc.

Positioned as a modern large-scale integrated logistics and trading
platform to serve the Greater Bay Area, CSC Shenzhen covers a wide
spectrum of product range, including textile and clothing, leather and
accessories, electronic parts, printing, paper products and packaging,
metals and chemicals, plastic materials, hotel supplies, tea and teaware,
cross-border products, e-commerce, outlets, home furnishing, child
education, produce and flower market, etc., on its trade centre premises,
complementary with various facilities and services on site, such as banking
and finance, hotels and restaurants, governmental bodies, leisure and
entertainment. On 14 April 2023, CSC Shenzhen Business Management
Company* and Zhongyi Han Fangguan* reached a cooperation
agreement. Zhongyi Han Fangguan (Shenzhen) Traditional Chinese
Medicine Industrial Development Co., Ltd.* will settle in the No. 3 Living
Room Project* in CSC Shenzhen Park. In the future, it will create two
new development hubs, being Zhang Zhongjing University of Traditional
Chinese Medicine (Shenzhen)* and Traditional Chinese Medicine Science
and Technology Industrial Park*. In addition, CSC Shenzhen provides
micro-credit service for on-site small-and-medium-sized enterprises
("SMEs"), assisting them in resolving financing difficulties for business
development. As a unit of the “Market Procurement Trade Pilot Scheme”,
CSC Shenzhen continues to provide a convenient customs clearance
environment for small and micro enterprises tenants engaged in export
trade. At the same time, together with the national e-commerce base
platform and the additional auxiliary facilities of Heung Kong Furniture
and Wanda, CSC Shenzhen further builds a regional consumption centre
and industrial centre, driving the economic development and overall
improvement of the northeastern Shenzhen.

*  For identification purpose only

The Fourth-generation W Shenzhen
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China South City Nanning

China South City Nanning (“CSC Nanning”) is located at Jiangnan District
of Nanning, the capital of the Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, a
critical gateway between China and the Association of Southeast Asian
Nations (“ASEAN") countries. The project is easily accessible by railway
stations, highways and an international airport. The Metro Line 6 passing
through CSC Nanning is under planning, which would set up the “Sanjin
Station”, "Huanancheng West Station”, “Huanancheng East Station” in
the Park that are expected to be completed in 2028. Strategically located
in close proximity to Southeast Asia and enjoying the advantage of a tariff
waiver on cross-border trade activities within the China-ASEAN Free Trade
Area, CSC Nanning endeavors to serve as a key hub for cross-border trade
catering to the demand from the Northern Bay Region and Southeast Asia.

As a Key Project of the Autonomous Region as well as Nanning Municipal
Key Logistics Infrastructure Project, CSC Nanning has been named as
"China-ASEAN Plaza”, "“China-ASEAN Digital Trade Hub”, “New Western
Land-Sea Corridor Digital Trade Hub"”, and “National AAA Class Tourist
Attraction”. At the same time, CSC Nanning is also actively focusing
on industrial upgrading, and has reached a milestone by successfully
introducing sports industry projects and BYD vehicles delivery centre.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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Commercial Complex 1668 Square and Residential Ancillary (Jiangnanhuafu) in CSC Nanning

MEEERNEERSE1668EE REERE CLRERN)

CSC Nanning has a total planned net land area of approximately 1.83
million sq.m. and a total planned GFA of approximately 4.88 million
sg.m.. As at 31 December 2023, CSC Nanning had a total planned GFA of
approximately 2.48 million sq.m. of land acquired, of which construction
of approximately 1.95 million sq.m. completed, including trade centres,
residential ancillary, multi-purpose commercial properties, logistics park,
exhibition centre, public facilities like primary school, etc.

CSC Nanning is now in operation, and covers industries including textile
and clothing, small commodities, ASEAN products, home furnishing,
tea and teaware, e-commerce, groceries, automobile and motorcycle
parts and outlets, etc., on its trade centre premises. Through organizing
a series of expositions, such as the China ASEAN Expo and Light
Industrial Exhibition, Folk Culture Trading Festival cum Expo, traffic
flow to the project as well as regional brand recognition of the project
were enhanced. In addition, the commercial complex, 1668 Square, a
commercial complex project launched by CSC Nanning, recorded great
operating performance, so as to satisfy demands on entertainment,
leisure and shopping within the community. This, at the same time, could
enhance the overall commercial attributes on the project.

Birdview — CSC Nanning Project Site
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Project Overview (Continued)
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Nanchang = &

China South City Nanchang

China South City Nanchang (“CSC Nanchang”) is located at Honggutan
New District of Nanchang, the capital of Jiangxi Province. Situated at the
transportation hub for the Yangtze River Delta and Pearl River Delta, the
project is readily accessible to suppliers, manufacturers and merchants via
major highways, the largest port on the Gan River and a complete freight
network which includes a cargo marshal yard, a container terminus and
an international airport, coupled with Nanchang West Railway Station
— a principal high-speed rail station just 1.2 km away. CSC Nanchang is
also adjacent to the new provincial government office. As a new business
centre of Nanchang, Honggutan New District is becoming more influential
in administrative, commercial and cultural aspects day by day. In addition,
the gradual completion of local amenities is driving visitor traffic and
generating business opportunities, laying a solid foundation for the
development of CSC Nanchang.

CSC Nanchang has a total planned land area of approximately 2.61
million sq.m. and a total planned GFA of approximately 6.87 million
sg.m.. As at 31 December 2023, CSC Nanchang had a total planned
GFA of approximately 4.79 million sq.m. of land acquired, of which the
construction of approximately 2.40 million sq.m. completed, including
trade centres, residential ancillary, logistics park, public facilities like
primary school, etc. CSC Nanchang is now in operation, and covers
industries including building and decoration materials, small commodities,
textile and clothing, leather and accessories, healthy and green products,
outlets, etc., on its trade centre premises.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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Grand delivery of Huachuangli int CSC Nanchang

MERENERNEBAR - 2HTS

As a Provincial Key Project and the first E-commerce Demonstration
Base in Jiangxi Province and state-level University Students’ E-commerce
Business Incubator in Nanchang, a great number of e-commerce
enterprises have moved in the project since its establishment. CSC
Nanchang collaborated with local tertiary institutes to seamlessly connect
e-commerce startups and manufacturers, by proactively integrated
resources of wholesale markets and e-commerce and eventually assisted
on-site SMEs in business transform and upgrade. An area of nearly
30,000 sqg.m. influencer livestreaming base has been set up to provide
one-stop services covering from anchor training, operation management
to film and television productions. CSC Nanchang introduced a Veteran
Entrepreneurship Base targeting new consumption experiences such as
beauty, automobiles, and science and technology experience halls to assist
merchants in the project site to better develop e-commerce services and
nurture startups. In addition, CSC Nanchang focuses on the two national
level industrial bases of “National E-commerce Demonstration Base” and
“National Entrepreneurship Incubation Demonstration Base”, focusing on
quality and improving services. In October 2023, CSC Nanchang launched
the “2023 CSC Nanchang Building Materials and Home Furnishing
Exhibition”, gathering plenty of well-known brands in the industry
together. In conjunction with the double festival activities, the exhibition
provided quality services to merchants.

In addition, CSC Nanchang has engaged in the “Nanchang High Speed
Rail CBD Project” for the development of an ecosystem economy with
quality service industry in Jiangxi. The project was planned to cover
“seven attributes in one city”: teenage education, business headquarters,
commercial shopping complexes, business and cultural tourism and talent
acquisition. It is built to be the central business district (“CBD") and high-
speed rail trading and logistics hub of Jiangxi upon completion.

Grand delivery of Huafu in CSC Nanchang Huanancheng

West Station — Birdview
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Project Overview (Continued)
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China South City Xi‘an*

China South City Xi‘an (“CSC Xi'an") is located at the Xi’an International
Trade and Logistics Park in Xi'an, the capital of Shaanxi Province. As a
local key project, the Xi'an International Trade and Logistics Park is an
open economic pilot zone and a core area for modern service industry,
aiming to become the largest international transit hub and logistics
distribution centre along the Silk Road Economic Belt and an important
strategic platform for the “Belt and Road” initiative. In addition, the Xi'an
International Trade and Logistics Park is one of the three largest clusters
of China (Shaanxi) Pilot Free Trade Zone. Benefiting from such geographic
advantages, CSC Xi‘an is highly accessible via the Xi’an City Expressway
and Beijing-Kunming Expressway, Lianyungang-Khorgos Expressway,
Shaanxi-Shanghai Expressway, Baotou-Maoming Expressway and other
national highways, forming an intricate spider network which opens to
all directions. Besides, the strategic location of CSC Xi‘an is connected
to a railway container terminal and the largest bonded area in the north
western region of China, along with two metro lines that cross the project
site. Metro line 3, which passes through CSC Xi‘an, has commenced
operation.
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THE R (E)

als and
ninium) in CSC Xi‘an

CSC Xi'an has a total planned land area of approximately 10.00 million
sg.m. and the total planned GFA of approximately 17.50 million
sg.m.. As at 31 December 2023, CSC Xi‘an had a total planned GFA
of approximately 4.17 million sq.m. of land acquired, of which the
construction of approximately 2.41 million sq.m. completed, including
trade centres, logistics park, supporting facilities, etc.

CSC Xi'an is now in operation, and covers industries including hardware
materials and machinery products, curtains and fabrics, textile and
clothing, leather and fur, automobile and motorcycle parts, building
and decoration materials, 1668 New Times Square, outlets, cross-border
e-commerce, Central Asia and ASEAN product exhibition centre, etc., on
its trade centre premises, of which the commercial complex, 1668 New
Times Square, was included in Shaanxi Provincial Key Project in 2019
and 2020. Leveraging its geographical advantage in the starting point of
the Silk Road Economic Belt, CSC Xi'an is actively poised to capture the
immense opportunities arising from the “Belt and Road” initiative.

The completion of the disposal of Xi'an China South City of the Group
took place in May 2023. The Group has become interested approximately
30.65% in Xi'an China South City and Xi'an China South City has become
an associate of the Group.

*  The Group's associate

Hardware Materials
Centre and

Viachinery Prc
Times Square ir
XSO
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Project Overview (Continued)
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Harbin Y558 &

China South City Harbin

Located at the Daowai District of Harbin, the capital of Heilongjiang
Province, and enjoying geographical advantages of Northeast China,
China South City Harbin (“CSC Harbin"”), is the cross-border trade hub
among Northeast Asian Countries. Being the Provincial No. 1 Investment
Promotion Project, together with its proximity to the China-Russia border
and merely couple-of-kilometre away from the Xinxiangfang North station
(Harbin-Mudanjiang High Speed Rail), CSC Harbin actively integrate
bilateral trade resources for the development of regional economy and
trade with its superiority of geographical location and coverage of local
industries. It has organized the 6th China-Russia Expo, so as to develop an
economy and trade logistic gateway to Russia and form a trading platform
in Northeast Asia Economic Circle. On 20 February 2023, China South City
Middle School located in CSC Harbin started to come into operation, and
enrollment officially began on 1 September this year. The infrastructure
and teaching conditions around CSC Harbin have been further improved,
which have also driven the demand for living facilities around the park.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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ijingmingdu in CSC Harbin

CSC Harbin has a total planned land area of approximately 10.00
million sq.m. and the total planned GFA of approximately 12.00 million
sq.m.. As at 31 December 2023, CSC Harbin had a total planned GFA
of approximately 5.78 million sq.m. of land acquired, of which the
constructions of approximately 1.91 million sg.m. completed, including
trade centres, residential ancillary, logistics park, supporting facilities, etc.

CSC Harbin is now in operation, and covers industries including hardware
and building materials, chemicals, machinery products, automobile and
motorcycle parts, green food, small commodities, hotel supplies, leather
and fur, e-commerce, etc., on its trade centre premises. The seed market
of the Heilongjiang Academy of Agricultural Sciences in the project site
operates well. While building a one-stop agricultural material industrial
park, it actively promotes digitalization in the project site ad part of the
effort to promote rural revitalization. In October 2023, CSC Harbin’s
double festival built a momentum and launched a series of activities such
as the “Autumn Agricultural Materials and New Energy Power Products
Purchasing Festival”. The activities covered agricultural materials, electric
vehicle product agents, dealer chains and other resources. They have
greatly enhanced the park’s merchants’ confidence, helped expand
transaction channels, and effectively driven sales of related products.

Leather and Fur Trade Centre in CSC Harbin
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Project Overview (Continued)
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ZhengzhouZR M

China South City Zhengzhou

China South City Zhengzhou (“CSC Zhengzhou”) is located in Zhengzhou,
the capital of Henan Province, and adjacent to the Airport Economy
Zone (“AEZ") of Zhengzhou, which is the only state-level AEZ with a
complete network containing an international airport, highspeed train,
intercity train, metro and highway, to act as an integrated transport
hub as a whole to provide seamless connectivity. The project is highly
accessible and enjoys extensive transportation links — it is a mere 16 km
away from Zhengzhou Xinzheng International Airport and a couple of
kilometres away from the Beijing-Guangzhou Railway Freight Station and
Beijing-Hong Kong-Macau Highway. The metro south line 2 across CSC
Zhengzhou with three stations is currently in full operation. In addition,
there are several exits from the Beijing-Hong Kong-Macao Highway,
the Airport Highway, and the City Beltway to the surroundings of CSC
Zhengzhou; in particular, there are two exits in merely 3 km area of the
project site, which will generate more business opportunities and visitor
flow for CSC Zhengzhou.

CSC Zhengzhou has a total planned net land area of approximately 7.00
million sq.m., and total planned GFA of approximately 12.00 million
sg.m.. As at 31 December 2023, CSC Zhengzhou had a total planned
GFA of approximately 10.19 million sg.m. of land acquired, of which the
construction of approximately 5.21 million sq.m. completed, including
trade centres, residential ancillary, logistics park, public facilities like park,

etc.
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Project Overview (Continued)

5B #R (&)

China South City 1st primary school in Zhengzhou

EHAE— B

CSC Zhengzhou is now in operation, and covers industries including
building materials, small commodities, hardware materials and machinery
products, home furnishing, automobile and motorcycle parts, non-staple
food, outlets, e-commerce, etc., on its trade centre premises. In the
second half of 2023, the CSC Zhengzhou Central Park Trio ushered in
a grand delivery. As the first batch of delivery projects this year, Central
Park Trio not only intuitively reflects the project quality and brand strength
of CSC Zhengzhou; it also demonstrates the social responsibility and
corporate responsibility of China South City Group. Moreover, it also
plays a positive leading role for more follow-up projects to be delivered
and sales work. In addition, by successfully holding CSC Zhengzhou
Central Region (Spring/Autumn) Building Materials, Hardware and Home
Furnishing Fairs for nine times in five consecutive years, and by creating
the clusters for professional markets in the project, CSC Zhengzhou has
developed into an influential trade and logistics centre in central China.
CSC Zhengzhou will speed up the development of residential ancillary and
commercial facilities, in order to meet the local demands.

CSC Zhengzhou was elected to be “Provincial Key Project”, “Provincial
Key Investment Promotion Project”, and “Priority Relocation Site for
Wholesale Markets of Zhengzhou City Centre”. In response to the local
policy to support innovation and entrepreneurship, CSC Zhengzhou is also
actively promoting emerging industries, specially the e-commerce industry
base. CSC Zhengzhou has gradually become a “Provincial E-commerce
Demonstration Base” since 2016, “Provincial Cross-border E-Commerce
Demonstration Base” and “Provincial Innovation Model Bases for Micro
and Small Enterprises”.

Grand delivery of CSC Zhengzhou Central Park Trio — Site view
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Grand delivery of CSC Zhengzhou Central Park Trio — Birdview
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China South City Hefei

China South City Hefei (“CSC Hefei"”) is located at Anhui Feixi Economic
Development Zone of Hefei, the capital of Anhui Province. Anhui Feixi
Economic Development Zone of Hefei is a core area for municipal
development — Hefei “1331 Project”, and was elected to be “Anhui
Provincial Key Investment Project”, “Anhui Provincial Dispatch Project”
and “Anhui Provincial 861 Construction Project”. As Hefei city plays its
role as the political, economic, cultural and financial centre at the heart of
Eastern China, CSC Hefei benefits from the advantageous geographical
location equipped with well developed infrastructure: a planned
transportation system of railways, highways and river transportation
across China. The metro south line 4 across CSC Hefei is expected to open
to the traffic in 2024.

CSC Hefei has a total planned net land area of approximately 10.00
million sq.m. with a total planned GFA of approximately 12.00 million
sq.m.. As at 31 December 2023, CSC Hefei had a total planned GFA
of approximately 5.99 million sq.m. of land acquired, of which the
construction of approximately 3.68 million sgq.m. completed, including
trade centre, residential ancillary, logistics park, public facilities like
secondary school, etc.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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Grand de

Hefei Birdview

CSC Hefei is now in operation, and covers industries including automobile
and motorcycle parts, hardware materials and machinery products,
building and decoration materials, textile and clothing, hotel supplies,
outlets, small commodities, non-staple food, etc., on its trade centre
premises, combining various functions, such as trading, logistics and
distribution, production display and promotion, information exchange and
innovation, industry cluster, featured tours and comprehensive supporting
facilities for urbanization as a whole.

As Hefei further plays its role as the political, economic, cultural and
financial centre at the heart of Eastern China, CSC Hefei aims to capture
the opportunities arising from the area. This would bring about business
and huge visitor flow, and in turn simulate advancement and become the
core large-scale integrated logistics and trade centre in the region.

BRERRCKRAZE - AR ST OMRENEE
E¥RBEAEARL DeHRE  RERM - S8R
£ BERR  BERE - ERRERRFEE
SHERS  ERRE MRKH - BRTEE E8
- BT - EERIBRR - BEeRE  Bhtsa
ERGE SRR 88

BEEARE - SREAFRERDLOMBHES - &
A XERkE R LAEE - AIREENERILEZ
BIBRAKE  MBERAFEN  BRERSFL
BRED -

China South City Holdings Limited EEHIZER AR AT

19



20

Project Overview (Continued)
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China South City Chongging

China South City Chongging (“CSC Chongging”) is strategically located at
Banan District of Chongging, the only direct-administered municipality in
midwestern China, as well as the essential location seamlessly connecting
both “Belt and Road” initiative and “Yangtze River Economic Belt”.
CSC Chongging is also the Group’s first project in direct-administered
municipality. The project is highly accessible to the city centre and other
regions given its highway network strategic location in the Chongging
Highway Logistics Base, the state-level giant transportation infrastructure
in the western region. Such location is also the starting point of national
strategies of “The New International Land-sea Trade Corridor” and
“Chongqing-ASEAN International Logistics Channel”.

Under the background where the government has put great efforts to
promote the development of Chengdu-Chongging Economic Circle and
the expansion and upgrade of Chongging High-tech Zone, Chongging has
shifted its focus towards the development of the western area of the city,
making CSC Chongging which is located at the prime area of Western
Chongging a new hot spot for development with huge potential for future
development. In addition, coupled with the growing maturity of business
in Banan district, the groundwork of transportation infrastructure and
commercial environment was laid for the project. During the period, CSC
Chongging Banan Huafu e Yundi* ushered in a grand delivery. In terms
of architectural design, the local humanities and natural environment
are used as the background color, emphasizing compatibility with the
urban temperament, and adopting a new Asian architectural style to
create a perfect living experience that integrates ecological, cultural, and
artistic concepts while meeting the needs of local people. From 13 to 14
September 2023, the “CSC Chongging Furniture and Building Materials
Exhibition” will be held at the China South City Convention and Exhibition
Centre. A total of more than 140 furniture manufacturers from Nankang
City, Jiangxi Province and Chengdu City, Sichuan Province participated in
the exhibition, and 3,000+ dealers, agents, and ordinary consumers came
to the exhibition. This was also the first large-scale exhibition held by
Chongging Business Management Division in recent years.

*  For identification purpose only
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Grand delivery of

CSC Chongging Yundi — Garden view
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Grand delivery of CSC Chonggqing Pavilion — Garden view
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CSC Chongging has a total planned net land area of approximately
5.90 million sg.m. with a total GFA of approximately 13.10 million
sg.m.. As at 31 December 2023, CSC Chongging had a total planned
GFA of approximately 6.50 million sg.m. of land acquired, of which the
construction of approximately 2.52 million sg.m. completed, including
trade centres, residential properties, logistics park, public facilities like
primary and secondary schools, etc.

CSC Chongging is now in operation, and covers industries such as small
commodities, hardware materials and machinery products, hotel supplies,
building and decoration materials, textiles and clothing, automobile and
motorcycle parts, lightings and lamps, outlets, metals, cultural tourism,
etc., on its trade centre premises, providing a tremendous momentum for
the development of commercial logistics and trading industry in Southwest
Region. Four functional areas of CSC Chongging include exhibition and
trading area, central park commercial and leisure area, facilities for living
area and logistics and warehousing.

There are Southwest University CSC Primary School and CSC Junior High
School established on CSC Chongging to cope with the on-site demand
in course of development. With the opening of the schools, apart from
attracting the flow of people to CSC Chongging, it drives the need
of various facilities for living, which in turn further accelerates pace of
development on the project.

Grand delivery of CSC Chongging Pavilion
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FY2023 MAJOR EVENTS
20238 F REL

April@ B

First Asia Pacific Property Management Shenzhen was
honored as one of the “2023 Top 100 Property Service
Enterprises in China”

RINE R ERIE [2023 Y ERB AR

China South City was honored as one of the
“Top Ten” national e-commerce demonstration bases
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June/ s A

August/\ B

BYD Vehicles Delivery Centre Landed in
CSC Nanning
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October+ H

"Zhen Product Star Selection e Gathering momentum
for innovation” 2023 Longgang District’s first live
broadcast + cross-border e-commerce product selection
conference and shopping carnival grand opening
[YIin 2% o BFmET] 20238 M E & E AR+
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CSC Zhengzhou held 2023 138
Central China (Autumn) Building Materials and EE ”‘ﬁa
Hardware Exhibition
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MEREE

(in HK$'000 F&7T)

Revenue
A

4/2023-12/2023 3,508,926
4/2022-3/2023 . 4,052,262
4/2021-3/2022 . 9,615,923
4/2020-3/2021 ' 10,786,212
4/2019-3/2020 ' 9,465,944
-
@ Profit attributable to owners of the parent
P BRTHE ARLEAE
enoas-tan0 4,317,462
42022-32023 ) 699,984
42021312022 ) 760,200

.

4/2020-3/2021

4/2019-3/2020

) 2415498
) 2,633,141

12/2023
3/2023
3/2022
3/2021

3/2020

-

@ Net assets value
EERE

— 36,446,325

. 42,685,002

1) 45,089,972

) 41,296,550

) 34,882,520
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Financial Highlights (Continued)

MBEHE(E)

For the For the
nine months ended year ended
31 December 31 March Change
HZE12H31H H=E3A318
IENfEA IHFE g
2023 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
Continuing operation SIS L ETS
Revenue WA 3,508,926 4,052,262 -13.4%
Loss from continuing RERHECEER
operations e (4,317,590) (1,555,306) +177.6%
Profit from a discontinued RECRIELEER N/A
operation Z A - 2,254,801 TEA
(Loss)/profit attributable to BRI E AEM N/A
owners of the parent (B18), /7B (4,317,462) 699,984 @A
(Loss)/earning per Share SR (EE) EF)
— Basic —EK HK(37.73) centsi&1lL HK6.34 centsiB Il N/A
M

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHZR IR AT
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CHAIRMEN'’S STATEMENT
ETRE®|E

During the reporting period, our sales fell short of expectations and the
cash flow was only sufficient to fund our daily operations. The Group
was experiencing much difficulty in repaying the principal of and interest
on our debt obligations. In recent years, we have taken various proactive
measures and successfully extended the maturity date of our offshore US
dollar denominated bonds several times. However, our operations and
financial situation have not yet sufficiently improved, thus we were not
able to make the mandatory redemption payment due on 9 February
2024 with respect to the October 2024 Notes, which led to an event of
default. Moreover, we were not able to make the interest payment due
on 12 February 2024 with respect to the April 2024 Notes, nor to pay
the interests within the 30-day grace period (by 13 March 2024), which
led to an event of default. As at this report date, the Group incurred a
defaulted and/or cross-defaulted principal of HK$30,956 million in its total
loans, which had a significant material adverse effect on our business,
operations and financial condition, and could possibly lead to insolvency
or other forms of restructuring. The Company has been actively discussing
debt management strategies with the defaulted and/or cross-defaulted
borrowings creditors and note holders. We are considering different
options, including but not limited to consent solicitation, schemes and
exchange offers, and will provide an update to the market as and when
appropriate.

Despite facing many difficulties, the Group made every effort to improve
its operation level, optimize its management structure, and strive to reduce
costs and increase efficiency and to lay a solid foundation for future
development during the reporting period, however, the Group’s contract
sales and investment promotion performance fell short of expectations,
resulting in increased cash flow pressure. The Group maintains the normal
operation and strives to generate sufficient cash flow to fulfill its financial
commitments and protect the interests of all creditors and shareholders.
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Chairmen’s Statement (Continued)
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Review of Marketing and Operations

During the reporting period, affected by multiple factors, the Group's
sales were under great pressure, resulting in unsatisfactory sales
performance. The Group will quickly adjust its strategy, continue to
revitalize its assets and withdraw funds. Meanwhile, with mutual efforts,
projects in Zhengzhou, Nanchang, Hefei and Harbin have been delivered
successfully, and other projects are also progressing steadily.

During the reporting period, the Group's investment promotion work
encountered great challenges, with the rental rate and rental income
adversely affected. According to the market environment, the Group
adjusted the investment promotion operation management, concentrated
on improving the investment promotion operation level, strengthened
peer cooperation, advanced transformation and upgrading, and cultivated
and introduced a variety of business formats, including cultural and sports,
new energy vehicles, home building materials, etc., to further improve the
project site industrial ecosystem.

CSC Zhengzhou held two large-scale central China building materials
and hardware fairs in spring and autumn, which reached new records in
scale, service, innovation and influence, greatly drove local merchants and
activated the project site popularity. At the end of the year, various China
South City projects across China re-launched the brand Spring Festival
Shopping Event to help merchants operate and increase the project site
sales significantly.

After years of development, First Asia Pacific Group, an associate of the
Group, has gained national first-class property management qualification,
and is one of the few comprehensive integrated property management
companies capable of managing both trade centre premises and
residential properties in China. During the reporting period, First Asia
Pacific Group won the honorary titles of “2023 China’s Top 100 Property
Services Enterprises” and “2023 China’s Leading Enterprise of Special
Property Services — Service Provider of Integrated Commercial Park” for its
excellent comprehensive strength and service level. At present, First Asia
Pacific Group has more than 120 property management service projects,
with an area under management exceeding 22 million square meters.
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Chairmen’s Statement (Continued)

ERHRE(HE)

Based on the principle of reducing costs and increasing efficiency,
Qianlong Logistics has carried out strategic structural adjustment, devoted
itself to building core business capabilities, and focused on three aspects
of “design of standard warehouses, construction of warehouses and
investment operation of projects”. Qianlong Logistics continued to
benchmark and learn the business models of industry leading logistics
real estate developers, focus on the development, leasing and asset
management of logistics real estate, and create high-quality logistics
park operation services. During the Reporting Period, Qianlong Logistics
attended the “17th China (Shenzhen) International Logistics and Supply
Chain Fair”, demonstrating the three core capabilities, modern high-
standard warehouses and integrated refrigerated storage, and was
awarded “Qutstanding Logistics and Supply Chain Service Provider” in the
2023 CILF.

Huasheng Outlet actively seeks project opportunities with its advantages
of asset-light strategy and seasoned comprehensive business experience.
During the reporting period, Huasheng Outlet launched a series of China
South City Super Shopping Carnival activities, and joined hands with many
brand merchants to create a super shopping feast. Huasheng Outlet took
advantage of the Mid-Autumn Festival and National Day with super-high
discounts and surprise membership activities to achieve a GMV increase
of over 30% year-on-year and over 100% quarter-on-quarter. In addition,
Huasheng Outlet received the market recognition and won many awards,
in which Shenzhen Huasheng was awarded the “2022-2023 China Top
50 Outlet Index”, Zhengzhou Huasheng was granted the “2022-2023
China Outlet Growth Star”, and Huasheng Commercial was shortlisted
in the “2022 China Top 100 Commercial Retailers”. During the period,
Huasheng Outlet recorded an about 30% year-on-year growth in gross
merchandise volume (GMV).

In a word, the Group's financial performance continued to be under
pressure during the reporting period, and we realized much room for
improvement in the Company’s management and operation. At present,
we continued to further examine the management system and structure
and further strengthen the fund control, hoping to better maintain our
operating environment and better safeguard our interests.
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Chairmen’s Statement (Continued)

ERHRE(HE)

Future Prospects

Looking ahead, the market environment is still full of challenges, the
Group will maintain a positive attitude and take all measures to resolve
the crisis. This may include making more market-flexible adjustments
on property sales, seeking new financing from shareholders, financial
institutions or other third parties through asset mortgage and other
various channels, and making every effort to strive for various reasonable
and compliant financing channels, so as to ensure the Company’s normal
operation and lay the foundation for long-term development.

Finally, a mission lies ahead of us, and we will go out to reverse the
current predicament. We are always confident that we can tide over the
difficulties. On behalf of the Board, we would like to thank our valued
shareholders, customers and business partners for their understanding
and trust in the group, and we would also like to thank the management
and all staff members for their efforts and contributions to China South
City.

Li Wenxiong and Cheng Chung Hing
Co-Chairmen

RIRAIR

REARE  BRITHRBNFTHRE - NEE SR
BEREEESE - RN El - Eh Tk
LY EHEMEERATISEEIENAER - THRAAR
R SRME  EOE=7TBEEERMESER
BERHERE  FUBNEFRERAEAGRD
BAERE  HMREQRMNEREE  RRPBET

TR -

RR - EREAEREE  BFAERK  RAE2HMA
HEHREEMRE  RMERRESES  BHAEEE
BHRIR - RPUAREBRBH —EARYAREE N
BNELT ARTESEREEREEE THERMMIE

HEVB HFERL ©

e
TR BRI

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHZR IR AT

29



30

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE D

Business Review

Investment and Development Division

The Investment and Development Division mainly focuses on project
investment, development and construction, laying a solid foundation
for subsequent merchant recruitment and project operations. To meet
local demands of projects in different places, the Group has developed
various types of commercial complexes in a number of regions, such as
Zhengzhou, Chongging, Nanchang and Shenzhen, to develop multi-
functional commercial complexes and related supporting facilities. During
the Reporting Period, driven by the efforts of various parties, a number
of projects in Zhengzhou, Nanchang, Hefei and Harbin have been
successfully delivered, and other projects were also progressing steadily.

The Investment and Development Division promoted asset deleveraging,
and strengthened funds withdrawal. Recently, as the state further
strengthened financing support for real estate projects, several projects
of the Group have been successfully included in the “White List” for
financing, and a number of projects are under active application,
providing financial support for delivering projects.

Business Management Division

The Business Management team is mainly dedicated to the Group’s
project tenant recruitment and operation management, providing
professional operation and management services for all links of China
South City, including development, investing and financing. The business
scope includes trade centres, logistics parks, hotels, comprehensive
business centres, commercial blocks, community centres, residential,
multi-functional properties etc..

During the Reporting Period, the Business Management Division continued
to introduce high-quality businesses and tenants, further improved
its investment promotion, operation and service quality, implemented
the concept of “stabilizing and supporting business”, cultivated and
introduced various business formats including cultural and sports industry,
new energy vehicle industry and home building materials industry, and
further improved the industrial ecosystem of the park. In addition, China
South City has promoted the operation of merchants and activated the
popularity of the park through brand exhibitions such as large-scale
building materials and hardware exhibitions and New Year’s Shopping
Festival. Merchant information was conveyed to more people through our
professional market magazines and smart industrial parks mini-programs,
with a combination of online and offline methods, to further expand the
brand influence of China South City in the market.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEENWR D)

During the Reporting Period, the overall layout of China South City highly
adheres to major national strategies such as the “Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area” and “Accelerated Push for Building a National
Unified Market”. The relevant industrial policies have brought benefits to
the business of China South City, which is conducive to the expansion and
strengthening of the Group's trade and logistics industry, thereby driving

the overall business environment and commercial value.

Outlet Operations

The Huasheng business team is specialized in outlet development and
operation, and increasingly enhances its commercial value through
professional and effective commercial asset management. During the
Reporting Period, Huasheng Outlet upgraded its diversified experience,
leading to a year-on-year increase of 30% in the Gross Merchandise
Volume (GMV). Huasheng Outlet launched the activity of “Mid-Autumn
Festival Party e Discounts for the Golden Autumn — China South City
Shopping Carnival” in September 2023. Leveraging on the precious
period of the Mid-Autumn Festival and the National Day, Huasheng
Outlet cooperated with a number of brand merchants to create a super
shopping feast, and carried out strong marketing in the form of ultralow
commodity discounts and surprise membership activities. The overall
performance increased by more than 30% period-on-period, representing
an increase of more than 100% quarter-on-quarter. During the Reporting
Period, Shenzhen Huasheng was awarded the “Top 50 China Outlets
Index 2022-2023"; Zhengzhou Huasheng was awarded the “2022-2023
China Outlets Growth Star”; Huasheng Commercial was included in the
“2022 Top 100 Commercial Retail Enterprises in China”.

Logistics and Warehousing Services

Based on the principle of cost reduction and efficiency enhancement,
Qianlong Logistics carried out strategic restructuring, strived to build
core business capabilities, focused on the three aspects of “standard
warehouse design, warehouse engineering construction, and park
investment and operation”, continued to learn the business model of
leading logistics real estate companies in the industry, focused on the
development, leasing and asset management of logistics real estate,
and created high-quality logistics park operation services. During the
Reporting Period, Qianlong Logistics made its debut at the “17th China
(Shenzhen) International Logistics and Supply Chain Fair”, showcasing the
latest construction achievements such as three core capabilities, modern
high-standard warehouses and integrated refrigerated storage, and was
awarded “Outstanding Logistics and Supply Chain Service Provider” in the
2023 CILF.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEENWR D)

First Asia Pacific Group (Associated Company)

As a property service provider in China South City, First Asia Pacific
Group has developed a diversified and flexible property management and
ancillary service model to ensure stable revenue sources and sustainable
development in the future. Residential facilities, shopping malls, wholesale
markets, as well as conference and exhibition, are developed to create
synergy. Business is tuned and optimized according to local market
demands. After years of development, the property management segment
has gained National First-Class Property Management Qualification. It was
one of the few integrated business management enterprises capable of
managing both trade centre premises and residential properties in China.

During the Reporting Period, Shenzhen First Asia Pacific Property
Management Company Limited won a number of honorary titles, such
as the “2023 China’'s Top 100 Property Service Enterprises” and “2023
China’s Leading Enterprise of Special Property Services — Service Provider
of Integrated Commercial Park”. Up to now, First Asia Pacific Property
Management has more than 120 property management service projects
with an area under management of over 22 million sq.m..

Exhibitions and Events

During the Reporting Period, the Group actively carried out various
outdoor exhibition events, which greatly improved the popularity of the
park and drove the consumption in the park.

In May 2023, “the CSC Furniture and Building Materials Fair cum Central
China (Spring) Building Materials and Hardware Exhibition in 2023" was
opened, creating a leading procurement party for the entire upstream
and downstream chain of building materials, hardware and furniture in
Central China.

In August 2023, “2023 First Live Streaming in Longgang District +
Cross-border E-commerce Product Selection Conference and Shopping
Carnival” was grandly opened in CSC, Pinghu, Longgang District. The
Group cooperated with domestic leading live resources to build the first
"live streaming e-commerce industry base” in Longgang District with a
full ecological chain, guiding the formation of an industrial agglomeration
and facilitating the innovation and development of enterprises.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEENWR D)

In September 2023, the “7th CSC Zhengzhou Mooncake Exhibition in
2023" was successfully held, which lasted for 33 days with a total of
55 main booths to further increase the market share of non-staple food
in the regional market and promote the merchants recruitment of non-
staple food. CSC Shenzhen launched the “Shopping Carnival ® One-
stop Shopping Season for Festival Gifts”, which attracted a large number
of enterprises and consumers to purchase. During the period from 23
September to 6 October 2023, business management division in Shenzhen
and CSC Heung Kong Furniture jointly held the “CSC Shenzhen Shopping
Carnival ® Heung Kong Furniture Decoration Consumption Season”.

In October 2023, CSC Nanchang launched the “CSC Nanchang Building
Materials and Furniture Fairs in 2023", which achieved good results
together with the activities on the Mid-Autumn Festival and National Day.
CSC Harbin took advantage of the Mid-Autumn Festival and National
Day to launch a series of activities such as the Autumn Agricultural
Materials for Farming and New Energy Power Products Procurement
Festival. CSC Zhengzhou successfully held the three-day “2023 CSC
Furniture and Building Materials Fair cum the 11th CSC Zhengzhou e
Central China (Autumn) Building Materials and Hardware Exhibition”.
According to incomplete statistics, the exhibition held by CSC Zhengzhou
attracted a total of approximately over 50,000 buyers, with on-site sales
of approximately RMB63 million and intended orders of cooperation
of approximately over RMB153 million. It hit a new high in terms of
specification, scale, service, influence, innovation and diversification,

making it the largest event in the past.

In addition, China South City and professional companies and also held
various marketing campaigns and small-scale exhibitions across its various
projects based on local characteristics and holiday trends to enliven
market popularity and drive up consumption.

Land Bank

Adapting a unique and flexible business model, the Group intends to
retain commercial properties including logistics and warehousing facilities
and hotels as well as certain trade centre units for self-use or long-term
leasing purposes in order to generate stable recurring income and achieve
asset appreciation. The remaining certain trade centre units and residential
properties will be listed for sale to generate cash flow for the Group’s
development.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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The table below sets forth the breakdown of the total land bank of the
subsidiaries and an associate company of the Group as at 31 December

TRETMN2023F12 A31 BAREE B A 7 R B2
N BIFTBREE A 4R+ R SRR AR

2023:
Attributable
Gross Land Interests Held
Region Main Planned Usage of Projects Site Area Bank Area™ by the Group
TR REBAE
e BRFERURE ER EEAHO [Efb g
(s.m) (sq.m) (%)
(FHK) (FAK) (%)
Properties developed by the Group and its subsidiaries
REBREANE L AERIYE
Shenzhen Trade centres, commercial, hotels, warehouse and other ancillary facilities 1,023,500 1,757,300 100%
el REHL B OBE  RRERAMEERS
Nanchang Trade centres, residential, commercial, warehouse and other ancillary facilities 1,799,400 3,180,000 100%
EE XA BT B ERRAMRERS
Nanning Trade centres, residential, commercial, warehouse and other ancillary facilities 728,400 2,380,800 100%
HE ReML - EE  BE ARRAMRER
Xi'an Commercial and other ancillary facilities 58,200 116,500 100%
[if3 BERABRER T
Harbin Trade centres, residential, commercial, hotels, warehouse and other ancillary facilities 2,143,600 6,421,500 100%
BEE ReML B EEORE ARRAMEERN
Zhengzhou Trade centres, residential, commercial, warehouse and other ancillary facilities 3,193,800 8,153,400 100%
L ReML - EE  BE ARRAMRER
Hefei Trade centres, residential, commercial, warehouse and other ancillary facilities 2,022,000 3,740,400 100%
Al REHL - EE - BE RRRAMEERS
Chongging Trade centres, residential, commercial, warehouse and other ancillary facilities 2,339,300 5,891,700 100%
BE ReML - EE - BE ARRAMEERS
Sub-total of land bank developed by the Group and its subsidiaries 31,641,600
AEEREMBATRENLEE
Sub-total of interests in the land bank developed by the Group and its subsidiaries 31,641,600

ARERAMBLAREN DREED Gt

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 3



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEENWR D)

Attributable
Gross Land Interests Held
Region Main Planned Usage of Projects Site Area Bank Area® by the Group
TibGRE REBAE
e BERIERAME EEE HEAHO EiEER
(sa.m) (sq.m) (%)
(FFH%) (F5%) (%)
Properties developed by the Group’s associate
REAEE L AFRIYE
Xi'an Trade centres, residential, commercial, warehouse and other ancillary facilities 1,444,300 3,204,600 30.65%
i ReML - B RRREMRERE
Sub-total of land bank developed by the Group's associate 3,204,600
AEERE A RREN TR G
Sub-total of interests in the land bank developed by the Group's associate 982,100
REEREAARRH D RERR
Total 34,846,200
@zt
Total interests 32,623,700
ERast
Note: i
1. Gross land bank area in term of GFA equals to the sum of total completed 1. T FEEEESERER T AHEEAEEMB RS

GFA available for sale and leasable GFA, total GFA under development and
held for future development (including public space area).

TRAGEETEAE - SRS ERRAENBZERE
mamM(BEAKER)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Financial Review

The main objective of the Group’s financial management is to pursue
long-run sustainable growth while maintaining financial health through a
strong and stable capital base.

The Group actively manages its financing structure through various
financing channels, from onshore and offshore bank loans to different
interbank and capital market instruments, in order to achieve an optimal
capital structure and maturity profile. As at 31 December 2023, the total
interest-bearing debts of the Group were HK$31,752.3 million (31 March
2023: HK$32,830.8 million). The gearing ratio was 84.0% (31 March
2023: 71.0%). Furthermore, as at 31 December 2023, cash and bank
balances were HK$1,143.6 million (31 March 2023: HK$2,525.1 million).

Comparing with the last fiscal year, the revenue of the Group decreased
by 13.4% to HK$3,508.9 million (FY2022/23: HK$4,052.3 million).
Net loss attributable to owners of the parent was HK$4,317.5 million
(FY2022/23: profit of HK$700.0 million) and the basic loss per share
was HK37.73 cents (FY2022/23: earnings of HK6.34 cents). The net
loss attributable to owners of the parent and loss per share are mainly
due to (i) fair value losses on financial liabilities; (i) assets impairment of
trade receivables and other receivables; (iii) increase in the provision for
inventory impairment; (iv) fair value losses on investment properties; and (v)

decrease in rental income.

The Group changed its financial year end date from 31 March to 31
December at the end of 2023. Accordingly, the 2023 financial period
covered the nine months ended 31 December 2023 whereas the
preceding financial period covered the twelve months ended 31 March
2023. Therefore, the relevant figures shown are not directly comparable.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Revenue

Revenue for the Period decreased by 13.4% to HK$3,508.9 million
(FY2022/23: HK$4,052.3 million) comparing with last fiscal year. The
decrease was mainly attributable to decrease in recurring income during
the Period.

PN

WMEFHRFELE  ZHERANKRAR D 13.4%F
35.0891878 7T (2022/238 B F £ : 40.523E ) »
B EBREZAERANARIFEERATR DT -

For the nine For the year

months ended ended

31 December 31 March
2023 2023 Change

BZE qHE

12A31H 3H31H

WEAfEA IFEE
2023%F 2023 2ig
HK$'000 HK$'000 %
FET FAT %
Sale of properties YIS 2,522,694 2,372,775 +6.3
Recurring income =H AL PN 986,232 1,679,487 -41.3
Property leasing income WE 2 A 456,863 775,809 -41.1
Other recurring revenue Hfyfs B IR A 529,369 903,678 -41.4
3,508,926 4,052,262 -13.4

Sales of Properties HEWME

Revenue from sale of properties increased by 6.3% to HK$2,522.7 million
(FY2022/23: HK$2,372.8 million). The increase was mainly due to the fact
that during the Period, more properties that had completed contract sales
in previous periods were delivered during the Year. Due to the overall
property market situation, property contract sales during the Period
recorded a deep adjustment compared to the same period last year.

SHEY UL AL IN6.3% £ 25.227 8878 (2022/2384
REFE 2372888 TT) - BINEZREAZ ALK
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Property Leasing Income

The Group intends to retain certain of trade centre units for self-
use or rental purposes. Meanwhile, the Group also provide property
management services for its trade centres, shops and residential
properties delivered and in use. Given the diversity of its property
types and industries in China South City projects, the Group’s business
management division continued to provide diversified leasing and
property management services, to cater the needs of different property
types and industries across respective projects during the Year. The Group
disposed of 50% equity interest in First Asia Pacific Group which engages
in the provision of property management services of China South City
projects had been completed in December 2022. Since then, the disposal
was classified as a discontinued operation, and the Group did not record
related property management service income. Property leasing income will
become an important component of the recurring income of the Group
in the long run. CSC Shenzhen, being the more mature project in the
Group's portfolio, contributed a substantial part of the property leasing
income. During the Period, due to decline of leasing demand, the Group’s
property rental income was HK$456.9 million, an annualized decrease
of 21.5% compared with the same period of last fiscal year (FY2022/23
financial year: HK$775.8 million).

Other Recurring Revenue

Other recurring revenue decreased by 41.4% to HK$529.4 million
(FY2022/23: HK$903.7 million). Revenue from logistics and warehousing
services was HK$179.0 million (FY2022/23: HK$267.8 million) due to the
decrease in the third party logistic services income for the Period, and
the revenue from outlet operations was HK$261.5 million (FY2022/23:
HK$296.0 million).

Cost of Sales

The Group’s cost of sales mainly includes construction costs, capitalized
interest and land costs of properties sold, and operating costs of recurring
business. During the Period, the cost of sales decreased by 16.5% to
HK$2,700.2 million (FY2022/23: HK$3,232.2 million).

Gross Profit

Gross profit decreased by 1.4% to HK$808.7 million (FY2022/23:
HK$820.0 million). During the Period, gross profit margin increased to
23.0% (FY2022/23: 20.2%), which was mainly due to the relatively high
in average selling price of properties previous sold.
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Other Income and (Losses)/Gains

During the Period, other income decreased by 40.1% to HK$95.5 million
(FY2022/23: HK$159.5 million), which was mainly attributable to the
decrease in interest income and government grant. In addition, other
losses increased from HK$19.8 million for the corresponding period of last
year to HK$632.9 million, which was mainly attributable to the fair value
losses on financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss during the
Period.

Fair Value (Losses)/Gains on Investment Properties
The fair value losses on investment properties were HK$2,317.4 million
(FY2022/23: Gains of HK$151.6 million), mainly due to the decrease in
demand for leasing.

For each of the interim and annual financial reporting date, the Group
appoints an independent professional qualified valuer to determine the
fair value of our investment properties. The change in fair value of our
investment properties may be affected by a variety of internal and external
factors, such as rental area, rental rate, market prices of comparable
properties.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses decreased by 24.1% to
HK$166.0 million (FY2022/23: HK$218.7 million). The decrease was
mainly attributable to the implementation of effective cost control
measures over marketing activities on the sales of properties during the
Period.

Administrative Expenses
Administrative expenses decreased by 22.0% to HK$660.0 million
(FY2022/23: HK$846.7 million), mainly because the Period lasted only

nine months, average monthly expenses were similar to last year.

Other Expenses

Other expenses increased by 91.6% to HK$1,670.5 million (FY2022/23:
HK$871.7 million), which was mainly attributable to the impairment of
trade receivables, properties held for sales and financial assets included
in prepayments, other receivables and other assets and other long-term
receivables.
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Finance Costs

Finance costs was HK$633.7 million (FY2022/23: HK$769.4 million). By
optimizing the financial structure, the Group’s weighted average effective
interest rate decreased to 7.3% as at 31 December 2023 (31 March 2023:
8.1%). The weighted average effective interest rate of bank and other
borrowings and senior notes are 6.8% and 8.2% respectively as at 31
December 2023 (31 March 2023: 7.6% and 9.0%).

Share of Profits of Associates

During the Period, the Group recorded share of profits of associates
of HK$98.9 million (FY2022/23: 36.1 million), which was primarily
attributable to the profits contributed by First Asia Pacific Group during
the Period.

Tax

Income tax reported a credit of HK$759.8 million (FY2022/23: HK$3.9
million), which was due to deferred taxation arising from impairment of
assets and fair value losses on financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss during the Period.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group finances its development and operations primarily through
internally generated funds, bank and other borrowings, and the issuance
of different types of bonds and notes on the onshore and offshore
market, which includes but not limited to senior notes, short-term notes,
medium-term notes, corporate bonds and domestic company bonds. The
Group will continue to explore different financing means and to extend its
financing channels.

Cash and Bank Balances

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had HK$1,143.6 million cash and
bank balances (31 March 2023: HK$2,525.1 million), of which HK$913.6
million were restricted cash (31 March 2023: HK$1,150.4 million). The
Group's cash and bank balances were primarily denominated in Renminbi,
HK dollars and US dollars.

Subsequent to 31 December 2023, the Group have paid the principal and
interest of senior notes amounting to approximately US$22,442,000 and
the principal and interest of bank and other borrowings amounting to
approximately HK$971.1 million.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 3

A& B A

BB RN 56.337188 7T (202223 UF S + 7.6941%
VEIL) ° 12023 12 A31H - ARMISEREENL - &
SEMINETF B RPN ETREET7.3%(20235F3 A31
H:81%)° M2023F 128318 » st BERITNEM
BEREBEZENMETFHERFESFIR6.8% K&
82%(2023%F3A31H : 7.6%M9.0%) °

PEALEE & A B 2 R

ARHAA - A E 815 R B A A1 2 FI B 0.989 8%
TL(2022/230 X EE - 0.3611887T) » TERHNAK
HMRE - AEEFEERFTE -

g
AT Rt e%157. 59828 T HI B (2022/2381 4F : 3.98
@) DHERABHANEEERERRATFERA
BaERAaEN QT EEEMmE £ ETERIER R
FFrEk

REBEERUBER
AEBEBFBARELNES - RITRAMEE -
EERMFITBETERRENES - 2FETR
REERE  EMRES  PHRE  CEESTH
NARESSHARNHEGERRBLNERES -
REES—MEEETE RIS TRANBERR - R
HRARE -

RERBITER

M2023F12A31H - AEEFERE RIBITERR
11.43618 870 (2023F3A31H : 252518 7T) -
HA 2R HI3E € /9.1368F L (2023F3A31H ¢
11.5048%87T) - AEBERFAENHRS RRTEFREE
NARYE - BLRETAEBA -

2023F12A31RA 2%  AEBEXNELEELS
N FB4)22,442,000F 7T » IRIT R EAMEFAE XF]
BH9.711EETT -



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Borrowing and Charges on the Group’s Assets BERAEEEEERR

As at 31 December 2023, the total interest-bearing debts of the Group ~ 72023912 A31H » AEEMFHEEK AH317.52318
were HK$31,752.3 million (31 March 2023: HK$32,830.8 million). The ~ #7t(202343H31H : 328.308f#/# L) * AEEH
details of borrowings and charges on the Group's assets are set out fEEMEHEEFRMT -

below.

Interest-bearing Bank and Other Borrowings SRETRAMES

The following table sets out the maturity of the Group’s interest-  FEREJIANEEFEIRITLEMEE R AEBAERT
bearing bank and other borrowings and the extent of the Group’s total  SZE)FIEGT B AE RN FTR B B EHRIE R ¢
borrowings subject to fixed or floating interest rates as at the dates

indicated:
For the
nine months For the
ended year ended
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
B E2023F B E2023F
12A31H 3H31H
LEH@EA IFFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings ZEHEEBRITERREMES
repayable:
Within one year —F A 7,403,739 11,862,881
Between one and two years —FEMF 4,288,092 1,725,349
Between three and five years —FERF 4,862,537 2,617,039
More than five years HEFEA L 4,741,412 5,073,887
Total FEE] 21,295,780 21,279,156
By fixed or floating interest rates BREESZEFNZE D
Fixed interest rate [ 7E | & 6,604,133 8,390,363
Floating interest rate FEF=E 14,691,647 12,888,793
Total ek 21,295,780 21,279,156

China South City Holdings Limited EEHIZER AR AT 4



42

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings of approximately HK$20,707.0 million were secured by
certain buildings, investment properties, properties under development,
properties held for sales and bank deposits with a total carrying value of
approximately HK$54,013.0 million. All interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings of the Group were denominated in HK dollars, Renminbi or
US dollars.

Subsequent to 31 December 2023, the Company did not repay a
principal of US$12 million (equivalent to HK$91 million) and interest of
US$13 million (equivalent to HK$101 million) for certain senior notes
due in February 2024. As of the date of this report, the total amount of
defaulted and/or cross-defaulted on certain borrowings is approximately
HK$30,956 million.

Issuance of Notes

Senior Notes

During the Year, the Company has obtained the consent from the note
holders that the 9.0% senior notes due July 2024 were extended for
further thirty-seven months and the corresponding new maturity date and
the interest rates notes were 19 August 2027 and 4.5% respectively.

Subsequent to 31 December 2023, the Company did not repay a
principal of US$12 million (equivalent to HK$91 million) and interest of
US$13 million (equivalent to HK$101 million) for certain senior notes
due in February 2024. As of the date of this report, the total amount of
defaulted and/or cross-defaulted on certain borrowings is approximately
HK$30,956 million.
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Other details of movement during the Period are set out below:

AHAREMESF BRI T

4.5%

senior notes
due August 2027 9.0%
9.0% 9.0% (9.0% 9.0% senior notes
senior notes senior notes senior notes senior notes due December
due April 2024  due June 2024  due July 2024) due October 2024 2024

4.5%

2027458 25

ZEEZRE
9.0% 9.0% (9.0% 9.0% 9.0%
2024F4 A EH 2024F6 A 2H 2024F7AEE  2024F10A 3 20245128515
ZBEEE ZBERE ZEEEE) ZEERE ZBERE
ISIN ISIN X52085883119 X52120092882 X51720216388 X52238030162 XS52227909640
Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 US$'000
TEL TET TEr TEn TET
Issued nominal value BEE 350,000 350,000 300,000 225,000 370,000
As at 1 April 2023 ®2023F4A718 306,240 321,780 262,675 213,750 360,750
Interest capitalized FISEXR - - 1,704 - -
Redeem upon maturity sl (17,400) (34,600) (27,650) (11,250) (27,750)
As at 31 December 2023 #2023F12A31H 288,840 287,180 236,729 202,500 333,000

All of the notes above are listed and traded on the Singapore Stock
Exchange.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying value of Senior Notes were
HK$10,456.5 million (31 March 2023: HK$11,551.6 million). The Senior
Notes are jointly guaranteed by certain subsidiaries and part of the Senior
Notes are secured by pledges of share of certain subsidiaries.

Gearing Ratio
The Group's gearing ratio (net debt divided by total equity) was 84.0% as
at 31 December 2023 (31 March 2023: 71.0%).

HRABARBERMEESZZM LT RER -
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Net Current Assets and Current Ratio

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had net current assets of HK$6,603.8
million (31 March 2023: HK$11,499.8 million) and a current ratio of 1.17
(31 March 2023: 1.28).

Contingent Liabilities

The Group has provided guarantees mainly with respect to banking
facilities granted by certain banks in connection with mortgage loans
made by purchasers of the Group’s trade centres and residential
properties, and bank loans made by lessees of the Group’s residential and
commercial properties. The guarantees granted to purchasers of trade
centres and residential properties will be released when the purchasers
obtain building ownership certificates, which will then be pledged to the
banks. For leased residential and commercial properties, the guarantees
will be released accordingly when the lessees repaid the loan. Further
details to the above and other matters will be set out in notes to the

financial statements.

Pursuant to the investment agreement dated 16 December 2022, China
South City Group Co., Ltd. (“the Seller”), China South International
Industrial Materials City (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“China South International”)
and Xi'an China South City Co., Ltd. (“the Target Company”) granted
to (Shenzhen Shenji No. 1 Industrial Park Investment and Operation Co.,
Ltd. (“the Subscriber”) the Put Option (the “Put Option”), pursuant to
which the Subscriber is entitled to sell at its discretion all or part of the
shares held by it in the Target Company to the Seller and/or China South
International from the date falling 54 months after completion, where
certain events do not occur, at the exercise price.

The exercise price shall be calculated based on the following formula and
be settled in cash:

Exercise price = A+A x B x C/360 - D

A = subscription consideration actually paid by the Subscriber

B = a return rate of 6.0%

C = actual number of days from the date on which the subscription
consideration is paid by the Subscriber to the date on which the exercise

price is received by the Subscriber

D = dividend of the Target Company distributed to and actually received
by the Subscriber (if any)
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As of the end of the period, the actual subscription consideration paid by
the subscriber was RMB3,500.0 million. As of 31 December 2023, the fair
value of the Put Option was HK$1,070.1 million and has been recognized
as a financial liability at fair value through profit and loss.

Commitments

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had future capital expenditure
contracted but not yet provided for amounting to HK$6,430.6 million (31
March 2023: HK$9,808.4 million).

Significant Investments Held, Material Acquisitions
and Disposals of Subsidiaries and Associates

On 16 December 2022, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, China South City Group Co., Ltd (“China South City Group”),
a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, China South
International Industrial Materials City (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen
China South City”) and Shenzhen Shenji No. 1 Industrial Park Investment
and Operation Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Shenji No. 1”) entered into the
investment agreement, pursuant to which Shenzhen Shenji No. 1 agreed
to subscribe, and the Xi‘an China South City Co., Ltd. (“Xi'an China
South City”) agreed to issue, the Subscription Shares at the Subscription
Consideration of RMB5 billion. The completion of the disposal of Xi'an
China South City took place in May 2023. Upon completion, China South
City Group has become interested approximately 30.65% in Xi'an China
South City and Xian China South City has become an associate of the
Company. As of 31 December 2023, the Subscription Consideration
received amounts to RMB3.5 billion. Further details of the above disposal
of Xi‘an China South City were disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 18 December 2022. For the nine months ended 31 December 2023,
the Company has no other significant investments or material acquisitions
or disposals of subsidiaries and associates.
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Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group conducts its business primarily in Renminbi. The income and
bank deposits of the Group were substantially denominated in Renminbi
to meet the Group’s development and operation needs in the PRC. Other
than the bank deposits, bank borrowings and senior notes denominated
in foreign currency, the Group does not have any other material exposure
to foreign exchange risk.

The Group continues to adopt a proactive approach to closely monitor
the foreign currency market and explore the domestic capital market for
financing opportunities. Other hedging arrangements will be made if such
need arises.

Economic, Commercial and Other Risks

The Group may be affected by multiple uncertainties, which may lead
to a decrease in property sales and prices, property rental income and
occupancy rates, as well as a decrease in demand for the supporting
services and facilities it provides. It may also result in credit constraints and
increased financing and other operating costs. As the Group takes time to
develop, it may be affected by various risks. Although the Group engages
high-quality partners for project development, it may still be affected by
risks arising from the quality and safety of the products and services they
provide. The management of the Group will make timely adjustments
in response to such changes and risks. The Group’s further approach
to managing financial risks are set out in the notes to the financial
statements.

Land for Projects and Restriction on Sales

The Group enters into project agreements with local governments prior
to the development of all projects in order to outline the long-term
blueprints of relevant projects. These agreements generally set out the
size and use of lands and the related development plans. However, the
actual acquisition of lands, land area and terms and conditions of such
acquisition are subject to the relevant regulations and local governments’
requirements, the Group'’s development plans and the results of the
relevant public tender, auction and listing. Since the development of each
of these projects may last for more than ten years, the Group and the
local government may discuss to adjust the details of these agreements to
align with the actual needs of developments.
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The pace of the land acquisition and project development depends on the
progress of the Group’s planning, as well as the procedural formalities
as determined by the local government departments. As the procedures
and requirements set by different local governments vary, the Group may
adjust the development of each project according to relevant conditions.
In view of its substantial land bank and flexibility in project planning, the
Group believes such circumstances will not have material impact on its
development as a whole.

Pursuant to certain project and land related contracts and documents,
some of the land acquired by the Group may have sales restrictions on
properties built on it. According to the Group’s business model, the Group
intends to hold certain trade centres and commercial facilities for leasing
and self-use, the related sales restrictions will not have significant impact
on the Group.

Human Resources

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a workforce of 2,787 employees
(including associate companies). The Group aims to optimize the
organizational structure and talent structure to further control operating
costs, remunerations and other benefits of employees are reviewed
annually in response to both market conditions and trends, and are
based on qualifications, experience, responsibilities and performance. In
addition to basic salaries and other staff benefits, discretionary bonuses
and share options may be awarded to employees who display outstanding
performance and contributions to the Group.

Clarification in relation to the annual results
announcement for the nine months ended 31
December 2023

Reference is made to the annual results announcement for the nine
months ended 31 December 2023 (the “Annual Results Announcement”)
dated 28 March 2024. The Company would like to clarify that the Group’s
put option liability of HK$1,070,077,000 as at 31 December 2023
should be classified as non-current liabilities, instead of current liabilities.
Accordingly, the Groups total non-current liabilities should increase by
HK$1,070,077,000 whereas the current liabilities should decrease by the
same amount. Save for the above adjustments, information and contents
set out in the Annual Results Announcement remain unchanged.
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PROJECT PORTFOLIO

HEEE

Major Completed Properties held
for sale/finance lease

TECRTIRMEHE REHEY*

Group's Site Area Approx. GFA
Project Location Interest (sq.m.)  Description (sq.m.)
B EE BHAREER
HE ok rEERER (FHK) AR (FHK)
China South City Nanchang ~ No. 1 Huanan Avenue, 100% 1,799,400  Phase 1 trade centres 171,700
EEES Honggutan New District, —HR SR
Nanchang City,
Jiangxi Province, China
FETAAEETANENE
ERABH
China South City Nanning No. 56 Shajing Avenue, 100% 728,400  Phase 1 trade centres 335,800
HEERR Jiangnan District, —HRG%0

Nanning City, Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region,
China

hEERAARE SREED
TR @D HRES65E
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Project Portfolio (Continued)

BHEMEE (&)
Group's Site Area Approx. GFA
Project Location Interest (sq.m.)  Description (sg.m.)
b EE BHREER
BHE ok rEEER (FHK)  REA -
China South City Harbin Tuanjie Town, Daowai District, 100% 2,143,600  Phase 1 trade centres 641,600
MEEERN Harbin City, —HBR 50
Heilongjiang Province, China
HEERETERAETEINE
Bl#5R
China South City Zhengzhou  Longhu Town, Xinzheng City, 100% 3,193,800  Phase 1 trade centres 555,600
BN R Zhengzhou City, Henan Province, —HRS% 0
China
FEE A S TR BT
BME
China South City Hefei Fanhua Avenue, Taohua Industrial 100% 2,022,000  Phase 1 trade centres 15,500
SRR Park, Feixi County of Hefei City, —HZS%0
Anhui Province, China
FEZBEAETEARE IR
EENE]
China South City Chongging ~ No. 1 Dongcheng Avenue, 100% 2,339,300  Phase 1 trade centres 416,500
EET Nanpeng, Banan District, —HR S8

Chongging Municipality, China
FEEETERE
EEZY YN R
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Project Portfolio (Continued)

HEAS (&)

REEA

Jiangnan District, Nanning City,
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region, China
hEERELRE AR EET
ILrI D HRE65%

—HRGPONBFE

Major Investment Properties FTEREME
Approx. GFA
Project Location Description (sq.m.) Lease Term
BHRERR
bt bk ES (FHK) BROEH
1. China South City Shenzhen  No. 1 Hua Nan Main Road, Phase | trade centres 167,100  Medium Term Lease
RYIZER Pinghu, Longgang District, —HBR S0 FHEIZRY)
Shenzhen, China
q:@;ﬁ;f‘)\\m;é"gmﬁ%ﬁﬂ Phase | commercial and other
ERREH ancillary facilities
s CE VT
- Business centres 22,400  Medium Term Lease
- BB IR
- Hotel properties 32,100  Medium Term Lease
- EEmE R
Phase Il trade centres 446,400 Medium Term Lease
ZHZ SR IR
Phase Ill trade centres 304,800  Medium Term Lease
ZHZ SR IR
- Warehouse 135,600  Medium Term Lease
- Bl IR
2. China South City Nanchang ~ No. 1 Huanan Avenue, Phase | trade centres 253,500  Medium Term Lease
HEERN Honggutan New District, —HZS%0 R HRZ4)
Nanchang City, Jiangxi Province,
China
FEIREHEEMAARNE
ERRBE—T
3. China South City Nanning No. 56 Shajing Avenue, Phase | trade centres and offices 555,100  Medium Term Lease

hEIRH
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Project Portfolio (Continued)

BHEMEE (&)
Approx. GFA
Project Location Description (sq.m.) Lease Term
BHOREER
R bk 2ES (FHK) BROEH
4. China South City Harbin Tuanjie Town, Daowai District, Phase | trade centres and multi 456,800  Medium Term Lease
MEEERN Harbin City, purpose properties FHEIZRH)
Heilongjiang Province, —HR PSR NE
China
HEZRIARAENEINE
Bl
5. China South City Zhengzhou  Longhu Town, Xinzheng City, Phase | trade centres 832,300  Medium Term Lease

BN ER

China South City Hefei
BEEREN

China South City Chongging

Zhengzhou City, Henan Province,
China

FETEE EMN TR
B

Fanhua Avenue, Taohua Industrial

Park, Feixi County of Hefei City,
Anhui Province, China

PEZEERETEARETZE

ZENE

No. 1 Dongcheng Avenue,
Nanpeng, Banan District,
Chongging Municipality, China
FEEETERR
EE2T VN

—HRZH 0

Phase | trade centres

—HZ G0

Phase | trade centres

—HRZH L

1,070,400

439,700

FEIRA

Medium Term Lease

hEIRH

Medium Term Lease

FEIRA
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Project Portfolio (Continued)

HEAS (&)

Properties under Development BEPY=R
Properties Estimated
Gross Land under completion
Group's Sitearea”  Bank Area” Development calendar
Project/Location Interest (sq.m.) (sq.m.) Description (sq.m.) Stage of completion year?
1H#EE
EHERY  ERARHY LS it
BE/ Y AEEER (TA%) (FH%) WE (THK) THESR BIESEY
1. China South City Shenzhen 100% 1,023,500 1,757,300 Trade centres, warehouse and other ancillary 243,300 Foundation work and 2024
RlEE facities superstructure in progress
No. 1 Hua Nan Main Road, Pinghu RHBL - ERREMEERE HWETRR LETRES
Longgang District, Shenzhen, China
hERmREER TS
EERE-T
2. China South City Nanchang 100% 1,799,400 3,180,000 Trade centres, residential, commercial, 1,741,100  Foundation work and 2024
HEEE warehouse and other ancilary facilties superstructure in progress
No. 1 Huanan Avente, Reml % B AHREBEER HETER EETREMY
Honggutan New District, i
Nanchang City, Jiangxi Province,
China
HEIREEEMIARNE
EERE-H
3. China South City Nanning 100% 728400 2,380,800 Trade centres, warehouse and other ancillary 848,100 - Foundation work and 2024
EEE faclities superstructure in progress
No. 56 Shajing Avenue, Jiangnan Rl BEREMRERE HETER LETREMY
District, Nanning City, Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region, China
HEERLRE AERED
TEEDFAEGH
4. China South City Xi'an (Qianlong) 100% 58,200 116,500 Commercial and other ancillary facilities 116,500 Planning -
EREE(%E) BERAMEERSE HEl
East and West Six Horizons of
Xi'an Jinghe Industrial Park
(North District), Xi'an City,
Shaanxi Province, China
HEREAEXTRR T LR
(bR )R &
5. China South City Harbin 100% 2,143,600 6,421,500 Trade centres, residential, commercial, hotels, 4,301,500  Foundation work and 2024
REEEEN warehouse and other ancilary faclties superstructure in progress

Tuanjie Town, Daowai District,
Harbin City, Heilongjiang Province,
China

HERETARAETE BELE

ahl i B% R ARRAL
RERi

WETRR LETREM
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Project Portfolio (Continued)

BHEMEE (&)
Properties Estimated
Gross Land under completion
Group's Sitearea”  Bank Area® Development calendar
Project/Location Interest (sq.m.) (sq.m.) Description (sq.m.) Stage of completion year?
1H#EE
FHER"  ERAHY BRIZ it
BE /Y AEEER (TAX) (FH%) W& (THK) THESR RIEEY
6. China South City Zhengzhou 100% 3,193,800 8,153,400 Trade centres, residential, commercia, 4,891,600  Foundation work and 2024
BiESY warehouse and other ancilary faltes superstructure in progress
Longhu Town, Xinzheng City, Rel - T BE - ARRABEE HWETRRFETRENF
Zhengzhou City, Henan Province, Fi
China
e D
EME
1. China South City Hefei 100% 2,022,000 3,740,400 Trade centres, commercial, warehouse and 1,830,200 Foundation work and 2024
EREmHE other ancilary facilities superstructure in progress
Fanhua Avenue, Taohua Industrial Reml 5% REREMEER S HWETRREETRER
Park, Feixi County of Hefei City,
Anhui Province, China
HEZHE AT
WETSRZENE
8. China South City Chongging 100% 2,339,300 5,891,700 Trade centres, residential, commercial, 3,416,200  Foundation work and 2024
EFEMH warehouse and other ancillary faciliies superstructure in progress
No. 1 Dongcheng Avenue, Nanpeng, ReHh- T B ERRABEE HETRR FETRES
Banan District, Chongging *ifa
Municipality, China
HRERTERREYRIAE T
Notes: BsE
(1) Represents the land area acquired by the Group as at 31 December 2023. (1) REAEER2023F12831ACEEZ LM -

(2)  Gross land bank area in term of GFA equals to the sum of total completed — (2)  THIFHEBEEAD IR LA e AREmE R H
GFA available for sale and leasable GFA, total GFA under development and
held for future development (including public space area). The actual GFA to
be built may vary subsequently according to needs of the Group.

(3)  Represents the estimated time for completing the first phase of the project. (3) RERZIEE EHR TAEEER -

MREELEETE - FEDRISERRABNQEZEmE
AN (BEARERE)  REEREROEER
FARAEENFZEMEMESR -
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FIVE YEARS’ FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LFEMBEHRE

Summary of Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

54

REBRRHE
For the
nine months
ended
31 December For the year ended 31 March
HE12A31AL
NMEA HE3A3MALEE
2023 2023 2022 2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THET TET FAT AL
RESULTS ES
CONTINUING OPERATIONS RECERK
Revenue WA 3,508,926 4,052,262 9,615,923 10,786,212 9,465,944
Gross Profit EF 808,681 820,035 2,847,639 4,766,129 4,438,176
(Loss)/profit before tax from RABELEER L
continuing operations Ban(EE) /FE (5,077,435) (1,559,162) 1,511,302 3,299,849 4,431,119
Income tax credit/(expenses) FrgRiEE/ (Fx) 759,845 3,856 (834,738) (957,361) (1,823,668)
(Loss)/profit for the period/year REBELEEBL
from continuing operations KE/FE(EB)/
ppEd (4,317,590) (1,555,306) 676,564 2,342,488 2,607,451
DISCONTINUED OPERATION DRIEREER
Profit for the period/year from REBEEEEB
a discontinued operation AE/FERE - 2,254,801 82,560 72,641 20,697
(Loss)/profit for the period/year KE/FE(ER)/F)E (4,317,590) 699,495 759,124 2,415,129 2,628,148
Attributable to: THIEAERE
Owners of the parent ISYNGIHZZ=PN (4,317,462) 699,984 760,200 2,415,498 2,633,141
Non-controlling interests RS (128) (489) (1,076) (369) (4,993)
(Losses)/Earnings per share BEASAREER
attributable to ordinary BREEAZ
equity holders of the parent SR(ER)/BF
Basic X HK(37.73) cents HK6.34 cents HK9.39 cents  HK29.85cents  HK32.47 cents
4l &l el Al gyl
Diluted e HK(37.73) cents HK6.34 cents HK9.39 cents  HK29.85cents  HK32.47 cents
B4l &l bl il il
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Five Years' Financial Summary (Continued)

TFEMBBE(E)
Summary of Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
BANERARHME
As at
31 December As at 31 March
W12A31H W3A31H
2023 2023 2022 2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THAT TEL FET TEL TR
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE

Non-current assets ERBEE 56,005,030 61,964,453 64,954,963 64,328,859 59,080,150
Current assets mEEE 44,370,021 52,259,942 59,432,461 56,214,071 54,353,902
Total assets BELE 100,375,051 114,224,395 124,387,424 120,542,930 113,434,052
Current liabilities TBaE 37,766,268 40,760,184 53,005,850 47,786,203 50,299,050
Non-current liabilities Iy =L 26,162,458 30,779,209 26,291,602 31,460,177 28,252,482
Total liabilities AfEEE 63,928,726 71,539,393 79,297,452 79,246,380 78,551,532

Equity attributable to owners of BRREEBA
parent JE{E R 36,431,814 42,670,045 45,073,744 41,278,881 34,832,726
Non-controlling interests R 14,511 14,957 16,228 17,669 49,794
Total equity BRBs 36,446,325 42,685,002 45,089,972 41,296,550 34,882,520

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHZR IR AT
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT

ESERFTEEEEBE

Co-Chairmen

Mr. LI Wenxiong, aged 54, has been appointed as a Co-Chairman of the
Group and a Non-Executive Director of the Company since 23 September
2022, and is primarily responsible for advising on the formulation of the
Group’s general business model, development strategies and major
business matters as well as leading the Board together with Mr. Cheng
Chung Hing. Mr. Li is currently the secretary of the Party Committee and
the chairman of Shenzhen SEZ Construction and Development Group Co.,
Lid.* (RIITTEFEEREREEEGRAF]) ("SZCDG") and a member of
the second session of the council of China Ocean Development
Foundation* (Bl /B ¥ ¥ RE S EE _EEEEEE). Mr. L had
previously served as the deputy secretary of the Party Committee and the
secretary of the Disciplinary Committee, a director, the general manager
of the SZCDG; and also served as the deputy secretary of the Party
Committee and the secretary of the Disciplinary Committee of Shenzhen
Yantian Port Group Co., Ltd.* ORI T EE H EEE B R 2 7). Mr. L
obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Philosophy from Sun Yat-sen University*
(fF1LKE) and a Master’s degree in Law from Xi'an Jiaotong University*
(ARIBARE).

Mr. CHENG Chung Hing, aged 63, is our Co-Chairman and an Executive
Director. He is a co-founder of our Group and has been a Director since 2
August 2002. He acted as Co-Chairman of the Group from 30 September
2009 until he was re-designated as Chairman of the Group on 25 July
2017, then has been re-designated as Co-Chairman of the Group on 23
September 2022. Mr. Cheng is primarily responsible for formulating the
overall strategies and assessing the performance of the Group as well as
providing leadership for the Board with Mr. Li Wenxiong. He has more
than 40 years of management experience in the manufacturing, wholesale
and distribution businesses. Mr. Cheng is the father of Ms. Cheng Ka Man
Carman, an Executive Director.

*  For identification purpose only
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTEEEERE (&)

Executive Directors

Ms. GENG Mei, aged 53, is our Executive Director and Chief Operating
Officer. Ms. Geng joined the Group as the Chief Operating Officer of the
Group since 1 April 2021, and she has been appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company and the Chief Operating Officer of the Group
with effect from 20 April 2021. She is primarily responsible for the overall
operation and management of the Group to achieve the long-term
development goals of the Group. Ms. Geng has more than 23 years of
experience in the operation and management of real estate companies.
Ms. Geng studied for an EMBA at Renmin University of China. Prior to
joining the Group, Ms. Geng served as a cadre of the International Hotel
Youth League Committee of the National Tourism Administration*, the
vice president of Beijing Xinhengji Group*, the vice president of Beijing
Huahan Group*, the managing director of the Northern Region of Ping
An Real Estate Co., Ltd. and the managing director of Headquarters
Construction and Operations Centre of Ping An Real Estate Co., Ltd..

Mr. WAN Hongtao, aged 45, has been appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company and the Group’s Vice President since 16 June
2022. Mr. Wan is primarily in charge of the Company’s operation
management, strategic coordination and new business development.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wan previously held various positions in
SZCDG and its certain subsidiaries, including a supervisor of Guangdong
Special Construction Development East Investment Co., Ltd.* (& R 45 &
R B E AR A A, a subsidiary of SZCDG; and the deputy director
of the Discipline Inspection and Supervision Office (Office of the Board
of Supervisors), the deputy director of the Office (Secretariat of the
Board of Directors), and the deputy director of the Office (Secretariat
of the Board of Directors) of SZCDG. Mr. Wan graduated from Nanjing
University of Science and Technology with a major in Economic Law and a
minor in Accounting in 2000, and obtained a Master’s degree in Business
Administration from Lanzhou University in 2016.

*  For identification purpose only
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTEEEERE (&)

Ms. FANG Ling, aged 45, has been appointed as an Executive Director
and the Group’s Financial Controller since 3 April 2024. Ms. Fang is
primarily in charge of internal audit, financial management, tax
management and fund management, coordinating the financing of the
Company and is responsible for coordinating domestic financing, assist
with overseas financing, etc. Ms. Fang previously held various positions in
SZCDG and its certain subsidiaries, including the director of the operation
and management department of SZCDG and a director of Shenzhen SEZ
Technology Park Development Co., Ltd* (RYITh @ BERERERE
R 2 &) (a subsidiary of SZCDG). Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Fang
served as the deputy director of the financial management department of
SZCDG, the financial controller of Shenzhen Lugiao Construction and
Development Group Co., Ltd.* (RIITTEEIBEREEEEFR AR, and
the director of the financial management department of Shenzhen SEZ
Investment Development Co., Ltd.* (FIITIFREZHICELEREGRAT)).
Ms. Fang obtained a Bachelor of Management with a major in Accounting
from the Hunan University in 2000.

Ms. CHENG Ka Man Carman, aged 34, has been an Executive Director
since 4 May 2017. She is primarily responsible for the administration
and operations of the Group. Ms. Cheng graduated from the University
of London with a Bachelor of Science degree in Financial and Business
Economics. She also obtained a Master of Science degree in Management
from the Imperial College London and a Master of Philosophy degree in
Real Estate Finance from the University of Cambridge. Prior to joining the
Group, Ms. Cheng was an executive director of Man Sang International
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of The Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (stock code: 938). She had also worked in a leading investment
firm in Asia. Ms. Cheng is the daughter of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing, a
Co-Chairman and Executive Director.

*  For identification purpose only
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTEEEERE (&)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. FUNG Sing Hong Stephen, aged 59, has been appointed as a
Non-Executive Director of the Company since 25 August 2023. He is
primarily responsible for advising on the formulation of the Group’s
general business models, development strategies and the resolution of
major issues. Mr. Fung first joined our Group in July 2006 and since then
he acted as the Group’s Chief Financial Officer until 19 May 2016. He
was an Executive Director of the Company from August 2014 to April
2020. Mr. Fung was the Chief Executive Officer of the Group from 1
January 2016 until he was promoted to Vice Chairman of the Group on
4 May 2017. Mr. Fung resigned as Vice Chairman of the Group and an
Executive Director and was appointed as a Senior Adviser of the Group on
1 April 2020. Since then Mr. Fung has been appointed as Non-Executive
Director and resigned as Senior Adviser on 25 August 2023. Mr. Fung has
more than 30 years of experience in financial management, mergers and
acquisitions, capital markets financing and corporate restructuring. Prior
to joining our Group, Mr. Fung was an executive director and the chief
financial officer of Guangdong Investment Limited (“GDI"). Before joining
GDI, Mr. Fung served as an executive director and the chief financial
officer of Guangdong Land Holdings Limited (formerly known as Kingway
Brewery Holdings Limited) (“GDL"). Both GDI and GDL are companies
listed on the Main Board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock codes:
270 and 124, respectively). Mr. Fung graduated from the University of
Wales, United Kingdom with a master’s degree in business administration.
He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Fung is a Hong Kong Accounting Advisor appointed by
the Ministry of Finance of the People’s Republic of China, a member of
the Hong Kong Election Committee, a member of the Advisory Committee
of the Accounting and Financial Reporting Council in Hong Kong, a vice
president of the Association of Hong Kong Accounting Advisors, the
former president of the Hong Kong Business Accountants Association, an
executive committee member of the Hong Kong Professionals and Senior
Executives Association, a standing member of the Chongging Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and an executive
vice president of the Hong Kong Chongging Friendship Federation.

FHTES
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTEEEERE (&)

Ms. SHEN Lifeng, aged 58, was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director since 16 June 2022, then has been re-designated as a
Non-Executive Director of the Company with effect from 6 January 2023,
and is primarily responsible for advising on the formulation of the Group’s
general business models, development strategies and the resolution of
major issues. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Shen served as the legal
director and deputy general manager of China Textile Import & Export
Corporation Hebei Branch Company* (FR&h#E ) O 48R R b E 5 A F)),
the executive deputy general manager of Shenglun Import & Export
Group Co., Ltd. (it i O & E & 17 B BR A 7)), the vice chairman of
board of directors and the general manager of Shaanxi Kunzheng Mining
Co., Ltd.* (BRFa 3 IE 5% % I8 15 B BR 2 A1), the chief executive officer of
Hong Kong Porda Havas International Financial Communication Group*
(BEAEESEFERY EETLEE). Ms. Shen is currently an executive
director of China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited (stock
code: 1427) and an independent non-executive director of Hebei
Construction Group Corporation Limited (stock code: 1727), shares of
both companies are listed on the Stock Exchange. She is also the deputy
secretary general of the Hong Kong State-owned Assets Investment
Association and an independent director of SZCDG. Ms. Shen has solid
basic professional knowledge of civil law, company law, financial law and
other civil and commercial law. She has worked in multinational
institutions in Hong Kong for 7 years and has 20 years of experience in
large state-owned enterprises, foreign companies, multinational
companies, and had been executives and independent directors of listed
companies. Ms. Shen obtained a Master’s degree in Sociology from the
University of Hong Kong, a Master’s degree in Economics from Hebei
University, and a Ph.D in Civil and Commercial Law from Peking University.

*  For identification purpose only
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Ms. LI Aihua, aged 36, has been appointed as a Non-Executive Director
of the Company since 16 May 2023. Ms. Li is primarily responsible for
advising on the formulation of the Group’s general business models,
development strategies and the resolution of major issues. Ms. Li is
currently the director of the financial management department of SZCDG
and the supervisor of Shenzhen Special Zone Construction & Development
Group, Marine Industry Development Co., Ltd. (RIS REZR G FEE
LR AMRAT) and Shenzhen Marine Expo Co., Ltd.* (FIIEFHEEREA
7)) (both of which are a subsidiary of SZCDG). Ms. Li previously served as
the deputy director of the financial management department of SZCDG
and the director of the financial management department of Shenzhen
Special Zone Construction & Development Group, Marine Industry
Development Co., Ltd.. Ms. Li obtained a Bachelor of Management from
the Shenzhen University with a major in Accounting in 2009, and
obtained a Master of Science in Real Estate from the University of
Greenwich in 2016.

Ms. DENG Jin, aged 33, has been appointed as a Non-Executive Director
of the Company since 16 May 2023. Ms. Deng is primarily responsible
for advising on the formulation of the Group’s general business models,
development strategies and the resolution of major issues. Ms. Deng
currently serves as the deputy director of the strategy and investment
department of SZCDG and a director of Shenzhen Infrastructure
Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd.* (FIITTEREREREES TR
AR EEAF)) (a subsidiary of SZCDG). Ms. Deng obtained a Bachelor of
Economics from Northwest University in Xian City, the People’s Republic
of China in 2010 with a major in Finance, and obtained a Master of
Science in Management from Case Western Reserve University in 2011.

*  For identification purpose only
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. LEUNG Kwan Yuen Andrew, GBM, GBS, JP, aged 73, has been
an Independent Non-Executive Director since 4 September 2009.
He has more than 44 years of management experience in the textile
manufacturing, wholesale and distribution businesses. Mr. Leung was
elected as the President of the Sixth and Seventh Legislative Council of
Hong Kong and a member of the Industrial (First) Functional Constituency
of the Legislative Council of Hong Kong, he is also a member of the 13th
of National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference. Mr. Leung is currently the honorary chairman of Textile
Council of Hong Kong, the honorary president of the Federation of Hong
Kong Industries, a fellow member of the Textiles Institute as well as the
Clothing and Footwear Institute in the United Kingdom. He was a council
member of the Hong Kong Trade Development Council. In addition, Mr.
Leung is an independent non-executive director of Wharf Real Estate
Investment Company Limited (stock code: 1997) and Dah Sing Financial
Holdings Limited (stock code: 440), both are companies listed on the Main
Board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Mr. LI Wai Keung, aged 67, has been an Independent Non-Executive
Director since 4 September 2009. Mr. Li has more than 46 years of
experience in financial management. Mr. Li graduated from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic and holds a Master degree in Business Administration
from the University of East Asia, Macau (currently known as the University
of Macau). He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Li was a standing member of the Twelfth Guangdong
Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, the honorary president and director of Hong Kong Business
Accountants Association, a member of China Overseas Friendship
Association, the secretary of the Financial and Accounting Affairs Steering
Committee of the Hong Kong Chinese Enterprises Association and Advisor
of Management Accounting of the Ministry of Finance, PRC. Mr. Li is
an independent non-executive director of Shenzhen Investment Limited
(“SZ Investment”), Hans Energy Company Limited (“Hans”), Centenary
United Holdings Limited (“Centenary United”) and Midland IC&I Limited
("Midland IC&I"). SZ Investment, Hans, Centenary United and Midland
IC&I are listed on the Main Board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock
codes: 604, 554, 1959 and 459 respectively). Mr. Li was an executive
director and chief financial officer of GDH Limited, an executive director of
Guangdong Land Holdings Limited (stock code: 124) and a non-executive
director of Guangdong Investment Limited (stock code: 270). Mr. Li had
worked for Henderson Land Development Company Limited (stock code:
12).
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Mr. HUI Chiu Chung Stephen, /P, aged 76, has been an Independent
Non-Executive Director since 11 April 2011. Mr. Hui has over 52 years of
experience in the securities and investment industry. He served as a council
member and vice chairman of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange, a member
of the Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures
Commission, a director of the Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company
Limited, a member of the Listing Committee of the Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited, an appointed member of the Securities and Futures
Appeal Tribunal, a member of the Standing Committee on Company Law
Reform and an appointed member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants Investigation Panel A, a member of the Committee
on Real Estate Investment Trusts of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures
Commission and a member of Government “Appointees” (independent
member) of the Appeal Panel of the Travel Industry Council of Hong Kong
for a number of years. Mr. Hui was appointed by the Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region a Justice of the Peace (JP)
in 2004 and was also appointed as a member of the Zhuhai Municipal
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
from 2006 to 2017. He is a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute
of Directors and a senior fellow member of Hong Kong Securities and
Investment Institute. Mr. Hui also serves as a non-executive director of
Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited (stock code: 590), Gemdale
Properties and Investment Corporation Limited (formerly known as Frasers
Property (China) Limited) (stock code: 535), SINOPEC Engineering (Group)
Co., Limited (stock code: 2386), Agile Group Holdings Limited (formerly
known as Agile Property Holdings Limited) (stock code: 3383), FSE Lifestyle
Services Limited (formerly known as FSE Services Group Limited) (stock
code: 331) and HK Acquisition Corporation (stock code 7841), of which
the shares are listed on The Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Since 30 April
1998, Mr. Hui has been an independent non-executive director of Zhuhai
Holdings Investment Group Limited (formerly under stock code: 908), the
shares of which were delisted from The Hong Kong Stock Exchange on 18
June 2021. Mr. Hui is at present an independent non-executive director of
Lifestyle International Holdings Limited (former stock code: 1212) whose
shares had also been delisted from The Hong Kong Stock Exchange on 20
December 2022.
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Ms. ZEE Helen, aged 56, has been appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company since 6 January 2023. Ms. Zee has 20
years of experience in investment banking and corporate finance, and held
various senior positions including Deputy Chief Executive and Managing
Director in Haitong International Capital Limited from 2013 to 2019. Ms.
Zee has vast experiences in public services, she is currently a member of
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Advisory Committee, University
Grants Committee and Chinese Medicine Council of Hong Kong. She
was a former member of the Listing Committee of the Main Board and
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited from 2013 to 2019. In
addition, Ms. Zee is an independent non-executive director of Henderson
Sunlight Asset Management Limited (as the manager of Sunlight Real
Estate Investment Trust (stock code: 435), a real estate investment trust
listed on The Hong Kong Stock Exchange). Ms. Zee holds a Bachelor of
Science, Business Administration degree from University of California,
Berkeley, and is a member of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.
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Dr. LI Xu, aged 49, has been appointed as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company since 16 May 2023. He obtained a Bachelor of
Economics with a major in International Business Administration from the
University of International Business and Economics in 1997. He obtained
his Master’s degree in Finance from Boston College in 1998 and his Doctor
of Philosophy (in Accounting) from Massachusetts Institute of Technology
in 2004. Dr. Li joined the School of Business of The University of Hong
Kong (“HKU") as an Associate Professor in Accounting in July 2012 and
he teaches accounting and finance related courses and conducts related
research there since then. Currently Dr. Li also serves as the Programme
Director of the Executive Master of Business Administration (EMBA)
Programme offered by the School of Business, HKU. Before joining HKU,
Dr. Li worked as an Assistant Professor in Lehigh University from August
2010 to June 2012 and The University of Texas at Dallas from July 2004 to
August 2010, respectively. In 1999, he worked as an associate manager
in Lucent Technologies, Inc., a strategic information technology consulting
firm, where he was primarily responsible for conducting financial analysis.
Dr. Li has obtained the Certified Financial Analyst (CFA) qualification from
the Association for Investment Management and Research (now known
as the CFA Institute) in October 2003. Dr. Li is currently an independent
non-executive director of China Tianbao Group Development Company
Limited (stock code: 1427), the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange, China Kangda Food Company
Limited, the shares of which are primarily listed on the Main Board of The
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 834) and secondarily listed on
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (stock code: P74) and
Pizu Group Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on GEM of
The Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 8035).
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Key Management

Mr. CHAN Mau Cheong Bryan, aged 45, is the Group’s Chief Financial
Officer. Mr. Chan joined our Group as the Group’s Chief Finance Officer
since 15 November 2019 and also served as Company Secretary from
1 February to 15 August 2021. Mr. Chan is responsible for the overall
financial management of the Group, establishing and maintaining investor
relations and executing the Group's capital market financing, mergers
and acquisitions, and business cooperation projects. Mr. Chan has 22
years of experience in financial management, specializing in auditing,
accounting, financial due diligence and investments management. Mr.
Chan graduated from The Chinese University of Hong Kong with a first
class honours degree in Bachelor of Business Administration. Mr. Chan
is @ member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a Chartered Financial Analyst. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chan
was the chief financial officer of a Hong Kong based family office.
Mr. Chan had worked in Big Four international accounting firms —
Arthur Andersen & Co. Hong Kong, PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd. and
PricewaterhouseCoopers Consultants (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. Shanghai
Branch for about 15 years.

Mr. YU Mingming, aged 45, is the Group's Vice President and Business
Management Division’s President, General Manager of Qianlong Logistics,
Secretary of Party Branch, currently in charge of Business Management
Division and Qianlong Logistics. Mr. Yu joined our Group in June 2017 as
the General Manager of Qianlong Logistics Group Limited, and was
appointed as the Group’s Vice President in June 2021. He assists in overall
operation of the Group and is responsible for the overall operation and
management of Qianlong Logistics Group Limited. Mr. Yu graduated from
Shanghai Maritime University with a Bachelor degree in Logistics
Management and subsequently graduated from the Economics and
Management School of Wuhan University with an EMBA degree. Mr. Yu
was qualified as a Senior Logistician by #itE A & Rt & RFEE
(Hubei Provincial Department of Human Resources and Social Security*) in
2016. Mr. Yu has extensive experience in investment, operation and
management of logistics parks. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yu was the
general manager of Southern Region of China Merchants Logistics Group
Limited and an assistant to the general manager of China Merchants
Logistics Group Limited (a subsidiary of China Merchants Group Limited
which is a state-owned backbone enterprise directly administered by the
central government of China with its head office based in Hong Kong).

*  For identification purpose only
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Mr. CHEN Weiguo, aged 56, is the Group's Vice President, currently
in charge of the Public Affairs Centre and Business Operating Centre.
Mr. Chen joined our Group as the General Manager of CSC Nanning in
February 2018. In December 2018, he was appointed as the Business
Management Division’s Executive Vice President, was appointed as
President of the Business Management Division in April 2020, and was
then appointed as Group's Vice President in September 2022. Mr. Chen
graduated from Chemistry Department, Hanshan Normal University. Mr.
Chen has extensive experience in merchants recruitment and management
in the wholesale market. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chen worked as
managing director of China Pearls and Jewellery International City Co.,
Ltd. (a subsidiary of Man Sang International Limited, a company listed on
the Main Board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange, stock code: 938). He
had also worked with Man Hing Industry Development (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd..

Mr. XU Lei, aged 44, the Group's Vice President, responsible for the
development of business segments, and in charge Centre’s of Cost
Procurement, Planning and Design, Engineering Management and
Marketing Management. Mr. Xu joined our Group on 5 September 2022
as Assistant President, then served as the Group’s Vice President in March
2023. Mr. Xu has 16 years of experience in real estate development and
management, and has extensive experience in design, construction and
sales. Mr. Xu graduated from lJilin Jianzhu University with a Bachelor
degree. Before joining the Group, Mr. Xu served as the chairman of the
Northeast Region of CITIC Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“CITIC Real Estate”) and
worked in CITIC Real Estate for 12 years.
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Mr. ZHANG Wenhong, aged 38, is the Group's Vice President. Mr.
Zhang joined the Group in September 2012 and has successively
served as Assistant to the Chairman of the Group, Deputy Director
of the Headquarters Office, General Manager of the Comprehensive
Management Centre, Chairman and President of HOBA Home Furnishing,
and Chairman of the China South City E-commerce Industry Alliance,
and has been appointed as Group's Vice President of the Group in
August 2023, he is now in charge of President Office, Comprehensive
Management Centre, HOBA Home Furnishing, China South City
E-commerce Industry Alliance and the Legal Management Section of
the Risk Control Management Centre. Mr. Zhang graduated from China
University of Political Science and Law with a Bachelor’s degree in Law,
and later obtained a Master’s degree in Business Administration from
Peking University. He is the sixth and seventh party representative of
Longgang District, Shenzhen City, the vice president of the Shenzhen
Chamber of Commerce, and a mediation expert of the Shenzhen Court of
International Arbitration. Before joining the Group, Mr. Zhang worked for
BYD Co., Ltd. (a company listed on The Hong Kong Stock Exchange and
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock codes 1211 and 002594 respectively)
as the manager of the international legal department.

Mr. CHAN Hing Chau, aged 44, has been appointed as the Company
Secretary since 16 August 2021, is responsible for the offshore financing
of the Group, company secretarial duties and investor relations. He has
more than 18 years of extensive experience in financial management,
mergers and acquisitions, corporate governance, company secretarial
matters, and establishing and maintaining investor relations. Mr. Chan
obtained his bachelor’s degree of arts in accountancy and master degree
of Corporate Governance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in November 2004 and September 2018 respectively. He is a member
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Prior to joining
our Group, Mr. Chan was a general manger of finance department of
Redco Holdings (Hong Kong) Co., Limited in March 2013, then served
as a company secretary of Redco Properties Group Limited (it is listed
on the main board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange with stock code:
1622) from October 2013 to July 2021. Mr. Chan worked for the Big
Four international accounting firm — PricewaterhouseCoopers for about 9

years.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

The Board hereby presents this annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the nine months ended
31 December 2023 (“FY2023" or the “Year” or the “Period”).

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Group are developing and operating
largescale integrated logistics and trade centres in China, and has
developed and been operating eight projects located in Shenzhen,
Nanning, Nanchang, Xi'an, Harbin, Zhengzhou, Hefei and Chongging.
Adhering to its “trade and logistics+” model and focusing on real
business, China South City endeavors to provide an online-and-offline
combined logistics and trade integrated ecosystem for SMEs. Throughout
the years, the Group has evolved a diversified and flexible business model.
As the projects in various places are becoming mature, China South City
has actively been adding new industries and businesses in the respect of
innovation and technology on these project sites, apart from continuously
strengthening the provision and services on residential units, multipurpose
commercial properties, office buildings, commercial complexes, property
management, conference and exhibition facilities, warehousing and
logistics, outlets and financial services. The Group is striving towards the
world-class integrated trade and logistics centre, digital centre, innovation
centre and living centre, and aiming to “Integrating Industries into the
Projects, Building Beautiful New 'City’ Conducive to Work and Life"”.

Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out
under Management Discussion and Analysis as well as in note 1 to the
financial statements of this annual report respectively.

Results and Dividends

The Group's results for the nine months ended 31 December 2023 and
the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set
out under Chairman Statement as well as in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 165 to 316 of this annual report respectively.

The Board resolved not to declare any final dividend for the nine months
ended 31 December 2023 (FY2022/23: HK2.0 cents per Share).
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Closure of Register of Members

For the purpose of determining shareholder’s (the “Shareholder” of the
Company) eligibility to attend, speak and vote at the annual general
meeting (the “AGM") on 28 June 2024 (or at any adjournment of it), the
register of members of the Company will be closed as set out below:

Latest time to lodge transfer
documents for registration with
the Company’s share registrar ... ................ At 4:30 p.m. on
Monday, 24 June 2024

Closure of register of members . ... ......... Tuesday, 25 June 2024 to
Friday, 28 June 2024
(both days inclusive)

Record date, being the date for
determining Shareholders’ eligibility . . ... ....... Friday, 28 June 2024

During the above closure periods, no transfer of shares will be registered.
To ensure the relevant rights of Shareholders, all properly completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged for registration with the Company’s share registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later
than the aforementioned latest time.

Business Overview

The business overview of the Group for the nine months ended
31 December 2023 are provided in the Chairman’s Statement, the
Management Discussion and Analysis and the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report of this annual report.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Year are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.
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Reserves

Details of the reserves are disclosed in 34 to the financial statements.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in the section headed “Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity” and in note 44 to the financial
statements, respectively.

Distributable Reserves

Details of the Company’s reserves available for distribution as at 31
December 2023, calculated in accordance with Part 6 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
amounted to approximately HK$144.0 million (31 March 2023: HK$307.1
million was retained for daily operation of the Company), was retained
for daily operation of the Company, which are disclosed in note 44 to the
financial statements.

Debts Securities

Details of the outstanding senior notes issued by the Company during the
Year are disclosed in the section headed “Issuance of Notes” and note 30
to the financial statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

Donations
During the Year, the Group did not make donations to any charitable
organizations (FY2022/23: Nil).

Subsidiaries
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023
are set out in note 1 to the financial statements.
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Directors

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Co-Chairmen

Mr. Li Wenxiong (Non-Executive Director)

Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Executive Director)

Executive Directors*
Ms. Geng Mei (Chief Operating Officer)
Mr. Wan Hongtao (Group’s Vice President)

Ms. Fang Ling (Group’s Financial Controller)

Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman

Non-Executive Directors**
Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen

Ms. Shen Lifeng

Ms. Li Aihua

Ms. Deng Jin

Independent Non-Executive Directors***
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew

Mr. Li Wai Keung

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung

Ms. Zee Helen

Dr. Li Xu

* %

* %

* %

* kK

Mr. Qin Wenzhong resigned as Executive Director and Group’s Financial
Controller with effect from 3 April 2024.

Ms. Fang Ling has been appointed as Executive Director and Group’s
Financial Controller with effect from 3 April 2024.

Mr. Cheng Tai Po resigned as Non-Executive Director with effect from 25
August 2023.

Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen has been appointed as Non-Executive Director
from 25 August 2023.

Ms. Li Aihua has been appointed as Non-Executive Director from 16 May
2023.

Ms. Deng Jin has been appointed as Non-Executive Director from 16 May
2023.

Dr. Li Xu has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director with
effect from 16 May 2023.
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The Company's Articles provide rotation and re-election for all Directors.
In accordance with the Articles, at each annual general meeting of the
Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if their number
is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not
less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation. The Articles also
provide that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
on the Board shall hold office only until the next following general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible to offer for re-election,
and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible to offer for re-election.

The Board has received an annual confirmation of independence from
each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Rules governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The Board considers all Independent Non-
Executive Directors to be independent.

The list of names of all Directors who have served on the boards of the
subsidiaries of the Company up to the date of this report is available on
the Company’s website.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into service contract with the
Company while each of the Non-Executive Directors and Independent
Non-Executive Directors has entered into letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years. The service contract and the letter of
appointment may be terminated by either party thereto by giving not less
than one month’s prior written notice.

None of the Directors has entered into any service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts of Significance

None of the Directors had a material beneficial interest, whether directly
or indirectly, in any significant contract to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries, its holding companies or a subsidiary of its holding
companies was a party during the Year.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Key
Management

The biographical information of the Directors and Key Management of
the Company is set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Key Management” on pages 56 to 68 of this annual report.

Enforcement of the Deed of Non-Competition
Pursuant to the deed of non-competition dated 4 September 2009 (“Non-
Competition Undertaking”) entered into by Mr. Cheng Chung Hing has
undertaken with the Company (for itself and on behalf of each other
member of the Group) that so long as the Company is listed on the Main
Board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange and so long as:

o in respect of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing, he remains as the controlling
shareholder or a director of the Company;

that he shall not, and shall procure his associates not to, either alone
or jointly with any other person or entity, or for any other person, firm
or company, or as principal, partner, director, employee, consultant or
agent through anybody corporate, partnership, joint venture or other
contractual arrangement, be engaged, invested, or otherwise involved,
whether as a shareholder, director, employee, partner, agent or otherwise,
directly or indirectly, in the carrying on of any business in any form or
manner in China that is in competition or is likely to be in competition,
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, unless those business
opportunities have been first offered to the Group upon terms which
are fair and reasonable and the Board has declined such opportunities,
in accordance with the provisions of the Non-Competition Undertaking,
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing or his respective associates may pursue such
opportunities.

The Company has received an annual confirmation from Mr. Cheng
Chung Hing confirming his compliance with the Non-Competition
Undertaking during the Year.

Directors’ Emoluments
Particulars of the Directors’ emoluments for the nine months ended 31
December 2023 are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business

Save as disclosed above, the Company has received confirmations from
all Directors that none of them have engaged or were interested in any
business which were in competition or were likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group during the Year.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in
Securities

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors
in the shares of the Company (the “Shares”), underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO")) as recorded in the register maintained by the Company under
section 352 of the SFO or as notified to the Company and The Hong Kong
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") were as follows:

Long Position in the Shares and Underlying Shares
of the Company

EERFETHRAEREZHES

M2023F 12 A31H - EERA R A H FARED
E(TERFHRBEERN(ESRRAEED ) EXV
)RR RRG (TR 1) - BRI K (& #e 8 h E
BEARDFREES KRB KRAEI2EATFE
WELM - RBELEMBETAZESHETELFIHNIE
AESFRI([1RESF AL BEE AR Q R RE B AT
HEKEWT

RAERXRARG REERGHTRE

Approximate

Number of Shares held percentage of

ULV the Company's

Corporate Personal Family Share total number of

Name of Directors Class of Shares interest interest interest Options Total issued Shares®
fERAH
BRTRG
ESpE RAER NERE PN 5 EqY 4 B E a AEsRIRY

Cheng Chung Hing Ordinary Shares 2,306,553,7911 - - - 2,306,553,791 20.16%
LN LER

Geng Mei Share Options - - - 30,000,000 30,000,000 0.26%
g Bz

Cheng Ka Man Carman Share Options - - - 7,800,000 7,800,000 0.07%
BEX Bl

Fung Sing Hong Stephen Ordinary Shares - 200,000 - - 200,000 0.0017%
BEf LER

Li Wai Keung Share Options - - - 1,000,000? 1,000,000 0.01%
% Bl

Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew Share Options - - - 1,000,000? 1,000,000 0.01%
ZEE Bl

Hui Chiu Chung Share Options - - - 1,000,000? 1,000,000 0.01%
AR Bl
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Notes:

(1) Mr. Cheng Chung Hing is interested in 100% of the issued share capital of
Accurate Gain Developments Limited which in turn holds 2,306,553,791
Shares and is therefore deemed to be interested in the aforesaid
2,306,553,791 Shares. He is the father of Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman.

2) The relevant interests are share options granted to Ms. Geng Mei and Ms.
Cheng Ka Man Carman pursuant to the Company’s 2019 Share Option
Scheme adopted on 13 September 2019. Further details of the 2019 Share
Option Scheme are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in
this report.

(3) The relevant interests are share options granted to Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen
Andrew, Mr. Li Wai Keung and Mr. Hui Chiu Chung pursuant to the
Company’s 2009 Share Option Scheme adopted on 4 September 2009.
Further details of the 2009 Share Option Scheme are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” in this report.

(4) The percentage shareholding is calculated on the basis of 11,441,892,848
Shares issued as at 31 December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023 to the knowledge of
the Directors, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be: (i)
notified to the Company and The Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which the Directors and chief executive were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); (i) entered in the register kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (iii) notified to
the Company and The Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Securities

As at 31 December 2023, to the knowledge of the Directors, the following
persons (other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) had or
were deemed or taken to have interests or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares which were required to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which

FTERFRREBSNER

M2023F12A318 - BEZMA - U TAL(EEHK
RAREETHABRINRAROIBERDPESE
SR RSB IEHEBERIEFZHF LG ERIIEXVEIE2
3D EMGEARMAR KR - AEARRTIREE
HREBEROIE3B6KETFEN T LM ERIK

PEN

were recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section & :

336 of the SFO:

Long Position in the Shares RIRBHEEFE
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Shares or the Company'’s
underlying total number
Name Nature of interest Shares held of issued Shares®
LERN
RS 2BRITRG
wE BB EEME HEROHE BEBANBE IO
SZCDG Deemed interest in controlled corporation 3,350,000,000™ 29.28%
FrimE s WRIEZ TS EE S
SEZCDHK Deemed interest in controlled corporation 3,350,000,000 29.28%
FREEEs WRIER TS EE S
SEZCDIH Beneficial owner 3,350,000,000@ 29.28%
R 3R BEmlEA A
Accurate Gain Developments Limited Beneficial owner 2,306,553,791% 20.16%
EmBEBA
Tencent Holdings Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation 955,936,666 8.35%
FEIER B R A ) BARMER IS A E R
THL H Limited Beneficial owner 955,936,666 8.35%
BEmlEA A
Proficient Success Limited Beneficial owner 588,984,145 5.15%
ERBEBA
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Notes:

(1) SEZ Construction & Development International (Hong Kong) LIMITED is
wholly owned by SZCDG (“SEZCDHK").

(2)  SEZ Construction & Development Investment Holding LIMITED is wholly
owned by SEZCDHK (“SEZCDIH").

(3 Mr. Cheng Chung Hing owns 100% of the issued shares capital of Accurate
Gain Developments Limited.

(4) THL H Limited is wholly owned by Tencent Holdings Limited.

(5) Mr. Cheng Tai Po owns 100% of the issued share capital of Proficient
Success Limited.

(6) The percentage shareholding is calculated on the basis of 11,441,892,848
Shares issued as at 31 December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, to the knowledge of
the Directors or chief executive of the Company, no other person (other
than a Director or chief executive of the Company) had, or were deemed
or taken to have interest or short position in the Shares or underlying
Shares which were required to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO.

Information on Share Options

Share Option Scheme

The share option scheme adopted by the Company on 4 September 2009
became effective on 30 September 2009 and expired on 29 September
2019 (the “2009 Share Option Scheme”). In light of the expiration of the
2009 Share Option Scheme, a new share option scheme was adopted by
the shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company held on
13 September 2019, after which the Company obtained a conditional
listing approval for such new share option scheme from The Hong Kong
Stock Exchange (the “2019 Share Option Scheme”).

No options can further be granted under the 2009 Share Option Scheme
which has been expired on 13 September 2019. However, for the
outstanding 3,000,000 share options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2009 Share Option Scheme remain valid and exercisable
in accordance with the terms of the 2009 Share Option Scheme,
representing approximately 0.026% of the total number of issued Shares
of the Company as at the date of this report.
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2009 Share Option Scheme

The major terms of the 2009 Share Option Scheme were summarized as

follows:

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme was to provide incentives
to eligible persons for their contribution to the Company and to
enable the Company to recruit high-calibre employees and attract
human resources that are valuable to the Group.

The Board may at its discretion grant options to Directors,
employees, officers, agents, consultants or representatives of the
Group.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all share options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme must not exceed 30% of the Shares in
issue from time to time. The total number of Shares in respect of
which options granted under the Share Option Scheme was not
permitted to exceed 10% in nominal amount of the issued Shares
as at the date of commencement of the listing of Shares on The
Hong Kong Stock Exchange unless with the prior approval from the
Shareholders. The Share Option Scheme limit was refreshed at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 21 August 2013.
At the date of this report, the maximum number of the Shares
available for issue upon exercise of all share option are granted
under the Share Option Scheme is 3,000,000 Shares, representing
approximately 0.026% of the total number of issued share of the
Company as at the date of this report.

The total number of Shares issued upon the exercise of share
options granted under the Share Option Scheme (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) to each grantee
in any 12-month period up to the date of grant should not exceed
1% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of
grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is
subject to approval of the Shareholders.

The period during which a share option may be exercised would be
determined by the Directors at their absolute discretion, save that
no share option may be exercised more than 10 years after grant.
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The consideration paid by each grantee for each grant of options is 6.  &&RE ABX 1B TIE AT RERBIERN K
HK$1. B
The exercise price in relation to each share option would be 7. ZBEA2ERISATESERENITES @ ET

determined by the Directors at their absolute discretion and should
not be less than the highest of: (i) the official closing price of the
Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of The Hong Kong
Stock Exchange on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing
prices of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of The

BERTHNEENREE © HROKEL A
HRBBRXE A RERMIIETEHIE (i)
BOREZRLAMAMAEE XA EFTBBR
P B3RERMIIFHETE R E
HEHEE -

Hong Kong Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Shares on the date of grant.

RANEFEARRIZF2009F BAERT 811X B &

The table below summarized the details of the movements in the share

options granted pursuant to the 2009 Share Option Scheme during the — FIBRESHN TR ZA ¢
Year:
Number of Share Options
BREHE
As at As at
Date of 1 April Cancelled/ 31December ~ Exercise  Exercisable
Name Grant Vesting Period 2023 Granted  Exercised Lapsed 2023 Price  Period
#03E Bi#/  HnF
£R RHRH BRA 4B1H BERH Bk %% 1283A ke 754
HK§
AT
Directors
Bz
Fung Sing Hong Stephen 13/172017 3/112017-21712018 40,000,000 - - (40,000,000) - 152 3/712018-2/7/2023
BEM
Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew ~ 13/4/2018 - 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) - 181 13/412018-12/4/2023
2EE 13/42018-12/4/2019 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 181 13/412019-12/412024
Li Wai Keung 13/4/2018 - 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) - 181 13/412018-12/4/2023
G 13/4/2018-12/4/2019 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 181 13/4/2019-12/412024
Hui Chiu Chung 13/4/2018 - 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) - 181 13/4/2018-12/4/2023
TR 13/42018-12/412019 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 181 13/412019-12/412024
Employees 221812016 22/8/2016-21/8/2018 2,000,000 - - (2,000,000) - 175 22/82018-21/8/2023
]
48,000,000 - - (45,000,000) 3,000,000
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Notes:

2019

Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen has been appointed as Non-Executive Director
and resigned as Senior Advisor of the Group with effect from 25 August
2023.

Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 33 to the financial
information.

Share Option Scheme

The major terms of the 2019 Share Option Scheme are summarized as

follows:

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives
to eligible participants to contribute to the Company and to enable
the Group to recruit high-calibre employees and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group.

The Board may at its discretion grant options to Directors (including
executive and non-executive Directors), employees, officers, agents
or consultants of the Company or any subsidiary.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all share options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and all outstanding options must not exceed 30%
of the Shares in issue from time to time. The total number of Shares
in respect of options which may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the issued Shares on
adoption date that is 810,722,884 Shares. At the date of this
report, the maximum number of the Shares available for issue upon
exercise of all share options which may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme is 730,422,884 Shares, representing approximately
6.38% of the total number of issued Shares of the Company as at
the date of this report.

Bt

BEMEAEB2023FE8 A2 ARER T AIFMITE
£ WEIAEEZ EFRER -

2. BEREI BMEEER SIS B MER3
2019 FBIRFERTE

2019 F B AR AT 81 M = B IEF R T -

ZEREG S E ERBAER2EEHAKE
EH BB - YEAREE R RBESES KK
AT e

EXeARBMBAARRRRENMNBARZE
E2(BRAUTIFFATES)  EE SR
8 RIZok R L ERE -

FIEmMARITR 2 BRERABREAEIETE
BB B ARITER 2 FTA BRI TR m A T3
TR 48 - TEBBTREETRHEE
#130% o IR AR B AR A 5T &I AT T 4% 0 B0 B AR A P
W RIRDEE - TSHBBERNAREIBE T
R #110% B0 5810,722,884 % B 1 - IR IEHE
ReAERT BIT8 T 0] T 15 A BT B AR (W1 T
MmEITR AR () 48 20 5 730,422,884 1% % 1 - 48
ERARRRIRARE BHINE BTG BN
6.38% ©
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The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the
exercise of share options granted under the Share Option Scheme
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) to
each grantee in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall
not exceed 1% of the number of shares in issue of the Company as
at the date of grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of
this limit is subject to approval of the Shareholders.

The period during which a share option may be exercised will be
determined by the Directors at their absolute discretion, save that
no share option may be exercised more than 10 years after grant.

The consideration paid by each grantee for each grant of options is
HK$1.

The exercise price in relation to each share option will be
determined by the directors at their absolute discretion and shall
be at least the highest of: (a) the closing price of Shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange
on the date of grant, which must be a business day; and (b) the
average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation
sheets of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant.

No further options will be granted under the Share Option Scheme
after the date of expiration. In respect of the options granted and
accepted prior to the date of expiration and not then exercised,
they shall continue to be valid and exercisable subject to and in
accordance with the Share Option Scheme.
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The table below summarized the details of the movements in the share

RAFEARE2019F AT 813X L A &

options granted pursuant to the 2019 Share Option Scheme during the = IEHEEN TEZ N ¢
Year:
Number of Share Options
BREH A
As at As at
Date of 1 April Cancelled/ 31December ~ Exercise  Exercisable
Name Grant Vesting Period 2023  Granted  Exercised Lapsed 2023 Price  Period
R2023% BHE#/  HO3F
28 REpH  BES 4F1R BRY  BAR X% ANE ffEE G
HK$
T
Directors
£
Geng Mei 29/612021 29/6/2021-28/6/2022 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000 1.00  29/6/2022-28/6/2026
5 29/6/2021-28/6/2023 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000 100 29/6/2023-28/6/2026
29/6/2021-28/6/2024 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000 1.00  29/6/2024-28/6/2026
Cheng Ka Man Carman ~ 7/2/2020 71212020-6/2/2021 2,600,000 - - - 2,600,000 100 7/2/2021-6/2/2025
B2 7/2/2020-6/2/2022 2,600,000 - - - 2,600,000 100 7/2/2022-6/2/2025
7/2/2020-6/2/2023 2,600,000 - - - 2,600,000 100 7/2/2023-6/2/2025
Employees 71212020 7/2/2020-6/2/2021 7,500,000 - - - 7,500,000 100 7/2/2021-6/2/2025
& 7/2/2020-6/2/2022 7,500,000 - - - 7,500,000 1.00  7/212022-6/2/2025
71212020-6/2/2023 7,500,000 - - - 7,500,000 100 7/2/2023-6/2/2025
29/612021 29/6/2021-30/3/2022 20,000,000 - - - 20,000,000 1.00  31/3/2022-30/3/2026
80,300,000 - - - 80,300,000

Note: Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 33 to the financial

information.
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Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debt
Securities

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Interests in Securities” and “Information on Share Options” in this report
and in note 33 to the financial statements, at no time during the Year
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors or chief executives of the Company (including their
spouses or children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

Continuing Connected Transaction

Continuing Connected Transactions in relation to
the Property Management Transactions

On 15 July 2022 (after trading hours), First Asia Pacific Group Company
Limited (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, the
“Vendor"), SZCDG (the “Purchaser”) and the Company entered into an
equity transfer agreement (the “Equity Transfer Agreement”), pursuant to
which the Vendor agreed to sell, and the Purchaser agreed to purchase,
50% equity interest in Shenzhen First Asia Pacific Property Management
Company Limited (the “Target Company”) at a consideration of
RMB1,256,600,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,457,656,000).
Completion of the Equity Transfer Agreement took place on 23 December
2022 and the Target Company has ceased to be a subsidiary of the
Company and its financial results are no longer consolidated into the
Group's financial statements.

Pursuant to the Equity Transfer Agreement, upon completion of the Equity
Transfer Agreement, the Company shall (i) engage the Target Company,
its subsidiary and branches (the “Target Group”) to manage all present
and future property projects owned by the Group and (ii) use its best
endeavours to procure the engagement of the Target Group in respect
of the property management of present and future property projects
developed by the Group. Accordingly, the Company and the Target
Company entered into a property management transactions framework
agreement (the “Property Management Transactions Framework
Agreement”) on 15 July 2022 (after trading hours) for the provision of
property management services by the Target Group for the period from
the date of completion of the Equity Transfer Agreement to 31 March
2025.
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Key terms of the Property Management Transactions Framework

Agreement, among others, are set out below:

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Subject matter:

15 July 2022 (after trading hours)

(1) The Company
(2)  The Target Company

Effective from the date of completion of the Equity
Transfer Agreement to 31 March 2025 (both days
inclusive), subject to termination as agreed by both
parties

Property management services from the Target
Group to the Group, including security, cleaning
service, customer service, maintenance of order,
parking management, equipment and facility
maintenance, pre-delivery consultancy services,
sales office coordination, gardening and road
maintenance and polishing services (the “Property
Management Transactions”).

The following table sets out the annual caps for the Property Management

Transactions:

For the year ended

For the nine months

31 March 2023 ended 31 December 2023

YERB RN T B (EP R EIIT

FIA977

HAMR -

IR

202297158 (X 55 EEE)

(1 ARA
2 BERA

B R AR E B E2025
FIANB(BRHEREMR) LA
M RIKIE TR E R TAR L

BEEERAREREEERS -
BERS - BPIRS - IR
FEERE  RBMRGEERE
RIEAIN AR - SHERSEA -
& B A M L E Y E B IR IR
(MERBRS]) -

TREINMERBRHNFE LR

For the year ending
31 December 2024

For the three months
ending 31 March 2025

HZE2023F HZE20235F 8E20245% HZE20255
3A31BLLEE 1283181 NEA 12A31BLLEE 3A31BLL=EA
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET FAT FHET
309,100 299,550 394,825 98,325

For the nine months ended 31 December 2023, the total amounts payable

by the Group to the Target Group under the Property Management

Transactions Framework Agreement amounted to HK$277,505,000,
which was within the annual cap of HK$299,550,000 for the same

period.

HZE2023F12A31HIENER - AEEREME R
e B IREE T R4 5277,505,000 7
JC ' % REIERI R FE _EFR299,550,00078 70,2 A °
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Upon completion of the Equity Transfer Agreement, the Target Company
became a subsidiary of the Purchaser, which is a substantial shareholder
of the Company. Accordingly, the Property Management Transactions
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As one or more of the applicable
percentage ratios in respect of the annual caps for the Property
Management Transactions exceed 5%, the Property Management
Transactions are subject to the reporting, annual review, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A

of the Listing Rules.

Details of the above have also been disclosed in the circular of the
Company dated 24 August 2022. Independent shareholders of the
Company have approved the Property Management Transactions at the
extraordinary general meeting held on 9 September 2022.

Continuing Connected Transactions in Xi‘an

On 16 December 2022 (after trading hours), China South City Group Co.,
Ltd. (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, the “Seller”),
China South International Industrial Materials City (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd. (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, “China South
International”), Shenzhen Shenji No.1 Industrial Park Investment and
Operation Co., Ltd. (the “Subscriber”) and Xi‘an China South City Co.,
Ltd. (the “Target Company”) entered into an investment agreement (the
“Investment Agreement”), pursuant to which the Subscriber agreed to
subscribe, and the Target Company agreed to issue 2,262,938,726 new
shares in the Target Company at a consideration of RMB5,000,000,000.
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On 21 December 2022, China South International and the Target
Company entered into supplemental agreements to each of a construction
project management agreement (the “Construction Project Management
Agreement”), a marketing management and brand licensing agreement
(the “Marketing Management and Brand Licensing Agreement”) and a
supporting services agreement (the “Supporting Services Agreement”)
(together, the “Continuing Transactions Agreements”), such that the
expiry date of each of these agreements has been extended from 31
December 2023 to 31 December 2025.

() Construction Project Management Agreement
The principal terms of the Construction Project Management
Agreement, among others, are set out below:

Date: 25 February 2021 (as amended on 21
December 2022)
Parties: (i) China South International; and

(i) the Target Company.

Remaining term:  For the period from the date of completion of
the Investment Agreement to 31 December
2025

Subject matter: Construction project management and
consultancy services, including, among others,
authorisation to use the product design system
and the intelligent fine decoration design
and management system, construction cost
management, construction quality control,
construction technology management, full-cycle
customer management and other supporting
consultancy services related to the operation of
construction projects of the Target Company
(the "Construction Project Management
Services").
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(I) Marketing Management and Brand Licensing Agreement

The principal terms of the Marketing Management and Brand

Licensing Agreement, among others, are set out below:

Date:

25 February 2021 (as amended on 21

December 2022)

Parties: (i)

(ii)

Remaining term:

China South International; and
the Target Company.

For the period from the date of completion of

the Investment Agreement to 31 December

2025

Subject matter: (i)

(ii)
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Marketing management and
consultancy services including,
among others, marketing and public
relations management, client and
partner management, marketing
training, marketing planning and other
consultancy services related to the
operation of construction projects of the
Target Company; and

Brand licensing services, including
the grant of (a) the right to use the
trademarks registered by China South
International for marketing purposes; (b)
the right to incorporate “China South
City"” in the registered name of the
Target Company; and (c) the right to use
the achievements and recognitions of
China South International for marketing
and business negotiation purposes (the
“Marketing Management and Brand
Licensing Services”).
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(Il) Supporting Services Agreement

The principal terms of the Supporting Services Agreement, among

others, are set out below:

Date:

Parties:

Remaining term:

Subject matter:

25 February 2021 (as amended on 21
December 2022)

(i) China South International; and
(i) the Target Company.

For the period from the date of completion of
the Investment Agreement to 31 December
2025

Supporting consultancy services in relation to,
among others, human resources administrative
management, finance management, legal
management and risk management related
to the projects of the Target Company (the
“Supporting Services” and, together with
the Construction Project Management
Services and the Marketing Management and
Brand Licensing Services, the “Continuing
Transactions”).

The following table sets out the annual caps for the Continuing

Transactions:

(1)

B E R
RERBHENEZER(EPBEB)EIINT

HEf : 202142 A25H (72022412

A21B&4E5T)

FIAI7T - () FEEERK: &
(i) BFRERAR-

FIERERRR WE R E A EIHEE 20254
12 A31H I-HARS
ZEREIA BREFARE  HPpiEEE

SAEIHEEBENASERIT
HERE WIEEIE  ZRER
kEBRER(TEERS] - &
BEHBEEERBMEHE R
RmERERBEBRISE
Z51) e

TREJIFEZFNFE LR :

For the
period For the
from 1 June 2023 year ending

to 31 December 31 December
2023 2024 and 2025

H2023%F
6A1REZE Bz
2023%F 2024F 20255
12A31888 12A31ALFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT
Construction Project Management Services 2218 B & RS 26,754 45,864
Marketing Management and Brand EIHETE LR R RS
Licensing Services 54,491 93,413
Supporting Services BLERRTS 13,475 23,100
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The Subscriber is held as to 90% by Guangdong Shenji Huayuan Equity
Investment Limited Partnership, a limited partnership in which Shenzhen
Infrastructure Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen
Infrastructure Investment”) is a general partner and, through its direct
wholly-owned subsidiary Shenzhen Shenji Pengcheng Investment
Development Co., Ltd., is interested as to 100% of the equity interest as a
limited partner. Shenzhen Infrastructure Investment is a direct non-wholly
owned subsidiary of SZCDG. As a result, the Subscriber is also a connected
person of the Company by virtue of being an associate of SZCDG.

Upon completion of the Investment Agreement, the Target Company
would be held as to 69.35% by the Subscriber and 30.65% by the Seller,
respectively, and the Target Company would cease to be a subsidiary
of the Company and become a subsidiary of the Subscriber, which
is an associate of a connected person of the Company. Accordingly,
upon completion of the Investment Agreement, the Continuing
Transactions would become continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As one or more
of the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the annual caps for
the Continuing Transactions exceed 0.1% but are all below 5%, the
Continuing Transactions would be subject to the reporting, annual review
and announcement requirements but exempt from the circular and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

Details of the above have also been disclosed in the circular of the
Company dated 17 January 2023.

As completion of the Investment Agreement took place in May 2023,
the Target Company was the Group’s associate, and the Continuing
Transactions was constituted continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on that date.
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Continuing Connected Transactions in relation to
the Provision of Business Management Services

On 6 September 2023 (after trading hours), the Company and SZCDG
(a substantial shareholder of the Company) entered into the business
management services agreement (the “Business Management Services
Agreement”) in relation to the provision of the Business Management
Services from SZCDG to the Company for the period from 16 June 2023
to 15 June 2025.

Pursuant to the Business Management Services Agreement, SZCDG shall
assign the Secondees to the Company to provide business management
services to the Company, under which the First Secondee shall act as an
executive director of the Company and the Group's Vice President and the
Second Secondee shall act as an executive director of the Company and
the Group’s Financial Controller (the “Business Management Services”).
The Secondees shall be employees of SZCDG, and SZCDG shall be
responsible for their remuneration packages including but not limited to
salaries, social insurance contribution and other benefits. There shall be
no employment relationship between the Secondees and the Company.
SZCDG shall be entitled to replace the Secondees as and when necessary
by providing written notice to the Company. On 6 September 2023, the
First Secondee is Mr. Wan Hongtao (who has been an Executive Director
of the Company and the Group'’s Vice President since 16 June 2022) and
the Second Secondee is Mr. Qin Wenzhong (who has been an Executive
Director of the Company and the Group’s Financial Controller since 16
June 2022). For their biographies, please refer to biographies, please refer
to the annual report of the Company report of the Company dated 28
July 2023 for the year ended 31 March 2023.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
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Key terms of the Business Management Services Agreement, among

others, are set out below:

Date:

Parties:

Term and

termination:

Price
determination:

6 September 2023 (after trading hours)

(1) The Company; and
(2) SZCDG

The term of the Business Management Services
Agreement is from 16 June 2023 to 15 June 2025.
Prior to the expiration of the term, the Company or
SZCDG may terminate the Business Management
Services Agreement by providing three-month prior
written notice to the other party and obtaining the
other party’s written consent.

The service fees payable by the Company to SZCDG
during the term shall comprise RMB4,170,000 per
year (exclusive of all taxes) in respect of the services
provided by the First Secondee and RMB3,870,000
per year (exclusive of all taxes) in respect of the
services provided by the Second Secondee. The service
fees include expenses incurred by SZCDG from,
among others, basic salaries overtime pay, welfare
subsidies, social insurance contribution, housing
provident fund contribution and annuity payments.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

EXTE®RE ()

The service fees have been determined among
the parties after arm’s length negotiations with
reference to a number of factors including (i) the
remuneration packages of the Secondees during the
period of providing services to the Company and
other fees which may be incurred by SZCDG, taking
into account reasonable fluctuations; (i) an increased
demand for the Business Management Services
due to the business planning of the Group and the
operating costs which the Group may otherwise
incur if there are no Business Management Services
provided by SZCDG; (iii) the positions, qualifications,
work experience and expertise of the Secondees; (iv)
the salary levels of enterprises in the industry and
the year-on-year increases released by the relevant
national and local government departments and the
average increase in the salary level of the Company
and SZCDG; (v) the management fees of relevant
industry peers for provision of similar services; and
(vi) the services (and the scope thereof) which are
expected to be required from the Secondees.

The rate of the service fees is fair and reasonable,
on normal commercial terms and no less favorable
to the Group than the rate offered by Independent
Third Parties for similar services. During the term,
the Company will, as an internal control measure,
make reference to the fees and terms in relation to
the provision of the Business Management Services
of similar nature and of similar terms by Independent
Third Parties (if any) on a regular basis and compare
them with the fees and terms for the provision of
services from SZCDG to the Company to ensure that
the fees payable by the Company to SZCDG will
be no less favourable to the Group than the rates
offered by Independent Third Parties for the provision
of services of similar nature and of similar terms,
and are based on normal commercial terms and fair
and reasonable. Please refer to the “Internal control
procedures for the Group’s continuing connected
transactions” section below for further details.

R BRI T2EUTRERER
RAFHEAERE - ()KEABERA
X RHR AR HA D Y B AR A8 DA K 5
ERBEERRELENEMGER - I
ZEFHFHOAIBRE : ()RR REE
MEBHRE - HEEEEEERBEH
FREM - UR(HFREHEER
RECEREEERS) AEE T
EEEREE A ¢ (i) KA B RO B
7~ B - TYRREEBRANE R  (v)
TTERLENHIKF REZR MM TS
B A RARRPT A M ey £ S 5 B[R] L 3
RIER  ARARRMEFEZZEE
HEKF P RIER - (IARITT
ERITRHBLURBHEEER + &
(v)FEH T E2IREEA B R HEH R (R
IRisEE) -

BREBENBEEZB/BAFEE KRB
RIEFEIL - ARAKEmE - T
A 56 = 77 s AR LIRS AT IR
MER - £HIRA - ERAERHEHIE
it ARRIRERSEBLE=T11E
HEUEE RBURRNEELEE
AR (408 ) ROMERE B A R A6R - 3
B R ZHEE R AR RRREIRER
ERMGETETHER - UWBREREAAF
FERFr R ZEEB SN E AL AL
i = BN IBILE = Ty s AR
15 R 2R UG SR B BR 75 P W ER B B
B MARGKIL - ABAF
B - FEF2H TN KERER
ERXHENEBEERR T | —#

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHZR IR AT

93



94

Report of the Directors (Continued)
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Payment: The service fees payable by the Company to SZCDG
shall be billed semi-annually (based on the annual
service fees for the Secondees and on a pro-rata
basis), and paid by bank transfer in RMB before
the end of June and the end of December in each
year. The service fees shall be funded by the internal

resources of the Company.

The following table sets out the annual caps for the Business Management

Services:

For the period from 16 June 2023 to
31 December 2023

For the year ending
31 December 2024

b AN B FE A 8 A B R B S A O AR 7
BRESYFHEE-RUAREAED
FRGERER - REBEEERRERL
PIFtE)  YEBFARMIZAKR
AEBIRITERUARE M « R
ERARRMALES AT

TR EEELERRENFELR

For the period from 1 January 2025
to 15 June 2025

20236 H16 H#££2023F 12431 HIE HZE2024F12H831BLEE 2025F1818 852025568158
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETTT AREFT AREFT

4,361 8,062 3,657

For the nine months ended 31 December 2023, the total amounts
payable by the Group to SZCDG under the Business Management Services
Agreement amounted to RMB4,361,000, which was within the annual
cap for the same period.

On 6 September 2023, SZCDG holds approximately 29.28% of the Shares
in issue. Accordingly, SZCDG is a substantial shareholder and hence a
connected person of the Company. The transaction contemplated under
the Business Management Services Agreement constitutes a continuing
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios in respect of
the annual caps for the Business Management Services exceed 0.1% but
are all below 5%, the Business Management Services are subject to the
reporting, annual review and announcement requirements but exempt
from the circular and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the Independent Non-
Executive Directors of the Company have conducted an annual review of
the continuing connected transactions as disclosed above, and confirmed
to the Board that they have been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms; and
(iii) in accordance with the terms of the above agreements (including the
relevant pricing policies) on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Shareholders as a whole.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

EXTE®RE ()

The Company’s independent auditor was engaged to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) "“Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules" issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
The auditor has issued its unqualified letter containing the findings and
conclusions in respect of the Group’s continuing connected transactions as
disclosed above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities

During the Year, the Company redeemed part of the Senior Notes upon
maturity with an aggregated principal amount of US$118.650 million.
Details are set out in the section headed “Senior Notes” and notes to the

financial statements.

Save as disclosed above and notes to the financial statements, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

Bank Borrowings
Details of the Group’s bank borrowings as at 31 December 2023 are set
out in note 29 to the financial statements.

Major Customers and Suppliers

The aggregate sales to the five largest customers of the Group accounted
for less than 30% of the Group's total sales for the nine months ended 31
December 2023. The aggregate purchases from the five largest suppliers
of the Group accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total purchases
for the nine months ended 31 December 2023.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any Shareholders which to the
knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company's total
number of issued Shares has any interests in the Group's five largest
suppliers or customers.

Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to achieving high standard of corporate
governance. Detailed information on the Company’'s corporate
governance principles and practices are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report as contained in this annual report.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

EXTE®RE ()

Environmental, Social and Governance

The Group is committed to fulfilling its corporate social responsibility in
community affairs, environmental protection and corporate governance
during its business operation in order to achieve its sustainable
development. The Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance
Report is set out in this annual report.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable date
prior to the issue of this report, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float as required under the Listing Rules.

Five Year’s Financial Summary
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five fiscal years is set out on pages 54 to 55 of this annual report.

Management Contract

During the Year, no contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed.

Events after the Reporting Period

Subsequent to 31 December 2023, the Company did not repay a
principal of US$12 million (equivalent to HK$91 million) and interest of
US$13 million (equivalent to HK$101 million) for certain senior notes
due in February 2024. As of the date of this report, the total amount of
defaulted and/or cross-defaulted on certain borrowings is approximately
HK$30,956 million.

Auditor

The financial statements have been audited by Messrs. Ernst & Young who
will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of Messrs. Ernst
& Young as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming
AGM.

For and on behalf of the Board
LI WENXIONG and CHENG CHUNG HING
Co-Chairmen

28 March 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EREABE

The Company recognizes the value and importance of achieving high
standard of corporate governance to enhance the corporate performance
accountability and is committed to doing so. To the best knowledge and
belief of the Directors, the Company has complied with the applicable
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules during the Year.

The Board of Directors

Board Composition

As at 31 December 2023, the Board comprises fifteen Directors, including
five of each Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors and Independent
Non-Executive Directors.

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of the Directors and Key Management” on
pages 56 to 68 of this annual report.

Independent Non-Executive Director

During the Year, the Board has at all times met the requirements of
Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three Independent Non-Executive Directors and
representing at least one-third of the board with at least one Independent
Non-Executive Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise.

During the Year, all existing Independent Non-Executive Directors have
made an annual confirmation of independence in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that each of the
Independent Non-Executive Directors to be independent.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EEERES (F)

Role and Function

The Board is responsible for overall strategic formulation and performance
monitoring of the Group. It delegates day-to-day operations of the
Group to the Executive Directors and key senior management within the
control and authority framework set by the Board. In addition, the Board
has also delegated various responsibilities to the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. Further details
of these committees are set out in this annual report.

Relationship between Directors
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing is father of Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman.

Change in Information of Directors

There was no change in the information of Directors since the publication
of the 2023/24 interim report up to the date of this annual report is set
out below pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Compliance with the Model Code for Securities
Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as a code of conduct of
the Company for Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, the Directors have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the relevant period of the
nine months ended 31 December 2023. Employees who are, or likely to
be, in possession of unpublished price sensitive information in relation to
the Company or its Shares are required to prohibit from dealing in shares
of the Company during the black-out period.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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Board Meetings EESSE
During the Year, four Board meetings were convened by the Company. RAFER @ AARHKBHMNAES

e BEe

= = K =

The attendance of the Directors at the Board meetings was as follows: SHNESLEBIAT
Number of
Attendance/
meeting held®
HE BT
Directors = BRREO
Co-Chairmen BEEXE
Mr. Li Wenxiong (Non-Executive Director) BN (FFHITEE) 4/4
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Executive Director) BN (HTEE) 4/4
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Geng Mei (Chief Operating Officer) Mgzt (#E&£8H) 4/4
Mr. Wan Hongtao (Group's Vice President) EIR RSk (EEEEE) 4/4
Mr. Qin Wenzhong (Group’s Financial Controller) BN SE(EEYFAEE) 4/4
Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman B+ 4/4
Non-Executive Directors FHITESE
Mr. Cheng Tai Po® B R E D 2/2
Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen® HEMSHED 2/2
Ms. Shen Lifeng HEEZL 4/4
Ms. Li Aihua® FEIEL LD 3/3
Ms. Deng Jin®@ BE 2@ 3/3
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFEHTES
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REEFE 4/4
Mr. Li Wai Keung EXEL: S 4/4
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung FPRRAR LA 4/4
Ms. Zee Helen Bt 4/4
Dr. Li Xu® FHELe 3/3

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHZR IR AT

99



100
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Notes:

Q)

(©)

4)

(©)

(6)

Mr. Cheng Tai Po resigned as Non-Executive Director with effect from 25
August 2023.

Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen has been appointed as Non-Executive Director
and resigned as Senior Adviser of the Group with effect from 25 August
2023.

Ms. Li Aihua has been appointed as Non-Executive Director from 16 May
2023.

Ms. Deng Jin has been appointed as Non-Executive Director from 16 May
2023.

Dr. Li Xu has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director and
a member of each of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee with effect from 16 May 2023.

The attendance figure represents actual attendance/the number of meetings
such director is entitled to attend.

The Directors are provided with agenda and Board meeting materials

related to the agenda before the meeting. They can access to the senior

management and the company secretary of the Company at all time and,

upon

reasonable request, seek independent professional advice at the

Company’s expense.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into service contract with the
Company while each of the Non-Executive Directors and the Independent
Non-Executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years, subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at annual general meeting of the Company.

The Company’s Articles provide retirement by rotation and re-election
for all Directors. In accordance with the Articles, at each annual general
meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being,
or if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation.
The Articles also provide that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy on the Board shall hold office only until conclusion of the
next following general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible
to offer for re-election, and any Director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the Board shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible to offer for re-
election/election. Accordingly, five Directors, namely, Ms. Geng Mei, Ms.
Fang Ling, Ms. Shen Lifeng, Mr. Li Wai Keung and Mr. Hui Chiu Chung
will retire from office and are eligible to offer themselves for re-election or
election at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

Chairman (Co-Chairmen) and Chief Executive Officer
To ensure a balance of power and authority, the roles of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer are segregated. Since 23 September
2022, Mr. Li Wenxiong has been appointed as Co-Chairman and Non-
Executive, Mr. Cheng Chung Hing has been re-designated from Chairman
to Co-Chairman and will continue to serve as Executive Director that they
provided leadership for the Board jointly and ensured the proper and
effective functioning of the Board in the discharge of its responsibilities,
while Ms. Geng, Mei Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer of
the Group has taken up the daily operation management until a suitable
candidate to take up the vacancy of Chief Executive right after the
resignation of Mr. Zhao Lidong from 16 August 2021.
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Board Committees

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, to handle particular responsibilities of the Board and the
Company’s affairs. All board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which have been published
at the websites of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Company
respectively. The board committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is responsible for the review and supervision of the
Group's financial reporting process, risk management and internal control
system and review of the Company’s financial statements. The written
terms of reference are in line with the provisions under the CG Code and
the roles and the responsibilities delegated to the Audit Committee by the
Board, which include to determine the appropriate corporate governance
practices applicable to the Group’s circumstances and to ensure processes
and procedures are in place to achieve the Group's corporate governance
objectives.

As at 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee consists of three
Independent Non-Executive Directors and one Non-Executive Director
including Mr. Li Wai Keung as chairman, Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew,
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung and Ms. Shen Lifeng. During the Year, two Audit
Committee meetings were held to review the FY2022/23 annual results
and the FY2023/24 interim results of the Group before submission to the
Board.
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During FY2023, the Audit Committee had reviewed the risk management
and internal control system, connected transactions, interim results and
annual results of the Group and the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group. The attendance of the Directors at the Audit
Committee meetings was as follows:

R2023WBFE - EZZEECEHAKENER &
NEEZERS  BER S - PHREREFREEAR
AEERMNEARIREN - ERZBEESHENE
FHFEBERAT

Number of
attendance/

meeting held"

HE BT
Directors Ex BRRHO
Mr. Li Wai Keung (Chairman) RMERLE(FE) 2/2
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REERE 2/2
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung REERE 2/2
Ms. Shen Lifeng R 2+ 2/2

Note:

(1) The attendance figure represents actual attendance/the number of meetings
such director is entitled to attend.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations
on Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration and other benefits.
The remuneration of all Directors and senior management is subject to
regular monitoring by the Remuneration Committee so as to ensure that
the level of their remuneration and compensation are reasonable. The
specific written terms of reference are in line with the provisions of the
CG Code.

As at 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee consists of four
Independent Non-Executive Directors, one Non-Executive Director and
one Executive Director including Mr. Li Wai Keung as chairman, Mr. Leung
Kwan Yuen Andrew, Ms. Zee Helen, Dr. Li Xu, Mr. Li Wenxiong and Mr.
Cheng Chung Hing.

MEE -

() HESFLAEFERLEFHSENIBLEFTAR
HEEHROHE

FMESS

YL ESAEREETRSNERASHH R EME
MRHER - FHEZESEMER2REETLSLE
EABOEFH - R EFROFHKTE REEEAIE -
HeAfEE BB EN B aTARE -

BE2023F12A318 - HFHEE S HMNE B IEH
TEE —BIIFPTESR—BRTESER - 855
REWEE(ERE) - REELLE  HRBLL - £HIF
T S REIR S A o
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The primary goal of the Group’s remuneration policy for Executive
Directors is to enable the Company to retain and motivate Executive
Directors by linking their compensation with their individual performance
as measured against the Group’s corporate objectives and operating
results, taking into account also the comparable market conditions. The
principal elements of the remuneration package of an Executive Director
include basic salary, performance and/or discretional bonus, participation
in the Share Option Scheme and other benefits. The remuneration of
Non-Executive Directors (including Independent Non-Executive Directors)
includes mainly the director’'s fee and participation in the Share Option
Scheme which is a matter for the Board to decide by reference to their
duties and responsibilities and the comparable market conditions.

During the Year, one Remuneration Committee meeting was held to
review the structure of the remunerations for Directors of the Company
and the grant of share options under the Share Option Scheme to Director
of the Company. The attendance of the Directors at the Remuneration
Committee meeting was as follows:

AEENPTEEHHBREIERNABEAR AN
EENeBEENEARREAEENDEBIEM
KGR RANZERELBEMSER - #E NI
BRHBHTES - TESNFINFBEIZREE
AHE - BRRABELL - 2 EERET SR
fiEd - SEMITER(BREBUIIFNTER)WFHHE
ZEREFES R2EBRETE  YHEFELS
RFENBE R A ELBRTISIERRERE

RARFEER - BARA—XFHEEEEHE - UBHA
RAEENHFHRBULREBEETER TESE
BEEE - FHZESEZNEFHFRAMT

Number of
attendance/
meeting held?

HE BT
Directors = BEREY
Mr. Li Wai Keung (Chairman) TEBEE(ERE) 7
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REESLE 11
Ms. Zee Helen Bt 171
Dr. Li Xu® FRELO 0/0
Mr. Li Wenxiong S E 11
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing L /NTD e 11

Notes: FI3E -

(1) Dr. Li Xu has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director and
a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee with effect from 16 May 2023.

(2) The attendance figure represents actual attendance/the number of meetings
such director is entitled to attend.
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The remuneration of the senior management (excluding Directors) by
band for the nine months ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:

BE2023F12A3MBLENEA - SRERAB(TE
BER)ZFHHEE|HOT

Number of
persons
Remuneration band NI E A
Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000/ T AT
HK$1,000,000 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,000/ 7T £ 2,000,000/ 7T
6

Further particulars regarding the directors’ emoluments and the five
highest paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix
16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the financial
statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making recommendation
on the nomination of Directors with a view that the appointment of
suitable individuals with relevant expertise and experience to enhance
the constitution of the Board and to contribute to the Board. The specific
written terms of reference are in line with the provisions of the CG Code.

As at 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee comprises four
Independent Non-Executive Director, one Non-Executive Director and one
Executive Director, including Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew as chairman,
Mr. Li Wai Keung, Ms. Zee Helen, Dr. Li Xu, Mr. Li Wenxiong and Mr.
Cheng Chung Hing. During the Year, the Nomination Committee were
reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board, including the
skill, knowledge, experience and diversity of background of its members,
and the re-designation of senior management of the Company. The
attendance of the Directors at the Nomination Committee meeting was as
follows:

BREEMENAERSHALTZEZFHE B E
MARRIM S+ R 2R ERE - WHN P B MR LS
SEN

REZEE
REZESAENEFRAEMES  URTAREHE
BEENBNEROEE NE - URtEEaXER
B REFSFLEM HAREABELENAE
JASTRIMRE e

HE2023F 127318 - BRZEESHEBEIIENR
TEE  —RIIPTEETR—BUTESTHEANK - 81
REESLE(ERE)  FTRBEE BB - FHIF
T R ERBINELEE - RAFER - RER
BRNTESSHRE  ABRER  piEEEENXE
HiRAE - i KRLESHZENE - UEAARE
BEREZAT - REZESENESLREBERLD
T

Number of
attendance/

meeting held?®

HE BT
Directors = BRREY
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew (Chairman) REEFEFE) 11
Mr. Li Wai Keung EXEL P 1”n
Ms. Zee Helen Bt 11
Dr. Li Xu® FHELO 0/0
Mr. Li Wenxiong i 11
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing I /NGED e 11
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Notes:

(1) Dr. Li Xu has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director and
a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee with effect from 16 May 2023.

(2)  The attendance figure represents actual attendance/the number of meetings
such director is entitled to attend.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity by adopting a board
diversity policy which stipulates that when identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Directors, the Nomination Committee will
consider the benefits of all aspects of diversity, including but not limited
to a number of factors, such as age, race, cultural and educational
background, professional and business-related experience, reputation of
candidates for integrity and his/her accomplishment, skills, knowledge and
length of service, in order to maintain an appropriate range of balance
of skills, experience and background on the Board. The appointments of
Directors will be based on meritocracy and take into account the aforesaid
factors as a whole for the benefits of the Company, as well as the
business model and specific needs of the Company from time to time.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

During the Year, the Company arranged appropriate Directors’ and
Officers’ liabilities insurance coverage in respect of legal action against its
Directors and officers.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is responsible for overseeing the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and reviewing its effectiveness.
A defined management structure with specified limits of authority and
responsibilities is developed for safeguarding assets against unauthorized
use or disposition, the maintenance of proper accounting records for
the provision of reliable financial information for internal use or for
publications and the compliance of applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Group has established an internal audit department to perform
regular financial and operational reviews and recommend necessary
actions to the relevant management. The works carried out by the internal
audit department ensure the risk management and internal control
systems are in place and function properly as intended. The results of the
internal audit and reviews are reported to the Executive Directors and
Audit Committee of the Company.

For the annual review on the risk management and internal control,
the Audit Committee considered the internal control report and risk
management report were satisfied as to effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. There were no matters of
material concerns relating to financial, operational or compliance control.
The Board is satisfied with the adequacy and the effectiveness of the
systems of the risk management and internal control of the Group during
the Year.

Independent Auditor’s Remuneration

The Group’s independent auditor is Messrs. Ernst & Young. During the
last three years, the Group did not change any independent auditor.
For FY2023, the remuneration paid and payable by the Group to the
independent auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services provided
by them were as follows:

R\ B T & AR EE 4
EESREAEEZRERERENABEZERS - Uik
AMEAME - ARBEHERARMENEIRRE X
RIABERELBE A EAREEERNREEE
E - RESZEGI RS WRHTEMBERMH
WEMER L TIE - WETERED - RANOER -

REBRENEBEZE - AEHETIM S MBS R
o YAEREEABZZEMFTTE - REPEZEM
FRETT TIE S RERRREE R ARBERERREE
HAETT - WIREEREB RUEE - ARRER MEHN
BREAARFPTEEREZZEERS

iR R AR B FEEMME - BREESER
MBI mE MARERRE - WEAREEER K
NEERARBERN - BXEFENG  ELHER
ERmMAESEHINER EFREMATREEREKEF
ERRBREIENAREE RSB R AR BRI -

B RBET &

REEN BB AR M ELA  EBE=
F - AREQEERBIRBE o BE20238 BF
B - NEERERBERES IR SRR IR
RISE N REMHBEMT :

HK$'000
TAT

Audit and review services

3,770
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Directors’ Responsibility

Every newly appointed Director will receive briefings and comprehensive
induction on appointment to ensure understanding of the Directors’
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements. Directors are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development to refresh their knowledge and skills
and the Company would organize appropriate directors’ training to help
ensure they are apprised of the role, functions and duties being a director
of the Company.

The Directors are aware that they should give sufficient time and attention
to the affairs of the Company and they are continually adapted with
regulatory developments and business development of the Group to
discharge their responsibilities. The Directors’ knowledge and skills are
continuously developed and refreshed by, inter alia, the following means:

(1)  Attending training session organized by and/or reading materials
provided by the Company, which included but not limited to legal
and regulatory changes and matters relevant to the Directors in
discharging their duties, including the laws, rules and regulations
relating to the corporate governance;

(2)  Participating in continuous professional training seminars/
conferences/courses/workshops on subjects relating to directors’
duties and corporate governance, and rules and regulatory
changes, organized by the other companies, professional bodies or
government authorities; and

(3)  Reading news, journals, magazines or other reading materials from

time to time as regards legal and regulatory changes, economics
and matters relevant to the Directors in discharging their duties.
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According to the records provided by the existing Directors, the Directors 1R IEIR T &= E iR (LM RE 8% - H £ 2023412 A31

received the following trainings as at 31 December 2023: B ZF2F28E75I0T -

Type of Training
Directors =} EIER
Co-Chairmen BEEE
Mr. Li Wenxiong (Non-Executive Director) BN (FHITEE) (1) and X (3)
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Executive Director) BN (HTEE) (1) and % (3)
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Geng Mei (Chief Operating Officer) Bigz+(#E &8 ) (1) and % (3)
Mr. Wan Hongtao (Group's Vice President) BIRELE(EEEEE) (1) and} (3)
Mr. Qin Wenzhong (Group’s Financial Controller) EXRSTE(EEYHAAE) (1) and % (3)
Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman BF A+ (1) and % (3)
Non-Executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen BEMEAE (1) and X (3)
Ms. Shen Lifeng HERZT (1) and % (3)
Ms. Li Aihua ENCY (1) and % (3)
Ms. Deng Jin B+ (1) and % (3)
Independent Non-Executive Directors BAFHTES
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REERE (1) and % (3)
Mr. Li Wai Keung FREBEE (1) and X (3)
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung FFRp LA (1) and X (3)
Ms. Zee Helen ®wRIZ L (1) and % (3)
Dr. Li Xu FHiE+ (1) and X (3)

Directors’ and Auditor's Responsibilities for the EERZHMAMBBRRAENSE

Financial Statements
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of  EF RIZERIHERELHFERAEE 20230 BFELE
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2023 which ~ BIBHREMNEE - WERBATHRTE KER SR

were prepared in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable ~ #m&¢ °

AN

accounting standards.
The reporting responsibility of the independent auditor of the Company AN B ZERIE RN EEAR & M SRR O BRREE

on the consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out in the ~ R E161E 164 BB IAZERNRERA o

independent auditor’s report on pages 161 to 164.
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Company Secretary

Mr. Chan Hing Chau has been the Company Secretary of the Company
since 16 August 2021. He is a full time employee of the Company with
professional qualifications and extensive experience, and has adequate
working knowledge on the Company to discharge his duty as the
Company Secretary. During the Year, Mr. Chan confirmed that he has
received relevant professional training of not less than 15 hours to update
his skills and knowledge.

Communication with Shareholders and Noteholders
The 2024 AGM of the Company to be held at Conference Room, 22/F.,
Euro Trade Centre, 13-14 Connaught Road Central, Central, Hong Kong
on Friday, 28 June 2024 at 3:00 p.m..

The Company believes that effective communication with shareholders,
noteholders and other investment communities is essential. During the
Year, the Executive Directors, Chief Financial Officer and team of investor
relations of the Group held regular briefings, press conferences and
analyst meetings of interim and annual results, attended investor forums
and participated in roadshows, conducted meetings and visits to projects
of the Group with institutional investors and financial analysts in China,
Hong Kong and overseas to keep them abreast of the Group’s business
and development. Investors can also communicate with the Company
through email at ir@chinasouthcity.com.

The shareholders’ meeting provides a useful platform for the shareholders
to exchange views with the Board. The Directors and Chief Financial
Officer of the Group will attend the shareholders’ meetings to answer
the questions raised by the shareholders. Shareholders can also direct
their enquiries and proposals to the Company. The contact details of
the Company are set out in the “Contact Us” section of the Company’s

website at www.chinasouthcity.com.

Shareholders’ Right

Pursuant to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), shareholders of the Company holding not less than 5% of the
total voting rights of all the members having a right to vote at general
meeting may request the Directors to call a general meeting. The request
must state the general nature of business to be dealt with at the meeting
and may be sent to the Company in hard copy form or in electronic
form and must be authenticated by the person or persons making it
in accordance with the provisions under sections 566 to 568 of the
Companies Ordinance and the Company's Articles.
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The attendance of the Directors at the annual general meeting of the

BEEM2023F9ANABRT 2 ARNRIREBAFTAREH

Company which was held on 22 September 2023 was as follows: HEERIAT -
Number of
Attendance/
meeting held"
HE BT
Directors = BRREO
Co-Chairmen BEEE
Mr. Li Wenxiong (Non-Executive Director) BN (FHITEE) 17
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Executive Director) BN (HTEE) ”n
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Geng Mei (Chief Operating Officer) Bigz+(#E&£8H) 1”1
Mr. Wan Hongtao (Group's Vice President) BIRESE(EEEAE) 11
Mr. Qin Wenzhong (Group’s Financial Controller) BRI (EFE AAE) 1/1
Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman B2+ 11
Non-Executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen RSEMSTE 11
Ms. Shen Lifeng R 2+ 1”1
Ms. Li Aihua FEIELL 171
Ms. Deng Jin B+ 11
Independent Non-Executive Directors BAFHTES
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REESRE 1/1
Mr. Li Wai Keung FREEE 11
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung AR S A 11
Ms. Zee Helen ®wREZ L 11
Dr. Li Xu FHiE+ 171
Note: Fi5E
(1) The attendance figure represents actual attendance/the number of meetings (1) HEBFAREFERLELH TREB R EBER

such director is entitled to attend.

Published documents together with the latest corporate information and

news are available on the Company’s website at www.chinasouthcity.com.

HEEHOHE
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N A #uwww.chinasouthcity.com ©
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

About this Report

This report is the environmental, social and governance report (the
“Report”) of China South City Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”, “China South City”, “we"” or “us”). The
Group has been adhering to the sustainable development philosophy to
create and share sustainable values with its stakeholders in environmental,
economic and social (“ESG") aspects. The Report detailed China South
City's contribution to sustainability management.

The Report was prepared in accordance with the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide” (the “Guide"”) set out by The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Report has
complied with all the “Comply or Explain” provisions of the Guide and
reported on all the recommended disclosures in the Guide.

Reporting Principles
The Group has considered the following reporting principles in preparing
the Report:

o Materiality: The Group identifies the material environmental
and social issues through interviews with the management and
questionnaire surveys targeted at internal and external stakeholders,
as well as evaluating the impact of various environmental, social
and governance issues on the operations of the Group. For more
information, please refer to the “Materiality Assessment” section.

o Quantitative: The Report would perform annual performance
comparison with suitable quantitative data recorded and estimated
by relevant departments of the Group when applicable, and state
the information on the standards, methodologies, assumptions or
calculations wherever appropriate.

o Balance: The information in the Report was mainly derived from
our internal statistical reports, documents and communications for
2023. We are committed to providing an unbiased picture of our
performance and fair disclosure of progress and ongoing challenges
in the most critical aspects for the Group’s performance.

o Consistency: The Group uses consistent reporting and calculation
methods, as far as practicable, to facilitate the comparability
of ESG performance between years. In case of any changes in
methodologies, the Group will present and explain in detail in the
corresponding sections.

RS

RIRE - g REAME ([ A®E ) RERBIZRE
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WIRITEM ) AREE-ERAAFERRNEEE
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o EBEUAKBEBEEEBHALA - I
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BREAEEHEASEZENTE - URBHIE
RREHGEE  MFEZEH - F2REE
MERHA JH AR o

o Bt AEENMEBAPIHE(CERMER L
MEE - BRTERLT  ARESLHEENE
EERETFEERLE  UEEE 2RI
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Scope of the Report and Reporting Period

The Report covers the businesses which are financially significant and
operationally influential to the Group, including the five core services
of the projects in Shenzhen, Nanchang, Nanning, Xi'an, Zhengzhou,
Harbin, Hefei and Chongging in the PRC, including project investment
and development (“China South City Holdings"”), e-commerce platform
(“Huasheng Commercial”) business management and operations,
property leasing and management, and logistics and warehousing services
("Qianlong Logistics”) and outlet operations. The above core businesses
accounted for over 90% of the Group's revenue.

Reporting period: 1 April 2023 to 31 December 2023, same as the
financial period of the annual report.

Cornerstone for Sustainable Development

The Group has always adhered to its business philosophy of “Innovation,
Integrity, Consensus and Collaboration”. While striving to develop its
business, the Group also pays attention to the demands, opinions and
expectations of various stakeholders and integrates the concept of
sustainable development into its corporate management, group culture
and operational strategies to continuously optimize its performance
and development in relation to environment, society and corporate

governance.

Statement on ESG Governance from the Board of
Directors

The Company believes that sound ESG governance is crucial to enhance
the value of our investments and bringing long-term returns to our
stakeholders and the Group. In order to implement and improve the ESG
management policy, the Company’s board of directors (the “Board”)
is responsible for ESG management and supervision, establishing
and reviewing the overall ESG vision, approach, strategy or initiative.
Various communication channels have been established to promote the
coordination and communication between various departments in the
Group. Regarding ESG-related risk management, the Board monitors the
risk evaluation process on sustainability and ESG related issues, focus on
the potential impacts of business operations on market trends, and seek
for improvements in ESG strategy, in order to reduce the negative impacts
on the Group’s business.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

To collect the opinions of the Group’s stakeholders on ESG issues,
the Board has engaged a third-party ESG consultant in conducting a
materiality assessment to identify issues that are likely to impact the
business operation and our stakeholders, especially to the environmental
and social aspects. The issues would be reviewed and prioritised, and
those with high significance to the Group and stakeholders are considered
as material. The Board has reviewed and approved the material ESG issues
identified by the ESG consultant. In order to formulate and implement
effective ESG measures, the Board regularly reviews the Group's ESG
performance and the progress of achieving its goals, and adjusts the ESG
management policy to lead the ESG process of the entire Group.

The Group’s management reviews the plans and implementation of ESG-
related work, as well as related goals and indicators at regular meetings.
The Company communicated with stakeholders on ESG progress, especially
through the Company’s annual ESG report. The Board will continue to
seek opportunities to improve ESG performance.

ESG Development Strategies

Based on its environmental, social and governance considerations, China
South City has achieved business operations in a sustainable way and
maintained transparency and accountability to stakeholders. The Group
has developed the environmental, social and governance policy (the
“Policy”), which outlines our ESG commitments and related management
practices as well as guides the Group towards and achieves its vision of
sustainable development and its mission to become a premium logistics
trade centre in China. Our sustainability approach is divided into five core
aspects, including environment, employees, customers, supply chain and
community, which guide the overall ESG direction of the Group.

FEERESGEEITA @ AEERREHEEE=FH
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HEH

ERRE (F)

ESG Policy Highlights of China South City
HEHWESGHBURE 2

Environment
BRE

Employees
8T

Customers

BE

Supply chain
ftpesE

Community
#HE

The Group is dedicated to using renewable energy and reusable materials while reducing emissions of air
pollutants, greenhouse gases, harmful and non-hazardous waste, and wastewater. We continuously monitor and
manage the significant environmental impacts of our operations and require all relevant departments to practice
and strengthen environmental management. Furthermore, we conduct climate risk assessments to identify
potential impacts of climate change on our business operations and develop appropriate response strategies.
REEBNAERR BERRMAEREROME - AR ER5RY  RERLE - BENIECREEDIA
KOFKEVHERL « BPISBEAME R EBTRNERIRFELE - 2RAEEBEMBIIETRLIGRIRFER © It
o - BPBETRIRRER I - ABFREZCHRMEBECNEETE  THIEEE N EERE -

The Group is committed to regularly reviewing employee compensation and welfare, and providing a safe
working environment that protects employees from occupational hazards. We actively encourage our employees
to pursue continuous learning and development, and provide them with training opportunities to enhance their
knowledge and skills in fulfilling their job responsibilities. Additionally, we strictly adhere to our company’s labor
standard guidelines to ensure that we do not employ child labor or engage in forced labor practices.
AEEFEBHIE THEBNEMNSHERBER  BEZ2OHITERS  WREEIEXBERSE - RMEBHET
TEVERE - BERZHE T fm 8 TRT LERE O MBARRE - RN - RAISRRETARRIGFEETE
AlgiEs] - BRI SREAETINETHRBLET) o

The Group is committed to continuously improving the quality of our products and services, ensuring that the
products we sell do not compromise the safety of our customers and users, and complying with standards and
regulations related to advertising, labeling, and other matters. Additionally, we prioritize the security of our
customers’ and any relevant employment-related personal data, and ensure that we collect, hold, use, and
process such data in a lawful and prudent manner.

REEBNRHERSERTREME  BMRASEHNERTSTETFNARPNL R  RNETES - F%
SHEMEERER o 1o BRMERELANEMEBEREAERNZE - WHRASEMZEN T BEE
A - FRFMEEEEER -

The Group upholds the principles of fair trade and works with suppliers to enhance sustainability performance
across all aspects of our operations. We also prioritize the importance of anti-corruption measures and strive
to strengthen employee awareness and ethics, preventing any bribery, extortion, fraud, or money laundering
activities.

REEZHATRZHRA - BEEFARRAAFERRRS - AN - RMERRESHEE - YBHREEE
THRMIEERT - LR - BFR - MEFSOERENTR -

The Group makes appropriate community investments in the areas where we operate and provides financial or
other resource assistance to those in need.

AEEELERE RSN ERERDETEENHERE  ARHEFENALTRESEIEMERED -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

ESG Governance Framework

China South City believes that good ESG governance is an important
cornerstone for the sustainable development of our business. The Policy
sets out the management framework to enable us to deliver on our ESG
commitment. The Board of Directors undertakes overall responsibility
for the Group’s ESG strategies and oversees the implementation of the
Company’s sustainability strategies. Meanwhile, the Board of Directors
has also appointed the ESG working group comprising representatives
from different departments to carry out ESG development work,
thereby enhancing the ESG governance framework and integrating ESG
management concepts into all aspects of corporate management from
top to bottom, so as to explore and grasp opportunities to promote
sustainable development.

Members of the ESG working group are selected from the management
of each business unit and are responsible for implementing ESG policies
and promoting their development. The working group reports regularly to
the Board of Directors on the ESG implementation and collects feedback
to further improve ESG governance and promote its development, so as
to achieve sustainable business growth.

The ESG governance framework of China South City is as follows:

ESGEJRIESR
ERRBERITVESGE AR MBI RMERF A HER
BRHEEZERLR - RECRITHAEIRER  EHMEEER
HIRE  HeROEBTRFTENEE EFSHAE
ERRE g REARKEAEERER  WEEAR
NRIAFEEERBEHNIT - AR  EFENERA
TRHMPEIRKAERBIRE - g RERIIENEEM
BATESGER T - MIRAESGEARE B LR
THESGEERSMACELLEEEMNSERE - #
MERMICERE S ERROKE -

ESGT{EMERK BB EFAFIEEE P BRAMN -
BEANNITESGIER L HE) H R - T/ EEH
AEFEHREESGHITRARKERR  £E—Fx=
ESGEVARBEER - EETHENEHIER -

FERIRESGEVAZRIBINT ¢

Board Committees of China South City
EENEFEESR

ESG working group

ESGT &/

Management of each business unit
SEHPITEE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HEH

ERRE (F)

Awards and Recognitions

Company

NEEE

Issuing/Certification Organization

MRS

RIFRKE

Award/Name of Certification

Ry BEEH

China South
City Holdings
HERHIER

China South
City Holdings
ERHZER

Qianlong
Logistics

HREMR

Qianlong
Logistics

MR

Qianlong
Logistics

HREMR

Henan Provincial Department of Housing and
Urban-Rural Development

A ER M ARERE

Ping’an Construction Work Leadership Group,
Xinzheng City
AP R TIERE/NE

China Association of Foreign Investment
Enterprises, Shenzhen Association of Foreign
Investment Enterprises
PESNEIRE RS  AIMNERERERE
Traffic and Transportation Management of Feixi
County

REPE 5 A imiE i TR

Statistical Bureau of Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region
ErAtEE RELE R

Henan Province Construction Project Safety and
Civilization Standardization Demonstration Site (Zijing
Mingdu)

A RETIER 2 X REE(L R E T (5 & #0)

Advanced Collective for Safe Construction in Xinzheng
City in 2022 and Security Work for the Yellow
Emperor’s Hometown Ancestral Ceremony in 2023
(Zhongyuan EPC Project, Zijing Mingdu)
HMEBM2022FE T L ERERM2023FETHEFHERKR
HER LR ITIERESR(PREPCER « EZHAE)

National Excellent Foreign Investment Enterprise —
Double Excellence Enterprise
EEEFINERELE -BELE

AAA Grade Quality and Reputation Unit for Road
Freight Transport Enterprises in Feixi County in 2019
2019FE B E R B B EAARE SEE B

Demonstration Unit for the Standardized Construction
of Grassroots Statistics in the New Era in Guangxi
ERFRBAEES TR LB & B
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HEH

ERRE (F)

Company Issuing/Certification Organization Award/Name of Certification

ARBRE M RERE #®1E BELH

Qianlong Shenzhen Municipal Bureau of Commerce Shenzhen Headquarters Enterprise of Multinational
Logistics YT B Companies

REMR RYITTES B~ R AR 2

Qianlong China (Shenzhen) International Logistics and  Excellent Logistics and Supply Chain Service Provider
Logistics Supply Chain Expo B R A RS AR TSR

REYR REICRYID BB m R e S e

Qianlong Logistics Park Professional Committee of China  Excellent Logistics Park in 2021

Logistics Federation of Logistics and Purchasing 2021 FEESFYTRER

RER FEPRARERA S TEEREEES

Qianlong Shenzhen Association of Foreign Investment  National Excellent Foreign Investment Enterprise —
Logistics Enterprises Double Excellence Enterprise Award (Shenzhen)
BEYIR RYNERECERE 2EORYDEFIHREGE - LBLER

Review, Reporting and Disclosure

Recognizing that stakeholders’ expectations are constantly changing,

the Group regularly reviews its business operations and proactively

communicates with stakeholders to identify and respond to emerging

issues as appropriate. In addition, the Group’s Sustainability Committee

regularly reviews

responsibilities and

its performance and practices on corporate social
reports to the Group’s Board of Directors. The Group’s

performance on corporate social responsibilities is not only disclosed

through internal communication channels, but also truthfully disclosed to

the public through the Group’s website, annual report and ESG report.

wE - EREKE

AEERBFHNENRES TEHNE - e EHR
HEBLEWRGEFFNEBE - ARSI HBRAMH
R WFHBEYIEE - 5E @ AEENATHEERE
e bEdeBERRANEN - WAAKE
EXQER - ARENEELERERARTEBA
MBAREBETRE  T2ERAKENA - FER

SRS HENEAMES - MEAINHE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BB - HEHEER

Stakeholder Engagement

The Group places great emphasis on communication with stakeholders
and strives to understand the ESG expectations, opinions and suggestions
that are of concern to stakeholders. The Group incorporates these
concerns into its operations and decision-making processes and always
seeks to maximize shared value with stakeholders. The Group’s key
stakeholders including customers, employees, shareholders and investors,

HE(E)

regulators, suppliers and local communities. The communication channels

are set out below:

Stakeholder

R ESH

AEETAEZERNEOBE BN TRAMINR
5 HEREROML - ERMEE  SRIERA
REBNELTRITBIE
BEMNSAL - REBNEE#S
B BRERREE
BRREHIINT

—HEREEBHELR
ANBEEF - &
CEEME  HERREMHE -

Group Communication Channels
HHEAR BERE
Customers < Customer evaluation form 3 Questionnaire, industry exhibitions
EF BRIHER MERETERES
& Telephone/email
Bt BTEMY
<> Customer visits and factory audits
BEP2E M THEZ
Employees <> Regular meetings <& Questionnaire comment box/mail/email
&€& EHEE MBRAEERME 1=/ SFBMT
< Occupational health and safety training 3 Performance appraisal

Shareholders and
investors

BRERREREE

Regulators

EERE

K3
o

K3
<

BERERRZ ZE
Internal publications/memo boards

WETIY,ERIR

Annual and interim reports

F R ERERE

Annual and interim results announcements
2ERPHEE XD

Company website

e b

Official documents/meetings
DX/ Bk

Government websites

T 43

Report paper/visits
NEREFEH

R
6

TR

Supervision/inspection and evaluation
BB RE R
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Stakeholder

Group Communication Channels
B &4 R BERE
Suppliers <& Annual audit of suppliers 3 Questionnaire
R HERFEER HEHE
< Telephone/email
B/ BB
3 Site visits
BEER
Local communities « Participation in community activities
EiitE S Bt R)EHE
< Donation/sponsorship
B EE
Materiality Assessment BEEMFM

The Group has been working to effectively assess and identify the issues
that are most important to its stakeholders. The materiality assessment
was carried out independently by professional consultants to understand
the expectations of our stakeholders and the challenges we face in global
sustainability. This will help us to develop our sustainability strategies and
identify core aspects to improve our overall sustainability performance for
inclusion in the Report.

During the reporting period, the Group has updated the materiality
assessment through questionnaires of the Board and stakeholders to
identify the sustainability issues that are most important to the Group
and its stakeholders. The list of materiality issues and the results of the
assessment have been submitted to the Board for confirmation and
approval.

REBE—BENEE N - B AR B ROt 4 Mg m) %
FOEBREENZE - EENTETEShEXEE
BBSIHTT - THRFNENRENRMEDRAHE
FRAEAEREL - L ABRMBIETHEERR
B - WHEE L ER - {2 ERA R PIR A A %

RAEIR - WHAREZF -

EAREHN  AEBECEREFTERFNERSH
& BHEERE - MEEHAEENEFNE R
REZNAIHERREE - E2UEBBFEMNN L

REEREFSERLEFL -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RiE - HBHERRS ()

Materiality Assessment Process

BB EBR

1. Identification %7

To identify major ESG issues that are considered relevant and important to our businesses
and stakeholders based on the ESG guidelines issued by Hong Kong Stock Exchange,
company policies and management strategies, characteristics of the industry, and business
risks and opportunities.

SEBBHIMESGIRS| - ARAIMR K ERRE - TERHREBHNARERBE - A5
SEXBAFNERSBBMNERNESGHERA °

2. Opinion Collection IWEE R,

To conduct a questionnaire survey and invite stakeholders including the board, employees, suppliers
and customers to evaluate the importance of each issue from their own perspectives.

%%Jﬁ?nﬁ%%ﬁﬁ BERRESE BT  HERREFSENENEFAETESEENEEN
£/8 °

3. Prioritization B4 HEF

To select the important issues, draw the materiality assessment matrix, and obtain the preliminary
evaluation results, so as to determine the strategic focus of sustainable development and improve
the governance of sustainable development.

RN EREE  WEREBMTGER  SHOFFEER  EMEE AR REKRER
TEEAEERER

4. Confirmation #£32

The ESG working group will discuss about and identify the assessment result to get final results of
the materiality assessment. Final results are reported to the Board.

MESG TIE MESRHABRETHIRMER Y HSRETERMFEER  EfcESse -

The Group identified the most relevant and important ESG issues to its ~ ANEEREZREFTESGHES| ~ {TE 2 R XKW RS
business and stakeholders with reference to the ESG Guide of the Stock — Ed##i® « ARIKE R EIRHIEE - DIBRIYREEE
Exchange, industry characteristics as well as risks and opportunities of KR E FAMHEBINEZHESGEE © BiBEITRI
its business, corporate policies and management strategies. Through %% @ BFeEEEe BT - HEBLEFREE
the questionnaire survey, stakeholders including the Board of Directors, HENBEAETIEBRIZENEEIRE - fE LR
employees, suppliers and customers were invited to evaluate the &R @ WARSE T HERE - SEUST G
materiality of each issue from their own perspective. The key issues were M iEE A B ER R o HiE » HESGTIIE
selected and a materiality assessment matrix was drawn up to produce /NMAMEE M HAOERETIMAER > WNESE
preliminary findings, thus determining the core of its sustainability @& o

strategies. The ESG working group then discussed and validated the

findings of the materiality assessment and reported to the Board.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - EHEERRE (A)

Materiality Matrix
EZ MR

L
Q@
>

L

MR ENEEN

Importance towards External Stakeholders

Low High
& =
Importance towards the Development of the Group
HAEEERNEEN
No.  ESG Issues No.  ESG Issues
W% ESGHE WY ESGEE
1 Exhaust emissions 12 Talent management and development
RERBFRR AT ER N ER
2 Greenhouse gas emissions 13 Procurement and supply chain management
REREBHK g m e e
3 Waste and recycling materials management 14 Product quality
REZY) R B R E I EmmE
4 Energy management 15 Product innovation
BERER 7 BlET
5 Water management 16 Customer services
AKER =P R
6 Packaging materials management 17 Information security and personal data protection
BEMHER Bz RAABERHR#E
7 Environment and natural resources 18 Protection of intellectual property rights
RIERRARER RIZE 2R
8 Climate change 19 Corporate governance and risk management
RixZE rEERLEARER
9 Employee benefits and welfare 20 Anti-competition
B TR K frid REREITR
10 Equal opportunities 21 Community involvement
FEKE fad=E 3
11 Health and safety
fEREZ S

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHZR IR AT
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

During the reporting period, the Group engaged an independent
consulting company to conduct an ESG-related questionnaire survey and
materiality assessment with stakeholders so that the Group can better
understand the concerns and expectations of various stakeholders. By
analyzing the results of the survey, the Group identified the following 3
issues as the most important among the 21 ESG-related issues:

Customer services

PR

Health and safety
(EIE TS

For more information on the above ESG issues, please refer to the relevant

sections of the Report.

Integrity and Compliance

The Group strictly enforces applicable laws, environmental codes of
practice and social standards in the jurisdictions in which it operates. The
Group has always adhered to the principles of “compliance and legality,
honesty and trustworthiness, and fair trading” and strictly prohibits any
acts of bribery and corruption during its business operation. The Group
strictly complies with national laws and regulations, and has prepared
an employee handbook in accordance with relevant requirements and
ethical requirements of the industry, which clearly stipulates the code of
conduct for employees’ integrity and self-discipline. The code illustrates
how to deal with employees’ business activities, part-time jobs, personal
investments, commissions, kickbacks, and bribes from trade associations.
In addition, the Group requires all suppliers, business partners and agents
to sign the Anti-Commercial Bribery Clause when signing contracts
with the Company to clarify the responsibilities of both parties in anti-
corruption. Besides, the Group also engages an external independent
auditor to conduct financial audits to objectively, fairly and accurately
reflect the company’s financial status.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

The Board is the Group’s highest governance body responsible for
developing, reviewing and monitoring the Group’s corporate governance
policies and practices in compliance with the relevant law and regulations.
The Board strives to uphold the highest level of business ethics and
strictly prohibits and stands against any form of bribery, extortion,
fraud, or corruption in our business operations. To comply with the
applicable laws and regulations, the Group implements internal policies
and control mechanisms to strengthen the management practices and
prevent improper conduct and unethical behaviour. The Group has also
communicated the preventive measures on bribery and corruption to the
Directors and the Group’s employees.

If any employee of the Group commits any bribery and corruption, which
seriously affects the reputation and image of the Company, he/she will be
dismissed immediately and those suspected of committing crimes will be
referred to the judicial authorities. The Group also has a whistle-blowing
mechanism, where whistle-blowers can report in their real names or
anonymously through hotline, email, and mailbox (physical). If any of our
colleagues are found to have obtained commissions or rebates from our
customers without reporting to the Group, they shall report to the Group.
Those who fail to do so shall be punished accordingly to enhance the
deterrent effect.

To strengthen the anti-corruption culture, the Group held regular
education and training sessions on compliance with the law and integrity
in Business during the year. Special training sessions were held to teach
employees how to be clean and honest, and the consequences of
corruption and bribery were shared through case studies. All employees
are required to undergo induction training upon joining the Group. As
an important part of the Employee Handbook, the corruption prevention
policy must be trained and assessed on new employees, so as to enable
them to establish a culture of integrity. The directors of the Group also
received practical advice and tips through participation in the Directors’
Training Programme offered by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange to refresh
and enhance their knowledge and skills, and lead the Group towards
better anti-corruption governance. During the reporting period, the Group
had no litigation cases on corruption.

EFTe/AKERSMNERER  AENTE Ak
ERAEENTLRERBRLER - BREETHH
ERRBRS c ERENFRTRENHRERTE -
B2 WREBMEGES P TN - B
= HFRBY - RETERNERESR  AREE
e T P RBBURANE SIS - AR EREE - PiET
BIRMTBRETR - AKENCRAEZRAKEE
TEEARBRMESNTANER

WAKER THEMBERMIERTR  BEFERR
BENER > AR YHSHEENETE
R RDEKRRIE - NEBTRASTRE - 55

LA - AR - BFEAE - EH(ER)ETE
FRELRER - MERAEERELERATP R
MEEH - MARRAEE AR - BRNEEER -
HMBETHRE - EXZAENEEE - LIZRER 7 -

RINERBXIE - FRAREEERRTELTE K
BREHARY - AR TEREIISH  HEETM
ERRER - WARGIH A FEREE S S H
HIE - P B TABE LAKB ARG - HEBCR
EEIFMNERATZ — R THARTI
FIFERZ - ABISOB ERRE UL - AEBMEETT
BBSEEERFARENEREIGFE - BESEYK
R LARR  RBUIEE M P MBAREE - WEA
SEENERIFVREER - AREHA - AKEL

BEITRAAEM o
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Protecting the Environment and Pursuing Green
and Low-Carbon Development

In order to achieve corporate sustainability development, China South City
has been fulfilling its corporate social responsibility to reduce its carbon
footprint, control carbon emissions, optimize the use of resources and
improve the management of pollutant emissions. We continue to innovate
and implement effective environmental measures to reduce the impacts
of our entire industry chain, including our activities and operations, on
the environment, community and governance. Meanwhile, we have been
doing our best to improve our environmental performance of the entire
industrial chain, from design to construction, by promoting a number
of recycling programs, in a bid to meet the national goal of “carbon
neutrality”.

Environmental Management

For the sake of avoiding irreversible damage to the environment, the
Group prudently complies with the relevant requirements of the Energy
Conservation and Emission Reduction Management Regulations that have
been prepared to ensure effective reduction of emissions in the course
of operation. The project management and property management teams
are responsible for introducing and evaluating energy-saving technologies
and equipment, managing and developing programs and data analysis
respectively. At the same time, the Group strictly complies with the laws
and regulations of local governments, including the regulations on waste
sorting, for example, the CSC Shenzhen complies with the Shenzhen
Municipal Regulations on the Management of Domestic Waste Sorting.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

The Group’s emission targets and the measures taken to achieve these

targets are as follows:

REEHR B ENAERGEL B M RIAHE N
T~

Environmental

Targets Directional Indicators Measures Taken during the Year

RREE B EiEE FRBEE

Improve energy o Adopt energy-saving e Air conditioner was set to approximately 26 to 28 degrees Celsius
efficiency products and measures MAEMETFREREBALNBIR26228E

TR E i FR B BEE fm B Bt

Promote the use of e Establish the equipment
renewable energy

BB AEREIR

using renewable energy
IR B A REIRERAE

Adopted energy-saving products and measures
R EREE m i

When purchasing electrical appliances and other equipment,
products with excellent energy efficiency were prioritized

MRS AN - EEERLREERNES

Used LED lighting system
{2 FALEDEREA K 4t

The time for heating supply was adjusted according to the
season, geographical location, climate and other factors to save
unnecessary energy use

RIEZFE - BT  RIFRZERABRHERGH S5 TBE
EREIR 152 8

Posted environmental protection and energy saving slogans
and signs in each park to encourage employees to be
environmentally friendly and energy saving

& A= [ SR B IR R B RE VIR 38 SR RE - #EIA SRR B TIRIRER

N
Be

Installed a large solar water heating panel to supply hot water
using solar energy

LT RBARGRERVKIR - FIIF KRS RE AR ERVK R

Added new energy electric trucks for distribution to reduce
reliance on fossil fuels
ERFRORBEEEEITIR - B AR RRE

Built charging stations for new energy vehicles in Logistics Parks
to facilitate and encourage tenants to use new energy vehicles
EEENEZFERERTEL - FEMSEESERERE
]
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Environmental

Targets Directional Indicators Measures Taken during the Year
BREE T EEIEE FRAREE
Reduce air emissions e Minimize the emission of e Advocated employees to travel low-carbon and take public

B BEREBER exhaust gases, so as to
reduce the emission of
direct greenhouse gas
BABERMES - B
HEEAERENESE

o Reduce the demands for
electricity, so as to reduce
the emission of indirect
greenhouse gas
FRARBEENTL  ERZRD e
HEREREBRESL

transportation to reduce the direct generation of greenhouse
gases

BEETEMRET  BERAHZIBIE - #UARLEEAER
BHEL

Applied 30 new energy electric trucks to replace fuel vehicles
and reduced emissions, such as nitrogen oxides
EA30AMELREBTE - REMWBER  RPEEER - F
m e maEltY)

Participated in annual vehicle review and regular exhaust
emissions inspections as required by the transportation
authorities to reduce the emission of direct greenhouse gas
BZBAFIRE2MEMFE - THRBERIN - #Fumd
HEREREBNESE

Cement and other construction materials which are easily blown
into the air were sealed and stored, and construction waste
was discharged and transported through special airtight refuse
passages or containers to reduce air pollutants

ACRMEAL S RGERZEM BT - I 5ERA
HEAERNICRBENHAATEDE - RS =R5RY

When purchasing electrical appliances and other equipment,
products with excellent energy efficiency were prioritized to
improve the efficiency of electricity consumption and thereby
reduce the emission of indirect greenhouse gas
REERERER  BEEAZRERIGERNER  RABE
e - BRI RERBHES

LED lighting system was established to optimize the efficiency of
electricity consumption and thus reduce the emission of indirect
greenhouse gas

RRLEDRAA RS - B AEEE - FIR DB EREN
EHE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BB - HEHEER

Environmental
Targets
RREE

HE(E)

Directional Indicators

FEMER

Measures Taken during the Year

FRNERE

Reduce the use of o
water

R AK

Reduce waste .

TIKEEZEY

Reduce carbon .
emissions

AR

Reuse treated sewage to
minimize the use of water
SERBEBBEETK D
FA7K

Use water-saving facilities
b FAEI7K R

Reduce the use of paper

A AR SR

Promote recycling

HEBHE IR

Increase awareness of
energy conservation and
emission reduction

IRTTETRERBE B

The rainwater, sewage and wastewater from construction
sites were treated separately. Sewage went through technical
treatment before being reclaimed. The remainder of processed
water was discharged into municipal sewage pipelines
or recycled for greening and road flushing to reduce the
generation of sewage

FE T EMAIRSIK ~ 557K ~ BEAETT D RER IR © BE/RKAS R BR 12
& EBHE R RN TTHI T ATHEA T BUS K E 47k BIU AR AR
e MBS - D AR KESE

Applied water-saving facility such as sensor-activated taps to
save water usage

EREKERE - 10 BRESUKEESE - AETEKEIRIOE A

Adopted OA system for daily office application processes and
promote paperless office
ERAOARFETAEMRNBZERFEME - REEKHA

Created electronic files to reduce copying and printing
BYEFER - RAEERTIH

Encouraged employees to use double-sided printing as much
as possible when printing and to use them for draft paper or
environmentally friendly printing paper
SEEIIHREEEREEIE - WERAERKLIRRIT
EN4R

Set up recycling bins to promote a recycling culture

RIZEWAE - HEBEREYSUE

Encourage advocacy and participation in community waste
classification publicity, education and training activities
SEEE2 M ENN RS ESEREFINED

Encourage employees to participate in tree planting activities
HENEE B T2 BB

Encourage employees to participate in community carbon
reduction publicity, education and training activities
SEEEE T2 ENRREEXEHFINED

Regularly evaluate and proactively provide personal direction for
carbon reduction

TR - ARG EIE A BORIRTT M TR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Responding to Climate Change

In recent years, climate change is one of the most important risks to
companies. Climate risks can be classified into acute risk and transition
challenge. Acute risks include natural disasters, such as increased
frequency of super typhoons and floods, or desertification. In the short
term, acute natural events can directly damage the Group’s assets and
facilities, hence affecting the progress of construction and logistics. In
the long term, chronic changes in climate can also gradually weaken the
Group's business areas and lead to asset impairment.

In addition to acute risks, climate-related business transition challenges
may have a negative impact on the business, operating results and
financial condition of the Group, and may be detrimental to the
reputation of the Group. It is particularly important to understand the
nature and scale of these potential risks in order to mitigate their impact.
Therefore, the Group regularly assesses and reviews the risk of climate
change and prepares for acute risks and transformational challenges.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HEH

During the reporting period, the types of risks, descriptions and

ERRE (F)

countermeasures for climate change of the Group are as follows:

Type of Risk
E R

Description

[ B 3t

REEHEHARRIRE O REBRERE - K S
BT

Response Measures

B PR $E e

Market risk
M5 E kR

Chronic risk
ARV R

Policies and laws

R BOAE

The increasing consumer concern
for sustainability and environmental
responsibility is leading to changes in
market demand and consumer preferences.
Failure to adapt to these changes may
result in the risk of market share decline
and weakened competitiveness.

THEE Y HEEAIRE R T TE
B BHMISHELMEEERIFEEE
b o REEEEEE R - AIREMEER T 5
FE T REAMFF RIS R -

The gradual transformation of the natural
environment caused by climate change
has made the virus increasingly strong,
causing a pandemic and affecting the
health of employees.
RSB MEHH B ARREHEE -
QEETA@mEA - ERARTT  FEE
TlERE -

The progressive tightening of legal
regulations related to climate change
in products, services and operations
has resulted in higher operating costs,
including increased product development
and compliance costs.

FEEEmR - R REEFEAREE(CE
B EREEETINE - AMGEEEK
REF - BIEERAE - SRAAGM -

The company has adopted measures such as using new
energy electric vehicles for delivery, implementing green
construction guidelines, promoting green buildings,
engaging in green procurement, strengthening supplier
evaluation and communication. These initiatives help reduce
carbon emissions, protect the environment, and enhance
environmental sustainability.
REBEFERAMEREDERETIR  HITHECHITE
A - B EEE EITHERE  IRUtERTENE
B oo BUEE BN BEEMEERN - RIBRENRESREARF
Bl o

The Group continuously enhances the cleaning procedures
and increases the frequency of cleaning. Additionally, we
maintain close collaboration with relevant government
and local authorities, sharing the latest disease prevention
guidelines and information to ensure our measures align with
the highest standards. We are committed to establishing a
safe and healthy environment, safeguarding the well-being of
our employees and visitors.

REBFEEOBREF - BIVEREE - R - HPIRA
BRI S BRI S 1E - D ERHHRRENIERNE
o AHREMNEETERERE - RMBOREL —(E
72 BENERE - REE TN TR -

The Group has implemented various energy saving and
emission reduction measures for its businesses and strictly
complied with relevant environmental regulations, striving
to enhance energy saving and emission reduction standards
while complying with laws and increasing production capacity.
REENREEBHETZIHANRBEEE - WIS EST
BEBRBREOER - BREFEIED RIE NEEH RE -
BETRTHEf B R B -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Green Operations

The Group undertakes corporate citizenship responsibilities by
incorporating environmental considerations into its business activities, and
effectively reduced the impact of its business on the environment through
using new energy facilities. In addition, the Group has increased green
procurement and extended the concept of environmental protection to
the entire supply chain, thus promoting sustainable development in all

aspects.

Green Procurement

We continue to implement a green procurement policy, giving priority
to suppliers that obtained environmental certification (e.g. ISO 14001),
local suppliers and purchasing materials and new energy equipment that
meet the national first-class energy consumption, such as electric forklifts,
energy-efficient appliances and biodegradable plastic bags. Moreover,
the Group’s contracts with suppliers clearly state the relevant rules and
regulations to ensure that the suppliers’ production, transportation, sales
and after-sales activities comply with national environmental laws. The
Group also regularly evaluates suppliers and project execution to review
the suppliers’ compliance on environmental protection. In the meantime,
the Group strengthens communication with suppliers and continues to
advocate and support green procurement.

Taking Qianlong, a subsidiary of the Group, as an example, its main
business is warehousing, transportation services, and they will sign long-
term cooperation agreement with transportation fleets, the fleet must
also ensure the transportation of Qianlong Logistics when supply is tight
transportation requirements. At the same time, Qianlong Logistics has
also established some new energy fleets, which can use free blending as
an effective supplement.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Green Buildings

In construction operations, the Group insists on adding green concepts
to our buildings to promote green buildings. Among the completed
green buildings, including Hefei “Qianlong E-Commerce Logistics Park
Warehouse Nos. 1-7" and “CSC Xi'an Logistics Park D Zone Warehouse
Nos. 11-12", we have applied eco-friendly construction materials such
as autoclaved aerated concrete blocks and ALC panels to reduce the
negative impact on the environment during and after the construction
of the buildings. We have also adopted an energy saving and emission
reduction plan in the CSC Hefei by installing large solar panels on the
top floor of the complex to store solar energy to provide warm water to
users. Besides, the architectural design of our park was designed by a
professional company and evaluated by the relevant national authorities.
During the year, all residential projects developed by China South City
were designed and built with gardens and green areas in order to meet
national requirements, thereby achieving the goal of optimizing the

environment.

Green Construction

The Group is committed to handling construction emissions in a
responsible manner. We strictly comply with the regulations of competent
government departments on traffic, construction noise and production
safety at the construction sites, complete the relevant procedures in
accordance with the regulations and notify Party A and the supervisor in
writing. We also strictly have aligned with applicable laws and regulations
on environmental protection, and has formulated civilized construction
standards, including the Environmental Protection and Occupational
Health and Safety Management Standards, Management Standard for
Safe and Civilized Construction at Sites with Diagrams, Standard for Fire
Safety at Construction Sites, Management System for Safe and Civilized
Construction, Management System for Fire Safety in Construction, etc.

In respect of exhaust gas and dust pollution, we strictly abide by applicable
laws and regulations, including the Ambient Air Quality Standards.
Cement and other construction materials which are easily blown into
the air are sealed and stored; and construction waste is discharged
and transported through special airtight refuse passages or containers.
Construction sites are also equipped with enclosed waste stations where
construction waste and domestic waste are classified and stored.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

In respect of sewage discharge, we comply with relevant laws and
regulations, including the Comprehensive Sewage Discharge Standard.
Sedimentation tanks have been built at the cleaning space for concrete
carrier vehicles for diversion of rain, sewage and wastewater from
construction sites. Sewage is treated through technical treatment before
being reclaimed. The remainder of treated water is discharged into
municipal sewage pipelines or recycled for greening and road flushing.
The oil, thinner and paint on construction sites must be placed in storage
rooms whose ground must have received anti-seepage treatment to
prevent any groundwater pollution.

In addition, the Group strengthens the environmental management
at the construction sites in strict compliance with the requirements of
environmental inspection and audit. We strictly implement measures
to prevent and control the pollution of dust and waste water as well as
ecological protection and soil and water conservation measures during the
construction process, striving to protect the surrounding environment.

Energy Management

The Group uses energy in a prudent manner, and manages electricity
conservation. Hence, through regular monitoring and evaluation of
electricity consumption, the Group is able to set energy saving targets and
promote more energy saving and low carbon measures.

We are committed to promoting the use of renewable energy. During
the year, Qianlong Logistics used energy electric trucks for distribution
and will continue to promote it. During the year, large solar water
heating panels were installed on the top floor of the complex in the
Hefei Company to supply warm water to users, thereby reducing the
consumption of electricity for water heaters by the users. In addition,
the Group also formulated and implemented the regulations related
to water and electricity consumption in the Management Regulations
on Energy Saving and Emission Reduction (Version 2020A). During the
year, we proposed to give priority to energy-efficient products based on
the energy efficiency label assessment provided by the manufacturers
when purchasing electrical appliances and other equipment; set the air-
conditioning temperature in offices at approximately 26 to 28 degrees
Celsius; and use LED lighting systems in most of Qianlong Logistics’
warehouses. In addition, the time for heating supply is adjusted according
to the season, geographical location, climate and other factors to save
unnecessary energy use. Besides, we also posted energy saving slogans
and signs in each park to encourage our employees to be environmentally
friendly and energy saving. In the future, the Group will strive to promote
energy saving and emission reduction measures and equipment to move
towards the national goal of “carbon neutrality”.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Water Management

The Group adheres to and strives to implement a strict water resources
management system. We require water conservation in all its operations,
strictly regulate sewage treatment and optimize water resources
management. During the reporting period, the Group strictly complied
with national laws and regulations on water resources and applied
for relevant discharge permits in accordance with local government
regulations, and was subject to the supervision of local environmental
protection monitoring authorities. Besides, we also implemented water
conservation measures in accordance with the regulations on water and
electricity consumption as set out in the Management Regulations on
Energy Saving and Emission Reduction (Version 2020A) formulated by
the Group. We regularly reviewed the use of domestic water and the
effectiveness of water conservation, and strengthened the management
for water resources to protect water resources. During the reporting
period, our domestic wastewater was disposed of in the municipal
wastewater treatment plant through the municipal wastewater treatment
network. In respect of water saving, CSC Shenzhen and CSC Harbin have
applied water saving equipment and facilities, using sensor-activated
taps and pedal-enabled water-saving toilets, which effectively reduced
the water usage of the plazas and public areas. Administrative Tower
and Trade Centre Plaza 3 of CSC Nanchang and Trade Centre Plaza 2 of
CSC Xi'an have applied water saving equipment and facilities. During the
reporting period, the Group did not encounter any problems with water

sourcing.

Packaging Materials

The Group is mainly engaged in logistics, transportation and business
management, which are not manufacturing or retail industries and thus
does not involve any packaging process. As such, packaging materials are
not significantly related to our business. As a result, the Group does not
keep records for packaging materials and no relevant records are available
for the reporting period.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Waste Management

The Group attaches great importance to waste management and expects
to reduce waste generation and properly handle hazardous waste.
We classify hazardous wastes in accordance with the National List of
Hazardous Waste and comply with the Environmental Protection and
Occupational Health and Safety Management Standards to store toxic
and hazardous waste in qualified containers. During the reporting period,
we strictly prohibited the mixing of different types or incompatible toxic
and hazardous waste in the same container to avoid danger. Containers
containing toxic and hazardous waste shall be sealed, packaged and
properly marked for identification, and stored in designated storage
areas. Toxic and hazardous waste shall be handed over to units that have
the qualifications for the transportation of toxic and hazardous waste
issued by the environmental protection department for disposal, so that
hazardous waste can be safely and properly managed.

In addition, the Group has also implemented a series of waste reduction
measures for non-hazardous waste. For example, the OA system was used
for application processes in daily office to promote paperless office; the
document management team has established electronic files and scanned
all contract documents to reduce copying and printing; we encourage
employees to use double-sided printing as much as possible when
printing, and the blank side of non-confidential documents should be used
as draft paper or environmentally friendly printing paper; old stationery
was traded in for new ones to reduce waste; recycling bins were set up in
shopping malls to promote a recycling culture; environmental protection
slogans and signs were posted in each park to encourage employees to
make good use of resources, so as to effectively reduce non-hazardous
waste. The Group also sorts recyclable waste (e.g. waste paper, plastic
products, wooden boards, etc) by cleaning staff and notifies professional
collectors for recycling.

Air Emission Management

During daily operation, the Group has strictly abided by the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Air Pollution and
the emission standards of different local governments. Furthermore, the
Group also tries to reduce the generation of air pollutant with advanced
technology.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

The Group strictly controls emissions and implements emission reduction
measures to ensure that the emissions from each of its operations meet
the local government regulations. During the reporting period, the air
emissions from the Group’s operations were in compliance with the local
government regulations. The vehicles owned by Qianlong Group have
attended annual review as required by the transportation authorities,
with their air emissions meeting the national regulations and passing
annual inspections. We regularly review our exhaust treatment in order to

minimize air emissions.

In addition, the Group continued to promote the development of electric
vehicles during the year, with a view to gradually replacing the oil-fired
forklifts. During the reporting period, Qianlong Logistics basically replaced
fuel trucks with rechargeable trucks in its warehouses and will continue to
promote them. Besides, CSC Shenzhen and CSC Nanning built charging
stations for new energy vehicles in the park to facilitate and encourage
tenants to use new energy vehicles. As a result, roadside emissions were
greatly reduced and roadside air quality was improved.

People-Oriented, Diversity and Inclusion

The outstanding operation of our group’s business is achieved through
the talent, contributions, and innovation of our employees. This enables
us to ensure our talent strategy meets both immediate and long-term
operational needs in a fiercely competitive market. China South City
adheres to a “people-oriented” management philosophy and is committed
to protecting the legitimate rights and interests of our employees and
supporting their development. We are committed to providing an equal,
diversified, warm and inclusive platform for our employees, continuously
promoting their personal development and protecting the physical and
mental health of all employees, in order to enhance their happiness and
sense of belonging.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Talent Management

China South City strictly abides by the laws and regulations and relevant
practices such as the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Employment
Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Special Provisions
on Labor Protection of Female Employees, the Trade Union Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Protection of Minors and the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong.
In accordance with the above laws and regulations, we also constantly
improve the monitoring and protection system for employees’ rights and
interests to ensure fairness and impartiality in recruitment and promotion
as well as create an equal and diversified workforce. We prohibit any form
of discrimination and arrange working hours and holidays for employees
in a lawful and reasonable manner, striving to provide a healthy and
safe working environment for employees and promote the common
development of the enterprise and employees.

Talent Recruitment and Retention

China South City allocates human resources according to the actual
needs of business development and makes timely adjustments to the
team structure. We have a comprehensive and transparent recruitment
process to ensure that the entire recruitment process is fair, just and
open. For all job vacancies, we usually only consider the applicants’
working experience, talents and academic qualifications. In considering
the promotion of employees, we adopt the principle of “fit for purpose”
and make reference to the performance evaluation of employees,
their experience and personal abilities and potentials as the criteria for
promotion. During the year, the Group adopted a digital system in human
resources management and brought technology into the operation. Apart
from providing customers more convenience, the Group can reorganize its
job structure in line with its development demands.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Equal Opportunities and Diversity and Inclusion

By adhering to its philosophy of diversity and anti-discrimination personnel
management, the Group is dedicated to offering equal opportunities
to its employees. Our equal employment opportunity policy applies
to employment arrangements including recruitment, employment,
promotion, job replacement, layoff and dismissal, ensuring that all
employees and candidates are treated equally regardless of race, religion,
gender, family status, sexual orientation, physical disability or any other
reasons. During the year, the Group continued its efforts to regulate the
collaborative relationship among employees through effective allocation
of human resources and achieved a win-win situation for both employees
and the Company.

Welfare Benefit

We provide competitive compensation packages and employee benefits
to enhance the Group’s competitiveness in attracting and retaining
talent. The Group has established a set of objective and fair remuneration
guidelines. The remuneration of our employees is determined with
reference to the overall economic environment and the remuneration
levels of our peers, as well as taking into account factors such as position,
personal ability, performance, education and professional qualifications.
In addition, we enforce our labor system in strict compliance with
national and local laws such as the Labor Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Employment Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of China and the
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong.

The Group has formulated its employee benefit system in accordance
with the requirements of the Ministry of Human Resources and Social
Security of the People’s Republic of China, including a reasonable leave
system for sick leave, casual leave, marriage leave, bereavement leave,
maternity leave, paternity leave, lactation leave, annual leave, injury leave
and statutory holidays. The employee benefit system is under constant
improvement to take better care of our employees and their personal
growth.

Care for Employees

The Group endeavors to cultivate a communication environment that
is sincere, open, and efficient, where employees are harmonious and
trustful to one another. We encourage two-way communication between
management and employees to build mutual trust, increase productivity,
and boost employee morale.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

The Group attaches great importance to caring for and helping
employees. Adhering to the concept of “The Company Has Love, Mutual
Assistance”, we raised charitable donations for employees who suffered
from family tragedies, providing care and economic support to them
and their families. Besides, we also care about the physical and mental
health of our employees. To this end, our factories regularly organize
diversified activities for employees to enrich their spare time, promote
their communication and teamwork, thereby enhancing friendship and
cohesiveness.

Talent Development

The key to the long-term prosperity of the Group are the continuous
development and personal growth of our employees. Therefore, in China
South City, we put more efforts to the career planning of employees,
including the balanced development between personal career and life.
We continue to enhance our employee training system and provide
training for all levels of employees, including orientation and training
for management development. We have extensive and diverse training
programs, including lectures and seminars, online learning, outward
bound courses and experience sharing programs. We hope to effectively
assist our employees in enhancing their skills through various types of
training, helping them to realize their career planning and fully utilize their
strengths and potentials in their respective positions.

New Talent Development

The Group provides orientation for new employees, covering corporate
culture, systems and procedures, to help them quickly integrate and
understand the working environment and culture of the Group. In
addition, it has been the talent management objective of China South
City to nurture the best young generation for the society. With diversified
businesses, China South City can provide graduates with a sound platform
to facilitate their integration into the workplace, so that outstanding
graduates can show and explore their talents and build their ideal career.

Leadership Training Program

China South City believes that by enhancing the capabilities and qualities
of our management personnel, we can lead our teams to adapt to
economic development and respond to market changes. Therefore, the
Group have established a “Leadership Training Program” that focuses
on providing targeted training for our senior management to enhance
their abilities and qualities. The program covers topics such as Essential
Commitment Management System, Leadership Grid, DISC Personality
Assessment, and Achieving Results in Interpersonal Relationships. Through
this training, our managers will be equipped to face challenges, establish
credibility and reputation, motivate team members, and foster highly
efficient and collaborative teams, making valuable contributions to the
company's development.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Occupational Safety and Health Management
Occupational safety and health are the top priority of the Group to ensure
our employees’ welfare. China South City endeavors to take various
preventive measures to minimize potential occupational safety risks in our
operations and to provide a healthy and safe working environment for
our employees. The Group'’s occupational health and safety policies are
formulated in accordance with laws and regulations such as the Law of
the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Occupational
Diseases and the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance of Hong
Kong.

Park Safety Management

In the daily operations, project inspections by the safety team are arranged
to eliminate potential safety risks and proactively eliminate hazards, and
regularly inspect fire-fighting facilities and safety signs. As required by the
State Council, the Group also carried out the “Production Safety Month”
activities to promote safety management in places, including but not
limited to, office premises, construction sites and the entire project area.

Construction Safety

Although the construction works of China South City are completed by
contractors, in view of the relatively high occupational safety and health
risks associated with the construction business, we require the main
contractor to prepare an effective occupational risk management plan to
identify, assess and control potential sources of hazards on all projects
and to ensure the safety of the project works through control measures in
accordance with the national and project location regulations, rules and
contractual requirements on safe and civilized construction. The Group
also revised the “China South City Holdings Group Safe and Civilized
Construction Management System (2023 Revision)” to regulate its safety
management committee and project management centre to conduct
regular inspections and assessments for the safe and civilized construction
of each project on a regular basis, so as to protect the health and safety of
workers through a two-pronged approach by strengthening the attention

of the main contractor and the supervisory unit to safety.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Health and Safety Culture

The cornerstone of a successful production safety system is safety
education and training. Therefore, the Group has established and
implemented a sound production safety education and training system.
We provided regular occupational safety education courses and training
to our employees, conducted multiple safety seminars and fire drills to
enhance the safety awareness of all employees and upgrade their safety
skills. Apart from accident prevention, we have also invested resources to
enhance the health awareness among employees. Moreover, in response
to the prevailing running trend in recent years, we have organized running
groups and hired professional coaches to give guidance. CSC Shenzhen
has its employee dormitories furnished with various fitness facilities such as
gyms and table-tennis tables, treadmills, multi-training machines, indoor
cycling accessories, etc.

In response to work-related accidents, the Group communicates and
reports to the Human Resources and Social Security Bureau immediately
and ensures adequate risk prevention and emergency response measures
by reviewing the accidents. The Group also delegates its labor union
personnel to visit the injured employees, console their family members
and seek for the best treatment plan from various aspects in cooperation
with medical institutions. During the reporting period, there is no lost day
due to work injuries.

Labor Standards

The Group conducts regular inspections to prevent child labor or
forced labor, and strengthens internal training to raise awareness of
its subsidiaries for laws and regulations, so as to achieve the goal of
prohibiting child labor and forced labor. During the reporting period, the
Group did not record any cases of child labor or forced labor. In case of
any violations, the Group will refer them to the law enforcement agencies
in accordance with the law. The Group also recruits in accordance with
the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Labor Law of the
People’s Republic of China, which prohibit any form of forced labor and
compulsory overtime work.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Prevention of Forced Labor

The Group enters into employment contracts that meet the requirements
of local laws and regulations with employees before their official
employment, which clearly stipulate the rights and responsibilities of both
parties, protect the rights and interests of employees, prohibit any form
of forced labor, ensure that all employees work on a voluntary basis,
and prohibit the use of any forced labor or indentured labor, corporal
punishment, imprisonment, or threat of violence. If overtime work is
required for manufacturing operations or under special circumstances,
overtime work must be arranged with the consent of the employee
without affecting the employee’s physical condition and compensated by
overtime pay.

Prevention of Child Labor

To eliminate the occurrence of such incidents, we check and review
the identity documents, relevant certificates and work experience of
job applicants during the recruitment process to verify their age. Once
child labor is found, we will immediately stop their work and conduct
investigations to identify loopholes and implement remedial measures to
prevent the recurrence of such incidents.

The Group strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations on the
prevention of child labor or forced labor, including the Labor Law of
the People’s Republic of China, and there were no violations during the

period.

Quality Property and Considerate Services

China South City remains committed to its quality management policy,
which prioritizes continuous improvement, brand protection, and customer
satisfaction. To achieve this, the company continually enhances its internal
project quality management processes, ensuring that its customers enjoy a
comfortable and high-quality commercial and residential environment. We
are committed to enhancing the overall sustainability of our value chain
while maintaining our competitive edge. We proactively communicate
with and manage our suppliers and contractors to establish long-term
and mutually beneficial partnerships, thus creating synergies and bringing
positive impact to the society.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Customer Health and Safety

The health and safety of our customers is always the top priority for
the Group’s business. The Group has set up a Safety Management
Committee, which is responsible for formulating rules and regulations on
fire prevention and disaster prevention for various areas from the safety
office to construction environment, and to the management of the entire
project area, and all relevant departments are required to comply with
these rules and regulations. The Safety Management Committee also
inspects and prevents individual safety matters. For example, it regularly
checks the implementation of safety measures of each construction unit
and the project site, and reminds employees and relevant units to beware
of fire and theft before the long leave.

Establishing Relationships with Customers

China South City recognizes that the opinions of its customers are crucial
to the sustainable development of the company. As such, we actively
seek out and listen to feedback from customers through various channels,
such as satisfaction surveys and complaint handling. By doing so, we
continually improve the quality of our services and strive to enhance the

overall customer experience and satisfaction.

The Group has formulated the implementation rules of customer
satisfaction surveys. The Group would collect and analyze the extent of
customer satisfaction to China South City in respect of product planning
and design, property management, construction quality, business
operation and customer service through customer satisfaction surveys.
Accordingly, specific optimization policies would be developed based on
the analysis results to continuously improve customer management and
services and hence enhance customer satisfaction and repurchase rate.

To ensure that customer complaints can be responded to and resolved
in a prompt, effective, fair and reasonable manner, the Group strictly
follows the policy for customer complaint management and handling
guidelines, which clearly define the responsibilities and authority of the
property service centres of the Group in the management of customer
complaints in every aspect. General complaints would be concluded
within two working days from the date of receipt in order to appropriately
address customers’ demands. During the Reporting Period, the Group
received and processed 784 customer complaints in accordance with the
regulations, with a completion rate of 100%.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Quality Assurance

Recognizing that product quality and safety are paramount to our
customers, the community, and our corporate reputation, China South
City places a high priority on ensuring these aspects are met. We
consider delivering exceptional product quality and fulfilling our product
responsibilities as the fundamental building blocks of our business. The
Group strictly complies with the Construction Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Regulations on Quality Control of Construction Projects,
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Consumer
Rights and Interests and the Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of
China, and other laws and regulations and industry standards related to
product quality and safety that have a significant impact on the Group.
During the reporting period, the Group has recorded no non-compliance
incident.

Project Quality Management

We have formulated the Project Management Manual of China South
City Holdings Group to regulate project management responsibilities and
quality management systems for the early, middle and later stages of
projects and project delivery and acceptance, such as management system
for project inspection and evaluation, management system for prevention
and control of common defects in project quality, management system for
safe and civilized construction, management system for emergency plan
for major engineering accidents, project inspection and reporting system,
management guidelines for project delivery and acceptance, etc. All these
systems have been designed to ensure the quality management in all
stages of projects.

During the year, the Zijingmingdu project of CSC Zhengzhou was awarded
the certification by the Construction Industry Branch of China Safety
Industry Association and the “Sanxia Cup Quality Structural Project” by
Chongging Construction Engineering Quality Association, demonstrating
our efforts in project quality management.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RiE - HBHERRS ()

Operation Manual for Project Management Quality Control of
China South City Group
(EEmEEEIREEEEEEEEHREFM

Before commencing construction &) T §il

Regulate the preliminary management of project construction, carry out overall planning of the
project management process in the early stage of construction so that the construction layout,
project progress, quality, safe and civilized construction and other project management work
can be more standardized, reasonable and efficient, and strengthen the project pre-control
management to ensure the smooth implementation of the project.
ABEERRNAEEEIE BB IRRRNNY TREIEBRETABES - FiETa
FEME TREE B8 LREXABIZFIEEEARENRE 518 5% ®bI
BIEZEERE - REEBIENEE -

During the construction T2

Regulate the management of project construction process, clarify the control points and
difficulties of project management, ensure the management for the quality, progress, safe and
civilized construction of the whole process of project, continuously improve the level of project
management, and finally achieve project development goals.
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After completion % T &

Regulate the management of completion acceptance to ensure the smooth completion of the
project completion acceptance on schedule. The Project Management Department shall
cooperate with the Project Department and the Outreach Department to prepare the special
acceptance plan, preliminary acceptance plan and completion acceptance plan.

REIR TR EIR - HRIZHIEN TR TIR% T iU T 1 - T3R5 12 7P AL & T A2 7P A0 JM gk &
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Advertising Standards

China South City has consistently prioritized transparency and accuracy
when introducing new products and disseminating promotional
materials, ensuring that customers are well-informed and able to make
informed decisions. Our frontline employees are also required to provide
customers with complete and clear product descriptions, and misleading
advertising or sales practices are strictly prohibited. China South City
adopts responsible marketing strategies to ensure the compliance of
all advertising and other promotional materials with applicable local
and national laws and regulations, including the Advertising Law of the
People’s Republic of China and other applicable regulations.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Protecting Customer Privacy and Intellectual Property
Maintaining the trust of our customers and employees relies on our
commitment to safeguarding personal data. The Group is committed to
maintaining and protecting the personal data privacy of our customers
and employees. We strictly comply with the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests and other
privacy-related laws and regulations, and require all employees who have
access to technical and trade secrets of the Group and its customers to
observe confidentiality obligations, so as to prevent leakage of information
and trade secrets and ensure the confidentiality of customer information.
To protect consumer information and privacy, customers’ personal data
has been uploaded to the Mingyuan system, which is equipped with the
latest firewall and anti-virus software and is protected by a dedicated
person responsible for the use of the system account. Access to customer
information is restricted to authorized persons on a need-to-know and
need-to-use basis.

We also emphasize originality and respect intellectual property rights.
Therefore, employees are not allowed to disclose or exploit any patents
and trademarks of the Group and its customers without authorization.
Moreover, the Group has signed a non-disclosure agreement with its
employees when they enter into employment contracts, which stipulates
that employees are obligated to prevent the disclosure of the information
of the Group and protect the interests of the Group and relevant
stakeholders. During the report year, the Group owns a total of 225
intellectual properties.

Supply Chain Management

The Group'’s strong business development hinges on the dependable
support of our suppliers, who are integral stakeholders in our business
value chain. To build a mutually beneficial partnership, China South City
is fully committed to working closely with our suppliers. We strive to
adopt environmentally and socially responsible practices throughout our
supply chain, gradually integrating environmental and safety standards
into our established procurement workflow. By doing so, we are better
equipped to meet the demands that may arise from future policy changes.
We remain vigilant of market trends and will respond proactively to any
specific circumstances.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Sustainable Supply Chain

In line with the Group’s vision and mission of sustainable development
and corporate citizenship, we also expect our suppliers to work together
with us to reduce the environmental and social impacts during business
operations. Therefore, when selecting suppliers, the Group also takes into
account their environmental awareness and social responsibility. We adopt
a collaborative approach throughout our supply chain and encourage
suppliers and other partners to explore and implement sustainable
business practices.

Supplier Selection System

The Group values product quality and cost control, also most of its
procurement would go through a tender process. The Group has
established standardized management practices for tender procurement,
which clearly specify the procurement methods and regulate the tender
procurement process, as well as provide for rewards and penalties for
procurement inspection and assessment, in a bid to enhance the efficiency
and quality of procurement and safeguard the legitimate interests of the
Group. During the reporting period, the above management policies and
employment practices were applied to 530 suppliers.

Supplier Management

The Group has established a supplier management process to strengthen
supplier management and ensure the quality of products and services
provided by suppliers.

AFRR R AR
RTNAAEENAHERRBESMEGREEAR
MER - BZfILHEHERERM—ESS - BdE
HELHEHRENMLENTE - REEREHER
- ARETNERHERNRREE S SEIRA
AZRHE - HAEREREERRBEDR - SB
HEBREMEERFRENERATHENELER
% o

HEmRERTE

AEBEREMNE S RANIES - K& RS
HEBRRET ARERARECHBRREERE
wE - ARy RERED A RABRRRERE
FREFTRARBUEERNEE MRS RBRELE
B AEASENA AR - RARSHA - AEE
AT Lt B IR ISR S S A B (Il e B R K530

HEFEERRE
REBRMEEEIRRIZ - AMBHEEHEIERRE
HERMRENERLRRTNEE -

Supplier sourcing

The Group sources suppliers through a variety of methods, including public solicitation and peer solicitation.

For suppliers through internal referrals, we require our employees to make referrals in real name to avoid

potential risks in the relevant supply chain.
FEFRFBEZESA - REAHES  RITEES
BIERE - AR BB EENEERR -

HEBSIR

o P R AR B HER  RMASBERAFABEIEMAE

Supplier admission Inspection teams from different departments of the Group will conduct inspections and professional

evaluations of suppliers.

o Goodwill verification: remove those suppliers with quality defects, illegal acts or bad reputation in the
past two years
o Preliminary vetting: verify supplier's qualification, financial status and past performance
e A= HASETREFPFIRNE R/ NMNEREERETER R EENE -
. FEZE  JRBEMFANFTELEME - BETR  EEIROMHER
. BHEEE  REHERNEES BN EERTE
Performance We will conduct performance evaluation of our partner suppliers and manage them in a tiered manner to
evaluation monitor and evaluate their sustainable performance, so as to ensure the supply quality.
JRAIRTE BPEHaFRERETRAE - WHHEERETO B EEE - UERM MR T REERER -

RIBHELE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Communication with Suppliers

The Group promotes its concepts and experience in sustainable
development to the supply chain through supplier conferences, supplier
visits and on-site exchanges. Meanwhile, we learn from advanced
experiences and latest technologies at home and abroad to keep abreast
of the times.

Contributing to Society for Harmony and Inclusion
China South City has been actively engaged in charity affairs at
communities to create harmonious communities by giving back to the

areas it serves.

The Group operates in many parts of China and is closely involved in
the development of communities. We are always concerned about the
development needs of the community and are committed to making
contributions to the community. We are also deeply concerned about the
sustainable development needs of different operating regions, and we
must consider the interests of the community and give back to society
when conducting any business operations.

HEEER

AREBBHERAS  HEFED BHERIR
SRAEHEE LERTHEEREINESR R
TEIRERE B RSN LB AR B - BRAF (R -

BRI
EHREESELEDHEY  BEFMRESOLE
HAITHALE -

AEEMEEMEBHRTEZER) - & NEERET
AR - P —ERIHRABRFR - BORTE
tERERL - RITT+ DRI RS E MR A A A%
RBE  EETEMNEBSER  ELEEIEHE
BFE - EMOELE o
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Sustainability at a Glance

Energy Consumption’

HEARRSE

RERFER 2023
Direct energy consumption kWh 886,918.98
HEREREE TR

Intensity of direct energy consumption kWhEmployee 441.91
BEEREERE ThRE EE

Indirect energy consumption kWh 27,572,086.00
LIRS TR

Intensity of indirect energy consumption kWhEmployee 13,737.96
R R E FTRE &S

Total energy consumption kWh 28,459,004.98
HELREE TR

Intensity of total energy consumption kWhEmployee 14,179.87
BREREERE FTRE &E

Direct Energy Consumption

BEERERE

QOil fuel consumption? kWh 886,918.98
PRS2 TR

Intensity of oil fuel consumption kWh/Employee 441.91
REEEE ThRE EE

Gas fuel consumption? kWh -
AR TR

Intensity of gas fuel consumption kWh/Employee -
WARERE ThRE EE

Indirect energy consumption

BERRMEE

Electricity consumption kWh 27,572,086.00
BHEE TR

Intensity of electricity consumption kWh/Employee 13,737.96
BENREEEE FTRE &E

Water Consumption

FEKE 2023
Water consumption m3 186,782.00
FkE ST K

Intensity of water consumption m3/Employee 93.07
FKEBEE MFK/EE

WO R B IRV S S

MEFEREREIENRAR

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 3

Gas fuel consumption includes purchased natural gas

The energy data referenced uses the low calorific value conversion provided by the National Energy Administration and is expressed in kWh
RERBE2ZRERERESRHNERERERTRE

Qil fuel consumption includes unleaded gasoline and diesel



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Waste Generated Volume

BEYLEES 2023
Hazardous waste tonnes N/A TR
BEEEY 48

Intensity of hazardous waste tonnes/Employee N/A e
BEEEDEE meEE

Non-hazardous waste tonnes 0.71
BEREEY Mg

Intensity of non-hazardous waste tonnes/Employee <0.01
BEEREYEE W18

Exhaust Gas Pollutant Emission Volume

BER B E 2023
Nitrogen oxides (NO) kg 53.00
RED NI

Sulphur oxide (SO) kg 1.44
=kl NI

Particle (PM) kg 3.90
R NI

Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emission®

BERBHER 2023
Direct emissions (Scope 1)° tonnes of CO,e 419.33
BB (EE—)S AW A LIRE 2

Energy indirect emissions (Scope 2)’ tonnes of COe 15,724.36
seIRMEIE B (g E )7 AE_ALIRE S

Other indirect emissions (Scope 3)8 tonnes of CO,e 335.27
Hb g (&R =)8 A S LIREE

Total GHG emissions tonnes of CO,e 16,478.96
BREREHNE AE—F(LIRE S

Intensity of total GHG emissions tonnes of CO,e/Employee 8.21

BREREHNERE

RS E B8

The government clears and transports hazardous waste for enterprises, and thus there is no relevant record

BNREREERSERY - U EHRE

The calculations of GHG emission were based on the Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs issued by the Stock Exchange, 2006 IPCC
Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, IPCC Sixth Assessment Report, and the latest emission factors for grid electricity
REREHRGTE DERB R M IR HRERIERREIES]  —TTRFIPCCRAKAZREEEERRD  IPCCENNTERE - 552
BE N8R EA T

Scope 1 includes gasoline use from mobile vehicles, diesel use and carbon dioxide fire extinguishers

HE : BEREBEERETVAEA - SOREHA RSB SE

Scope 2: includes energy indirect emissions from purchased electricity

HE2 : DEBEE HNLRMEEN

8 Scope 3: includes business travel

#HE3 : BEBHEER

China South City Holdings Limited EEHIZER AR AT 151
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Number of Employees

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - EHEERRE (A)

by Different Categories RTAEENEDNES AR 2023
By Gender BRI 8D

Male B 1,151
Female 7t 856
By Employment Type RERERES

Full-time 2 1,990
Part-time e gk 1
Others EHh 16
By Age Group RERARE S

<25 <255% 59
25-34 25% 3453 658
35-44 3554455, 858
45-54 452547, 364
55-64 55E 6457 67
>65 >655%, 1
By Geographical Region Rt EE D

Chinese Mainland H B K e 1,997
Hong Kong SAR BARRIITE R 10
Other Region Hith [ 0

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 3



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - EHEERRE (A)

Employee’s Turnover Rate

by Different Categories® RAEER & DR K2R 2023
(%)
By Gender BB D
Male S 2.32
Female ogi 2.04
By Age Group RERARE S
<25 <255% 424
25-34 25% 3453 3.14
35-44 3554455 1.84
45-54 452545, 1.33
55-64 55E 6457 0.75
>65 >6575%, 0
By Geographical Region R EE 5
Chinese Mainland GAIEPNES 222
Hong Kong SAR BARRIITE R 0
Other EAh 0
The Percentage of Total Employees Trained
by Different Categories' RIRENESNEINETTESLL 2023
(%)
By Gender BRI 8D
Male St 54.95
Female pogi 45.05
By Employee Category RESERES
Senior management =g 55.98
Middle management i 37.60
General employees —MET 6.42

Average monthly turnover rate of employees in a specific category = the full-year number of resigned employees in a specific category/12/

average monthly number of employees in a specific category x 100%

BEFFIRENEATHEREE = FEARRENZFRBAZ 12/ HFEHFIRENTATHAZ X 100%

Calculation formula: Percentage of the number of trainees in a specific category = total number of trainees in a specific category/total number

of employees in a specific category x 100%

FELR  BERBIZIABBLY = FERIEENAZIIAZHERREENEAZ X 100%

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHZR IR AT
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - EHEERRE (A)

The Average Training Hours Completed

per Employee by Different Categories'’ RIAEERHNE S BAEENFHIZIIRE" 2023
(Hour)
(/INBF)

By Gender B RIE D

Male S 5.10

Female gegi 5.43

By Employee Category RESEHE S

Senior management =g 4.03

Middle management g 7.04

General staff —MET 8.69

Health & Safety
REHEZZ 2023

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred % 0
in the reporting year

T T ABUR L 2

Lost days due to work injury Days 0
ETEEAIEAR =]

Number of Suppliers by Region TRtEE 2 HEREE 2023
Shenzhen el 124
Nanning FE 36
Nanchang B 70
Xi‘an A% 45
Harbin BEA 2
Zhengzhou (! 68
Hefei ahe 54
Chongging BE 59
Other Hth 126

Anti-corruption
R&ES 2023

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices during the reporting period 0

NIRRT O EEN B S FAAR T EE

B Calculation formula: average training hours per employee = total training hours of employees in a specific category/total number of employees
in a specific category

FEAR  GRESTHZIINE = FEAMNEENBZIIRNE HFEHEDIEE HEA
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HEH

Index to the Environmental, Social and Governance

ERRE (F)

Reporting Guide of the Stock Exchange

A Environmental

A RE

Aspect A.1
FHA1
KPIA. 1.1
FEIEA L1
KPIA.1.2
TEIEA 1.2

KPIA. 1.3

FEFZA 1.3

KPIA.1.4
1A 1.4
KPIA.1.5
JE1EA 1.5
KPIA.1.6
E1EA. 1.6

Emissions
bz 3187

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

HER iR SR AR R PEE

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

BE(HBE) RepREE (BE2)R=REBHME (A E) R (ER) % E
(WMABESEN - BIERME) ©

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FEEGEREEDES (VAR E) R(ER) BE (A SES B -
poEtE)

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,

a
3

18

intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FrEEEEZEEYAE (CAMSE) R (ER)ZE (WASESEEN - 518
MEETE) °

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

el
fnt

I FTET S VP E B R R AE RS L B R PRI 2288 -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

M ERIR A = M EEEEYN L - ARl PRI L HRRE B E R AE RS B
SRTERER Y 8]

BRACRIR - 8 REBHEESDES

Section

8]

Environmental
Management
RIEER

Air emission
Management

BEREHE

Waste Management

BEEYERE

Waste Management

BEEMERE

Environmental
Management
RIFEE

Waste Management

REEYE R

The government
clears and transports
hazardous waste
for enterprises, and
thus there is no
relevant record.

B RE¥5ER
FREEEY - BORE
MRS ER ©

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHZR IR AT
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RiE - HBHERRS ()

A Environmental

A RE

Aspect A.2

JHA2

KPIA.2. 1

EIZA2.1

KPIA.2.2

EIZA.2.2
KPIA.2.3

FERA.2.3
KPIA.2.4

1E1EA.2.4
KPIA.2.5

EIEA.2.5
Aspect A.3

JTHEA3
KPIA.3.1

FEIZA.3.1

Aspect A.4
FHA.4
KPIA.4.1

FEIZEA.4.1

Use of Resources

EIRE

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil)
in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

REREISMERER SEEER(NE - KEUh)BFEE A TETRETE)

RER(WAGES B - FIERMH)

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

BROKEREE (WABES B - BIEREAE) -

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve

them.
T ET S B BE IR A e B IR R A B S Lk B RPN 2258 o

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose,

water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
Ha HUREUGE AR LA A EAERE - ARSI AR B R R AEDE
B IRPTERERH) AP BR

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable,

with reference to per unit produced.

R mPTRBEM S CAREETE) R(MNER ) BEEBR(E= -
The Environment and Natural Resources

RERRANER

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

MR ABHRBERRAERNEAZENCENEEERTZENTY -

Climate Change

RIREL

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

B RARESHETAELEZENEARGHEHEE - REHTE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 3

Section

0]

Energy
Management

BEREE

Water Management

KERER
Environmental
Management
RIREE

Water Management

KEIRERE

Packaging Materials

SR

During the
Reporting Period,
there was no
incident that had a
significant impact

on the environment

and natural
resources
HAREHRER
RAB IR E R
LHEM

Responding to
Climate Change
FEHRIREE



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HEH

B Social

BHHE

ERRE (F)

Employment and Labour Practices

EBERZIER
Aspect B.1

JFTHEB.1

KPIB.1.1

FEIEB. 1.1
KPIB.1.2
E1%B. 1.2
Aspect B.2

HEB.2
KPIB.2.1

1EIEB.2.1

KPlB.2.2

EIZB.2.2
KPIB.2.3

1515B.2.3
Aspect B.3
7 HB.3
KPIB.3.1

F51%B.3.1
KPIB.3.2

1E1EB.3.2

Employment

=

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part-time),
age group and geographical region.

IR - EIRRE (N2 BEERE) - Fiedn| Mit@E HaE B AR -
Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.
RIER - FheMER iR E S A BB RALLE o

Health and Safety

RS2
Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three
years including the reporting year.

BE=F(BRERFE)SFATTUROABKILE -

Lost days due to work injury.

EITEBARTIEAE -
Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they
are implemented and monitored.

PR AN B B R B 2 245 0 - DA AR T R B 0% -
Development and Training

BRE R

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g.
senior management, middle management).
RERIREER(INESRERRE  PREER)ESNZIEEB DL -
The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee
category.

ZURIREEERES - BRESTREIIN TR -

Section

0]

People-oriented,
Diversity and
Inclusion
AN
eI

Our Team

HofFIEo B B

Our Team

B APIEY B
Occupational

Safety and Health
Management
BfeEne

There was no work-
related fatality
during the past
three years including
the reporting
period.
BRI E A
BE=FRBEMA
BRI FMEH -
Health and Safety
Culture
EEZ2XIt
Occupational

Safety and Health
Management
BziEEe

Talent Management
AT ER

Talent Development

BE AT
Talent Development

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHZR IR AT
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B Social

BHHE

Aspect B.4
J7THB.4
KPIB.4.1
FEIEB.A4.1
KPIB.4.2

EFZB.4.2

Operating Practices

&EEM
Aspect B.5

HEB.5
KPIB.5.1

FE1ZB.5.1
KPIB.5.2

151%B.5.2

KPI B.5.3

#51ZB.5.3

KPI B.5.4

F51ZB.5.4

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Labour Standards

45 TR

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and
forced labour.

ftin st BB OIS B AR R B T R o855 T -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.

R EIRE R BN B BB ATREE S8 -

Supply Chain Management

HIEsEERE
Number of suppliers by geographical region.

iR B S H e EE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers
where the practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

AR REEENED - MENTEREMNNHERHRE - URBRERT
NMEERITE °

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the
supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.

A AR RS EREGRE Mt g AR B L] - ARABREITREER
FE o

Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products
and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

T BRE (I R (R (0 2 IR IRE T R ARG HIIE B - DA R REBIT R EEE T
% e
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Section

0]

Labour Standards
85 TR

Labour Standards
BT 2R

No violations during
the reporting
period.
RpEHAREGE
RIES

Supply Chain
Management
e
Supply Chain
Management
HiEsEER

All new have gone
through the relevant
assessment process
of the Group prior
to procurement.
Furthermore, all
suppliers in our
current partnership
have passed the
annual assessment.
FA #T e FEER
AR ERAEE
ARRERTH G IRIE
IR E & 1ERI e
Bt BB E AT o
Supply Chain
Management
e

Supply Chain
Management

HpEsEE S



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HEH

B Social

BHHE

Aspect B.6
7 [EB.6
KPIB.6.1

7E1ZB.6.1

KPI B.6.2

F51ZB.6.2

KPI B.6.3

E1ZB.6.3
KPI B.6.4
#512B.6.4
KPIB.6.5

7E1ZB.6.5
Aspect B.7

FTEB.7

ERRE (F)

Product Responsibility

EmEE

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and
health reasons.

EEdCEXERERTRAREERZFEAMACLKRNBEOL -

Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are
dealt with.

BRI E an R ARTS VIR AR B B A R FEHTE -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property
rights.

i B 4 R ARFS AN E G RV Bl

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

il SR E BRI E mEIUGE fr o

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

HUE B & ERMRIE RALBER - ARAEERITRERTE

Anti-corruption

REF

Section

0]

Quality Assurance
m B RE

No products were
recalled for safety
and health reasons
during the reporting
period.
REBNRGE
fn A %2 2 B 42 R IR
HifZEmE Y o
During the
Reporting Period,
the Group received
and processed
1,014 customer
complaints in
accordance with the
regulations, with a
completion rate of
100%.
R|EHA - A&
E R R T B
Bl R PR
1,014% » ERCE
100% -

Quality Assurance

mE R
Quality Assurance
mERE
Quality Assurance

mERR
Integrity and

ko

Compliance
BIERRZR
BREE

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHZR IR AT
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HEH

B Social

BHHE

KPIB.7.1

E1ZB. 7.1

KPIB.7.2

F51ZB.7.2

KPIB.7.3

J51%B.7.3
Community

HE
Aspect B.8

J5HEB.8

KPIB.8. 1

E1ZB.8. 1

KPI B.8.2

7E1ZB.8.2

ERRE (F)

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against

the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the

cases.

RERARNE BT AL EEERL Y ERENE THARMTEE RFARE
=,

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

Ha By & e R BB AR DARABRAENIT REER 0% ©

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.

fimES N8 TIRENRE)5HE -

Community Investment

HEREE

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour
needs, health, culture, sport).

EIRBEE(HE  REFHE  STHFR  BFE Xt $#5) -

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

EE TR AER (NS ERERE) -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 3

Section

0]

No litigation cases
on corruption
during the reporting
period.
TRERNREE
VSEREARLF o
Integrity and
Compliance
BIERZ
AREE
Integrity and
Compliance

B IERRR
BREE

Contributing to
Society for Harmony
and Inclusion

=]

RS
Contributing to
Society for Harmony
and Inclusion

= v

HFE R
Contributing to
Society for Harmony
and Inclusion
Rt

FEE



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

MRS T

|
EYzx

To the members of China South City Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Disclaimer of opinion

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of China
South City Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 165 to 316, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the nine months then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the potential interaction of the multiple
uncertainties relating to going concern and their possible cumulative
effect on the consolidated financial statements as described in the Basis
for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, it is not possible for us
to form an opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all
other respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group recorded net loss of HK$4,318 million for the nine months ended
31 December 2023, and as at 31 December 2023, the Group’s current
portion of interest-bearing debts amounted to HK$16,295 million, while
its cash and cash equivalents amounted to HK$230 million. Subsequent
to the year end date and up to 28 March 2024, the principal or interest
payable relating to an aggregate amount of HK$21,696 million of
interest-bearing debts had not been repaid according to their scheduled
repayment date (the “Defaulted Borrowings”), triggering an aggregate
amount of HK$9,260 million interest-bearing debts (the “Cross Defaulted
Borrowings”) to become repayable on demand. These conditions,
together with other matters disclosed in note 2.1 to the consolidated
financial statements, indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going

concern.

BERHERERATZRE
(REBREMA L BRAA])

BERTER

BMEZEEZERRIERERARTEQR D RE
WEAR([EEE ) EHNE165E316 B MRS T
WK BEHHER2023F 12 A31HHGEA T EAR R

® - MEBEZALNVMEANGAIERR  FEEEW
Bk RAEREHRNGARTRER - UREE

IR - BRERGHEEER -

BT E

T - SREPHERARCDERELE R AIEDIZ BES

EEARTERNER
EEFECERBNZEIRERER

WMERA BT TSR T MIFE2.1 P70 - BIE2023F12 A31
EEEHBFEBRA3I18EBT - R
EEENTEABENBITSE
EA162.95B T MERS KRS EWA230
BT - FRBAEENBIE20245F3H28H - 57
216,968t B BB ZEMN AR B AREKRERE
EEERBHER([EOER])  BREREBRT
#92.6018B T ([ ZXBXMER]) AR ERKRFEE -
ZERNERGAE M BREM 21 TR EMS
B BRAFEEATHERERSE BXEEFELEN

BiEAEA -
2023F12A318 -

BENRBEXREER -

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHZR IR AT

ERENGFAVBHREABRRER - AN E
FELEARNZATEERRNEEREFERLE
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BYZEAMERE (&)

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (Continued)

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern
(Continued)

The directors of the Company have been undertaking restructuring plans
and measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position,
which are set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements.
The validity of the going concern assumptions on which the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared depends on the outcome of
these measures, which are subject to multiple uncertainties, including:

(i) successful and timely debt restructuring with the lenders of the
Group's Defaulted Borrowings;

(i) successfully negotiating with the Group’s existing lenders
of Defaulted and Cross Defaulted Borrowings and reaching
agreements with them for not taking any actions against the
Group to exercise their right to demand immediate payment of the
principals and interest of these borrowings;

(i)  successful and timely implementation of the plans to dispose of
certain of the Group’s equity interests in certain property projects to
raise the level of liquid funds;

(iv)  timely implementation of the plans to accelerate the pre-sales and
sales of its properties under development and completed properties,
and to speed up the collection of outstanding sales proceeds and
other receivables; and

(v)  successfully execution of active measures to control administrative

costs and maintain containment of capital expenditures.

As a result of these multiple uncertainties, their potential interaction, and
the possible cumulative effect thereof, we were unable to form an opinion
as to whether the going concern basis of preparation is appropriate.
Should the Group fail to achieve the abovementioned plans and
measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as a going concern,
and adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying
amount of the Group's assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in
these consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BYZEAMERE (&)

Responsibilities of the directors for the

consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial

reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report. Our report
is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. However, because of the matters described in
the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, it is not possible
for us to form an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B 2B RS (&)

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is M.L. Chau.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

28 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

GEBRER

For the nine months ended 31 December 2023  #;£2023%12 A318 It @A

For the
nine months For the
ended year ended
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
HZE2023% HE2023F
12A3181E 3A31H
AEA HFE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BsE THET FAT
CONTINUING OPERATIONS FEKEEK
REVENUE 'ON 5 3,508,926 4,052,262
Cost of sales HEXRA (2,700,245) (3,232,227)
Gross profit A 808,681 820,035
Other income and (losses)/gains, net HEi AR (E18),/ a5 - 548 5 (537.406) 139,687
Fair value (losses)/gains on investment properties %&£ A FE(E1E), Wz 5 (2,317,.419) 151,588
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHFX (166,005) (218,710)
Administrative expenses TR (660,025) (846,710)
Other expenses Hipfsz (1,670,490) (871,695)
Finance costs BERA 7 (633,667) (769,426)
Share of profits of associates JEAR T AR 2 FE 98,896 36,069
LOSS BEFORE TAX FROM RESEES LY
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BiAIER 6 (5.077,435) (1,559,162)
Income tax credit P15 7% [l 5 10 759,845 3,856
LOSS FOR THE PERIOD/YEAR FROM REFECEEB
CONTINUING OPERATIONS AHEEEE (4,317,590) (1,555,306)
DISCONTINUED OPERATION BAIREER
Profit for the period/year from a discontinued REBRIREEBTZ
operation REFEMNE 11 - 2,254,801
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD/YEAR & E(EE) /R (4,317,590) 699,495
Attributable to: 5 REL -
Owners of the parent BRAEEA (4,317,462) 699,984
Non-controlling interests R A (128) (489)
(4,317,590) 699,495
(LOSSES)/EARNINGS PER SHARE BEREAREER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY BEFAEALZ
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT SR(FE) BF 13
Basic 'R
— for (loss)/profit for the period/year —AE,/FER(EER),/FE (HK37.73 cents3&4l) HK6.34 centsia il
— for loss from continuing operations —REREREEE 2
18 (HK37.73 centsi&{l)  (HK14.10 cents/&fll)
Diluted 5]
— for (loss)/profit for the period/year —ARHFN(ER),/F)E (HK37.73 cents3El) HK6.34 centsi&lI
— for loss from continuing operations —REFBELEEL
Ba (HK37.73 centsiB{l)  (HK14.10 centsi#fll)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SEETHEWER

For the nine months ended 31 December 2023  #;£2023%12 A318 It @A

For the
nine months For the
ended year ended
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
8Z2023F #HZE2023F
12A31H1E 3H31H
HEA IEFE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHExT BT
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD/YEAR EE(EE),RE (4,317,590) 699,495
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSSES Hib2MEEE
Other comprehensive losses that may be MR EEBEERES AR
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent BERHEMEEEE
periods:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign REBINETFHEN =58
operations (1,707,773) (4,974,716)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSSES Y FERBEEMEE
FOR THE PERIOD/YEAR, NET OF TAX BE (1,707,773) (4,974,716)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSSES A FEAZEER
FOR THE PERIOD/YEAR (6,025,363) (4,275,221)
Attributable to: T 77 R
Owners of the parent SRAREAA (6,024,917) (4,273,950)
Non-controlling interests FEFEAR M (446) (1,271)
(6,025,363) (4,275,221)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ma MR &R

As at 31 December 2023 72023412 H31H

31 December 2023

2023F12A31H

31 March 2023
20233 A31H

Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
M5 FET FHET

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB R 14 543,607 716,799
Investment properties BEYE 15 45,988,804 53,430,054
Right-of-use assets EREAE 17 311,462 497,759
Properties under development BRERPYE 16 1,065,512 1,456,194
Interest in associates Fﬂﬁﬁﬂé&@ﬂmﬁéﬁ 18 3,961,055 1,471,483
Financial assets at fair value through profit  #EiEBEzm AR FEYIERZ

or loss SREE 19 3,724 5,668
Other long-term receivables E i REEW A 20 81,626 896,447
Deferred tax assets EETRIBAE 31 4,049,240 3,490,049
Total non-current assets JEmEEERE 56,005,030 61,964,453
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE
Properties held for finance lease FHIEREMEY 21 145,637 126,888
Properties held for sale FEHEME 21 40,502,022 45,628,055
Inventories 58 22 12,993 32,698
Trade receivables FEWE SRR 23 712,725 977,068
Prepayments, other receivables and other TEFE - EAibEBEIE &

assets Hib&E 24 1,714,334 2,826,618
Amount due from a related party FEUR B 5 OB 27 138,666 143,541
Restricted cash ZIRHIRE 25 913,556 1,150,358
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEED 25 230,088 1,374,716
Total current assets MEEERE 44,370,021 52,259,942
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables ﬁ%&ﬁﬂﬂfﬁ%ﬁxlﬁ 26 6,893,983 7,253,709
Amounts due to associates N NCIP O] 27 869,925 926,257
Amounts due to related parties F‘ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁfim 27 1,205,832 2,474,573
Contract liabilities araE 28 8,936,049 13,413,366
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t B2 iE{T R EMEE 29 7,403,739 11,862,881
Senior notes fﬁf‘&%ﬁféﬁﬁ 30 8,891,111 922,065
Financial liabilities at fair value through FEiBiEmAATESR

profit or loss %Vﬁﬂﬁﬁa 19 4,618 8,489
Tax payables FETFEIE 3,561,011 3,898,844
Total current liabilities BB R 37,766,268 40,760,184
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEERE 6,603,753 11,499,758
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHAERREBEE

LIABILITIES 62,608,783 73,464,211
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

RE BRI R (E)

As at 31 December 2023 72023412 H31H

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

31 March 2023
202343 AH31H

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
b FERT FAT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBAME
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings #8817 K& B b i & 29 13,892,041 9,416,275
Senior notes BERR 30 1,565,410 10,629,541
Other long-term payables HAb RHIFEFRIA 17(ii) - 15,828
Financial liabilities at fair value through BRBEEAAFESRZ
profit or loss SRIEE 19 1,070,077 -
Deferred tax liabilities EEIBBE 31 9,634,930 10,717,565
Total non-current liabilities FEREBEEEE 26,162,458 30,779,209
Net assets EEFE 36,446,325 42,685,002
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of the parent &} A FIHEA AJE(EHERS
Share capital [N 32 9,131,812 9,131,812
Other reserves Hibf#E 34 27,300,002 33,538,233
36,431,814 42,670,045
Non-controlling interests FEFERR R 14,511 14,957
Total equity SR 36,446,325 42,685,002

CHENG CHUNG HING Zj#A 5

Director &%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RERBEHR

For the nine months ended 31 December 2023  #;£2023%12 A318 It @A

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRFER AR
Statutory Share  Exchange Non-
Share surplus option  fluctuation Capital  Revaluation  Retained controlling Total
Capital reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
reE%  BRE  EXR® g% Eff R FER s

e G i i G it A fat i it
Notes  HKS000  HKFOOO  HKS'000  HKSOOO  HKS'000  HKSOOO  HKS'000  HKSOOO  HKS'000  HK$'000
iE3 TAr  TEL TR TEm TR TEm TR TEL TR TER

Note ()
()

At 1 April 2022 202054718 7222312 3,500,666 48,086 3,177,562 (250,537) 28645 31,089,199 45,073,744 16,228 45,089,972
Profit for the year TEEHE - - - - - - 699,984 699,984 (489) 699,495
Other comprehensive loss  AFEEH2E

for the year: BE:
Bxchange differenceson -~ 8528

translation of foreign ~ EXZE

operations - - - (4973934 - - - (4973934 (780 (4,974.716)
Totdl comprehensive  AEFAZEEE

loss for the year - - - (4973934 - - 699,984  (4,273,950) (1,21)  (4275,221)
Issuance of new shares ~ E{THIR () R 1909500 - - - - - - 1,909,500 - 1,909,500
Disposal of a subsidiary ~ REMBAA 3 - - - (40409 - - - (40409 - (40409
Transfer of share option 5 RE R4 K3

reseve upon the forfeiture N2

orlapse of share options & - - (19795 - - - 19,795 - - -
Equity-settled share option LA EZ£EH)

arrangements RRERY 3 - - 1,160 - - - - 1,160 - 1,160
Transfer from retained ~ EEAREF|E

profits - 69,998 - - - - (69,99 - - -
At31 March 2023 R2023%3A318 9131812 3,570,664* 29451% (1,836,781 (250537)*  286,456* 31,738,980* 42,670,045 14957 42,685,002
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
MEERBBHR(E)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2023  #;£2023%12 A318 It @A

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATEEARLE
Statutory Share  Exchange Non-
Share surplus option  fluctuation Capital Revaluation  Retained controlling Total
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
FERG  BRE  ENRD g4 Bfy 8 F2R B&

Bx Cid Cid Cid i Cid B it i £
Notes ~ HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
iE3 Tén TR TR TER  TEn  TEx  TEx  TExn  TExr  TEx

Note (i)
()

At 1 April 2023 202354818 9,131,812 3,570,664 29451 (1,836,781)  (250537) 286,456 31,738,980 42,670,045 14,957 42,685,002
Loss for the period KHEE = = = = = - (4317462) (4317,462) (128)  (4317,590)
Other comprehensive loss  REFE 2

for the period: Bk
Exchange differences on BB EHE)

translation of foreign ~~ EXZE

operations - - - (1,707,455) - - - (1,707,455) (318) (1,707,773)
Totdl comprehensive  AHBEEEE

loss for the period - - - (1,707,455) - - (4317462) (6,024,917) (446)  (6,025,363)
Disposal of subsidiaries ~ EEHEL 35 - - - 15,062 - - - 15,062 - 15,062
Transfer of share option B REERAT K3

reserve upon the forfeiture  TEEBRIE

orlapse of share options 18 = - (17.556) - = - 1755 - = =
Fquity-settled share option hEREEH)

arrangements BiERl 3 - - 462 - - = = 462 = 462
Final 20222023 diidend  EE7%20221203F

declared KRS 12 - - - - - - (22883%)  (228838) - (228839)
Transfer from retained ~ ERERBH|E

profits - 39,057 - - - - (39,057) - - -
A3 December 2023 K023 12318 OB 3E0TN I SN (SOSI) 2W6AS6* LN AU MUSN I6A63%5

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other reserves of  * ZERBEROEEAVBMRARAENEEH
HK$27,300,002,000 (31 March 2023: HK$33,538,233,000) in the ftb % % 27,300,002,000 # 7T (2023 F 3 A 31 H -
consolidated statement of financial position. 33,538,233,00077T) ©
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

REEm2BR(E)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2023  #;£2023%12 A318 It @A

Note:

In accordance with the PRC Company Law, the Company’s subsidiaries
registered in the PRC are required to appropriate 10% of the annual
statutory profit after tax (after offsetting any prior years’ losses) to the
statutory surplus reserve. When the balance of this reserve fund reaches
50% of the entity’s registered capital, any further appropriation is optional.
The statutory surplus reserve can be utilised to offset prior years’ losses or to
increase capital. However, the balance of the statutory surplus reserve must
be maintained at a minimum of 25% of the registered capital after such
usages.

Bt

()  REFPEREE - RNAFRFEEMAMNE QAR
FRFERRNB(KERHETABEFEBRR)MN
10%ENEEASBHE - EFRESEREZTEE
MERKS0%E - JLUEBETBRBEAES &
TE BN A AR B E FE B IRYIENE R - A
il - EEBBRHEEREHZERRRNOEHRUARD
BRI EAMN25% ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the nine months ended 31 December 2023  #;£2023%12 A318 It @A

172

For the
nine months For the
ended year ended
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
HZ2023F BE2023F
12A31H1E 3H31H
N8R 5EE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BisE TET FAT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& ZBHREKE
Loss before tax from continuing operations FEEETIRIEE (5,077,435) (1,559,162)
Profit before tax from a discontinued operation 4% |48 % 55 H0 T A RIS = 2,607,342
Adjustments for: E
Finance costs BB 7,11 633,667 778,991
Share of profits of associates FE(RER & DR 2 A (98,896) (36,069)
Interest income FEUWA 5 (59,375) (137,406)
Losses/(gains) on disposal of property, BEWME - BFEREERE
plant and equipment and right-of-use RREEZER/
assets, net (ezs) - FE 5 1,952 (23)
Gains on disposal of investment properties BEREME 2 W 5 (5.641) -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1% - BE LR E T E 6 67,254 123,828
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRERERE 6 12,860 22,387
Changes in fair value of investment properties & WEATFEEZH 5 2,317,419 (151,588)
Impairment of trade receivables EWE ZERFURE 6 41,556 21,431
Impairment of financial assets included in FTATERFUR - EthENGK
prepayments, other receivables and other BRAEMERERHEMKE
assets and other long-term receivables FEW IR A ERE 6 756,490 217,372
Impairment of properties held for sale FEHEMERIE 6 660,810 517,103
(Reversal of)/impairment of inventories HFECHRE),HE 6 (1,237) 2,892
Losses/(gains) on disposal of subsidiaries REMBARIZESE/
(W) 5,11 118,351 (2,553,014)
Gains on modification of senior notes BEZB 2B 5 (348,655) -
Fair value losses/(gains) on financial assets/ FRBRNATEINR €
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, BMEE/ 8 E“?@Z
net B () F 5 854,129 (7,045)
Losses on disposal of financial assets/liabilities Jﬁﬁﬁﬂ?ﬁﬁﬁ ?TEW
at fair value through profit or loss, net CEMEE/BEZE
18 R 5 2,644 17,911
Equity-settled share option expense LA E R IERER S 6 462 1,160
(123,645) (133,890)
Change in properties held for finance lease and ~ #H{ERIEE REEME 2 E1L
sale 1,650,556 1,518,843
Change in inventories FEZ &1 19,705 18,655
Change in other long-term receivables L E R EE Y = (26,846)
Change in trade receivables B E S IRz &1k (15,838) 890,452
Change in amounts due to associates and SRE NIV g
related parties 21t (43,633) 926,257
Change in prepayments, other receivables and ~ FBZUE + HoAt R U ZE K E A
other assets BEZE 245,538 699,780
Change in contract liabilities YO v dld (1,734,214) (2,130,199)
Change in restricted cash XEHBRE 2L 236,802 1,704,537
Change in trade and other payables B 5 REMENTIE #1 L (366,043) (1,878,412)
Cash (used in)/generated from operations R (R),/BHNES (130,772) 1,589,177
Taxes paid BRTEIE (111,733) (203,564)
Net cash flows (used in)/from operating activities #& 2 EENIRE (RH),/RAFEE (242,505) 1,385,613
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

REeRERER(A)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2023  #;£2023%12 A318 It @A

For the
nine months For the
ended year ended
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
HZ20235F #H=2023F
12A31H1E 3A31H
HEA IHFE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Pt FET FHT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETBHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BB « BE K&EH (17,147) (82,702)
Payment on disposal of financial liabilities at FEE B BI85 AR FAETIER
fair value through profit or loss Z e BB EMZIHRIEA (2,644) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant BEME - BEREERS
and equipment A 5,720 863
Proceeds from land resumption BB T IS RIE - 275,176
Change in amounts due to other FEAS EL At BRSO SRIE 2 B
related party 551,750 2,284,600
Net inflow on disposal of subsidiaries BEEWBARRER
FER 35 1,216,502 1,129,140
Proceeds from disposal of investment BREREMEMSRIE
properties 56,274 -
Additions to properties under development FEEFYERE (1.286,861) (951,222)
Interest received SRS 3,518 58,530
Decrease in time deposits with maturity of 584838 = 1@ A B H#)
more than three months TEHTFERR - 271,260
Net cash flows from investing activities REEDRERAFEE 527,112 2,985,645
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

REeRERER(A)

For the nine months ended 31 December 2023  #;£2023%12 A318 It @A

For the
nine months For the
ended year ended
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
EZ20235F HE2023F
12A31H1E 3A31H
@A IEFE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
s FET FHT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of new shares BATHARFTIS 58 32 = 1,909,500
Payment of interest FBAS (1,843,361) (3,303,214)
Repayment of senior notes ERELEER 30 (925,470) (782,379)
Repayment of medium-term notes BEPHEER - (738,071)
Repayment of domestic company bonds BERARRES - (1,616,435)
New bank and other borrowings FERIT REMER 7,252,660 7,924,040
Repayment of bank and other borrowings ~ 1BiZR1T R EME R (6,410,453) (7,726,224)
Changes in amount due to a related party  JE{~ BB T 2UE 2 #1L 464,524 189,973
Principal portion of lease payments SHHENER SN 17 (9,004) (14,891)
Dividends paid DRI B = (242,757)
Net cash flows used in financing activities B2 & EENIR & 558 (1,471,104) (4,400,458)
NET CHANGE IN CASH AND RERRASEEWTFEZ
CASH EQUIVALENTS c-1 (1,186,497) (29,200)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning Hi,&E4MIRE RINEZE
of period/year =87 1,374,716 1,554,913
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [& R & &) 5 2 %% 41,869 (150,997)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT B ERNWRERRSE
THE END OF PERIOD/YEAR Y 230,088 1,374,716
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND BE& RIS ZEYEBIMN
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents ReREEEEY 25 230,088 1,374,716
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% R AR Y AE

31 December 2023 20234 12831H

1. Corporate and Group Information 1. ATFRTEEER
China South City Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited ERWIERERAR(ARRE D) ERBTMAK
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The registered office SUABRAT c ARAFEMPEEMRES
of the Company is located at Suites 3306-08, 33/F., Tower 5, The NBERDEERBE ISR BEAES T E33E
Gateway, 15 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong. 3306-08% °
During the period, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively BN AARREMB AR (FHEIAER])E
referred to as the “Group”) were principally engaged in the ENEEFRREERNIVGEDREELRISHF
development and operation of large-scale integrated logistics and D RERTRERE MEEEURRERD
trade centres, the development of residential and commercial MEERERG - RERETEE REFEERE
ancillary facilities, property management and the provision
of logistics and warehousing services, outlet operations and
E-commerce services.
Information about subsidiaries MEARER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: RARMEZEMRBARGFBHOT ¢
Nominal value of
issued ordinary/  Date of Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered share capital  incorporation/ equity attributable
Name registration and business  as at 31 December 2023 registration to the Company Principal activities
HERRL/ R2023512A318ERS ARH
8 Bl e EE/ARMRAEE RRAL/ZMEH EEREAD L TEXH
Direct Indirect
B 5t
% %
China South International Industrial Materials ~ The People’s Republic HK$2,200,000,000 18 December 2002 100 - Development and operation
City (Shenzhen) Company Limited (ii)(iv) of China ("PRC")/ 2,200,000,0007L  18-12-2002 of integrated logstics
("China South International”) Chinese Mainland and trade centres
ERERTERR ORI BR D)) e/ REARE FABENIRARRS
(£mER) URRRER
Nanchang China South City Company PRC/Chinese Mainland Renminbi (“RMB") 16 November 2007 - 100 Development and operation
Limited (i)(iv) ("CSC Nanchang") HE/REARE 1,100,000,000  16-11-2007 of integrated logistics
FEEMAARRRWN) AE1,100,000,0007 and trade centres
(e FREBMRRERZ ST
HURES
Nanning China South City Company PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000,000 28 August 2009 - 100 Development and operation
Limited (jil(iv) (" CSC Nanning") RE/REARE AK#1,000,000,000  28-08-2009 of integrated logistics
BEERAAR AR and trade centres
(azEmi)) FRBEMRRARR AT
FERES

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHIZR IR AT
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

1. Corporate and Group Information (Continued)

1. RAARAEEER @)

MIFEBRETRRAR R

Information about subsidiaries (Continued) MEARIER(®)
Nominal value of
issued ordinary/  Date of Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered share capital  incorporation/ equity attributable
Name registration and business  as at 31 December 2023 registration to the Company Principal activities
MR/ R20235128318E %1 2|
£ ARG L EB/EMRAEE  HRAL/EMEH EEREAD L TEEH
Direct Indirect
EE 3
% %
Harbin China South City Company Limited (iii) ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,500,000,000 9 January 2012 100 Development and operation
REERNAER AR HE/REARE AR#1,500,000,000  09-01-2012 of integrated logistics
and trade centres
GABEMRRERIFEL
REhiEs
Harbin Baolitong Market Development PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB500,000,000 22 December 2011 100 Development and operation
Management Company Limited (ii) RE/REARE ARE500,000,000T  22-12-2011 of integrated logistics
BEEENETSHEERERA and trade centres
GABENRRERR SR
RERES
Zhengzhou China South City Company PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000,000 17 May 2012 100 Development and operation
Limited (ii)(v) (“CSC Zhengzhou") e/ REARE ARH1,000,000,0007  17-05-2012 of integrated logistics
GERH AR and trade centres
(TeMzmn)) FABEMERARR R
RERES
Hefei China South City Company Limited (iifiv) ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,200,000,000 25 December 2012 100 Development and operation
("CSC Hefei") R/ REARE AK#1,200,000,000  25-12-2012 of integrated logistics
BEZEEAARRAN M and trade centres
(T&afezmS) GABENRRERR SR
RERES
Chongging China South City Company PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000,000 27 December 2013 100 Development and operation
Limited (iiiv) (" CSC Chongging”) P/ hE AR AR1,000,000,000  27-12-2013 of integrated logistics
EEERHMEBRA ) and trade centres
(E-E2) FABEMRRARR AT
FERES
Shenzhen Huasheng Commercial Development  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB100,000,000 19 November 2010 100 Management of outlet
Company Limited (ii) RE/REAR ARE100,000,000  19-11-2010 operations
AR ZERERA i) ARRERSERER
Shenzhen China South City Digital PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB100,000,000 19 April 2012 100 Development, operation
Technology Company Limited (i) P/ RE AR ARE100,000,000C  19-04-2012 and management of an

E-commerce platform
ETHETRNE EER
e
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1.

Corporate and Group Information (Continued)

1. RAARAEEER @)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued) MEARIER(®)
Nominal value of
issued ordinary/  Date of Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered share capital  incorporation/ equity attributable
Name registration and business  as at 31 December 2023 registration to the Company Principal activities
HRRL/ R203512A31AC %17 2|
£ EMREEHH LE/AMRAEE  EMEL/ERAH EEREAD L TEEH
Direct Indirect
E# 3
% %
Shenzhen China South City Logistics Group PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 11 November 2021 - 100 Provision of logistics services
Limited (i) e/ REARE AR#10,000,0007  11-11-2021 AR
AYERA DR EARA )
Shenzhen HOBA Home Furnishing Chain Store  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB480,000,000 12 October 2001 - 983411 Furnishing market operation
Company Limited (i B/ RE AR AR480,000,000  12-10-2001 FEESEE
AT B EREEHRO AR i)
Shenzhen China South City Commerce Group ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB100,000,000 20 December 2018 - 100 Provision of commercial
Limited (i) B/ PEARE ARE100,000,0000  20-12-2018 management services
AR = EEARA ) RUBEERRE
China South City Management Company Hong Kong HK$1 9 November 2007 - 100 Provision of management
Limited B 1%1r 09-11-2007 services
ERNERERAT RAERRS
China South City Group Company Limited (iii) ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB300,000,000 20 July 2004 - 100 Investment holding
ERASEBRAR0 I/ hEARE AR300,000,00070  20-07-2004 RERR
Chongging Zhenzhong Real Estate PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 24 May 2016 - 100 Development and operation
Development Company Limited (ii) T/ R EARE ARH50,0000000  24-05-2016 of residential and

BERTEHEREERA A

commercial ancillary
BEREZNAEES

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHIZR IR AT
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1. Corporate and Group Information (Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Notes:

@

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Sino-foreign equity joint ventures under PRC law.
Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law.
Limited companies under PRC law.

Pursuant to certain project and land related contracts signed by
the subsidiaries of the Group and the local governments, as well as
pursuant to the requirements of the local governments and the local
authorities related to the relevant public tender, auction and listing,
some parcels of the land acquired have sales restrictions on properties
built on them. The saleable area of the trade centres of China South
International is limited to 30% of the total buildable gross floor area
("GFA") of the properties built on the relevant parcels of land. The
saleable area of the trade centres and logistics facilities built on the
parcels of land acquired by CSC Nanchang and CSC Nanning in 2010
is limited to 60% of the relevant total buildable GFA. The saleable
area of trade centres or commercial properties built by CSC Hefei and
CSC Chongging is limited to 50% of their relevant total buildable
GFA. The saleable areas of trade centres or commercial properties
of phase | and future phases of CSC Zhengzhou are limited to 60%
and 50%, respectively, of the relevant total buildable GFA. Except for
the restrictions mentioned herein, there is no sales restriction on the
parcels of land acquired by the Group.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in

the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”),

principally affected the results for the period or formed a substantial

portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other

subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in

particulars of excessive length.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

2.1 RBEXE

2.1 Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for investment
properties and financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Going concern basis

The Group recorded net loss of HK$4,318 million for the nine
months ended 31 December 2023, and as at 31 December 2023,
the Group's current portion of interest-bearing debts amounted to
HK$16,295 million, while its cash and cash equivalents amounted
to HK$230 million. Subsequent to the year end date and up to
28 March 2024, the principal or interest payment relating to an
aggregate amount of HK$21,696 million interest-bearing debts
had not been repaid according to their scheduled repayment date
(the “Defaulted Borrowings”), triggering an aggregate amount of
HK$9,260 million of interest-bearing debts (the “Cross Defaulted
Borrowings”) to become repayable on demand.

The above conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which cast significant doubt over the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. In view of such circumstances, the directors of
the Company have undertaken a number of plans and measures to
improve the Group's liquidity and financial position, including:

(i)  The Group is liaising with financial advisers to assist it
with a restructuring of its Defaulted and Cross Defaulted
Borrowings, in order to reach a consensual solution with all

the lenders as soon as practical.

ZEMBHRRDREELGAMAG([HES
RS )R 2 BB BIREER ([ F B
BREER D (EPREMET BV BIMEE
A - FEEFER([RAEGFHEL]) k2 E)
REBERBUEDIZ R EMMRE - WL LKA
B EREME B BIER AR TENIR
ZEMEERRNTEFERRI - BB BB
oh - EFBBRRIABITZ - EREHSD
s AAE R TR

BZE2023F 128318 IENE A - REESSF
E51843.18B B T - M2023F12A318 © A%
Erst B8 EAEE S8 R162.958 8T
mMERERRSEEMR230EHET - F4&H
HiRE& FEL 220243 A28 H - B##216.961%
BITARAB NSRS REIRELTE
TEFAHEE(ENER])  BEEEAE
#RERR92.60BAB T ([ X XEAMER D AR EKR

RHEIE -

ERIERBTREFEEATEERER - HAKE
SEEEMRNIBRERRERS - ERREB
N ARREFCRRS AR REERER
SEMRBES MUBERR - 815

() AEBIEERKMBER - HEIESEAE
BB SUROET - LWEBRATIERT
BIREPTEERAER —BHBRTR
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2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

Going concern basis (Continued)

(i) The Group is negotiating with its existing lenders of interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings in order to reach
agreements with them for not taking actions against the
Group to exercise their right to demand immediate payment
of the principals and interests of these borrowings;

(i)  The Group is actively identifying targeted buyers for the
disposal of the Group’s equity interest in certain property
projects to raise the level of liquid funds;

(iv)  The Group will continue to implement measures to accelerate
the pre-sales and sales of its properties under development
and completed properties, and to speed up the collection of
outstanding sales proceeds and other receivables; and

(v)  The Group will continue to take active measures to control
administrative costs and maintain containment of capital
expenditures.

The board of directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
projections prepared by management, which cover a period of
not less than twelve months from 31 December 2023. They are of
the opinion that, taking into account the above-mentioned plans
and measures, the Group will have sufficient working capital to
finance its operations and to meet its financial obligations as and
when they fall due within twelve months from 31 December 2023.
Accordingly, the directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)
Going concern basis (Continued)
Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to
whether the Group is able to achieve its plans and measures as
described above. Whether the Group will be able to continue as a
going concern would depend upon the following:

(i) successful and timely debt restructuring with the lenders of
the Group’s Defaulted Borrowings;

(i) successfully negotiating with the Group’s existing lenders
of Defaulted and Cross Defaulted Borrowings and reaching
agreements with them for not taking any actions against the
Group to exercise their right to demand immediate payment
of the principals and interest of these borrowings;

(i) successfully and timely implementation of the plans to
dispose of certain of the Group's equity interests in certain
property projects to raise the level of liquid funds;

(iv)  timely implementation of the plans to accelerate the pre-sales
and sales of its properties under development and completed
properties, and to speed up the collection of outstanding
sales proceeds and other receivables; and

(v)  successfully execution of active measures to control
administrative costs and maintain containment of capital
expenditures.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned plans and
measures and operate as a going concern, adjustments would have
to be made to write down the carrying amounts of the Group’s
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets
and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

Change of financial year end date

Pursuant to a resolution of the Board dated 30 November 2023,
the financial year end date of the Company has been changed
from 31 March to 31 December commencing from the financial
period ended 31 December 2023 in order to align the financial year
end date with that of the principal operating subsidiaries of the
Company, which are statutorily required to fix their financial year
end date at 31 December in the Chinese Mainland. Accordingly,
the accompanying consolidated financial statements for the current
financial period covers a period of nine months from 1 April 2023
to 31 December 2023. The corresponding comparative figures
presented for the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity, consolidated statement of cash flows and related notes
cover the audited figures of the financial year from 1 April 2022
to 31 March 2023 and therefore are not comparable with those
shown for the current period.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the nine months ended 31 December
2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights

results in control.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar
rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangement; and
(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the
dates on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group

are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the fair
value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first

time for the current period’s financial statements.

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKAS 1 and

Insurance Contracts
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction

International Tax Reform - Pillar Two Model
Rules

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs are
described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose their
material accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy information
is material if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary
users of general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements provide
non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept of
materiality to accounting policy disclosures. The Group has
disclosed the material accounting policy information in note
2 to the financial statements. The amendments did not have
any impact on the measurement, recognition or presentation
of any items in the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies. Accounting estimates are defined as monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates. Since the Group’s approach and policy
align with the amendments, the amendments had no impact
on the Group's financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(Continued)

()

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow the scope
of the initial recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no
longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are required
to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient
taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax liability for
temporary differences arising from these transactions.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group has
determined the temporary differences arising from right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities separately. However, they
did not have any material impact on the overall deferred tax
balances presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position as the related deferred tax balances qualified for
offsetting under HKAS 12.

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory temporary exception
from the recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes arising
from the implementation of the Pillar Two model rules
published by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development. The amendments also introduce disclosure
requirements for the affected entities to help users of the
financial statements better understand the entities’ exposure
to Pillar Two income taxes, including the disclosure of current
tax related to Pillar Two income taxes separately in the periods
when Pillar Two legislation is effective and the disclosure of
known or reasonably estimable information of their exposure
to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in which the legislation
is enacted or substantively enacted but not yet in effect. The
Group has applied the amendments retrospectively. Since the
Group did not fall within the scope of the Pillar Two model
rules, the amendments did not have any impact to the Group.
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards
The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture®
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback'
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-

current (the “2020 Amendments”)"*
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the "2022
Amendments”)"*
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements'

HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

4 As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments,

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align the corresponding
wording with no change in conclusion
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong 23 CHEMENRERZEBMBERS

Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a
full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business,
a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the
investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s
interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to
be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date
of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the
HKICPA. However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-
lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and
leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise
any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it
retains. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to
sale and leaseback transactions entered into after the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group'’s financial statements.
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong 23 CHEMENRERZEBMBERS

188

Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right
to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as
an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those
with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date
affect the classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that
are subject to the entity complying with future covenants within
12 months after the reporting period. The amendments shall
be applied retrospectively with early application permitted. An
entity that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to
apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments and
whether existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of
supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure of
such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments
are intended to assist users of financial statements in understanding
the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities,
cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application of
the amendments is permitted. The amendments provide certain
transition reliefs regarding comparative information, quantitative
information as at the beginning of the annual reporting period and
interim disclosures. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group'’s financial statements.
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Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and how
it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require disclosures of
information that enable users of financial statements to understand
the impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application
is permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot
restate comparative information. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to
the opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount
of translation differences accumulated in a separate component
of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long-term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The Group's investments in associates are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group’s share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

The Group’'s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates is included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments
in the associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of associates is included as part of the Group’s
investments in associates.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

190

(Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence
over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the
fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale, it is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations .

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes
the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of
the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

192

(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) is
less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and financial assets/
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of
a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest
and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorized within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

194

(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, financial assets and investment properties), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit's value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-
generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of
a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant

accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

or

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

M BENMREBRITE

W~ BB MR E IR AR REHTE R
BEEEBSIE - W% - BERREREB KA
BREEBEEMEERARREERR MG E
BT RSB E B EEGRA -

WE - BERRBERBERAERRAELNR
X MEBEREER  BRRELBREAERE
TR - ERFAERIKTHERLT - KORE
AXNEEREEENE - FREHR  HAE
DWE - BERRBATHER  ARE®R
ZEHD REBSERN ERFRMRLTEZ
fEREREE °

FETIABRER T AT BFHAMESY
¥ BERRBERBOKAZHEFBREET
HeoptMsERNERFRMT ¢

Buildings 3% t0 9% BF 3%%E9%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 9% to 30% B - KB REE 9%Z%E30%
Motor vehicles 9% to 30% E 9%Z30%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
right-of-use asset) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. Such properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market
conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the statement of profit or loss in the year
in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year
of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or inventories, the deemed cost of a property for
subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in
use. For a transfer from inventories to investment properties, any
difference between the fair value of the property at that date and
its previous carrying amount is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost comprises the land costs, construction
costs, capitalised borrowing costs and other costs directly attributed
to such properties during the period of construction.

Properties under development are initially classified as non-current
assets and transferred to current assets under the category of
properties held for sale when the construction of the relevant
properties commences and the construction period of the relevant
property development project is expected to complete within the
normal operating cycle.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or

contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract

conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a

period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach

for all leases, except for short-term leases. The Group recognises

lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets

representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land 40 years
Property 1 to 8 years
Machinery 2 to 3 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in trade and other
payables and other long-term liabilities.
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(Continued)

Leases (Continued) HE®W)
Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBERERBEAGE)
(c) Short-term leases (c) EHHE

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of property and machinery (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option).

Lease payments on short-term leases is recognised as an

A E A SRR (D
Bt A e A2 AR » A
BABERBE L) EAENEE
wREe -

MR E 2 MENFNEERRNRERE

expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. HRRMAX -
Group as a lessor AEBEERHAA

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit
or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for

as finance leases.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or
both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets
classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

BREREMEMEE @)
NHEARTE(E)
FE—ReREEBTERNL S B (AIAEEE
BN EREEYE) TURR  —RESE
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HEENSRHEEER -

Subsequent measurement BETE
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their CRMEERSEETRENE - 20T ¢

classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair
value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are also recognised as other income in the statement of
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend
will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.
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(Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired,;
or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a "pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration

that the Group could be required to repay.
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(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 60 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and
contract assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic environment.
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(Continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings
or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, other long-term payables,
senior notes, medium-term notes and domestic company bonds.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This
category also includes derivative financial instruments entered into
by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in
hedge relationships as defined by HKFRS 9. Separated embedded
derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on
liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the statement
of profit or loss does not include any interest charged on these
financial liabilities.
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(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of
recognition, and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or
losses on liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss, except for the gains or
losses arising from the Group’s own credit risk which are presented
in other comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification
to the statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, other long-term payables, senior notes, medium-term
notes and domestic company bonds are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Put option liabilities

Put option liabilities are financial instruments granted by the Group
whereby counterparties may have the rights to request the Group to
purchase their equity interests in certain of the Group’s subsidiaries
for cash when certain conditions are met. The put option liabilities
are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
on initial recognition and are measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially
as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance determined in
accordance with the policy as set out in “Impairment of financial
assets”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit

or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there is
a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Derivative financial instruments PTESMIA
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement DS EARBESE

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward
currency contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge its foreign
currency risk and interest rate risk, respectively. Such derivative
financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date
on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the
fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives
are taken directly to the statement of profit or loss.

Properties held for sale and held for finance
lease

Properties held for sale and held for finance lease include
completed properties held for sale and held for finance lease and
properties under development expected to be completed within
the normal operating cycle. Properties held for sale and held for
finance lease are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost includes land costs, all development expenditure,
applicable borrowing costs and other direct costs attributable to
such properties. Net realisable value is determined by reference to
the prevailing market prices, on an individual property basis.

Inventories

Inventories comprise merchandise purchased for resale and are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of
merchandise is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within
three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash

management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes except that deferred tax is not recognised for
the Pillar Two income taxes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit
or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual installments or deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in
a separate financing transaction between the Group and the
customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group with a significant
financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under
the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Sale of properties

Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised at the point
in time when the purchaser obtains the physical possession of
the completed property and the Group has a present right to
payment and the collection of the consideration is probable.

Property management service, E-commerce, logistics
and warehousing services

Property management service income, E-commerce income,
logistics and warehousing service income are recognised over

time when the services are rendered.

Outlet operations

In outlet operations, revenue from the sale of merchandise
and commissions from concessionaire sales is recognised at
the point in time when control of the goods is transferred to
the customer.

Some contracts for the sale of merchandise provide customers
with rights of return. The rights of return give rise to variable
consideration.

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to
return the goods within a specified period, the expected
value method is used to estimate the goods that will not be
returned because this method best predicts the amount of
variable consideration to which the Group will be entitled.
The requirements in HKFRS 15 on constraining estimates of
variable consideration are applied in order to determine the
amount of variable consideration that can be included in the
transaction price. For goods that are expected to be returned,
instead of revenue, a refund liability is recognised. A right-
of-return asset (and the corresponding adjustment to cost of
sales) is also recognised for the right to recover products from

a customer.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms.

Finance lease income is recognised when the significant risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of the properties have been
transferred to the lessee.

Other income

Interest income and micro-credit services income are recognised on
an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,

when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Revenue from the provision of consulting services is recognised over
the scheduled period on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil
a contract with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the
following criteria are met:

(@  The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

(©)  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the
statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which
the asset related. Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.

Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognised for the right to recover the
goods expected to be returned by customers. The asset is measured
at the former carrying amount of the goods to be returned, less any
expected costs to recover the goods and any potential decreases
in the value of the returned goods. The Group updates the
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measurement of the asset for any revisions to the expected level of BEEAEINGD o
returns and any additional decreases in the value of the returned

goods.

Refund liabilities BRREE

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund some
or all of the consideration received (or receivable) from a customer
and is measured at the amount the Group ultimately expects it will
have to return to the customer. The Group updates its estimates of
refund liabilities (and the corresponding change in the transaction
price) at the end of each reporting period.
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(Continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including Directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as in
exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value
at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined
by an external valuer using an appropriate pricing model, further
details of which are given in note 33 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with
a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled in employee
benefit expense. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has
expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the
statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement in
the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected
within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions
are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or

performance conditions.
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Share-based payments (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied,
provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled
and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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(Continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its
employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in Chinese REBETEFBEAEEENHBRRNRE
Mainland are required to participate in a central pension scheme 8 AZEAMAF BN EENFRAESET
operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries gl - ZEMBARERESES BN HAAH

are required to contribute a certain percentage of their respective
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends
are disclosed in note 12 to the financial statements.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item
whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).
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(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there
are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines
the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements of
profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the period.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the period are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rates for the period.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

3.
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Revenue from contracts with customers EFEHNkE
The Group applied the following judgements that significantly REBRAUTHE  B\EZEEZFPSOH
affect the determination of the amount and timing of revenue from A SR REFEOEE

contracts with customers:

(i) Determining the timing of satisfaction of contracts

related to the sale of properties

The Group determined that the sales contracts with
customers require the Group to complete the development
of property before transferring the physical possession
of the relevant property to the customer. The Group also
determined that the Group does not have an enforceable
right to payment from customers for performance completed
to date before the transfer of the physical possession of
the relevant property to the customer. Consequently, the
Group concluded that the timing of transfer of properties is
at the point in time when the purchaser obtains the physical

possession of the completed property.
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3. Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)
Judgements (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(ii)

Determining the method to estimate variable
consideration and assessing the constraint for the
sale of merchandise

Certain contracts for the sale of merchandise include a right-
of-return that gives rise to variable consideration. In estimating
the variable consideration, the Group is required to use
either the expected value method or the most likely amount
method based on which method better predicts the amount
of consideration to which it will be entitled.

The Group determined that the expected value method is
the appropriate method to use in estimating the variable
consideration for the sale of merchandise with rights of
return, given the large number of customer contracts that
have similar characteristics.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in
the transaction price, the Group considers whether the
amount of variable consideration is constrained. The Group
determined that the estimates of variable consideration are
not constrained based on its historical experience, business
forecasts and the current economic conditions. In addition,
the uncertainty on the variable consideration will be resolved
within a short time frame.

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its

investment property portfolio. The Group has determined, based

on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements,

such as the lease term not constituting a major part of the

economic life of the commercial property and the present value of

the minimum lease payments not amounting to substantially all the

fair value of the commercial property, that it retains substantially all

the significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership of these

properties which are leased out and accounts for the contracts as

operating leases.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Transfer from properties under development to
investment properties

Properties under development are transferred to investment
properties when there is a change in use with sufficient evidence.
The Group determines whether a change in use has occurred based
on an assessment of all relevant facts and circumstances, which
include but are not limited to: (a) a business plan that reflects the
future rental income generated by the property; (b) the resources
to hold and manage an investment property; (c) legal permissibility
for the change in use; and (d) the commencement of development
if the property requires further development for the change in use.
Any excess of fair value over the original carrying amount of such
properties at the date of transfer was recognised as current period
profit or loss.

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making that
judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers
whether a property generates cash flows largely independent of the
other assets held by the Group. Some properties comprise a portion
that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another
portion that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. If these portions could be
sold separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the
Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could
not be sold separately, the property is an investment property only
if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is
made on an individual property basis to determine whether ancillary
services are so significant that a property does not qualify as an
investment property.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

The Group engaged Savills Valuation and Professional Services
Limited (“Savills”), an independent professional qualified valuer,
to perform the valuation of the Group’s investment properties at
the end of the reporting period. Such valuations were based on
certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty. In making
the estimation, information about the market unit rental rate and
capitalisation rate is considered and assumptions that are mainly
based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting
period are used. The carrying amount of investment properties as
at 31 December 2023 was HK$45,988,804,000 (31 March 2023:
HK$53,430,054,000). Further details are given in note 15.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables,
other receivables and other long-term receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by product type, service type, customer type and
rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e.,
gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the next
year which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the
manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are adjusted.
At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analyzed.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables,
other receivables and other long-term receivables
(Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions
may also not be representative of a customer’s actual default in
the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade
receivables is disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements.

The Group estimates loss allowance for expected credit losses
for other receivables and other long-term receivables resulting
from the expected cash shortfalls. The Group bases the estimates
on the information about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions. The Group’s historical
credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may
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not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the future. Z BERBEEESNGEESSE - FHELE
If the above conditions were to deteriorate, actual provisions (3] H b W R I8 e HAth = B FE UGRIB RO TE HA S
would be higher than estimated. The information about the ECLs BEEEER  DREERMBEREM 24 R
on the Group’s other receivables and other long-term receivables 20 °

is disclosed in notes 24 and 20 to the financial statements,
respectively.

As explained in note 19 to the financial statements, put option
liabilities arising from the buy-back upon the occurrence of
certain triggering events are recognised as financial liabilities.
When determining the classification and measurement of the put
option liabilities, judgements are exercised, including determining
whether the Group has the present ownership interest in the shares
subject to the put option liabilities, the timing that the triggering
events would occur and the possibility that the buy-back would be
exercised.

Land appreciation tax

Under the Provisional Regulations on Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT")
implemented upon the issuance of the Provisional Regulations of
the PRC on 27 January 1995, all gains arising from the transfer
of real estate properties in Chinese Mainland with effect from 1
January 1994 are subject to LAT at progressive rates ranging from
30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds
from sales of properties less deductible expenditures including
land use rights, borrowing costs and all property development
expenditures.

INEA TS RAR M FE 9P AL - B AR KL B £ 4t
MEBELNRGHEAEERREREAE -
EREERGREAEN D BN ER  F2E
THE  BREEAEEBNEEHGALH
RAESNRNDOMAEERD  BEFHEE
B R ) A B2 1 BB B T BE 14 o

T I ER
RIEF1995F 1 A27 B BEHE BN E AR
ANE £ 38 (E R ([ LI ER ) BTG E e
AR NP R KEEEEEEEENE
Wi B 1994F 1 A1 ARARN FLiiEERS
30% E60% 2 REF RGN T HIZER o T
BERHENEMSTERERHMASL - 24
T ERRE - BERARAEMEREMAS -
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Land appreciation tax (Continued)

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in the property development
business in Chinese Mainland are subject to LAT, which has been
included in income tax. However, the implementation of these
taxes varies amongst various Chinese Mainland cities and the
Group has not finalised its LAT returns with various tax authorities.
Accordingly, significant judgement is required in determining the
amount of land appreciation and its related taxes. The ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
The Group recognises these liabilities based on management’s best
estimates. When the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, the differences will
impact the income tax and provisions for land appreciation taxes in
the period in which the determination is made.

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of dividends
The PRC New Corporate Income Tax Law, which became effective
on 1 January 2008, states that the distribution of dividends by a
foreign-invested enterprise established in Chinese Mainland to its
foreign investors, from its earnings of 2008 or thereafter, shall be
subject to withholding taxes at an applicable rate of 5% or 10%.
The Group’s determination as to whether to recognise deferred
tax liability for withholding taxes from the distribution of dividends
from the subsidiaries in the PRC according to the relevant tax
jurisdictions is subject to judgement on the timing of distribution of
dividends. The Directors had assessed whether it is probable for the
Group's PRC subsidiaries to distribute dividends out of their profits
earned after 1 January 2008. Further details are given in note 31 to
the financial statements.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. The
carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to recognised tax
losses as at 31 December 2023 was HK$826,535,000 (31 March
2023: HK$801,680,000). The amount of unrecognised tax losses
as at 31 December 2023 was HK$4,025,275,000 (31 March 2023:
HK$3,600,399,000). Further details are contained in note 31 to the
financial statements.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

BEAREHE R &5

Estimation uncertainty (Continued) TN TRERE @)
Going Concern Consideration BEREER

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, apart
from those involving estimations, management has prepared the
consolidated financial statements on the assumption that the
Group will be able to operate as a going concern in the coming
year, which is a critical judgement that has the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements. The assessment of the going concern assumption
involves making a judgement by the directors, at a particular point
of time, about the future outcome of events or conditions which
are inherently uncertain. The directors consider that the Group
has the capability to continue as a going concern and the major
events or conditions, which may give rise to business risks, that may
individually or collectively cast a significant doubt upon the going
concern assumption set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Operating Segment Information

For management purposes, the Group is organized into business
units based on their products and services and has three reportable
operating segments as follows:

(@ the property development segment engages in the
development of integrated logistics and trade centres and
residential and commercial ancillary facilities;

(b) the property investment segment invests in integrated
logistics and trade centres and residential and commercial
ancillary facilities; and

(©)  the "others” segment comprises, principally, the provision
of logistics and warehousing services, outlet operations,
micro-credit services, consulting service related to property,
E-commerce services and other services.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax from
continuing operation. The adjusted profit/loss before tax from
continuing operation is measured consistently with the Group’s
profit/loss before tax from continuing operation except that
interest income, finance costs, fair value gains/losses from the
Group's financial instruments, head office, corporate expenses and
unallocated cost of sales are excluded from this measurement.

EEAASESHBRRNBIES - R RMEF
VERTBES - EREER A M RRE
BREANEEENERK —FRHELE LA
MRHEH RV BRRPTERNSEEER
BEAYE - HIREKEBRRNFEIRESH
FEREREARE E T RENE S RG e R
KSR HE - EFRRAEEHRNFHE
2 BREREEUXBRARNENEFL
B - Aree B KRS R A MR M 2.1
PRELM B EBRRE L E R -

«<#é/'\32|§§*4

REEMS  AEERBEEERMNRBES A
LA - WH = ERREEDE - W
AR :

(a) PEBEISANEERGAVRLERR
SHEOREEREEREER

(b) WYEBEHIREGZEDRMERRSHH
DRFEREELEERME &

(@ [EAIDEER EBFREYRMERR
% BESRITES  EETRS - WHE
EARBERY - ETRHRSE REMR
& o

Eﬁﬁﬁi EREED R REMELER
DEORTE RFFEERKRR - DERRIVIREAT 2
B EAE BR(AEHECEEARBA
FE,EIERATHE - BREEEEREBATF
B BRI EE A A S EVAT T, B
AEAA R ERBWA - BEKAE - A
eI AR TEKS TBEARERER
RAFAXEARD I ERAGEAEEA -

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHIZR IR AT

229



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt 5 R R B o ()

31 December 2023 20234 12831H

230

Operating Segment Information (Continued)
Segment assets exclude cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash
and other unallocated head office and corporate assets as these
assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, senior notes, tax payables and other unallocated head
office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a
group basis.

No geographical segment analysis is presented as the majority of
the assets and operations of the Group are located in the PRC,
which is considered as one geographical location in an economic

environment with similar risks and returns.

There was no single customer from which the revenue amounted
to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue during the nine months
ended 31 December 2023 (year ended 31 March 2023: Nil).
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4. Operating Segment Information (Continued) 4. REFBER
For the nine months ended 31 December 2023 B ZE2023F12A31HIEAEA
Property Property
development investment Others Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET THET TAx

Segment revenue: EHYA
Sales to external customers HIMNPRPIHE 2,522,694 456,863 529,369 3,508,926
Segment results before changesin =~ RAMELFEED

fair value of investment properties AT 88545 334,576 379,240 94,907 808,723
Changes in fair value of investment & &MEATFEES

properties - (2,317,419) - (2,317,419)
Segment results after changes in fair & MEATEES

value of investment properties BoREsE 334,576 (1,938,179) 94,907 (1,508,696)
Unallocated cost of sales RATEHERA (42)
Interest income FISHA 59,375
Fair value losses on financial assets/ ~ BBEFUATFEEZ 27

liabilities at fair value through profit ~ B& /BEATEZEE -

or loss, net FE (854,129)
Losses on disposal of financial assets/  FEE BBEZAAFENERZ

liabilities at fair value through profit ~ £ &&E /BE2EE

or loss, net FE (2,644)
Unallocated income and gains, net KA EMA R - F8 358,888
Unallocated expenses AOEFEZ (2,496,520)
Finance costs BMERK (633,667)
Loss before tax from continuing RERBECEER I HABE

operations (5,077,435)
As at 31 December 2023 20235124318
Segment assets AHEE 53,503,931 37,959,754 1,936,951 93,400,636
Reconciliation; i -
Unallocated assets KOEEE 6,974,415
Total assets BEASE 100,375,051
Segment liabilities AHBEE 12,947,053 8,344,177 443,817 21,735,047
Reconciliation: #ik
Unallocated liabilities KAk at 42,193,679
Total liabilities =l 63,928,726
Other segment information: HitZoEH :
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH 74,357 2,184 3,748 80,289
Capital expenditure* BARE* 1,582,797 166,478 141 1,749,416
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4. Operating Segment Information (Continued)

4, REPTERE)

Year ended 31 March 2023 EE2023F3 8310 ILFHE
Property Property
development investment Others Total
MELR MERE Hity 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THT THT TR
Segment revenue: AEHBA
Sales to external customers HIMNPRPHE 2,372,775 775,809 903,678 4,052,262
Segment results before changes BENERNTEES
in fair value of investment properties AT R4 (95,662) 655,773 260,607 820,718
Changes in fair value of investment X &MEATEED
properties - 151,588 - 151,588
Segment results after changes in fair A MEAFEE
value of investment properties BOHEE (95,662) 807,361 260,607 972,306
Unallocated cost of sales ROBHER A (683)
Interest income FEHA 137,350
Fair value gains on financial assets/ ~ BBBRADTEFIEZ &7
liabilities at fair value through profit & /& ERTFE 2Nz -
or loss, net FE 7,045
Losses on disposal of financial assets/ [ EFE BB ATETIEZ
liabilities at fair value through profit ~ £ &&E /BEZEE
or loss, net FE (17,911)
Unallocated income and gains, net KA BUMA R Mz - 558 49272
Unallocated expenses AOERZ (1,937,115)
Finance costs BENA (769,426)
Loss before tax from continuing REFBEEEB I HAER
operations (1,559,162)
As at 31 March 2023 2023F3A31H
Segment assets PHEE 60,317,097 45,998,532 903,681 107,219,310
Reconciliation: i -
Unallocated assets KOEEE 7,005,085
Total assets BERE 114,224,395
Segment liabilities IBEE 17,573,742 9,027,107 547,631 27,148,480
Reconciliation: Hik -
Unallocated liabilities ol =Y 44,390,913
Total liabilities BERTE 71,539,393
Other segment information: HitZoEH :
Depreciation and amortisation WEREH 129,785 2,771 13,503 146,059
Capital expenditure* EARX 1,027,363 172,353 6,489 1,206,205
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * BARAZBEYE BELRRHE FRAREE

equipment, prepaid land lease payments included in right-of-use

assets, properties under development and investment properties.
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5. Revenue, Other Income and (Losses)/Gains,

Net, Fair Value (Losses)/Gains on Investment

WA - EBRAR (B8), /i
B REVEQATFEER) K

Properties
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WASHIT -
For the
nine months For the
ended year ended
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
HE2023F HE2023F
12H31H 1t 3A31H
HEA IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET BT
Revenue from contracts with customers BEAE O 2,855,696 3,037,675
Revenue from other sources E AR A
Rental income A UA 456,863 775,809
Others Hith 196,367 238,778
Subtotal NEF 653,230 1,014,587
Total st 3,508,926 4,052,262

Above include amounts of HK$261,540,000 for the nine
months ended 31 December 2023 (year ended 31 March 2023:
HK$295,951,000) related to income from outlet operations and
HK$179,004,000 for the nine months ended 31 December 2023
(year ended 31 March 2023: HK$267,770,000) related to income
from logistics and warehousing services.

A EBBEEZE2023F12A31HIEAEAR
3 HT I8 4 IR A 261,540,0007% 7T (] = 2023
F3A31HIEFE 295,951,000 T) R EZE
2023412 A31 B 1L VE A ¥ & B 7 AR 7% Ut
A 179,004,000 70 (B =2023F3 A31HIEF

E : 267,770,000/ 7T) °
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5. Revenue, Other Income and (Losses)/Gains,
Net, Fair Value (Losses)/Gains on Investment

WA - EBRAR (B8), i
B REVEQATEER) K

3L

Properties (Continued) m (%)
Revenue from contracts with customers EFEHWE
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) DERAEHR
For the nine months ended 31 December 2023 HZ2023F12831H 1L AEA
Property
development Others Total
NERR Httr @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT Tax
Timing of revenue recognition WS R
Revenue recognised at a point in time £ X —E BiHRE T 2,522,694 288,368 2,811,062
Revenue recognised over time R—BEENNKERET = 44,634 44,634
Total revenue from contracts BEPEHNE
with customers 2,522,694 333,002 2,855,696
For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE2023F3A31ALFRE
Property
development Others Total
MEER Efty 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAT THET
Timing of revenue recognition W R
Revenue recognised at a point in time £ X —H EBiHRERET 2,372,775 549,982 2,922,757
Revenue recognised over time R—ERESE R EREE - 114,918 114,918
Total revenue from contracts BEPAINE
with customers 2,372,775 664,900 3,037,675
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5. Revenue, Other Income and (Losses)/Gains,
Net, Fair Value (Losses)/Gains on Investment
Properties (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were included
in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting
period and recognised from performance obligations satisfied

in previous periods:

5. WA - AR (BR) ik
B REVEATEER) K

m(E)

EEEHWE®)

(i) Z2EBAEHGE)
TREFARE MEERNRESEE - %
WaeBB e EREHVNaHNaEZS
RAEEATEMAT &N BOEEPHER

31 December 31 March
2023 2023
2023%12A31H 2023F3H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Revenue recognised that was included B EEHEIE L EB 2R
in contract liabilities at the beginning Wz & %8 ¢
of the reporting period:
Sale of properties VI HE 1,683,350 1,262,583

(ii) Performance obligations
Information about the Group'’s performance obligations is

summarized below:

Sale of properties

The performance obligation is satisfied when the physical
possession of the completed property is obtained by the
purchasers and the Group has a present right to payment and
the collection of the consideration is probable.

Others

Others include the sale of merchandise and commissions from
concessionaire sales included in outlet operations, logistics
and warehousing services and E-commerce services. The
performance obligation of logistics and warehousing services,
consulting service related to property and E-commerce
services is satisfied over time as services are rendered. The
performance obligation of the sale of merchandise and
commissions from concessionaire sales is satisfied when
control of the asset is transferred to the customer.

(i) EHEME
BRASEREANEENERSSNT

BHEERETEFERTMENERE
B R AR EESR R UGRE B AR AT AR
R ERETT -

Aty

Hoh /B ¥R B A HI S 75 7 7 8 AR &
IR EME - WRMB RS - W
ARG REFRERS - WRMA
FREREFHERGNBOETEHE
ARFSHOTE AL T Z BT o 78 o 85 B A4S 3
RIHAHE RSN ENRETEEEENE
BB AT PRETT
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5. Revenue, Other Income and (Losses)/Gains,
Net, Fair Value (Losses)/Gains on Investment
Properties (Continued)

WA - EBRAR (B8), /i
B REVEQATFEER) K

m(E)

Revenue from contracts with customers BEFEHRE )
(Continued)
An analysis of other income and (losses)/gains, net is as follows: Ha AR (E18), ek FEAET -
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
2023%12A318 202393 A31H
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
BisE THET FAT
Other income HAtrA
Interest income FBUWA 59,375 137,350
Government grants* BT Bh 5,497 9,776
Others Hit 30,623 12,375
Total other income RNt 95,495 159,501
(Losses)/gains (&) Wz
(Losses)/gains on disposal of property, EEVE BEREEZ
plant and equipment, net (B518), Wz 38 (1,952) 23
Gains on disposal of investment properties, BREREME 2 Wk - B8
net 5,641 -
Fair value (losses)/gains on financial assets/  EBIEZUAFETIRZ £/
liabilities at fair value through profit or LE/BEATEZ(EBE)/
loss, net Wi - %88 (854,129) 7,045
Losses on disposal of financial assets/ EEEREGEUATETERS
liabilities at fair value through profit cREE/BEIER T8
or loss, net (2,644) (17,911)
Losses on disposal of subsidiaries EEMERF B (118,351) -
Gains on modification of senior notes BREERER 2 W 348,655 -
Exchange losses, net e - B (10,121) (8,971)
Total losses BEEE (632,901) (19,814)
Total other income and (losses)/gains Hi AR (E18), Wiz (537,406) 139,687
Fair value (losses)/gains on RENELNTFEBE)Wa
investment properties 15 (2,317,419) 151,588
* Various government grants have been received from the relevant * ETBUS A BB %S TASE - A

government authorities to foster and support the development of
the relevant projects of the Group in Chinese Mainland. There are no
unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt 5 R R B o ()

Loss Before Tax from Continuing Operations
The Group's loss before tax from continuing operations is arrived at

after charging/(crediting):

REFECERB 2BAIE R

AEENKEFELERB ZHAEBERE

Cost of properties sold
Cost of properties held for finance lease
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Less: Depreciation capitalised in respect of
properties under development

Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Lease payments not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities
Auditor’s remuneration
Employee benefit expense (including
directors’ remuneration (note 8)):
Wages and salaries*
Equity-settled share option expense
Pension scheme contributions

Impairment of trade receivables**

Impairment of financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other
assets and other long-term receivables**

Impairment of properties held for sale**
(Reversal of)/impairment of inventories**
Contract cancellation costs**

EEMELA
MEEEMERE
NE - BERREINE

B RBERFMENENMFTE

EREEENE

R AHEREFENHEENR

Gk

RERMEL (BEESHH
GELDE

TERF&*

IARE RS A B R BB AR R S

BREFTEIER

FEWE 5 BRFORE
ATATBROR - At REKEIR

REMEERE O RIERIE

ZERMBEME

BEHEYRRE**
BFEORE),RE**
A RBUAR A *

B/ (GFA)TF)&IE -
For the
nine months For the
ended year ended
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
HE2023F HZE20237F
1283181k 3A31H
HhER IHFE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BisE TER FET
2,188,118 2,468,437
14 67,429 123,672
(175) (312)
67,254 123,360
17(ii) 12,860 22,387
17(ii) 29,289 7,025
3,770 3,680
181,800 261,975
462 1,160
20,494 28,589
202,756 291,724
41,556 15,954
756,490 217,372
798,046 233,326
660,810 517,103
(1,237) 2,892
99,503 50,967

* K

Included an amount of HK$19,047,000 for the nine months ended
31 December 2023 (year ended 31 March 2023: HK$29,617,000),
which was capitalised under properties under development.

or loss.

Included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit

* BREEHE2023F12A31BILAEANE A
19,047,000 7T (2202343 A31 B I E -
29,617,000/ 7C) * EFUAEARNLEF ABERESR

Y

= FTAGFeERR[EMFER AR -
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7. Finance Costs 7. MERAK
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BMEKRRZ AT
For the
nine months For the
ended year ended
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
#Z20235% HZ2023F
12A31H1E 3A31H
HhEA IHFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FT
Interest on bank and other borrowings HRITREMEEN L (B
(including senior notes, medium-term BEEE  PHEERK
notes and domestic company bonds) RANARIES) 2,062,810 3,100,645
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFE 1,127 1,749
2,063,937 3,102,394
Less: Interest capitalised B BAEFE (1,430,270) (2,332,968)
Total it 633,667 769,426
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8. Directors’ Emoluments

Directors’ remuneration for the period/year, disclosed pursuant to

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Hong Kong
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c)

EEME

REBEEBBZAES LR ETRAD)
BB D FHEGIE383(1)@) * (b) ' QROERA
ACRBEENEER)ROIE2E - KRS, F

and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the ENESMSRTELNT :
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, is as follows:
For the
nine months For the
ended year ended
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
#ZE20235 HE2023F
12A31HLE 3A31H
@A IFFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
Fees we 2,071 2,208
Other emoluments: EAb S -
Salaries, allowances, and benefits in kind e RMREWET 9,410 13,143
Equity-settled share option expense LA 45 B ) B AR R 2 462 1,458
Pension scheme contributions RIS EIGER 42 54
Total #EEt 11,985 16,863

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHIZR IR AT

239



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt 5 R R B o ()

31 December 2023 20234 12831H

8. Directors’ Emoluments (Continued) 8. EEM<w)
(a) Independent Non-Executive Directors (a) BAFHITES
The fees paid to Independent Non-Executive Directors during B FRNTEIIENTEFHRS W
the period/year were as follows: T
Equity-settled
share option
Fees expense Total
DREREEN
e BRI BEr
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
b FERT FERT FET
Nine months ended BE2023F12H8318 1L
31 December 2023 hEA
Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew  REE 285 - 285
Li Wai Keung TR 285 - 285
Hui Chiu Chung FFHRAR 285 - 285
Zee Helen B 285 - 285
Li Xu =M (iii) 238 - 238
1,378 - 1,378
Equity-settled
share option
Fees expense Total
LA A E
ki fENR R 2 wst
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BaE FHET FHET FH&T
Year ended 31 March 2023 #%E202343H31H
IHEE
Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew  ZEE 380 - 380
Li Wai Keung =X 380 - 380
Hui Chiu Chung EECEY 380 - 380
Shen Lifeng FREJE (i) 295 - 295
Zee Helen %®=E (i) 88 - 88
1,523 - 1,523
[0) Ms. Shen Lifeng was appointed as an Independent Non- (i) FERZLTR2022F6 16 AEZRT A

Executive Director on 16 June 2022, then has been
redesignated as a Non-Executive Director of the Company on
6 January 2023.

(ii) Ms. Zee Helen was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director on 6 January 2023.

(i)~ Dr. Li Xu was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive
Director on 16 May 2023.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

8. Directors’ Emoluments (Continued)
(b) Executive Directors and Non-Executive

8. EEMEw

(b) MTESRFIITES

Directors
Salaries,
allowances  Performance-  Equity-settled Pension
and benefits related ~ share option scheme
Fees in kind honuses expense  contributions Total
FeoBE  ERRAD LEREEN  BHéHE
we  RENEA MEAL  BRERR 3% szt
Notes HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i Tén TEn Tén Thn TEn Tén
Nine months ended BZABENA31AL
31 December 2023 NEA
Co-Chairmen: BEER
Li Wenxiong (Non-Executive Director) 23k f) - - - - - -
(HInEZ)
Cheng Chung Hing (Executive Director) ~ BJiE - 3,980 - - 14 3,994
(8172%)
- 3,980 - - 14 3994
Executive Directors: HEs .
Geng Mei Hig - 4,388 - 462 14 4,864
Wan Hongtao ErE i - - - - - -
Qin Wenzhong Ey G (i) - - - - - -
Cheng Ka Man Carman 3 - 1,08 - - 14 1,056
- 5430 - 162 3 5920
Non-Executive Directors: HHES:
Cheng Tai Po Ly (i 274 - - - - 274
Fung Sing Hong Stephen BEfm (v 134 - - - - 134
Shen Lifeng BER 285 - - - - 285
Li Aihua B vi - - - - - -
Deng Jin ¥z (v - - - - - -
693 £ . £ = 693
693 9,410 - 462 L} 10,607
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

8. Directors’ Emoluments (Continued) 8. EEMEw
(b) Executive Directors and Non-Executive (b) BTEERFHTEE®
Directors (Continued)

Salaries,
alowances  Performance-  Equity-settled Pension
and benefits related  share option scheme
Fees inkind bonuses expense  contributions Total

BooRE  EXTEH  NEGEEN  RAEHE
#t  REDEN WL BRERX 3 &t

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(i3 T Thn TFhr TR Thr TFhL
Year ended 31 March 2023 HEWBEIA3A
I35
Co-Chairmen: BRI
Li Wenxiong (Non-Executive Director) 23k () - - - - - -
(Fai12E)
Cheng Chung Hing (Executive Director) ~ BJiE - 5,850 - - 18 5,868
(B17E3)
- 5,850 - - 18 5,368
Executive Directors: 07Es:
Geng Mei g - 5,793 - 1319 18 7130
Wan Hongtao ErE i - - - - - -
Qin Wenzhong EVe (i) - - - - - -
Cheng Ka Man Carman 3 - 1,500 - 139 18 1,657
- 7293 - 1,458 % 8787
Non-Executive Directors: HES !
Cheng Tai Po Ly 680 - - - - 680
Shen Lifeng BEE (i) 5 - - - - 5
Lei Ming ER ) - - - - - .
685 - - - - 685
685 13143 - 1,458 5 15340
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

8.

Directors’ Emoluments (Continued)
(b) Executive Directors and Non-Executive
Directors (Continued)

0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

Mr. Li Wenxiong has been appointed as Co-Chairman and
Non-Executive Director on 23 September 2022. Mr. Li will not
receive any director’'s emolument, annual performance bonus
and/or share options granted from the Company.

Mr. Wan Hongtao has been appointed as an Executive
Director and the Group's Vice President on 16 June 2022.
Mr. Wan will not receive any director’'s emolument, annual
performance bonus and/or share options granted from the
Company.

Mr. Qin Wenzhong has been appointed as an Executive
Director and the Group’s Financial Controller on 16 June
2022. Mr. Qin will not receive any director’s emolument,
annual performance bonus and/or share options granted from
the Company.

Ms. Shen Lifeng has been appointed as a Non-Executive
Director on 6 January 2023.

Mr. Lei Ming resigned as a Non-Executive Director on 10
August 2022 and decided not to receive any director’s
emolument from the Company, including a director’s fee of
HK$380,000 per annum since his appointment.

Ms. Li Aihua was appointed as a Non-Executive Director on 16
May 2023. Ms. Li will not receive any director's emolument,
annual performance bonus and/or share options granted from
the Company.

Ms. Deng Jin was appointed as a Non-Executive Director
on 16 May 2023. Ms. Deng will not receive any director’s
emolument, annual performance bonus and/or share options
granted from the Company.

Mr. Fung Sing Hong was appointed as a Non-Executive
Director on 25 August 2023.

Mr. Cheng Tai Po resigned as a Non-Executive Director on 25
August 2023.

8.

BEEME

(b) T

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)

(viii)

EERFUTESR®H)

FIEEER2022F9A23BRE TR
GEEERIFATES - TREKTE
WA RBEAESHE - FREEKR
EETEAL R, IR T O REARIE -

BB EN202F6 A16HEZTA
WITEEREER R - BEEHTY
WERARBEMESNE - FEERR
BMERITEAL KSR T BB AR -

BXABEER2022F6A16AEETA
HITEFHREEVBHEE - BEEERT
SWMARRIEMEEMS - FEMREK
REMIIIEA K S5 T BB ARAE -

FEELZLTN2023F1F6EEZTA
FITES -

BB AERR20226F8 A10B BHEIEHTT
EE  WATEHEZTETBRAAR
WEERIZEEME - £7E5 380,000
BITHESHES -

FEELLN2023F5A16AEZR T A
HEHITEE - TLEETGRMAEARAT
TREZHE - FFR2RIBHBIEA
R/ SR T H B AR -

R Z 2023 F5 16 AR T A
WITES - BUTH TS WIRAQ AT
MEEHE  FEERRHBOHTEA
R/ SR T E AR

BEMEENR2023F8A2SHER TS
IENITES -

B HR AT AT 202348 A25 AR BT HL
TEE-
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

9. Five Highest Paid Individuals 9. AUESHAL
The five highest paid individuals during the period/year included HFR Afimas ATOREE=2E=
three (year ended 31 March 2023: three) Directors, details of (HZE2023F3A3MBIEFE: =5) ' Ef$
whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the BE#R EXHES - B, FRARKRSHA LM
remuneration of the five highest paid individuals for the period/year SHFBET

are as follows:

For the
nine months For the
ended year ended
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
HZ2023F #HZE2023F
12A31H1E 3H31H
HhEAR IHFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R NEYEF 13,190 18,214
Performance-related bonuses ERRIBEMN ) IEAL - 1,195
Equity-settled share option expense LA A B MBI 2 462 1,641
Pension scheme contributions RIS EHEIHR 70 90
13,722 21,140
The number of the five highest paid individuals whose remuneration NEUTHENRAZESHFATAZOT

fell within the following bands is as follows:

Number of employees

EEAZ
31 December 31 March
2023 2023

2023%12A31H 2023%3H31H

HK$1,000,001 to HK$10,000,000 1,000,001% T2 10,000,000 7T 5 5
During the period and in prior years, share options were granted to HAKBTFE  FEZERGaFALTHER
non-director, highest paid individuals in respect of their services to REERM BRI Mg AR - HiE—2P5F
the Group, further details of which are included in the disclosure BERIHRENFES - ZEBERNATE
in note 33 to the financial statements. The fair value of those (BERGBBRENGEBRRER) DRELH
options, which is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit HEFE - MERAHPTBREOSBEBLERN
or loss over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of EXREREFATHENREER

grant and the amount included in the financial statements for the
current period is included in the above five highest paid individuals’
remuneration disclosures.

244 ANNUAL REPORT 2023 43



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt 5 R R B o ()

31 December 2023 20234 12831H

10.

Income Tax Credit

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (year
ended 31 March 2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the period. No provision for Hong
Kong profits tax has been made as the Group had no assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the period (year ended 31
March 2023: Nil).

Taxes on profits assessable in Chinese Mainland are calculated
at the rates of tax prevailing in the provinces in which the Group
operates.

Under the relevant income tax law, the PRC subsidiaries are subject
to corporate income tax (“CIT”) at the statutory rate of 25% (year
ended 31 March 2023: 25%) on their respective taxable income
during the period.

The PRC LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from
the sale of properties less deductible expenditures including land
costs, borrowing costs and all property development expenditures.

The major components of income tax (credit)/expenses for the
period/year are as follows:

10.

FRr 5%t =148

HiR - BENERYBERESEENGITE
EHEH16.5% (B E2023F3A31 B ILFEE ¢
16.5% ) R REHE - B - R ANEEER
BEBNERTIE  SEETEE BN EH
BE(HE2023F3A310LEFE - &) o

o 0 A ) R B B T e S
ERBHBITREHE -

RIEABATEEE - B - PEKMBRRZEAR
FBERRBMAIR A ERE25% (B £20234F3
B31HIEFEE © 25% ) BT EH -

AP 4 IR E R 12 30% £ 60% TSR BT X
Bt (BB (BN 3 88 6 P15 SRR B2 48 - b AK
K EERARBNEZERASTEAHAN
) S ERIK

RN SH(EE) MXEEB 0T

For the
nine months For the
ended year ended
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
BZ20235% #HZE2023F
12A31H1E 3H31H
HEA IFFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Current BNHA 381,729 (224,685)
Deferred EIE (1,141,574) 220,829
Total tax credit from continuing operations 2k (B #5848 & KM FHIA
[El#4a%E (759,845) (3,856)
Total tax charge from a discontinued RERIEEEEBIBIEMS
operation 4z - 352,541
(759,845) 348,685
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

10.

Income Tax Credit (Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to (loss)/profit before
tax at the statutory rate to the tax expense at the Group's effective

10. FA8FiEI& ()

BOEEREAEERNTA (BR) FIEH
HRX B AREAFEERRRAENHEA

income tax rate is as follows: FZRHERAT ¢
For the
nine months For the
ended year ended
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
#ZE20235F HE2023F
12A31H1E 3A31H
HEA IHFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FT
Loss before tax from continuing operations K B #HEL L 2
TR EE (5,077,435) (1,559,162)
Profit before tax from a discontinued RECRIELEEE 2
operation FRTFE - 2,607,342
(5,077,435) 1,048,180
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% #16.5% EE B R ERTIE (837,777) 172,950
Different tax rates enacted by local b 77 WA 1 TE 1T Bt
authorities (383,368) (16,975)
Income not subject to tax HAGBBA (6,508) (54,290)
Expenses not deductible for tax Ik 255,541 206,915
Tax losses utilised from previous years FRBTFEMNRIAEE (31,567) (34,130)
Tax losses not recognised RERRBIEEE 26,491 330,405
LAT, net of tax effects I E B Y B R B E A 75
B, HER 222,126 (250,817)
Profit attributable to associates B N R BN 5 ) (24,724) (9,017)
Effect of withholding tax on the distributable Tz:z$’$ [ 89 B BT B8 A R Y
profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries SEFEmE EIBATET
' ?Z% 19,941 3,644
Tax (credit)/charge at the Group's effective R ASLBEEER T Kt A
rate (B14) Bz (759,845) 348,685
Tax credit from continuing operations at RERBRFECEEBOBIE
the effective rate (=] % (759,845) (3,856)
Tax charge from a discontinued REBRENEL LR EEBHTIE
operation at the effective rate Fsz - 352,541
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

11.

Discontinued Operation 11. BRIEREER
On 18 July 2022, the Company announced the decision of its board R2022F7 188 « RElEH RS - EEER
of directors to dispose of a 50% equity interest in Shenzhen First Asia FEHEEFEKTHEREERFIRINE —B
Pacific Property Management Company Limited (“First Asia Pacific AMEEBERRB([FE - ANEE])50%H
Group”), a limited liability company established in the PRC. First Asia fekE - F—D RSB EIREMEERRS -
Pacific Group engages in the provision of property management FR 5202212 A238 5/, °
services. Such transaction was completed on 23 December 2022.
As at 23 December 2022, First Asia Pacific Group was classified as 2022912823 » E— D AEBEE S E A
an associate and as a discontinued operation. With First Asia Pacific ERAIRERIEEET - ARE—DBAKE
Group being classified as a discontinued operation, the provision of WERHEAKRIEREER  MEBTERBEHOREMR
property management service is no longer included in the note 4 THBFBELEDFME BHHTT4F -
for operating segment information.
The results of First Asia Pacific Group for the year ended 31 March FE-—DAEBENREE2023F3A31BEFED
2023 are presented below. EEZ25)0T .
For the
year ended
31 March
2023
HE2023%F
3A31H
IHFE
HK$'000
FiT
Revenue WA 372,539
Expenses 53 (308,646)
Finance cost BB (9,565)
Profit from the discontinued operation RE BRI EER 2 FE 54,328
Gain recognised on disposal of the discontinued HEB R IEREE R 2 W
operation (note 35) (Pft5E35) 2,553,014
Profit before tax from the discontinued operation RE BRI 5 2 BRELATFE 2,607,342
Income tax: PSR
Related to pre-tax profit ERRR T AT R AE R (71,859)
Related to gain recognised on disposal of the B B AR R F TS 2 a8 R
discontinued operation — current — BNER (140,341)
Related to gain recognised on disposal of the L B AR RO F TS 2 a8 R
discontinued operation — deferred —JRIE (140,341)
Profit for the year from the discontinued operation RE DRI EEBZ FENHE 2,254,801
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

11. Discontinued Operation (Continued) 11. BARLEKEER®
The net cash flows incurred by First Asia Pacific Group are as F—DAEEEENBSREFENAT
follows:
31 March
2023
20233 A31H
HK$'000
FET
Operating activities RS 14,160
Investing activities WEEE (231)
Financing activities BMEED (9,594)
Net cash inflow FIRBRA 4,335
31 March
2023
2023%3A31H
Profit per share FRER
Basic and diluted, from the discontinued operation ERREE - RIS EES HK20.44 cents
AL
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share from the FEREERIEEEEB  BRERNREER
discontinued operation are based on: FTHER -
31 March
2023
202343 A31H
HK$'000
FT
Earnings &F
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders REDRIEELEB 2 GAT
of the parent from the discontinued operation LB R A ARG 2,254,801
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

11. Discontinued Operation (Continued)

11. CRLEEEEK®

Number of shares
IR

31 March

2023

202343 H31H

Shares % 12

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue ARG ESRERREEREF 2 FRNE T
during the year used in the basic and diluted earnings £ iBA%AY hiE T B (FIEE13)

per share calculation (note 13)

11,028,879,149

12. Dividend 12. B2

For the
nine months For the
ended year ended
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
#BZ2023F HZE2023%F
12A31HLE 3H31H
NEA IFFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET

Final dividend — Nil (31 March 2023: RS — (20233 /318 -

HK2.0 cents per ordinary share) T EER%2.07510) - 228,838

At a meeting of the Board held on 28 March 2024, the directors
resolved not to propose a final dividend to shareholders (31 March
2023: HK2.0 cents per ordinary share).

13. (Losses)/Earnings Per Share Attributable to
Ordinary Equity Holders of the Parent
The calculation of the basic (losses)/earnings per share is based
on the (loss)/profit for the period/year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 11,441,892,848 (year ended 31 March 2023:
11,028,879,149) in issue during the period.

ARRATR2024F3A28BRTHNEEE S &%
F EBEERATEZABRRRERNRERE
(2023F3A/31H : SRE@ER2.08M1) -

13. FERNEBAREEBREREEAZ
R (E51R) BF
GREXR(EER) /BRI TIREE A 5L A
wIHA ARG, FRER),/ FBRERE
E1711,441,892,848[% (Bl £2023F3 A31H 1L
FE ¢ 11,028,879,1490% ) I 1 A A I F 15 25

e
=14
FTHE o
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

13. (Losses)/Earnings Per Share Attributable to 13.

Ordinary Equity Holders of the Parent (Continued)

No adjustment has been made to the basic (losses)/earnings per

share amounts presented for the nine months ended 31 December
2023 and year ended 31 March 2023 in respect of a dilution as the
impact of the share options outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect

on the basic (losses)/earnings per share amounts presented.

The calculations of basic and diluted (losses)/earnings per share are

based on:

FERSATEBRESREEAZ
SR (E5E) BRI
BARRITEZEREHMZINNERER(E
B)/BNcEEARBESE  HUEREE
2023512 A31HIENE A %20235F3A31H 1
FEMENZSRERN(ER) B SREEL

e -

BRERREE(BR)  BMOTETER

For the
nine months For the
ended year ended
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
HZ20235F #HZE2023F
12A31H1E 3A31H
HEA LEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FAT
(Losses)/earnings (F58),BA
(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary equity ~ PR ETE SR EA N #H
holders of the parent, used in the basic (8),/BFzBRR]
and diluted (losses)/earnings per share LB FE AR
calculation: (F518),/FE -
From continuing operations ERECEER (4,317,462) (1,554,817)
From a discontinued operation BRI S = 2,254,801
(4,317,462) 699,984
Number of shares
[
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
2023%F12H31H 202343 A31H
Shares BRH

Weighted average number of ordinary shares AT E & IEAR K %

in issue during the period/year used in the
basic and diluted (losses)/earnings per share

calculation

(B8, BFzH,/ FA

B BT E B I T 19 2K

11,441,892,848 11,028,879,149
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

14. Property, Plant and Equipment 14. V¥  BEKRSZRE
31 December 2023 2023%12H31H
Furniture,
fixtures and Motor
Buildings equipment vehicles Total
Bl R£EB
g¥ & RE @it
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Bk FExT FExT FExT TR
At 1 April 2023: 202354718 :
Cost 5% 1,416,058 413,649 60,285 1,889,992
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (866,653) (250,840) (55,700) (1,173,193)
Net carrying amount REFHE 549,405 162,809 4,585 716,799
At 1 April 2023, net of M2023F4718 -
accumulated depreciation BB RETE 549,405 162,809 4,585 716,799
Additions NE - 16,585 562 17,147
Disposals RE - (6,743) (927) (7,670)
Disposal of a subsidiary RENBAR 35 (84,683) (3,694) (189) (88,566)
Depreciation provided during ~ EiRITE &
the period (35,464) (31,086) (879) (67,429)
Exchange realignment B EE (22,977) (3,495) (202) (26,674)

At 31 December 2023, netof ~ 72023F12A318 -

accumulated depreciation EHBRRNE 406,281 134,376 2,950 543,607
At 31 December 2023: 20235124318 ¢

Cost H#N 1,200,889 383,737 45,728 1,630,354

Accumulated depreciation ZETE (794,608) (249,361) (42,778) (1,086,747)
Net carrying amount REFHE 406,281 134,376 2,950 543,607

China South City Holdings Limited EEHIZR AR AT 251



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt 5 R R B o ()
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 14. Y% - BRERZE®)
31 March 2023 202393 A31H
Furniture,
fixtures and Motor
Buildings equipment vehicles Total
B £B
BF PEL AE @t
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Bk FAT FAT FAT FAT
At 1 April 2022 20226418 ¢
Cost AR 1,527,326 362,245 70,869 1,960,440
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (852,466) (227,251) (63,343) (1,143,060)
Net carrying amount REFHE 674,860 134,994 7,526 817,380
At 1 April 2022, net of M2022%4718 -
accumulated depreciation BB RETE 674,860 134,994 7,526 817,380
Additions RE 93 81,934 675 82,702
Disposals RE - (428) (409) (837)
Disposal of a subsidiary REMERR 35 - (1,063) (626) (1,689)
Depreciation provided during ~ FE T E&EE
the year (75,467) (46,496) 2.177) (124,140)
Exchange realignment I 5 3% (50,081) (6,132) (404) (56,617)
At 31 March 2023, net of 72023%3A318
accumulated depreciation EHBRRNE 549,405 162,809 4,585 716,799
At 31 March 2023: M2023F3A318 ¢
Cost A 1,416,058 413,649 60,285 1,889,992
Accumulated depreciation ZETE (866,653) (250,840) (55,700) (1,173,193)
Net carrying amount REFE 549,405 162,809 4,585 716,799
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

15.

Certain of the Group's buildings with an aggregate carrying value of
approximately HK$3,243,000 as at 31 December 2023 (31 March
2023: HK$4,720,000) were pledged to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group (note 29).

As at 31 December 2023, certificates of ownership in respect
of certain buildings of the Group in the PRC with an aggregate
carrying value of approximately HK$385,658,000 (31 March
2023: HK$509,854,000) had not been issued by the relevant PRC
authorities. The Group is in the process of obtaining the relevant
certificates of ownership.

14.

M - BERZE®E

M2023F 12 A31H - A5 EEAAEY
3,243,000/ 7t (202343 A311 : 4,720,00078
LA TEFEEIREAREBER —RIRTT
BB PER(MEE29) -

M2023F12A310 - AEERFEKELE
4 £ 49385,658,0007% 7L (202343 A31H
509,854,000/ 7T ) B9 & T & F R & A8 R Bl
RS LT R o AR B IEAEEBUERAFT A &

E23
Az °

Investment Properties 15. BREYE
31 December 2023 31 March 2023
2023%12A31H 20233 A31H
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
k=S FHET FT
Carrying amount at the beginning B/ F R AREE
of period/year 53,430,054 57,767,160
Additions NE 166,267 172,281
Transfer from properties under EEAEEPYE
development 16 49,232 -
Disposal BE (50,633) -
Transfer to properties held for sale ERERHEEEME = (411,910)
Fair value (losses)/gains on investment 2R B EWZE (EIE), sz
properties NS 5 (2,317,419) 151,588
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—WEAF (3,440,713) -
Exchange realignment [ A% (1,847,984) (4,249,065)
Carrying amount at the end of period/ &,/ & KHEREE
year 45,988,804 53,430,054

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31 December
2023 by Savills at RMB41,675,400,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$45,988,804,000) (31 March 2023: RMB46,774,100,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$53,430,054,000)), on an open
market, existing use basis.

The Group's investment properties with an aggregate carrying value
of approximately HK$33,537,271,000 as at 31 December 2023 (31
March 2023: HK$38,948,531,000), were pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 29).

F-KFEEHN2023FE12A31BEHBASE
ErEEME  KAMMSHEAREEER
B & & A K% 41,675,400,000 7T (A & R 4
45,988,804,00055 L) (2023F3A31H : AR
#546,774,100,0007T (FAE 7 4953,430,054,000
HBIL)) ©

MR2023F 128318 ' AEBREBELY
33,537,271,000 # T (2023 £ 3 A 31 H
38,948,531,000/8 7T ) BI#% & ¥ 2 B HIRIE AR
EEER—RBITRE ER(FE29) -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt 5 R R B o ()

31 December 2023 20234 12831H

15. Investment Properties (Continued)

The Group's investment properties with an aggregate carrying value
of approximately HK$42,642,551,000 as at 31 December 2023 (31
March 2023: HK$46,198,039,000) are subject to sales restrictions

(note 1(iv)).

The Group’'s investment properties consist of trade centres,
commercial and other ancillary facilities in Chinese Mainland. Each
year, the Group’s management decides to appoint which external
valuer to be responsible for the external valuations of the Group's
properties. Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation,
independence and whether professional standards are maintained.
The Group's finance department has discussions with the valuer
on the valuation assumptions and valuation results twice a year

15. BEYE®)
M2023F 12 A31H - A5 EEAAEY
42,642,551,000 % st (2023 6 3 A 31 B
46,198,039,000/8 7T ) KR E W % X 2 4 &S Rl
(HHRE1Gv)) o

AEENREMFEERETENORZTO &
ELEMEERE - AEENEEESFRE
ZEBEHAREEYFETINE G ENINEE
ERDAE - FFERERBETSNH  BE B
M ARBREEFBERKYE - LA MREE
IS mEEITHER  ARBENM K REEE
R EFh AR FEREREERR RGBS
RETRRAH °

when the valuation is performed for interim and annual financial

reporting.

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy

of the Group’s investment properties:

DR ERER
AEBRAMENATEF BBAMN TR :

Fair value
measurement

as at 31 December
2023

using significant
unobservable
inputs

(Level 3)
7A2023512H31H
FERERTATHRE
WABESE
nE

(5834%)

HK$'000

FHET

Recurring fair value measurement for:

Trade centres, commercial and other ancillary facilities

AT BRRNEE A HEFE

RGP0~ EHEREMEEERE 45,988,804
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

15. Investment Properties (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

15. REWE®)
DNEEEBHRE

Fair value
measurement

as at 31 March
2023

using significant
unobservable
inputs

(Level 3)
20233 H31H

EREARTAEE

BABUER T2
RFE
(EB34%)
HK$'000
FiT

Recurring fair value measurement for:

AT BRIRNEE A HEFE

Trade centres, commercial and other ancillary facilites XS0 - BE R HMWEERIE

53,430,054

During the period, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or
out of Level 3 (year ended 31 March 2023: Nil).

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key
inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

B 1R EE2H s BEHERENTENE
R FIMMEQAFEFEE A SE T (F
Z20235%3A31HIEFE - &) -

AT REREMEGHEMBNGEERTEEET
ZHHE

Range
gE
Valuation Significant As at As at
technique unobservable inputs 31 December 2023 31 March 2023
fh{E R BEARTEHEHARKE 720235128318 H2023F3F31H
Trade centres, commercial Income capitalisation  Market unit rental rate

and other ancillary facilities  method
oD - BEREMEE BWABRRUE

Bl

(RMB/sg.m./month) 23-150
MSEMES
(AR F1K/A)

Capitalisation rate 5.00%-8.25%
B &

23-161

4.00%-8.25%
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

15. Investment Properties (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The fair values of investment properties are determined principally
using the income capitalisation method by capitalising the rental
income derived from the existing tenancies with due provisions for
the reversionary income potential of the properties. The fair value
measurement is positively correlated to the market unit rental rate
and negatively correlated to the capitalisation rate. For the portions
which were under construction, the expended construction costs
and the costs that are expected to be expended to complete the
properties have also been taken into account in arriving at their fair

15.

REWE®)

ANEEEBR
REMERNTEEIERRAEMUEETE - 5
EREHAHEERENESRAERL - L3t
MEMEEAESRASHREERE - ATE
HEETSASREN AREMMEER R -
IEEREY 55 - BT ATER - B XM
HORE SR AN % SERK B B4 T B TR TS S S M Ak A
IREARE BIER o

values.
16. Properties Under Development 16. BRPYIE

31 December 2023 31 March 2023
2023512H318 202343 H31H
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
P EE FTHET FT

Carrying amount at the beginning B FIRRRE(E
of period/year 1,456,194 1,578,157
Additions NE 1,566,002 951,222
Transfer to properties held for sale EREIFEEEDE (1,845,546) (954,387)
Transfer to investment properties HBREREYE 15 (49,232) -
Exchange realignment P& W% (61,906) (118,798)

Carrying amount at the end of B FRABREE
period/year 1,065,512 1,456,194

Certain of the Group’s properties under development with an
aggregate carrying value of approximately HK$853,393,000 as at
31 December 2023 (31 March 2023: HK$1,353,296,000), were
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group
(note 29).

The government grants related to supporting infrastructure
construction and development activities in connection with the
Group's property development projects were previously deducted
from the additions of properties under development. Among the
balance of cost of properties sold during the nine months ended
31 December 2023, approximately RMB18,173,000 (equivalent
to HK$20,001,000) (year ended 31 March 2023: RMB21,064,000
(equivalent to HK$24,002,000)) were related to these grants
previously deducted within properties under development.
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MR2023F 12 A31H - ASEBERLE
#9 853,393,000 # 7T (2023 3 A 31 H

1,353,296,000/870) K E TR P W E D HA
ERRNEBER—RRITRE BR(FT3E29)

RAEEYEFRBEPEENERZR IR
REBREBIRE MBI E R ARITER
BEERYEMR - #Z=2023F128318 1N
EANEEWERAEF - HJAKE18,173,000
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt 5 R R B o ()

31 December 2023 20234 12831H

17. Leases

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of property,
machinery and other equipment used in its operations. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire the leased land from the
owners with lease periods of 40 years, and no ongoing payments
will be made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of
properties generally have lease terms between 1 and 8 years. Other
equipment generally has lease terms of 12 months or less.

(i) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and
the movements during the period/year are as follows:

17. #HE

REEEREEA
AEBERANERBLENYE e H M
REZERBNEESL - ERAMEL —RIE
A W REEAE L3t - BSR40 - B
BT EREBEZE I EENGTFENK - 1)
ENAHERE R FE8F - HibRENHEIAE
BRI12EASIAT °

Q) EAREE
A EE AR AR 2 SR N AR,
FERZRBMT

Leasehold land Property Total

HELH LYES CHI

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THERT FHERT FET

As at 1 April 2023 M2023F4H1H 485,050 12,709 497,759
Disposal of subsidiaries BREWB AT (152,107) (4,551) (156,658)
Depreciation charge TEMRX (7,449) (5,411) (12,860)
Exchange realignment M 3, FH B (16,495) (284) (16,779)
As at 31 December 2023 7"2023%F12H31H 308,999 2,463 311,462
Leasehold land Property Total

HE mE CEl

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT FAT FAT

As at 1 April 2022 R2022F4/18 538,945 4,992 543,937
Addition A= - 16,360 16,360
Depreciation charge HERS (14,215) (8,172) (22,387)
Exchange realignment ME 5 AR (39,680) (471) (40,151)
As at 31 March 2023 720239 3A31H 485,050 12,709 497,759
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

17. Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(i)

Lease liabilities

17. HE®)
AEBERAEBA®E

(i)

The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under trade

and other payables and other long-term payables) and the

movements during the period/year are as follows:

HESE

HEAR(EBHERSEIES REMEMRK
BN AR AR TR ) Z BREEA KR
KA,/ FRzBBIT

31 December 2023 31 March 2023

2023%12A31H 20233 H31H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FAT

Carrying amount at 1 April 4AR1BZRHEE 26,770 25,271

New leases e - 16,360

Disposal of subsidiaries EEWEAT (15,532) -
Accretion of interest recognised A, F R AR 238 00

during the period/year 1,127 1,749

Payments IDE: (9,004) (14,891)

Exchange realignment PE 3% (796) (1,719
Carrying amount at 31 December/ 12A318,73A31B ZEREE

31 March 2,565 26,770

Analyzed into: baxiv=1
Current portion BIHAER 2,565 10,942
Non-current portion FERNEAE - 15,828

to the financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

17. Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

17. &)

(iii) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases

are as follows:

AEEEAERBA@®
(i) AExBREEESEHESENT -

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

31 March 2023
202343 AF31H

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FT
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEMNE 1,127 1,749
Depreciation charge on right-of-use ~ {FREAETE
assets 12,860 22,387
Expense relating to short-term leases ~ ERRGHIFAE L IK[EEEE
and leases of low-value assets HEEAENRX 29,289 7,025
Total amount recognised in RERERNA SR
profit or loss 43,276 31,161

(iv) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 36(c) to

the financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) under
operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally
require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic
rent adjustments according to the then prevailing market conditions.
Rental income recognised by the Group during the period was
HK$456,863,000 (year ended 31 March 2023: HK$775,809,000),
details of which are included in note 5 to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2023, the undiscounted lease payments receivable
by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating

leases with its tenants are as follows:

(iv) AR RERNRDIRLGENIER
RIFFE36(IRER

AEBEREHEA

REBERBAEHEL LA AR E S (KT
15) o ZEHEMER — MM ESAHAEAZ R
FBLWRBEROTISA N EPFAERRES - &
SERFEERNEE WA B456,863,0008 7T
(B Z=2023F3A31HILFE : 775,809,000/
T0) v FEEEERHIEES o

M2023F 128318 » HEASBIRIEHEERFS
2RI S T E /Y R URCR B IR AR & - Fkan
—F :

31 December 2023
2023%12H31H

31 March 2023
202343 H31H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Within one year —F A 714,793 745,613
After one year but within two years —FREMFNA 556,001 594,585
After two years but within three years MERE=FN 461,593 510,340
After three years but within four years =FREMNFER 396,205 464,618
After four years but within five years WERERER 368,260 434,819
After five years hFE 2,768,954 3,204,794
Total a&t 5,265,806 5,954,769
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

18. Interest in Associates

18. REEARNER

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

31 March 2023
2023%3A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Share of net assets L& EFE 2,749,602 218,479
Goodwill on acquisition Ui 2 g 1,211,453 1,253,004
3,961,055 1,471,483
Particulars of the associates are as follows: Bt ARFBAT
Percentage of
Aok
Place of
registration Ownership Voting Profit
Name and business interest power Sharing Principal activity
kg
=L ith 2 hEER RERE FEAE FEER
First Asia Pacific Group PRC/Chinese 50* 40 50 Property
Mainland management
FE—TAREE FREL R B K R MEER
Xi'an China South City PRC/Chinese 30.6472 40 30.6472  Property sales
Co., Ltd Mainland
BRERRBERAR BB K B MEHE
* In the opinion of the directors, notwithstanding that the Group has * EXERR BEAKERAE —TAKH
50% ownership interest in First Asia Pacific Group, the Group has 50% KR - (BN EE2023F12A318 1k
been able to exercise significant influence over First Asia Pacific Group NEAR  AEEESE—TAEEREZTHH
because the Group has appointed two of five directors of First Asia LRES  ARAEEREHE—TAEEK
Pacific Group for the nine months ended 31 December 2023. MERTE -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt 5 R R B o ()

31 December 2023 20234 12831H

18.

Interest in Associates (Continued)

First Asia Pacific Group is considered an associate of the Group and is
accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial
statements. The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of First Asia Pacific Group adjusted for any differences
in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements:

18. REtERTINERE)

F-TAKERGAREENBEATF - WHE
RAMBRATRAEREE - TRIIRT
FDAKERSTHREEARIFRIEAM
BREEEEEETHHENMBEERE

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

31 March 2023
2023%3A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHT
Summarised statement of financial position B A BB FEARR RBE ¢
of the associate:
Current assets MENEE 2,037,596 2,335,848
Non-current assets EMENVEE 3,749 1,884
Current liabilities nEEE (1,320,601) (1,900,773)
Net assets BEFE 720,744 436,959
Reconciliation to the Group's interest FARAREE N E AR AR
in the associate:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership S ERFAR LA 50% 50%
Group's share of net assets of SEEEERNRFEENMNTE -
the associate, excluding goodwill TEtEEE 360,372 218,479
Goodwill on acquisition Wk 2 m 1,211,453 1,253,004
Carrying amount of the investment HEREE 1,571,825 1,471,483
Revenue WA 752,791 244,366
Profit and total comprehensive income W AFE kB2 K 200,683 72,138
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

18. Interest in Associates (Continued) 18.

Xi'an China South City Co., Ltd is considered an associate of
the Group and is accounted for using the equity method in the
consolidated financial statements. The following table illustrates the
summarised financial information of Xi‘an China South City Co., Ltd
adjusted for any differences in accounting policies and reconciled to
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements:

REE QRN RER (®)
BREFRARD AR AREDNB LD
Al WHESAPHBRERPRAERGE T
RIRTEREFNARAFLEHBEEZR
AEGRGAVBRREAEEETHSEN
MBS ERHE

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

HK$°000
FHBT
Summarised statement of financial position of the & A RN RIBE -
associate:
Current assets MENEE 8,410,880
Non-current assets EMENEE 3,725,457
Current liabilities mEEE (3,980,069)
Non-current liabilities FERBER (360,352)
Net assets BEFE 7,795,917
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the RN B A R AR RS
associate:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership SRR L 30.6472%
Group's share of net assets of the associate, EEEHENRIFEENGDTE  TRERE
excluding goodwill 2,389,230
Carrying amount of the investment REIREE 2,389,230
Revenue WA 125,295
Loss and total comprehensive losses EE MBS HEEE (4,717)
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

19. Financial Assets/Liabilities at Fair Value
Through Profit or Loss

E/afE

19. ZERBHUQXFEIIRZEHE

31 December 2023

20235F12A31H

Assets Liabilities
BE =0
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Put option liabilities REHEBE - 1,070,077
Unlisted investments JEEMRE 3,724 =
Interest rate swaps FlEImHAR 5) - 4,618
Total “aEt 3,724 1,074,695
Current portion BREAER 1 = (4,618)
Non-current portion FERNEAZB 1 3,724 (1,070,077)

31 March 2023

202343 AF31H
Assets Liabilities
BE afE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Unlisted investments JELEMRE 5,668 -
Interest rate swaps MEBEARZ 5 - 8,489
Total #aEt 5,668 8,489
Current portion BNERER(H - (8,489)
Non-current portion FERNERER (D 5,668 -

The above unlisted investments were classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss as the Group has not elected to
recognise the fair value gain or loss through other comprehensive

income.

I LR E SR AEBBRA T B £
RmEE REAKEENFRBEBLGRE
Tl -

W ARER D
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

19. ZERBHULAFEIIRzEHE

19. Financial Assets/Liabilities at Fair Value

264

Through Profit or Loss (Continued)

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as interest
rate swaps with maturity period of twelve months or less, to hedge
its foreign currency risk and interest rate risk. These derivative
financial instruments are not designated for hedge purposes and
are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

According to the agreements entered into between China
South City Group Co., Ltd (“China South City Group”), China
South International Industrial Materials City (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd. (“Shenzhen China South City”) and Shenzhen Shenji No. 1
Industrial Park Investment and Operation Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen
Shenji No. 1”), Shenzhen Shenji No.1 has been granted a put
option, pursuant to which Shenzhen Shenji No.1 has the right
(but not an obligation) to require China South International and/
or Shenzhen China South City to acquire all equity interest held by
Shenzhen Shenji No.1 in Xi‘an China South City upon occurrence
of certain events. Accordingly, financial liabilities of approximately
HK$1,070,077,000 are recorded as put option liabilities under non-
current “financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” of
the consolidated statement of financial position as at the end of the

reporting period.
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I AR EIZR 491,070,077,00058 0RO B &
BEEGEVBRARNIERBEE THIEBE
FAATFEIREZ SREaEIAR -
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

20. Other Long-term Receivables 20. HitRHEAEWKIE

31 December 2023 31 March 2023

2023%F12A31H 20233 A31H

HK$’000 HK$'000

FER FHET

Other long-term receivables E b R HAEWRIA 1,020,109 998,147

Loans receivables* FEU SR> 134,382 269,625
Impairment A (1,072,865) (371,325)

81,626 896,447
* The amounts represent loans made to customers of the Group'’s * ZeHEAREENEEERE . EFPRENE

micro-credit services. All loans receivables are interest-bearing at rates
ranging from 1.5% to 24% (31 March 2023: from 1.5% to 26%) per
annum with repayment terms from 6 months to 5 years (31 March
2023: from 3 months to 5 years). Certain loans receivables amounting
to HK$91,168,000 (31 March 2023: HK$199,337,000) are secured by
the properties of the borrowers.

As at 31 December 2023, the loss rate of other long-term
receivables applied was 100% (31 March 2023: 30%) and the loss
rates of loans receivables applied ranged from 1.5% to 60% (31
March 2023: 1.5% to 60%).

Koo FTERKEFTIRFEFENT1.5%E24%
(202343 A318 : 1.5%%E26%):t 5 B
BN F6lE A =55 (2023F3A318 : 3fHA=E
54 ) o 4 %E/591,168,0005 7T (202343 A 31
H : 199,337,000/ ) & T IEUE FAB K
NCok/ES (S i%E

M2023F12A318 - ERREMERFAIIEX
Z£100% (2023437318 : 30%) © [EANE
IWEFHIBLEA1.5%%E60% (202343 A31
A :1.5%%60%) °
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21. Properties Held for Finance Lease and Sale 21. HFREHERFEENHE

31 December 2023 31 March 2023
2023%F12A31H 2023%3A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
Completed properties held for finance lease 5 /ERVEATHE R T % 145,637 126,888
Completed properties held for sale FHEHS R T 15,416,317 15,218,838
Properties under development expected to ~ FEEIR IEH & EHHRE THY
be completed within the normal operating ~ Z%E 4%
cycle 25,085,705 30,409,217
40,502,022 45,628,055
Properties under development expected ERPYEBRHETR
to be completed and ready for sale AEHE
Within one year —FR 12,194,842 18,332,471
Beyond one year —F 1% 12,890,863 12,076,746
Total #HIE 25,085,705 30,409,217
Certain of the Group’s properties held for finance lease RWEHRE - AEENETHIEREHEEY
and properties held for sale with aggregate carrying values ELBFEHSWERBEED R A1,654,000
of HK$1,654,000 (31 March 2023: HK$1,712,000) and Bt (202393 A31H : 1,712,000 7T) &
HK$18,703,903,000 (31 March 2023: HK$16,523,247,000) at the 18,703,903,000 /& L (2023 £ 3 A 31 H
end of the reporting period, respectively, were pledged to secure 16,523,247,000/8 70 ) EMIFE AR EBEKR —
general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 29). M ERITELE MR (MIFE29) -
The values of completed properties held for sale and properties NEBRFAHERE  FEHERTYWER
under development expected to be completed within the normal BHREEEERARNRINEERTYED
operating cycle are assessed at the end of each reporting period. An BEDETHG EVENEEREBRARNE
impairment exists when the carrying value of the property exceeds BFER  REBBEEESE - BHE2023F
its net realisable value. As at 31 December 2023, impairment losses 12A318 " SENBEHEMENERERR
on the Group's properties held for sale with an aggregate carrying {E491,186,121,000% 7t (20233 A31 8 -
amount of approximately HK$1,186,121,000 (31 March 2023: 525,311,000 70 ) R AR EEK ©

HK$525,311,000) were recognised.
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22,

23.

Inventories

22. 78

31 December 2023
2023%12A31H

31 March 2023
20233 A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET BT

Merchandises (G 26,399 47,341
Impairment IE (13,406) (14,643)
12,993 32,698

The value of inventories are assessed at the end of each reporting
period. An impairment exists when the carrying value exceeds
its net realizable value. As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s
inventories with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$13,406,000 (31 March 2023: HK$14,643,000) recognised
impairment losses.

Trade Receivables

23.

FEBEREEREHARETTE - EREAR
EiRRE AR FER - BIFERE - 722023
F12A3108  AEENFEREBELENR
13,406,000/ 7T (20233 43118 : 14,643,000
BT BRERIREEE

FEUWR B 5 BRK

31 December 2023
2023%12A31H

31 March 2023
202343 HF31H

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Trade Receivables FEE SRR 1,017,948 1,307,359
Impairment BE (305,223) (330,291)
712,725 977,068

Trade receivables represent sales income, rental receivables and
service income receivables from customers which are payable on
issuance of invoices or in accordance with the terms of the related
sale and purchase agreements. The Group generally allows a credit
period of not exceeding 60 days to its customers. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and
closely monitors them to minimize credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of this and the
fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number of
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of credit
risk. The Group generally does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables
are non-interest-bearing.

e B 5 AR KT H R BRI AR B AARE
BEEHRGREREFNHELA - BEHES
RERFEWA - RNEE—RIEHTEBBORER
HTEP - AEERNHREERERKES
BRENES REZENEERARERERE - 5
REEES T HENAMAR - BENL LR
SENERESERBRETREZEFEH - %
YEEAKFEERAR - AEE—RM =108
BYHREWEZRFFEEMOERSEMER
B - RRESRRRRE
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt 5 R R B o ()

31 December 2023 20234 12831H

23. Trade Receivables (Continued)
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at 31 December 2023
and 31 March 2023 based on the payment due date, net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

23.

W E SR ()

R2023412A31H K%2023438318 « RIER
HEER - BRESERFHNKREEBBENE
AT -

31 December 2023 31 March 2023

2023%12H31H 202343 A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Within 3 months 3EAUR 537,935 880,321
Over 3 months HBiB31E A 174,790 96,747
712,725 977,068

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

FEWE BRI EBREBEBNT

31 December 2023 31 March 2023
2023%12A31H 202343 AF31H

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
At the beginning of period/year HF AR R 330,291 422,163
Impairment losses DERIEY SR 41,556 21,431
Disposal of a subsidiary HENBAR (34,493) (39,160)
Amount written off as uncollectible A S (0] FRIE B 6 (26,392) (47,327)
Exchange realignment PE 3% (5.739) (26,816)
At the end of period/year H SRR 305,223 330,291

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by product type,
service type, customer type and rating). The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are
written off if past due for more than one year and are not subject
to enforcement activity.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt 5 R R B o ()

31 December 2023 20234 12831H

23. Trade Receivables (Continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on

the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2023

23. EWE SRR @)

TRV ERAKEREE SEFNVEERR

PR RE IR B RS -

7A2023%F12H31H

Past due
B
Less than Over
Current 1year 1-2years 2-3years 3 years Total
BE DRE 1226 2E3%F HiB3F Bt
Expected credit loss rate BHEEEEX 6% 6% 49% 78% 100% 30%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) RERESZ(FHET) 527,742 94,598 141,079 44,003 210,526 1,017,948
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) ~ TEEREEEE(FHEIL) 39,601 5,868 14,775 34,453 210,526 305,223
As at 31 March 2023 720239F3A31H
Past due
Less than Over
Current 1year 1-2vyears 2-3years 3 years Total
BN M 1224 283 BR3F @t
Expected credit loss rate HEEEEEEX 6% 8% 48% 86% 100% 25%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000)  JRERE €% (FET) 859,606 144,156 67,070 35418 201,109 1,307,359
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) ~ TEEMEEEIE(FHEIL) 54,892 11,399 32,279 30,612 201,109 330,291
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt 5 R R B o ()

31 December 2023 20234 12831H

24. Prepayments, Other Receivables and Other 24, EMNRE - HttEWREREME
Assets =3

31 December 2023 31 March 2023
2023%12H31H 20233 A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FT
Prepayments TERTFRIR 775,772 835,484
Capitalised contract costs* BARERA KIR A+ 119,029 196,444
Land resumption due from the government  FEUEUT L3 5KIA - 670,468
Deposits and other receivables e RH M EWGRIA 847,242 1,049,458
Current portion of loans receivables (note 20) FEUWE k2 BIERER1 (Fi5E20) 34,477 81,999
1,776,520 2,833,853

Impairment allowance B (62,186) (7,235)
1,714,334 2,826,618

* Capitalised contract costs relate to the incremental sales commissions * ERMEHE NN AREEEZHERET P HAE

whose selling activities resulted in customers entering into sale and
purchase agreements for the Group’s properties which are still under
construction at the reporting date. Contract costs are recognised as
part of “selling and distribution expenses” in the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which revenue from the related property sales is
recognised. The amount of capitalised contract costs that is expected
to be recovered after more than one year is HK$13,366,000 (31
March 2023: HK$49,046,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the loss rate of other receivables applied
ranged from 0.1% to 100% (31 March 2023: 0.1% to 1.5%) and
the loss rates of loans receivable applied ranged from 1.5% to 3%
(31 March 2023: 1.5% to 3%). Except for the loans receivables,
other receivables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable
on demand.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt 5 R R B o ()

31 December 2023 20234 12831H

25. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

25. RERFASEEYRZREBE

31 December 2023
2023%12A831H

31 March 2023
2023%3A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Cash and bank balances ] e RIRITER 1,143,644 2,525,074
Less: Restricted cash* W XREIEE (913,556) (1,150,358)

Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 230,088 1,374,716
* Restricted cash mainly comprises: (i) guarantee deposits for the * XRHEHREFEDE  (\MEBEREEYEY

mortgage loan facilities granted by the banks to purchasers of the
Group's properties; (ii) guarantee funds of construction projects to
meet local authorities’ requirements; (iii) certain amounts of pre-
sale proceeds from properties placed as guarantee deposits for the
construction of related properties; (iv) certain amounts of proceeds
from lease of properties which have been placed as guarantee
deposits for the borrowings; and (v) pledged deposits to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to HK$1,141,564,000
(31 March 2023: HK$2,519,451,000). RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Chinese Mainland’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorized to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between one day and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective
short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and restricted cash
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

Certain of the Group's bank deposits with a carrying amount
of HK$913,556,000 as at 31 December 2023 (31 March 2023:
HK$282,736,000), were pledged to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group (note 29).

BERERITRTHZBEFRENRERS
(VERBEHNRES  UNEEMEENE
f GiVERENE THSFASE - UMER
HEMEEZRNRELRS  (WVHEMENS
THHEMSFESBEUMEREERENRER
T RVEERRITERIEAREERER —R
RITRAER -

RBERR - AEEUAREBEMNES R
SRATIEFNEE1,141,564,0007% 7T (2023F 3 A 31
H :2,519,451,000/ L) - AR A B H
HMAEMER - A - RIFP B REAINE
EHED R AEE - HEREERE - ASER
LA B 1T ONE A IRTT IS AR B S
BEMEE -

FR|ITZREREBEERRITEARANEXZFH
MR FRECRS - T MERNFRASE
H—XEZEATE RIEFEENEHRE
FRMAE -+ 1078 B2 358 52 B 2 B SR &
R - |IOTEREXRHIBSIERNEER
o BLAT B30 B R SRACEREERTT o

MR2023F 128318 AEEEEAEE
7% 913,556,000 # 7T (2023 £ 3 A 31 A
282,736,000/ 7T) K& TR B ERERARE
EER—RIRITRVE R (HFE29) -
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

26. Trade and Other Payables 26. ESRHMENKE

31 December 2023 31 March 2023
2023%12A31H 2023%3A31H

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
PEE FHERT FAT
Other payables and accruals HAb R FRIE R EET IR 3,710,768 2,727,735
Notes payable FER SRR (i) 47,107 893,175
Rental and other receipts in advance ~ JBUFE € & Eitb7k18 784,526 1,029,846
Lease liabilities HEAaE 17(i) 2,565 10,942
Construction fee and retention payables [EfTZEERRRE S (ii) 2,349,017 2,592,011
6,893,983 7,253,709
() An ageing analysis of the Group’s notes payable presented () RIHEHRRFEBEEREZR ZENRR
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period is HIRRER D ATLAS -
as follows:

31 December 2023 31 March 2023
2023412H31H 20233 A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAET
Within 3 months 3EAR 47,107 642,813
Over 3 months @318 A - 250,362
47,107 893,175
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt 5 R R B o ()

31 December 2023 20234 12831H

26. Trade and Other Payables (Continued) 26.

(i) An ageing analysis of the construction fee and retention

ESREMENARE S
(i)  PIBEHRENEEE A RRESORE

payables as at the end of the reporting period is as follows: DITEAT
31 December 2023 31 March 2023
2023%12831H 202343 AH31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET TET
Within 1 year 1R 1,822,364 1,727,870
Over 1 year HBiB 14 526,653 864,141
2,349,017 2,592,011

All the notes payable have maturity dates within one year.
As at 31 December 2023, notes payable amounting to
HK$47,107,000 (31 March 2023: HK$822,339,000) were
discounted by these note holders.

The construction fee and retention payables are non-interest-
bearing and repayable within the normal operating cycle or

on demand.

The other payables are non-interest-bearing.

FIBEMNEHEEN —FREH - 752023
F12A31H * 2% A47,107,0007% 7T
(202343 A31H : 822,339,0007 7T ) &Y
EREERE BT A AR

L ERMRES AR RAR—R

HAENFRRRE
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt 5 R R B o ()

31 December 2023 20234 12831H

27. Amounts due to Related Parties/Amounts due 27. ENBEBARIE EABE QTR
to Associates/Amount due from a Related Party 15/ FE N AR 5 R IE
31 December 2023 31 March 2023
2023%F12H31H 202343 F31H
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M5t FHET FHT
Trade-related: =
Amounts due to associates: JETHE & A RIFRE ¢
First Asia Pacific Group —E[EK;E@ (1 686,260 280,971
Amounts due to associates: JESHt & A RIFRE ¢
Xi‘an China South City ﬁﬁziﬁfﬁi}i ) 34,449 -
Non-trade-related: B 518 -
Amounts due to associates: J'EHH%%’A XA
First Asia Pacific Group DmAREKE (1) 190,156 645,286
Amounts due from associates: JPE i B AIFKIE -
Xi‘an China South City ﬁyat:ﬁ’éthj@ (3) 40,940 -
Amounts due to other related FEASH BB 77 ZR0B
parties:
Shenzhen Zhenhua Investment FIEFEREERERA 4
and Development Co., Ltd al 649,269 189,973
SZCDG HRERER (5) 556,563 -
Shenzhen Shenji No.1 Industrial Y mrESREXRR (6)
Park Investment and Operation REELBRAT
Co., Ltd - 2,284,600
Amount due from a related party: e RA B 77 ZR0B
SZCDG %E@%ﬁs;‘%l @) 138,666 143,541
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

27.

28.

Amounts due to Related Parties/Amount due
to Associates/Amount due from a Related Party

(Continued)
Notes:

1) As at 31 December 2023, the amount of HK$499,644,000 due to
First Asia Pacific Group was unsecured and interest bearing at a rate
of 4.35% per annum, other balances are unsecured and interest-free.

(2) As at 31 December 2023, the amount due to Xi‘an China South City
was unsecured and repayable on demand or expected to be settled
within one year. The aggregate amount of HK$34,449,000 was
unsecured and interest-free.

(3) As at 31 December 2023, the amount due from Xi'an China South
City was unsecured and receivable on demand or expected to be
received within one year. The aggregate amount of HK$40,940,000
was unsecured and interest-free.

(4) As at 31 December 2023, the amounts of HK$649,269,000 (31
March 2023: HK$189,973,000) due to Shenzhen Zhenhua Investment
and Development Co., Ltd (a company controlled by SZCDG) was
unsecured and interest bearing at a rate of 6%-8% per annum.

(5) As at 31 December 2023, the amount due to SZCDG was unsecured
and repayable on demand or expected to be settled within one year.
The aggregate amount of HK$556,563,000 was unsecured and
interest-free.

(6) As at 31 March 2023, the amount due to Shenzhen Shenji No.
1 Industrial Park Investment and Operation Co., Ltd (a company
controlled by SZCDG) of HK$2,284,600,000 was unsecured and
interest-free.

7) As at 31 December 2023, the amount due from SZCDG of
HK$138,666,000 (31 March 2023: HK$143,541,000) was unsecured
and interest-free.

Contract Liabilities

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

27. FE(SEAEE SR FEASERE A EIRK
18 HE U BEEE 5 FE (@)

(©)

(6)

@)

MR2023F12A31H  BNE—TSALER
X IH 499,644,000 7 7T A& K 1R B AR F R X
435% B - HtESAEEKERRE -

M2023F 128318 » ENALZERABRIES
EIF BB EREENBR —FREE -
48%A34,449,00078 T AEER R B F| S

HR2023F 128318 » BWALZERBAIES
IR B R SR BT — F R FE -
#8%840,940,00078 L AEEK AR EF| S

R2023F12A318 © BRIIEERERE
ERARCRIIZFEREFERBR AT (EAH
FEhFREBREEET]))KIE649,269,000
7#70(20239F3 8318 : 189,973,0005 7T ) A 4
B WIRFF|E6%-8%:T B ©

R2023F12A318  BNFEREEZESENHR
B AR B AR EREENERR —FANE
& ° #4%E556,563,000/8 7T AHIEIE L B R 8 o

M2023F3A318 - ERYITRESHESE
EeREEEBRARN(HEARTEAFRE
BV ) FUE A2,284,600,000/8 7T © A LE
EHRRE

R2023F 12 A31H - Bl EREEEE
3% 78 138,666,000 7 7T (202343 A31 8 -
143,541,000 70) AR R B F S, o

28. EHAE
A ERESIRET -

31 December 2023 31 March 2023
2023%F12H31H 20233 A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FA&T
Advances received from customers YR E S A FE T3 E
Contract liabilities related to sales of HIHEY AN S NEE
properties 8,259,432 12,409,581
Value-added tax related to sales of properties FE Us A 1 EE$4E Y A RIH
as included in pre-sales proceeds HBEF 676,617 1,003,785
Sale of properties SHEWZE 8,936,049 13,413,366

Contract liabilities include advances received from customers in
relation to the pre-sale of properties.

A
=l
A

o

MEBERRBEENREREFAENENRK
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

29. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings

29. FFERTRAEMEBE

31 December 2023
2023%12831H

31 March 2023
202343 A31H

Maturity HK$'000  Maturity HK$'000
b FiExT FIH FAT
Current RN &R
Bank and other
borrowings RITREMEES
— unsecured — 2024 588,820 2023-2024 198,499
Bank and other
borrowings RITREMEES
— secured —HBHEA 2024 1,295,001 2023-2024 3,059,856
Current portion of long-
term bank and other ~ EHIRITREMEER
borrowings: wBEREE S -
Bank and other
borrowings RITREMES
— secured —BHEA 2024 5,519,918 2023-2024 8,604,526
7,403,739 11,862,881
Non-current FERNER
Bank and other
borrowings RITREMEE
- secured —F M 2025-2038 13,892,041 2024-2038 9,416,275
21,295,780 21,279,156
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

29. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings
(Continued)

29.

SFERITREMEE @)

31 December 2023
2023%12H31H

31 March 2023
20233 A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Analyzed into: baxigdiv=
Bank and other borrowings repayable: JARA T HEEENIRTTRE
EE

Within one year —FR 7,403,739 11,862,881
In the second year FF 4,288,092 1,725,349

In the third to fifth years, inclusive FE-EFRF(BREERE
METERN) 4,862,537 2,617,039
Beyond five years & 4,741,412 5,073,887
21,295,780 21,279,156

Certain of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are secured
by the Group’s buildings, investment properties, properties under
development, properties held for finance lease and sale and bank

deposits as stated in notes 14, 15, 16, 21 and 25.

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 March 2023, all interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings of the Group are denominated in RMB,

HK dollars and US dollars.

Bank and other borrowings with a total amount of
HK$20,706,960,000 (31 March 2023: HK$21,080,656,000) are

secured by:

(i) Certain of the Group’s buildings with an aggregate carrying
value of approximately HK$3,243,000 as at 31 December

2023 (31 March 2023: HK$4,720,000 (note 14);

(i)  Certain of the Group’s investment properties situated in
Chinese Mainland with an aggregate carrying value of
approximately HK$33,537,271,000 as at 31 December 2023

(31 March 2023: HK$38,948,531,000) (note 15);

(i) Certain of the Group's properties under development situated
in Chinese Mainland with an aggregate carrying value of
approximately HK$853,393,000 as at 31 December 2023 (31

March 2023: HK$1,353,296,000) (note 16);

NFRE14 ~ 15~ 16 ~ 21 M25FE, - REEET
RITREMEERAEEEF - REWE - %
BERYE  SEREHERBEENENRITE
SRR -

72023F12A31H NM2023F3A31H » A&EH
FTERITREMEEYUARE - BEEET
RBEAL o

48 3£20,706,960,00078 7t (20234F3 A31 8
21,080,656,00078 7T ) BIIRTT R E M fEE LA T 5]
FIEEI

() 2023412 A31HERME4EEL)3,243,000
BT ASEEE TEF(2023F3 A 31
B : 4,720,000 70) (H5E14)

(i) M2023F12 A3 HEHERBLEY
33,537,271,000 7% 7T #) 7K &2 B 2 70 A B
AEME TFREME(2023F3A3180 ¢
38,948,531,000/87T) (FizE15)

(i) HM2023F 12 A3 HE®BLEY
853,393,0007% 7T Y 2N & B i 5 HR B K
BEr)E TR EPYE(20235F3 4318 -
1,353,296,000/% 1) (Fi5E16)
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

29.

30.

Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings

(Continued)

(iv)  Certain of the Group’s properties held for finance lease
and properties held for sale with aggregate carrying values
of HK$1,654,000 (31 March 2023: HK$1,712,000) and
approximately HK$18,703,903,000 (31 March 2023:
HK$16,523,247,000) respectively as at 31 December 2023
(note 21); and

(v)  Certain of Group's bank deposits with a carrying amount of
HK$913,556,000 as at 31 December 2023 (31 March 2023:
HK$282,736,000) (note 25).

All interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of the Group were
denominated in HK dollars, Renminbi and US dollars. The weighted
average effective interest rate of bank and other borrowings is 6.8%
as at 31 December 2023 (31 March 2023: 7.6%).

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank and other borrowings
approximate to their fair values, which have been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows at the prevailing interest
rates.

Senior Notes

The Company issued the following senior notes, which are listed on
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, in the current
period and prior years:

(i) On 20 November 2017, the Company issued senior notes
with an aggregate principal amount of US$300,000,000
(the “2017 November Notes”). The 2017 November Notes
carry interest at the rate of 7.25% per annum, payable semi-
annually on 20 May and 20 November in arrears, and was
originally scheduled to mature on 20 November 2022, unless
redeemed earlier. The offering price was at 97.96% of the
principal amount of the 2017 November Notes.

In August 2022, the Company obtained the consent from the
note holders that the maturity date of the 2017 November
Notes has been extended from 20 November 2022 to 20
July 2024 and the Company may at its option redeem the
2017 November Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2017
November Notes plus the applicable premium and accrued
and unpaid interest, if any, as of (but not including) the
redemption date. The interest rate of the 2017 November
Notes changed from 7.25% per annum to 9.0% per annum.
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(iv)  F2023F 12 B31 BAREEE THIERE
THEMERBIEFHEMENEERRED
Bl 1,654,000/ 7L (2023F 3 A31 83
1,712,000/ 70) & #918,703,903,00078 7T
(202343 A31H : 16,523,247,000567T)
(MFE21) + &

(v R2023F 12 A3HBEBEBAEY
913,556,000/ LR AR L B E T IR1T1F K
(20234353108 : 282,736,000 7T ) (M
£25) °

AEBEMEEMET SRITREMEEG NS
B ARBERETLAERM - 12023F12 A31
B 5HEIRTT RE M {E A I F 9B B E
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EARE - B R AR SR BN SRR
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zp
B

BRARE
ARDFRAE B EFERITATRET IR E
$RBAARAR LB LR -

() H2017F11H208 » ARRIBEITAS LA
300,000,000 T RE L 2B ([20174F
TMAZER]) 2 2017F 11 ARBIRFRE
7.25%5HE - B¥ER5H208 X 11A20
B> WERE2022411 5208 EIH
(BRIFIBEEE) - FHEEHR2017F11 A8
EIEASETEMNIT.96% ©

2022987  ARRIEMEEEFEAR
B2017F 11 ARBREIEIEE 2022
£11A208EEE 2024578208 A&
AT AIRAZER2017F 11 AZERS 8
XB100% M IELI{E - SINEZ=ER A5
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

30. Senior Notes (Continued)

0

(ii)

(Continued)

In December 2023, the Company obtained the consent
from the note holders that the maturity date of the 2017
November Notes has been extended from 20 July 2024 to 19
August 2027 and the Company may at its option redeem the
2017 November Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2017
November Notes plus the applicable premium and accrued
and unpaid interest, if any, as of (but not including) the
redemption date. The interest rate of the 2017 November
Notes changed from 9.0% per annum to 4.5% per annum.

During the period, the Company has repaid the principal
amount of US$27,650,000.

On 12 December 2019 and 21 January 2020, the Company
issued senior notes with the aggregate principal amounts
of US$150,000,000 and US$200,000,000, respectively,
(collectively known as the “2019 December Notes”). The
2019 December Notes carry interest at the rate of 11.50%
per annum. Interest will be paid on 12 August and 12
February of each year, commencing from 12 August 2020,
and was originally scheduled to mature on 12 February
2022, unless redeemed earlier. The offering prices were at
97.396% and 98.791% of the principal amounts of the 2019
December Notes of US$150,000,000 and US$200,000,000,
respectively. In January 2022, the Company has obtained the
consent from the note holders that the maturity date of the
2019 December Notes has been extended from 12 February
2022 to 12 August 2022. In August 2022, the Company
further obtained the consent from the note holders that the
maturity date of the 2019 December Notes has been further
extended to 12 April 2024. The Company may at its option
redeem the 2019 December Notes, in whole or in part, at a
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of
the 2019 December Notes plus the applicable premium and
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, as of (but not including)
the redemption date. The interest rate of the 2019 December
Notes changed from 11.50% per annum to 9.0% per annum.

During the period, the Company has repaid the principal
amount of US$17,400,000. Subsequent to 31 December
2023, the Company failed to make the payment of the
outstanding interest accruing amounted of US$12,997,800
thereon, which constituted an event of default.

30. BAEE @)

0

(ii)
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

30. Senior Notes (Continued)

(iii)

On 26 February 2020 and 26 June 2020, the Company
issued senior notes with the aggregate principal amounts
of US$225,000,000 and US$125,000,000, respectively,
(collectively known as the “2020 February Notes”). The
2020 February Notes carry interest at the rate of 10.875%
per annum, payable semi-annually on 26 June and 26
December in arrears, commencing from 26 June 2020, and
was originally scheduled to mature on 26 June 2022, unless
redeemed earlier. The offering prices were at 97.073% and
93.092% of the aggregate principal amounts of the 2020
February Notes of US$225,000,000 and US$125,000,000,
respectively. In January 2022, the Company has obtained the
consent from the note holders that the maturity date of the
2020 February Notes has been extended from 26 June 2022
to 26 October 2022. In August 2022, the Company further
obtained the consent from note holder that the maturity date
of the 2020 February Notes has been further extended to 26
June 2024. The Company may at its option redeem the 2020
February Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption price
equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2020 February
Notes plus the applicable premium and accrued and unpaid
interest, if any, as of (but not including) the redemption date.
The interest rate of the 2020 February Notes changed from
10.875% per annum to 9.0% per annum.

During the period, the Company has repaid the principal
amount US$34,600,000.
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

30. Senior Notes (Continued)

(iv)

On 11 September 2020 and 13 January 2021, the Company
issued senior notes with aggregate principal amounts
of US$250,000,000 and US$120,000,000, respectively
(collectively known as the “2020 September Notes”). The
2020 September Notes carry interest at the rate of 10.75%
per annum, payable semi-annually on 11 April and 11
October in arrears, commencing from 11 April 2021, and
was originally scheduled to mature on 11 April 2023, unless
redeemed earlier. The offering prices were at 96.521% and
99.845% of the aggregate principal amounts of the 2020
September Notes of US$250,000,000 and US$120,000,000,
respectively.

In August 2022, the Company obtained the consent from the
note holders that the maturity date of the 2020 September
Notes has been extended from 11 April 2023 to 11 December
2024 and the Company may at its option redeem the 2020
September Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2020
September Notes plus the applicable premium and accrued
and unpaid interest, if any, as of (but not including) the
redemption date. The interest rate of the 2020 September
Notes changed from 10.75% per annum to 9.0% per annum.

During the period, the Company has repaid the principal
amount US$27,750,000.

30. BAEE @)

(iv)

M2020F9 A8 11 H K20215F1 /8138 -
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

30. Senior Notes (Continued)

(v)

On 9 March 2021 and 22 March 2021, the Company
issued senior notes with aggregate principal amounts
of US$175,000,000 and US$50,000,000, respectively
(collectively known as the “2021 March Notes”). The 2021
March Notes carry interest at the rate of 11.95% per annum,
payable semi-annually on 9 September and 9 March in
arrears, commencing from 9 September 2021, and was
originally scheduled to mature on 9 February 2023, unless
redeemed earlier. The offering prices were at 96.081% and
96.081% of the aggregate principal amounts of the 2021
March Notes of US$175,000,000 and US$50,000,000,
respectively.

In August 2022, the Company obtained the consent from
the note holders that the maturity date of the 2021 March
Notes has been extended from 9 February 2023 to 9 October
2024 and the Company may at its option redeem the 2021
March Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal
to 100% of the principal amount of the 2021 March Notes
plus the applicable premium and accrued and unpaid interest,
if any, as of (but not including) the redemption date. The
interest rate of the 2021 March Notes changed from 11.95%
per annum to 9.0% per annum.

During the period, the Company has repaid the principal
amount of US$11,250,000. Subsequent to 31 December
2023, the Company failed to make the payment of the
outstanding principal amounted of US$11,250,000, together
with the payment of the outstanding interest accruing
amounted of US$9,028,125 thereon, which constituted an
event of default.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 43

30. BAEE @)

(v)

202143898 K%202143H22H + &
A A9 Rl 8 17 78 & 42 %8 175,000,000 &
7L 150,000,000 TME LR R E(5EA
[2021563AFRE]) - 2021 F3 A ZHE
FFE11.95%:T 8 » F 2 H202149
R9RE » DRIREFIAIAK3IAIHE
7+ WIREF2023F2 A9H B HA (R 3E4R
FHER) - BEBHRIA2021F3 AR
2.175,000,000% 7t }.50,000,0003 JT A
& 4A%ER)96.081% }296.081% °

202268 A - ARBREMBEEHEA
FEM2021F3 AZBMIE A E H2023
F2A9RERE2024F 10498 AR
RIAIEEER2021F3RBEARS B
100% K ERIE - SMEEERBHR(E
TEEZHE)2021F3ZEEBHE
AR 2t RANFE(nE) B2 Efsk
#HH2021F3 AFE © 202193 A ZEF|
KRB ABTFE11.95% 2 FF9.0% °

BA - AR EEZA$®11,250,000%
JC ° 202312 A31 8% - RAEIREEEM
KRIEEAE11,250,000%FTC © R AKEE
F1/2.9,028,125% 7T  IBRELNEM -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt 5 R R B o ()

31 December 2023 20234 12831H

30. Senior Notes (Continued)
At the end of the reporting period, 2017 November Notes, 2019
December Notes, 2020 February Notes, 2020 September Notes
and 2021 March Notes (collectively named as the “Senior Notes”)

contained liability components and early redemption options as

follows:

0

(ii)

The liability component represented the present value of
the contractually determined stream of future cash flows
discounted at the prevailing market interest rate at that time
applicable to instruments with comparable credit status that
provided substantially the same cash flows, on the same
terms, but without the embedded derivatives.

Interest charged for the year was calculated by applying
effective interest rates of approximately 10%, 12%, 12%,
11% and 11% per annum to the liability components of
2017 November Notes, 2019 December Notes, 2020 February
Notes, 2020 September Notes and 2021 March Notes,
respectively, since they were issued.

Early redemption options were regarded as embedded
derivatives not closely related to the host contracts. The
Directors consider that the fair value of the above early
redemption options was insignificant on initial recognition
and as at 31 December 2023.

The Senior Notes recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position were calculated as follows:

30. BEREB®@)
PEREHIR » 2017F 11 BEIE - 2019F128E
- 20202 AZE - 20209F9 A ik K2021
FIRZR(HBAMELREDEATEED
Ak g R EERE

() BEBIEAOMEERTESRERA
B AL REE TR IRARIEHER R
HERRSREEERATETANTA
ERERNRITIISMETRNEE -

HAMFEEBRIE2017F1MARE
2019F 12 A& %, - 20202 A% -
20206F9 B EIEM2021 43 AEE - ZiE
BITARNBESD D AIRERFRNELY
10% * 12% ~ 12% ~ 11% N 11%51E ©

(iy RPEERERRATIFREANEZRE
FHBALTETE - EERARVIAER
N 2023512A318 - LAtz RE LR
BRAFETK -

ERFAMBINARERNEAREENT

31 December 2023 31 March 2023

2023%F12831H 2023%3A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHIT

Current portion BNERER (5 8,891,111 922,065
Non-current portion FEBNEREL D 1,565,410 10,629,541
10,456,521 11,551,606

The fair value of the Senior Notes as at 31 December
2023 amounted to HK$2,744,443,000 (31 March 2023:
HK$9,466,793,000). The fair value was calculated by using the
quoted market price of the Senior Notes on 31 December 2023.

R2023F 12 A31H  BAEEMNAFE
£ 2,744,443,000 7% T (2023 4F 3 A 318 -
9,466,793,000/57T) - AT ETMERELEE
M2023F 12 A31 BRI TISES 2 HRETH -
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

31. Deferred Tax 31

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the
period/year are as follows:

. EFEBIR
8/ FRBTREREREEZRBIT

Deferred tax liabilities ELEHESE
Fair value
adjustments
Costs to Accelerated Revaluation Revaluation of Capitalised arising from
obtain tax  of investment Withholding ~ property, plant interest  remeasure of
contracts depreciation properties taxes  and equipment expense associates Total
BELNR
EifitE
EBA0K % HER EE2AYE
BE  NERERE  RENEER B HREER EA{LFE E @
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Wiz TR Ti#n FiEn T TiEn TEn TiEn TiEn
At 31 March 2023 R2023E3A318 51,649 1,293,752 7,983,340 420,007 85,085 743,046 140,686 10,717,565
Deferred tax charged/(credited)  BRRGAERERR
to the consolidated statement 1%/ (st \)JEOIERE
of profit or loss during the BB
period 10 (5,168) 101,359 (537,122) 19,941 - 57,398 26,632 (336,960)
Disposal of a subsidiary HERBLRR = (29,69) (340,238) = = 4m = (365,162)
Exchange differences EHZE (1,768) (43,677) (288,169) (14,214) (2,:890) (25,087) (4,708) (380,513)
Gross deferred tax liabiliies at 72023512 431R4)
31 December 2023 ERTRERE 44713 1,321,739 6,817,811 425,734 82,195 780,128 162,610 9,634,930
Deferred tax assets EERIEESE
Provision for Change in fair
Losses  impairment Provision for value of
available oftrade,  Tax effect of impairment of financial
for offsetting otherand  government inventories  assets at fair
Tax effect  against future long-term  grants relating Accrued  and properties  value through
of LAT taxable profits receivables to assets expense  held forsale  profit or loss Total
RS -
WS AR ES FBEEZ FER FBERN
THEER  ARERH EWFE  BEREN BIENESE  DTESIRR
WHREEE  FENER ARG HKye JERTE% HERE SREEZYZ @it
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i TER TER TR TER TR TR TER TR
At 31 March 2023 R2023%F34318 1,316,252 801,680 184,128 989,804 61,249 135,065 1,871 3,490,049
Deferred tax credited/(charged) BNRGAERRN
to the consolidated statement 5t A/ (F15 )
of profitor loss during the ~ {EXEFE
period 10 73,807 139,827 189,571 (4,989) - 139,772 266,626 804,614
Disposal of a subsiiary HERBLRA (14,440) (88,109) (8623) (5:818) - (12,554) - (129,544)
Exchange differences EREE (44,514) (26,863) (5,755) (33,087) (2,080) (4219 639 (115,879)
Gross deferred tax assetsat 12023124318
31 December 2023 HEETHESE 1,331,105 826,535 359,321 945,910 59,169 258,064 269,136 4,049,240
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

31. Deferred Tax (Continued) 31. EZEBE )
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHESE
Fair value
adjustments
Costs to Accelerated Revaluation Revaluation of Capitalised arising from
obtain tax  ofinvestment Withholding ~ property, plant interest remeasure of
contracts depreciation properties taxes  and equipment expense an associate Total
BERE)
BifitE
U G % HER EEZATE
HA  MEBUERE  REMESH b BUEL usieitt RE £
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 T Thr TiEn T ThT TiEn T Thn
At 31 March 2022 R20253A318 64,538 1,237,032 8,535,598 456,885 91,841 665,028 - 11,050,922
Deferred tax charged/(credited) ~ FAREABHEER
to the consolidated statement  31% /(5 AEIEE
of profit or loss during the year ~ 778 10 8122 147,355 45131 3,644 - 126,627 140,341 454,976
Disposal of a subsidary LERBAR - - - (6,922) - - - (6,922)
Exchange differences EREE (4,767) (90,635) (597,389) (33,600) (6,756) (48,609) 345 (781,411)
Gross deferred tax liabilites at 7202343431849
31 March 2023 BETHERE 51,649 1,293,752 7,983,340 420,007 85,085 743,046 140,686 10,717,565
Deferred tax assets BEEMIEEE
Provision for Change in fair
Losses impairment Provision for value of
available of trade, Tax effect of impairment of financial
for offsetting other and government inventories  assets at fair
Taxeffect  against future long-term  grants relating Accrued  and properties  value through
of LAT  taxable profits receivables 10 assets expense  heldforsale  profitor loss Total
MREE  HpRRE  BHAEC FERh  BBEREN
HEEER  RRERR FUGE  BFEE BIEMERE  DTESRS
MRBTE  FERER HERE hikgE JEthx BERE cREENE it
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ik T TR L TR TR Tin TiEn TR
At 31 March 2022 R202%53A318 1,637,229 700,131 163,551 1,085,058 70,351 24,639 3,287 3,684,246
Deferred tax credited/(charged) £ARGABERA
to the consolidated statement 5t/ (415 ))
of profit or loss during the ~ EXERTR
year 10 (200,050) 152,676 42,29 (7,985) (3917) 111,963 (1171) 93,806
Disposal of a subsidiary HENBAR - - (9,786) - - - - (9,786)
Exchange differences ERER (120,927) (51,127) (11,927) (87,269) (5,185) (1,537) (245) (278217
Gross deferred tax assetsat 720236343184
31 March 2023 EETHEEE 1,316,252 801,680 184,128 989,804 61,249 135,065 1871 3,490,049
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

31.

Deferred Tax (Continued)

At the end of reporting period, the Group has unrecognised tax
losses arising in Hong Kong of HK$1,248,228,000 (31 March 2023:
HK$1,154,660,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses

arose.

At the end of reporting period, the Group also has unrecognised
tax losses in Chinese Mainland of HK$2,777,047,000 (31 March
2023: HK$2,445,739,000) that will expire in one to five years for
offsetting against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-
making for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Chinese Mainland.
The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to
earnings generated from 1 January 2008. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Chinese
Mainland and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore
liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by subsidiaries
established in Chinese Mainland in respect of earnings generated
from 1 January 2008. In the current period, the Group accrued
withholding tax of HK$19,941,000 (year ended 31 March 2023:
HK$3,644,000) for those subsidiaries established in Chinese
Mainland.

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
was approximately HK$7,263,676,000 (31 March 2023:
HK$9,721,467,000). No liability has been recognised in respect of
these differences because the Group is in a position to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 43

31.

IERER TH ()

RIREEIRE - AEBREBE LR RERB
TBE518/41,248,228,0007% 7L (202343 8318 -
1,154,660,000/8 7T ) - AIMEPR HA4E 48 - LASK 8K
EEBBNRRRRERBEF o
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

32. Share Capital 32. B
Shares dni)
31 December 2023 31 March 2023
2023%12H31H 20233 A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Issued and fully paid: BETREE
11,441,892,848 (31 March 2023: 11,441,892,8480% (20234
11,441,892,848) ordinary shares 3A318 : 11,441,892,848
PR ) B Ak 9,131,812 9,131,812
A summary of the movements in the Company’s share capital is as NARAZEHEIAT -
follows:
Number of
shares in issue Share capital
ERITROHE [
HK$'000
FAET
At 1 April 2022 H2022F4A1H 8,091,892,848 7,222,312
Issuance of new shares (Note (a)) BT (M 5% () 3,350,000,000 1,909,500
At 31 March 2023, 1 April 2023 and 72023438318 + 20234
31 December 2023 4818 %2023%F12A31H 11,441,892,848 9,131,812
Note: BT

(a) On 16 May 2022, an aggregate of 3,350,000,000 new shares were
issued and allocated under the specific mandate and in accordance
with terms and conditions of the subscription agreement by the
Company to SZCDG at a subscription price of HK$0.57 per share.

Share options
Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share
options issued under the scheme are included in note 33 to the
financial statements.

(@)  R2022F5A168 & AR EMRIEERIBIE &R
B AR R R R R R R E 1T KA
4 ££3,350,000,000 1% - REE AER

0.5787T °

B

AR AR B MR BERT 8I RN ET &I T 2 #1TH

BRI FHN M TS MR AOMEESS -
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

33.

Share Options

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 4 September
2009 (the “2009 Share Option Scheme”) to provide incentives
and reward to selected eligible persons which include directors,
employees, officers, agents, consultants or representatives of
the Group for their contribution or potential contribution to the
Company or its subsidiaries. The 2009 Share Option Scheme
became effective on 30 September 2009 and, has expired on 13
September 2019.

Another share option scheme (the “2019 Share Option Scheme”)
was approved by the shareholders in annual general meetings and
became effective on 13 September 2019 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that
date. Pursuant to the terms of the 2019 Share Option Scheme, the
Company may grant options at its discretion, to any eligible persons
which include executive and non-executive directors, employees,
officers, agents or consultants of the Company or any subsidiary for
their contribution or potential contribution to the Group.

The following share options were outstanding under the 2009
Share Option Scheme and 2019 Share Option Scheme during the

33. B

NAEE 200949 A 4 B IR 4 8 IR 51 &
([20095F BN AERT &1 1) » M AR A RIS HMTE
ARMEL RSB EENEIBESERALT
(REASEES B8 =fBE 1B F
IR R ) IRHERE R B - 2009F BAREET
£/ 52009F9 430 AR - MEF2019F9 A
13BEIHE -

IR B ([ 2019F BAERT 81 DX
REFREG LRGERRIAE - XHN20196F9A
13EAEM - BARZARERTF(FRIFBURHK
TEHIERT) » RIB2019FBEAMERT B MO 165K
ARBARBER(ARABREMHBEAR2ESE
(BEHITIFNTES) - BE - RARE -
RIBRER) AR EBA LR THBERE - A
M PIEARENEREEETR

RERF AR E2009F B IR 21 F120195 8
REAEET & AR TE 2 AN ¢

period/year:
For the period ended For the period ended
31 December 2023 31 March 2023
22023512831 A HM BZ2023%3A3104H
Weighted Weighted
average exercise Number of  average exercise Number of
price per share options price per share options
BRinE SR
FHTRE BREHE THTRE ERER e
HK$ ‘000 HK$ '000
BT T BT T
At the beginning of period/year W/ EA) 12117 128,300 1.2817 189,300
Lapsed during the period/year 8/ FERRM 2.1051 (45,000) 1.7960 (58,000)
Forfeited during the period/year 8/ F R - - 1.0000 (3,000)
At the end of period/year R/ ER 1.0292 83,300 12117 128,300
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

33. Share Options (Continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options

outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

31 December 2023

Number of options

Exercise price

33. [BRE®)

RIBEHR - RITEBRENITER RITES

m

2023%12H31H

Exercise period

BREHE THEE 1TEE
‘000 HKS$ per share
TR sRERT
3,000 1.81 13-04-2019 to 12-04-2024

20194 H13H £202454812H

10,100 1.00 07-02-2021 to 06-02-2025
202152 H7H%202552H6H

10,100 1.00 07-02-2022 to 06-02-2025
20222 H7H%E2025%286H

10,100 1.00 07-02-2023 to 06-02-2025
20232 H7H%E2025%286H

10,000 1.00 29-06-2022 to 28-06-2026
202256 H29F £2026F6 H28H

10,000 1.00 29-06-2023 to 28-06-2026
20236 H29H £2026F6H28H

10,000 1.00 29-06-2024 to 28-06-2026
20246 H29H £2026%F6H28H

20,000 1.00 31-03-2022 to 30-03-2026
202253 H31H£202653H30H

83,300
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

33. Share Options (Continued)
31 March 2023

Number of options

Exercise price

33. BRE®
2023%F3A31H

Exercise period

fE S B 1T1L(E Rt
‘000 HK$ per share
T BRATT
2,000 1.75 22-08-2018 to 21-08-2023
20188 H22H=2023%F8H21H
40,000 1.52 03-07-2018 to 02-07-2023
2018%F7H3B%2023F7H2H
3,000 1.81 13-04-2018 to 12-04-2023
2018F4 73138 %2023F4812H
3,000 1.81 13-04-2019 to 12-04-2024
20194 A13H 2202454128
10,100 1.00 07-02-2021 to 06-02-2025
202152 78520252 A6H
10,100 1.00 07-02-2022 to 06-02-2025
20222 A7H%E2025%2A6H
10,100 1.00 07-02-2023 to 06-02-2025
2023F2 A7H%E2025%F2A6H
10,000 1.00 29-06-2022 to 28-06-2026
2022965298 %2026 6 28H
10,000 1.00 29-06-2023 to 28-06-2026
20236 A29H £2026%6A28H
10,000 1.00 29-06-2024 to 28-06-2026
20246 H29H 220266 A28H
20,000 1.00 31-03-2022 to 30-03-2026
2022%3A318%2026%3A30H
128,300
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

33.

34.

Share Options (Continued)

The Group recognised a share option expense of HK$462,000 (year
ended 31 March 2023: HK$1,160,000) during the nine months
ended 31 December 2023.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 83,300,000
share options outstanding under the Share Option Scheme, which
represented approximately 0.73% of the Company’s shares in
issue as at that date. The exercise in full of the outstanding share
options would, under the present capital structure of the Company,
result in the issue of 83,300,000 additional ordinary shares of the
Company and additional share capital of HK$85,730,000 (before
issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 83,300,000 share options outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme, which represented approximately 0.73% of the Company's
shares in issue as at that date.

Other Reserves

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current period and the prior year are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 169 to 171
of the financial statements.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Sino-foreign
joint venture enterprises, a portion of the profits of the Group's
subsidiaries which are established in the PRC has been transferred

to the statutory reserve which is restricted as to use.

The capital reserve represents additional contribution made by the
shareholders of the Company’s subsidiaries and, in the case of an
acquisition of an additional equity interest in a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary, the difference between the cost of acquisition and the

non-controlling interests acquired.

The revaluation reserve represents the difference arising from
the change in use from owner-occupied properties to investment
properties carried at fair value.

34,

BRE®

EHE2023F12A31HIENEAR - AEEERE
% ¥ 2 462,000 7T (Bl 2202363 A31H
IE4FE © 1,160,000/87T) °

REBEEARE - RIBERESS - XAFHE
83,300,00019 R1T{L X HE - HER AR AEE
HE#TIR1D40.73% ° IRIBANQFIARHE
REEME - 2BITERITEERESSEHR
ZKX 8)E51783,300,000 A% B8 H & 38 A% 12 78 SN
785,730,000/ 7T (F0BREEITHISZ A ©

RS0 BHREMLAEER - $E%FE%HX%*+2U
K72 8)/5 83,300,000/ A ITEEREAE - AE
ARRE HBEEITIRHH0.73% ©
HibfEE

ERAEENARREFNREREZHE 2
FIRBI IR E 1692171 BN AR EE)
7 o

%ﬁ

REBEPINEBERMBRERLESR - AKEIE
THEPERINMBATND NEEEREE
REXREINEEREE

BRI D RIMEB AR 2 BERVEH RSN
TE  ARERBE-FIEREMB AR MR
Pt - WRBR AN BT IR Bl N 2
R

EhHEEEERZEEMREAMEE /AR
FEIRNREMEMELNER -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

35.

Disposal of Subsidiaries

On 16 December 2022, China South City Group, Shenzhen China
South City and Shenzhen Shenji No. 1 entered into the investment
agreement(the “Agreement”), pursuant to which Shenzhen Sheniji
No. 1 agreed to subscribe, and the Xi'an China South City Co., Ltd.
("Xi'an China South City”) agreed to issue, the subscription shares
at the subscription consideration of RMB5,000 million of which
RMB2,000 million (equivalent to HK$2,285 million) and RMB1,380
million (equivalent to HK$1,517 million) have been received in
March 2023 and April 2023, respectively. The completion of
the disposal of Xi‘an China South City took place in May 2023.
Upon completion, the equity interest in Xi‘an China South City of
China South City Group decreased from 100% to 30.6472%. The
Group lost control over Xi‘an China South City. This transaction is
accounted for as deemed disposal of a subsidiary.

Pursuant to the buy-back clause contained in the Agreement, upon
the occurrence of certain triggering events from the date falling
54 months after completion, Shenzhen Shenji No. 1 is entitled to
sell at its discretion all or part of the shares held by it in the Xi'an
China South City to the China South City Group and/or Shenzhen
China South City from the date falling 54 months after completion
at an exercise price set out in an announcement of the Company
dated 16 December 2022. The put option liabilities is classified as
financial liabilities at fair value through or loss on initial recognition
and are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. The Company has assessed the fair value of the put
option liabilities amounting to HK$214,015,000 as at 6 May 2023.
The Company has reassessed the fair value of the put option as at
31 December 2023 and the fair value of the put option liabilities
amounting to HK$1,070,077,000.
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202212168 - E@MWMEE - RIIFERM
ERYIFESHEIRERZ (B - R
RE—RAERE  ALEEWEBRAFA
ZEMAMDRAZETRERG  REREAA
R¥ES01ETT - P ARBE201E T (FH55222.85
BHEIL) RARKEI38EIL(FEER1517(EA
JL) B B 2023 43 A 202344 A YE -
P EMMEEN2023F5A7%/K - THkE -
EMNEES AR ERMRRERI100%EE
30.6472% ° 7N 5 [ 2K K 3 7E 22 2 1 4k A0 4 )
1 o NARGVERBEE TRAEITETRE -

BB EP I EEEGER - B REE54EARE
ARUEBEEMHR - RYIRE—RERRNEBL
EHAIFENEMBHEBAIRD o B THES4HE
Az A KA AFIHEA2022F12A16HK)
NEMHWITEE  BATERNEREER
WREE R, SORYIZER R o RGEIEAERR
NisERFHERABEREEUNATEIEZS
BEE  WAATERE  ATEZETAE
oo AR FHERE B B ER2023F5 76
AHAF{EA214,015,00087C - AARIEEH
A ROh B 2023F 12 A3 AW A FERR
SHEAE B EM A TEA1,070,077,00058 7T
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

35. Disposal of Subsidiaries (Continued)

The aggregate assets and liabilities in respect of the above disposal

were as follows:

35. EEMIB AR (4
FEENEERAEEENT

As at
6 May 2023
R202355H6H
HK$'000
FHBT
Net assets disposed of: FEEZRE
Current assets MENEE 5,990,069
Non-current assets EMBNE EE 3,811,320
Current liabilities nBEE (7.152,408)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (365,161)
2,283,821
Put option liabilities ROLHIERE 214,015
Exchange fluctuation reserve B 34,82 Eh (i 15,062
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary REWB AT EE (122,222)
The fair value of the remaining equity of a subsidiary 7202345 A6 A R E M B FIERIRED
after the disposal as at 6 May 2023 ~¥E 2,390,676

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect

of the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows:

BREFRAREMRSFEBWFRASNAT

As at

6 May 2023

R202355H6H

HK$'000

FHT

Cash received from disposal of a subsidiary B2 KA R TR & 1,517,034

Cash and bank balances disposed of FTEE B BIR & MIRTTIF K (300,532)
Net inflow of cash equivalents in respect of EREEMB ARG AR S &

the disposal of a subsidiary RITHERFRA 1,216,502
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

35. Disposal of Subsidiaries (Continued) 35. REME AR E)

294

On 18 July 2022, the Company and its substantial shareholder
SZCDG, a company directly owned 29.28% equity interest in
the Company entered into one investment agreement (the
“Agreement”). Pursuant to the Agreement, SZCDG agrees to
invest, by way of share subscription and/or share sale, in the then
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, namely First Asia Pacific
Group, at a consideration (the “Consideration”) of approximately
HK$1,435,414,000 (the “Transaction”). The Transaction was
completed on 23 December 2022 and SZCDG became a holder
of 50% equity interest in First Asia Pacific Group. Since then, First
Asia Pacific Group ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company and its
financial results was not be consolidated into the Group's financial
statements.

Pursuant to the buy-back clause contained in the Agreement, upon
the occurrence of the certain triggering events during the three-
year investment period, the Company has a contractual obligation
to buy-back the 50% equity interest in First Asia Pacific Group from
SZCDG at an exercise price set out in an announcement of the
Company dated 18 July 2022. The Company has reassessed the
fair value of the put option liabilities as at 31 March 2023 and 31
December 2023 and regarded fair value of the put option liabilities
as insignificant.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

35. Disposal of Subsidiaries (Continued) 35. REME AR E)
The aggregate assets and liabilities in respect of the above disposals A FRENEELTMEEETIT
were as follows:

As at
23 December
2022
72022412 H23H
HK$'000
F&T
Net assets disposed of: FEEZRE
Current assets MBNEE 1,220,870
Non-current assets EMENEE 3,326
Current liabilities nEEE (865,973)
358,223
Exchange fluctuation reserve bE R R BN (40,409)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary BREWRAT &M 2,553,014
2,870,828
Satisfied by: ZRAR
Consideration receivables R Z WA 143,541
Cash Be 1,291,873
The fair value of the remaining equity of a subsidiary R2022F12A23BEENBARIEZ
after the Disposal as at 23 December 2022 FepE= AT E 1,435,414
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and bank balances in respect BHEEE —WBAFME S RRITFIFRA
of the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows: DT
As at
23 December
2022
2022412 H23H
HK$'000
FHT
Cash received from disposal of a subsidiary BENBARMMKEE S 1,291,873
Cash and bank balances disposed of FTERIRIR & RIRITIFAX (162,733)
Net inflow of cash and bank balances in respect of EiE BB AR AMIR S RIRTT
the disposal of subsidiaries FHFRA 1,129,140
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

36. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows

36. REREREBRME

(a) Major non-cash transactions (a) FEHFRERS
During the period, the Group had non-cash additions to HA - AEEEAEZHREEE BN
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of Nil (year ended 31 CREEEIREEABZIFRSEND
March 2023: HK$16,360,000) and Nil (year ended 31 March Al AE(BZE2023F3A31HILFE
2023: HK$16,360,000), respectively, in respect of lease 16,360,000/8 7T ) [z M (B E 202343 A31
arrangements for property. H1E9FE 1 16,360,000/ 7T) °
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEITHELENEELT
activities
Interest
Interest- payable
bearing Amounts included in
bank due to trade and
and other related Senior other Lease
borrowings parties notes payables liabilities
BESREAM
FERTR  EABEBS BRTIER
HipfE & A BERE HNEMFR HEaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERx THET THER THEx TR
At 1 April 2023 R202354R1R 21,279,156 189,973 11,551,606 104,189 26,770
Changes from MEREREH
financing cash flows 842,207 465,524  (1,935,808) (1,196,784) (9,004)
Interest expense FMEFT - - 840,723 1,222,087 1,127
Disposal of subsidiaries REMBAF - - - - 15,532
Exchange realignment P AR (825,583) (5,228) - (14,405) (796)
At 31 December 2023 2023512 A431H 21,295,780 649,269 10,456,521 245,378 2,565
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

36. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash 36. KEBEEREXRMT @
Flows (Continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEETHEENABEH )
activities (Continued)

Interest

payable

Interest- Amounts included in

bearing bank due to trade and
and other related Senior Medium- Domestic other Lease
horrowings parties notes term notes  company bonds payables liabilities

BHREM

SRRITR fef BARE ERFIER
AtfEE  BEATE BRZE AR EF  HERTS HERE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TEL TAL TRL THL THL THL

At 1 April 2022 202254 A18 21,083,572 - 12,295,164 799,382 1,797,258 199,857 25,271
Changes from BERSTE
financing
cash flows 2,107,316 189,973 (2,088,122) (796,186) (1,742,965) (1,812,826) (14,891)
New leases Feibiihy - - - - - - 16,360
nterestexpense  FEEE - o 1304564 3,050 47187 1720440 1,749
Exchange realignment  [E34 5% (191,732 - - (6246 (101,480) 3282) (1,719)
A3 March 2023 H023E3B31B 21279156 189973 11,551,606 - - 104189 26,770
(c) Total cash outflow for leases () HEARSARH
The total cash outflow for leases included in the consolidated AARAEESRERNHEEAR S RHN
statement of cash flows is as follows: T
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
2023%F12H31H 202343 F31H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Within operating activities FFALE RSN 29,289 7,025
Within financing activities STABEEBA 9,004 14,891
38,293 21,916
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

37.

38.

Pledge of Assets

Details of the Group's assets pledged for the Group’s bank and
other borrowings are included in notes 14, 15, 16, 21, 25 and 29
to the financial statements.

Contingent Liabilities
At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not
provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

37.

38.

BEEERH
UAREENEEERFENRITREMEEFE
BRI SRR IEE14 - 1516~ 21 ~ 25829 ©

RAREE
Rk -
T

MBHERARBEEORARR

31 December 31 March
2023 2023
2023%12A31H 2023F3H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Guarantees given to banks in connection BLLAT & 7 BRI RLE M)

with facilities granted to: RITIRAEAHER -
Third parties F=H 5,560,098 8,275,671
Related parties B2k 3,310,500 -
8,870,598 8,275,671

At 31 December 2023, the Group has provided guarantees in
respect of banking facilities granted to certain related parties
amounting to HK$3,310,500,000 (31 March 2023: Nil), which
were utilized to the extent of HK$1,615,646,000 (31 March 2023:
Nil). The Directors consider the fair value of the guarantees is not
significant.

The Group has provided guarantees in respect of banking facilities
granted by certain banks to the purchasers of the Group's
properties held for sale and held for finance lease. Pursuant to the
terms of the guarantees, if there is default of the loan payments by
the purchasers and lessees, the Group is responsible for repaying
the outstanding loans together with accrued interest thereon and
any penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers and lessees to banks.
The Group is then entitled to take over the legal titles and usage
rights of the related properties. For trade centre units and residential
properties sold, the guarantee periods commence from the dates
of grant of the relevant loans and ends when the purchasers obtain
the building ownership certificates which will then be pledged to
the banks. For residential and commercial properties under finance
lease, the guarantees will be released upon the full repayment of
loan principals by the lessees.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

38. Contingent Liabilities (Continued) 38. AREE®)
The Group did not incur any material losses during the financial REBRMRFEEALEA QR EEYENE
year in respect of the guarantees provided for mortgage facilities R M AR ER RIS R B I PR (B IR 1 8%
granted to the purchasers and lessees of the Group's properties. BEMEREE - EFERA - MEBRERRIE
The Directors consider that in case of default on payments, the net BIER - AEEMEN TR FETAZNRE
realisable value of the related properties can cover the repayment of BIZBEFGERTMESFERIF  BER
the outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued interest ZAFETIERK -
and penalty, and therefore the fair value of the guarantees is not
significant.

39. Commitments 39. &IE
The Group had the following commitments at the end of the REBERIRERE THIEE

reporting period:

31 December 31 March
2023 2023
2023%F12A31H 202343 A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAET
Contracted, but not provided for: EHEVEES T
Properties under development BRPYE 6,430,567 9,808,395
40. Related Party Transactions 40. BHARXS
(i) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in (i) BARBBRIREMIBAOFAROZTZIN - &K
these financial statements, the Group had the following EERR2023F 124318 A LEAALME A &
transactions with SZCDG and its subsidiaries (collectively HEREEEERHENE AR (FRHE FEE
“SZCDG Group”) and First Asia Pacific Group for the nine BEEEE])RE - RKEBEETUT
months ended 31 December 2023: 5
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
2023%F12H31H 20233 A31H
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
b FERT FAT
First Asia Pacific Group F—TAEE
Property management services MEEIL R (1 277,505 84,489
SZCDG Group (et S L]
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 35) EEMBAR
(F%E 35) 1,517,034 1,435,414
Advances from disposal of a subsidiary 5z & Bfi &2 7)Y
FafRt K - 2,284,600
Business management services R E IR RS (M 4,800 -
Interest-bearing loans FFEER @) 464,524 189,973
Interest expense FERX 13,609 9,601
1,999,967 3,919,588
Xi‘an China South City TR
Short-term lease expense MHHEEA (1 22,515 -
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

40. Related Party Transactions (Continued)

40. BEESRZ (@)

(i) (Continued) (i) &
Notes: B aE
(1) The rates and conditions of the services are similar to those (1) REHBERMNEHERBILE=FREME
offered to independent third parties. RBRFE L -
(2)  Interest-bearing loans were provided from a subsidiary of ) HBEFEEZEBZWNBEARMNGEER
SZCDG based on mutually agreed terms and interest bearing ERBETHEZ FRK6%-8%FE
at a rate of 6%-8% per annum. HYEFIR o
Save as disclosed above and the balances detailed in note % F XA E R SR 2750
27 to the financial statements, the Group had no material LEEAGN - B Z2023F 12 B31H IEAE S
transactions and outstanding balances with related parties for BRI M A ZE2023FE3A31HILEE » A&
the nine months ended 31 December 2023 and year ended BEEH SV EEAT SRR SLES o
31 March 2023.
The related party transactions in respect of Property HE -GS AEENYWESERKE
management services HK$277,505,000 with First Asia Pacific 277,505,000/ T K BlAS @i B EE v £
Group and Business management services HK$4,800,000 ] ) 79 £ % 12 R 754,800,000 7T 8 B B4
with SZCDG Group above also constitute connected FRSIER FHEEE T UAZFITEE
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined MBER SR ISERERS -
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
(i) Compensation of key management (i) XEEXEEEASEH
personnel of the Group
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
2023%12A31H 2023%3A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Short term employee benefits R HEE T 11,481 15,351
Post-employment benefits BER21E N 42 54
Equity-settled share option expense VAR 2R A5 S BV BB IR B 2 462 1,458
Total compensation paid to key XN TEEEEASNT R
management personnel 11,985 16,863

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note
8 to the financial statements.
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

41. Financial Instruments by Category
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

31 December 2023
Financial assets

41. eWMIBDE
RIBEHIF - SESMTANEERMENT :

2023F12A31H
EREE

Financial assets
at fair value
through profit
or loss

BBBAEUNTE

FilRe ERMEE

Financial assets
measured at

Designated as
such upon initial

recognition amortised cost Total
HNSEAR  REHRAHE
EEA ZEMEE oy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FTHEr FTER TET
Trade receivables JEUE 5 iR - 712,725 712,725
Other long-term receivables H il MR R IE - 81,626 81,626
Financial assets included in prepayments, 5T ATEF 3B « E R GIE
other receivables and other assets REMEE SREE - 525,650 525,650
Amount due from a related party JEUS RS X R ROE - 138,666 138,666
Financial assets at fair value through BBRBRIANTENRZ &8
profit or loss BE 3,724 - 3,724
Restricted cash XRHIER - 913,556 913,556
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEED - 230,088 230,088
3,724 2,602,311 2,606,035
Financial liabilities SRIEE
Financial liabilities
at fair value
through profit
or loss
EREZUATE
JifRz e s
Mandatorily Financial liabilities
designated measured at
as such amortised cost Total
REBHRA
BEEERA EZSREE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FTiER THET
Financial liabilities included in trade and s AE 5 K H b B B H)
other payables TRER - 6,109,457 6,109,457
Amounts due to associates JERTEE & R A ZIE - 869,925 869,925
Amounts due to related parties JE 1~ R X R RUE - 1,205,832 1,205,832
Financial liabilities at fair value through  EBEZAATFETIEZ
profit or loss =t 1,074,695 - 1,074,695
Interest-bearing bank and other FERITREMBEE
borrowings - 21,295,780 21,295,780
Senior notes BERE - 10,456,521 10,456,521
1,074,695 39,937,515 41,012,210
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt 5 R R B o ()

Financial Instruments by Category (Continued)

31 March 2023

Financial assets

. ERMIAESE®
20233 H31H

TEMEE

Financial assets
at fair value
through profit
or loss

FRBRUALNTE

Designated as
such upon initial

Financial assets
measured at

recognition amortised cost Total
FENSERNE  REERAHE
EER CEREE mEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHL FHT FET
Trade receivables U E SRR - 977,068 977,068
Other long-term receivables H i REFRE R - 896,447 896,447
Financial assets included in prepayments, s ATBfF0E » ﬁ’rﬂlﬂ’i”ﬁl
other receivables and other assets &Eﬁﬂﬁ?Z’fwﬂﬁF - 1,481,862 1,481,862
Amount due from a related party e BEES A ) - 143,541 143,541
Financial assets at fair value through BBRBZIUAA ?fﬁﬁll,ﬁﬁz%ﬁi
profit or loss BE 5,668 - 5,668
Restricted cash XRHIES - 1,150,358 1,150,358
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReSFEY - 1,374,716 1,374,716
5,668 6,023,992 6,029,660
Financial liabilities cRBeE
Financial liabilities
at fair value
through profit
or loss
FRBHEUAATE
PRz SmaRE
Mandatorily  Financial liabilities
designated measured at
as such amortised cost Total
TR SRR
wHlETER  FTEZEEAR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FET
Financial liabilities included in trade and 5+ A& 5 M E b fE M FIEH)
other payables cHAR - 6,239,691 6,239,691
Amounts due to associates JEFTEE D T/TAIE - 926,257 926,257
Amounts due to related parties JEHEQH%Q - 2,474,573 2,474,573
Financial liabilities at fair value through & B8 :FE@JEEZ
profit or loss %mﬂ‘iEL 8,489 - 8,489
Interest-bearing bank and other HESRITRAMBEE
borrowings - 21,279,156 21,279,156
Senior notes BERE - 11,551,606 11,551,606
Other long-term payables HipREEM R - 15,828 15,828
8,489 42,487,111 42,495,600
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Bt 5 R R B o ()

31 December 2023 20234 12831H

42. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial 42. €@ T AEZAFERAFEERE
Instruments B

REE BT A REERATEREER

NHEBEEMLERINAT

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values
SREE NE

31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March
2023 2023 2023 2023
20235 20234 2023%F 20234
12A31H 3A31H 12A31H 3H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHT FHERT FHET
Senior notes BhEE 10,456,521 11,551,606 2,744,443 9,466,793

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and bank
balances, trade receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets, financial liabilities included in
trade and other payables and the current portion of interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings, approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s management is responsible for determining the
policies and procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The management reports directly to the Directors
and the audit committee. At each reporting date, management
analyzes the movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation
is reviewed and approved by the Directors. The valuation process
and results are discussed with the audit committee twice a year for
interim and annual financial reporting.

ERECHMHRELRITER - BEENR 2
BMEEBRBNIR RMOEUREREME
E eREEERES REMRBNFANTE
RITREMEENNRHIA D BEXE 2 REE
BE  TERARZETAREHAZE -

AEEEREREETEMITARFEAEZ
BERNERF  EEEERAEENERZES
HE - NEREAY EREOMERTAZ
EEZDIEEHRETERNEIETLE - HE
MEFEEZLME - HEBEIEROAERZ
BEgEFammR - IE25R PR EEHR
RS °
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt 5 R R B o ()

31 December 2023 20234 12831H

42.

Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial
Instruments (Continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were
used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the other long-term receivables, other long-term
payables and non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The Group’s own
non-performance risk in interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
as at 31 December 2023 was assessed to be insignificant. The fair
values of the other long-term receivables, other long-term payables
and non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings are not materially different from their carrying amounts.

The fair values of senior notes were calculated by using the quoted
market prices on 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's financial instruments which
comprised financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss were measured at fair value. The Group’s financial assets/
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprised unlisted
investments, interest rate swaps and put option liabilities. The fair
values of the unlisted investments have been estimated using the
valuation methodology according to the price of recent investments.
The Group signed interest rate swaps with banks in Chinese
Mainland. These agreements were measured using valuation
techniques including the net present value of the cash flow model.
The models incorporate various market observable inputs including
the credit quality of the financial institution, risk-free interest rate,
interest rate and spot prices. The fair values of put option liabilities
have been estimated using the allocation model with Black-Scholes
option pricing formula. The models incorporate various market
observable inputs including risk-free interest rate as well as other
unobservable inputs.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

42. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial

Instruments (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy

of the Group's financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value

B
DNEEER

RAFETEZEE
Fair value measurement using
ERARATETE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs

ERmE EATER EAFUBE
ZHE LPN ¢ BARE

42. TMTACZAFERAFESRE

AEEzEBTANAFEFEBRIENTE

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(F14R) (2%) (%34%) s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHEL FHT FTET
As at 31 December 2023 #2023%F12A31H
Unlisted investments FETRE - - 3,724 3,724
As at 31 March 2023 7202334314
Unlisted investments FETERE - - 5,668 5,668
Liabilities measured at fair value BATEFEZERS
Fair value measurement using
FRRATEE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
TR BAABE EATUBR
ZHE BARE BWARE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(F11R) (%21%) (%34) ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEL FAT TR TET
As at 31 December 2023 #2023F12A31H
Put option liabilities REEER - - 1,070,077 1,070,077
Interest rate swaps MEEHR S = 4,618 = 4,618
As at 31 March 2023 $2023F3831H
Interest rate swaps FlxBHZH - 8,489 - 8,489
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

42. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial
Instruments (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative
sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2023:

42.

ERMTAEZAFERAFESRE
B

AEEER )
EHERLAFEFENER

UTRHEE 2023 F 12 A 31 BT AMKE
) B A B SR A BUR A N B E DA
MmE

Valuation Significant Sensitivity relationship of
techniques unobservable inputs Range unobservable inputs to fair value
TUBRHABER
fEER EXTHEERAHE €8 AVEZBRERE
Put option liabilities Black-Scholes option  Volatility 14.37% 5% increase/decrease in volatility would increase/
pricing formula decrease in fair value of HK$9,157,000/
HK$21,913,000
RLHEEE Black-Scholes D EES RBEILI,HD 5% HEHATEL N, HD
HREEAR 9,157,000 7T,/21,913,000% 7T
Risk-free interest 233% 5% increase/decrease in risk-free interest rate would
rate decrease in fair value of HK$13,174,000/HK$209,000
ERERTX ERRTIEENROS%EEHATERD

13,174,000/ 7T,/209,0007 1T

During the period, there were no transfer of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfer into or
out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities (year
ended 31 March 2023: Nil).
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

42. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial

Instruments (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed

As at 31 December 2023

42, SRTEZAFERAFESRE

B
AEEER )
EEREATHEHzSRMAR
M2023F12A318
Fair value
measurement

using quoted
prices in

active markets
(Level 1)
FERANERMSEZ
RENAFETE
(BB—4)
HK$'000

Tt

Senior notes

BERE

2,744,443

As at 31 March 2023

7202353 H31H

Fair value
measurement
using quoted

prices in

active markets
(Level 1)

AR EETISZ
WEHRFEZ
(B—H)

HK$'000

FHET

Senior notes

BERE

9,466,793
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

43. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 43. BERKREEBBERBER

308

Policies

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise bank and
other borrowings, senior notes, medium-term notes, domestic
company bonds and cash and short-term deposits. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the
Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets
such as trade receivables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign exchange risk.
The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarized below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to the
Group's borrowings. The interest rates and terms of repayment
of the Group’s borrowings are disclosed in notes 29 and 30 to
the financial statements. The Group's policy is to obtain the most
favourable interest rates available for its borrowings.

The Group constantly assesses the interest rate risk it encounters to
decide whether it is required to hedge against the possible interest
rate risk that may arise.

On 31 December 2023, if the interest rate of bank borrowings
had increased/decreased by 25 basis points and all other factors
remained unchanged, the profit after tax for the period of
the Group would have decreased/increased by approximately
HK$53,239,000 (31 March 2023: HK$53,198,000).
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31 December 2023 20234 12831H

43. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 43. BIEEREEBERBEEE)
Policies (Continued)
Credit risk S8R
Maximum exposure and period/year-end staging BESENY FRoH
The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum TRERTERAESEEERRNEELEN
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is EaEERBREE  RIFEMAIRERLTE
mainly based on past due information unless other information is BEEINRARINT - ZIEERREZENBE
available without undue cost or effort, and period/year-end staging BWEE  UEEZE12A318,73A31 888,/
classification as at 31 December/31 March. FROMDHE
As at 31 December 2023 72023%12H31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8A 8 E{EHR
BHEERFE BHEERFE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
K- BE= K= 5% HnE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx FEx TERT FET THx
Other long-term receivables Hih R 13,780 120,602 1,020,109 - 1,154,491
Trade receivables* EE 5 BR5 = = = 1,017,948 1,017,948
Financial assets included in STATERFIE - AfhfE
prepayments, other receivables WHRIE R At B
and other assets TREE 527,619 6,089 55,144 - 588,852
Restricted cash XRHEE 913,556 - - - 913,556
Cash and cash equivalents BeRREFEY 230,088 - - - 230,088
1,685,043 126,691 1,075,253 1,017,948 3,904,935
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt 5 R R B o ()

31 December 2023 20234 12831H

approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is
disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements.

To manage the risk, deposits are mainly placed with banks with
high credit quality. The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. For the sale of properties, the Group
has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to buyers with
appropriate financial strength and appropriate percentage of down
payments. The Group would not release the property ownership
certificates to the buyers before the buyers fully settle the payment.
It also has other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews regularly the recoverable amount of each individual trade
receivable to ensure that adequate provisions for impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. With exposure spread over
a number of counterparties and customers, the Group has no
significant concentration of credit risk.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 23 to
the financial statements.
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43. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 43. BIREAKREEEERBER ()
Policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERE )
As at 31 March 2023 R2023F3A31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A& B{EEE
BHEERE EHEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
PR — R = BE= Gl eapz %5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TET THET FAT TET AT
Other long-term receivables H ity RHEAE MR 1,267,772 - - - 1,267,772
Trade receivables* JEUWE 5 R - - - 1,307,359 1,307,359
Financial assets included in STAERFUE - At
prepayments, other receivables WeBRIE R B fth B A Y
and other assets SREE 1,489,097 - - - 1,489,097
Restricted cash XRHES 1,150,358 - - - 1,150,358
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEED 1,374,716 - - - 1,374,716
5,281,943 - - 1307359 6,589,302
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified * HRAEBERAB A ERERNEKE SRR -

HARENBEEREED IR B RERM 235

% -

REERR  AKBEIEEERFARGEEE
RHIRTT - AREERMNERAFENE=T
TR MHEMETE - AREEEITK
RERAAAEENBENRINEZEENL
ERNFONERFHEE - EEX2HEEN
KA ARETERHEZELEER - AKET
A Bt B AR Fr DARE (R SREX R A H5 h K 218
HAZOR © WO AEETERENESREANE
ZRBERFN TR S8R - ARSI E
SRELRANBEERIR - ARELEL
MEREHEERR - MAESNRRDBRE
ZRZGHTFREP °

BB R 5 AR K A {2 B AR RS
PR A — S R BRI B M 23
W -
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43. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 43. BIEEREEBERBEEE)
Policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk REBEEER
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity REEMBEEREBREARITREMEE - B
of funding and flexibility through the use of bank and other EEE BARE THEBRKBERRGME
borrowings, lease liabilities, senior notes, medium-term notes and 5 B RBEMEEEE 2 FNTE -

domestic company bonds.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end REERREBARRN SR A E 2 EAOR (%
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted RERARFTRAFTAT

payments, was as follows:

31 December 2023

2023%12A31H
Within One to Two to Beyond
On demand one year two years five years five years Total
EEX -fR  E-E-f  ECERA ki3 At

HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TiER TiER TR TR TR TR

Interest-bearing bank and other ERTREAMEE

borrowings - 8,737,355 5,158,060 5,463,971 5,038,334 24,397,720
Senior notes BEZE - 9,654,387 25211 1,748.299 - 11,627,957
Financial iabilties included in trade 3t ATEE 5 R EMIERFIR

and other payables (excluding lease ~ HI2BAB(TAHEER)

liabilities) - 6,106,892 - - - 6,106,892
Lease liabilities HEGE - 2,638 - - - 2,638
Amounts due to associates JEREE N RITE = 869,925 = = = 869,925
Amounts due to related parties JERTAR AR - 1,205,832 - - - 1,205,832
Financial liabilties at fair value ERBERNATETR

through profit or loss cRAE - 4,618 - 1,070,077 - 1,074,695
Financial guarantees granted to HE=ARTHBER

third parties 5,560,098 - - - - 5,560,098
Total izt 5,560,098 26,581,647 5,383,331 8,282,347 5,038,334 50,845,757
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43. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 43. MIBREREERERBER®)
Policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESRR

31 March 2023

2023%3A318
Within One to Two to Beyond
On demand one year two years five years five years Total
EEsk N F-2=F  F-Enf nEk 3t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TAR TAR TAR TAR TAR

Interest-bearing bank and other ERIREMEE

borrowings - 13,431,068 2,419,290 3,183,828 5,447 812 24,481,998
Senior notes BEZE - 2,012,195 11,002,507 - - 13,014,702
Financial liabilties included in trade ~ FTATENE 5 REMEFRFE

and other payables (exduding lease K& BEE(TEHERE)

liabilities) - 6,212,921 - - - 6,212,921
Lease liabilties HERE - 12,386 10,450 6,425 - 29,261
Amounts due to associates ANE-NS V] - 926,257 - - - 926,257
Amounts due to related parties FERER AR - 2474573 - - - 2474573
Financial liabilties at fair value ERBRNATETE

through profit or loss SHER - 8,489 - - - 8,489
Financial quarantees granted to HE=FRTHBER

third parties 8,275,671 - - - - 8,275,671
Total e 8,275,671 25,077,889 13,432,247 3,190,253 5447812 55,423,872

Foreign exchange risk HNEE B B

The Group only conducts business within Chinese Mainland. NEBEETEAELLER - BRENTL -
Except for interest payables, repayment of foreign currency loans REFEGFEELBEBRNEMINERINEERL S
obtained to finance the Group’s operations and any potential = AR EKTE AT A e mE R R TR B
future dividends of its subsidiaries that might be declared to their BIERR BN - REBAZLDOWA ~ BRIGE K
shareholders, the bulk of the Group’s revenue, capital investment HSXHUARBAEN - RETRBERER
and expenses are denominated in RMB. At the date of approval Bl - AREEFBRERNEXGHEIEEESRE
of the financial statements, the Group has not experienced any HE - RRE FE AR EE -

difficulties in obtaining government approval for its necessary
foreign exchange purchases.
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43. BIEEMREEEERBEK &)

43. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies (Continued)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the RMB
exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
profit/(loss) before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary

assets and liabilities).

471 BEE JRL B (42
TRBEREFEEMCEERBTEOBERT -
A EEBAFIE, (E8) R BRI AR
B A AEABEHOGBE - AERAFE
MEBHESSEERBENATELRES
B -

Changesin Increase/(decrease)
RMB rate in profit before tax

BiAIRIE
ARBEZRSE #n,/ i)
% HK$'000
FAT

31 December 2023 2023%12A31A

If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB BT E AR BESS 5 9)
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB BT AREER 5 9
31 March 2023 2023%3A31H

If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB BT AREESS 5 ©)
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB BT E AR B ER 5 9

Capital management EXEHE

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximize shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the nine months ended 31 December 2023
and the year ended 31 March 2023.

AEFREAEENERRRERTHEAEE
SEERIBRERL RN UFEE
BB IEREREABREE

REBRBLBEB RS 8 RAAEEE R R
SR BEEHBREBEUHHELRARE - A
RYUABREREE  AEETEeAERR
RIRFER SN - MRFIREE RN LEBEITH
Bg o AN B B AESFER IR E KRR
7E o HZE2023F 12 A31 B I UEA REE2023
FIANBILFE @ WERFLNEREENBER
R AE T o
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43. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 43. BIEEREEBERBEEE)
Policies (Continued)
Capital management (Continued) BREE(®)
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio (net debt to total REERAEAAGL R (ERFRERAERE
equity) and total liabilities to total assets ratio. Net debt includes BINBEHEELRETERNBER - B FHE
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, senior notes, medium BREGTERITREMEE - BAFE  PHE
term notes and domestic company bonds, less cash and bank BEIRARRMESFRE® RIRITER - RIE
balances. The gearing ratios and total liabilities to total assets ratio as HiR  BRAGELEREEHEELRERNT

at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

31 December 31 March
2023 2023
20235128318 202393 A31H
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BisE FERx FET

Interest-bearing bank and SHERITRAMEE
other borrowings 29 21,295,780 21,279,156
Senior notes BEER 30 10,456,521 11,551,606
Less: Cash and bank balances BB RIRITER 25 (1,143,644) (2,525,074)
Net debt (EvEE 30,608,657 30,305,688
Total equity KB 36,446,325 42,685,002
Total assets BEE 100,375,051 114,224,395
Total liabilities BERE 63,928,726 71,539,393
Net debt/Total equity AAREELE 84% 71%
Total liabilities/Total assets BEHEELE 64% 63%
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44. Statement of Financial Position of the Company 44. @B RE
31 December 31 March
2023 2023
2023%F12AH31H 202343 H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ) E =Y 763 839
Investments in subsidiaries M B A F I E 3,246,707 3,246,707
Total non-current assets IEmBEELRTE 3,247,470 3,247,546
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JRE L BB 1 B R IE 19,172,745 19,987,041
Prepayments, other receivables and other TERTFIE ~ Hfh FEUERIE K
assets EmEE 756 656
Cash and cash equivalents HeKReEED 449 2,952
Total current assets MEVEEMRTE 19,173,950 19,990,649
CURRENT LIABILITIES RENAE
Other payables, accruals and deposits EAbERRIE - EETIBE &
received Bz e 722,093 264,189
Amount due to a related party JE1 BN T 5IE 4,813 -
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &+ /2 BT M EMEE 1,949,798 1,954,028
Senior notes BEZR 8,891,111 922,065
Total current liabilities MEEEREE 11,567,815 3,140,282
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEERE 7,606,135 16,850,367
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EE&AERRE AR 10,853,605 20,097,913
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Senior notes BEEE 1,565,410 10,629,541
Total non-current liabilities EmBafERE 1,565,410 10,629,541
Net assets EEFE 9,288,195 9,468,372
EQUITY =
Share capital [N 9,131,812 9,131,812
Reserves (note) H A (FT) 156,383 336,560
Total equity REanABER 9,288,195 9,468,372

CHENG CHUNG HING ZB#A &

Director &%

QIN WENZHONG E &

Director &%

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHIZR IR AT
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt 5 R R B o ()

31 December 2023 20234 12831H

44. Statement of Financial Position of the Company

(Continued)
Note:

A summary of the Company'’s reserves is as follows:

44, DA EEIEMRRER @)

=
B

AT RERBHEDT

Share option Retained

reserve profits Total

BRERE 1R EEF wrt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FT FHT

At 31 March 2022 202293 A31H8 48,086 336,715 384,801

Loss for the year FREE - (49,401) (49,401)

Equity-settled share option arrangements  LAREZS A5 E KBS HE L BE 1,160 - 1,160
Transfer of share option reserve upon [ R ST ]

the forfeiture or lapse of share options SRR A GEE (19,795) 19,795 -
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 T2023%F3A31H &

20234718 29,451 307,109 336,560

Profit for the period BT - 48,199 48,199

Equity-settled share option arrangements — bAtEzS 45 & RIBE RS 20 BE 462 - 462
Transfer of share option reserve upon s AR e 4% Wi sk 2R T

the forfeiture or lapse of share options ERIERMERE (17,556) 17,556 =

Final 2022/2023 dividend declared B Ek2022/2023F REBIL B = (228,838) (228,838)

At 31 December 2023 #2023F12831H 12,357 144,026 156,383

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options granted
which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in the accounting policy
for share-based payments in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The
amount will either be transferred to share capital when the related options
are exercised, or be transferred to retained profits should the related options
expire.

45. Approval of the Financial Statements
The financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by
the Board of Directors on 28 March 2024.
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